Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and relationship with quality of life

Edited by

Joy Perrier, Ali Amidi, Lisa Maria Wu, Bénédicte Giffard and Josée Savard

Published in Frontiers in Neuroscience





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-020-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-020-9

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and relationship with quality of life

Topic editors

Joy Perrier — INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, France Ali Amidi — Aarhus University, Denmark Lisa Maria Wu — Aarhus University, Denmark Bénédicte Giffard — INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, France Josée Savard — Laval University, Canada

Citation

Perrier, J., Amidi, A., Wu, L. M., Giffard, B., Savard, J., eds. (2022). *Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and relationship with quality of life.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-020-9

Table of contents

05 Editorial: Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and their relationship with quality of life

Joy Perrier, Bénédicte Giffard, Lisa M. Wu, Josée Savard and Ali Amidi

09 Irregular Sleep/Wake Patterns Are Associated With Reduced Quality of Life in Post-treatment Cancer Patients: A Study Across Three Cancer Cohorts

> Ritu Trivedi, Hong Man, Ayey Madut, Marius Mather, Elisabeth Elder, Haryana M. Dhillon, Alison Brand, Julie Howle, Graham Mann, Anna DeFazio, Terence Amis, Sean W. Cain, Andrew J. K. Phillips and Kristina Kairaitis

19 Prospective Rates, Longitudinal Associations, and Factors Associated With Comorbid Insomnia Symptoms and Perceived Cognitive Impairment

Sheila N. Garland, Hans Ivers and Josée Savard

- 27 Systematic Review: Sleep Disorders Based on Objective Data in Children and Adolescents Treated for a Brain Tumor Anne Sophie Lind Helligsoe, Kathrine Synne Weile, Line Kenborg, Louise Tram Henriksen, Yasmin Lassen-Ramshad, Ali Amidi, Lisa Maria Wu, Jeanette Falck Winther, Line Pickering and René Mathiasen
- 38 Optimizing a Behavioral Sleep Intervention for Gynecologic Cancer Survivors: Study Design and Protocol Rina S. Fox, Julia S. Gaumond, Phyllis C. Zee, Karen Kaiser, Edward J. Tanner, Sonia Ancoli-Israel, Juned Siddique,

Frank J. Penedo, Lisa M. Wu, Kathryn J. Reid, Sairam Parthasarathy, Terry A. Badger, Christine Rini and Jason C. Ong

48 Preventing Sleep Disruption With Bright Light Therapy During Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer: A Phase II Randomized Controlled Trial

> Michelle Rissling, Lianqi Liu, Shawn D. Youngstedt, Vera Trofimenko, Loki Natarajan, Ariel B. Neikrug, Neelum Jeste, Barbara A. Parker and Sonia Ancoli-Israel

59 Sleep During Oncological Treatment – A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Associations With Treatment Response, Time to Progression and Survival

> Louise Strøm, Josefine T. Danielsen, Ali Amidi, Ana Lucia Cardenas Egusquiza, Lisa Maria Wu and Robert Zachariae

- 76 Sleep Disruption and Cancer: Chicken or the Egg? Adrian Berisha, Kyle Shutkind and Jeremy C. Borniger
- 98 Sleep Disturbance and Its Association With Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and Attention in Pediatric Brain Tumor Survivors

Ineke M. Olsthoorn, Alice Ann Holland, Raymond C. Hawkins II, Allen E. Cornelius, Muhammad Usman Baig, Grace Yang, Daniel C. Holland, Wafik Zaky and Peter L. Stavinoha

- 112 Sleep-dependent memory consolidation in breast cancer: Use of a virtual reality prospective memory task Mylène Duivon, Joy Perrier, Carine Segura-Djezzar, Florence Joly, Stéphane Rehel, Christian Berthomier, Jean-Michel Grellard, Bénédicte Clarisse, Julien Geffrelot, George Emile, Christelle Lévy, Fausto Viader, Francis Eustache, Béatrice Desgranges, Géraldine Rauchs and Bénédicte Giffard
- 124 Opposing inflammatory biomarker responses to sleep disruption in cancer patients before and during oncological therapy

Delmy Oliva, Bengt-Åke Andersson, Freddi Lewin and Lasse D. Jensen

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Claude Gronfier, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

*CORRESPONDENCE Joy Perrier joy.perrier@unicaen.fr

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

RECEIVED 02 October 2022 ACCEPTED 16 November 2022 PUBLISHED 28 November 2022

CITATION

Perrier J, Giffard B, Wu LM, Savard J and Amidi A (2022) Editorial: Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and their relationship with quality of life. *Front. Neurosci.* 16:1060184. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.1060184

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Perrier, Giffard, Wu, Savard and Amidi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and their relationship with quality of life

Joy Perrier^{1*}, Bénédicte Giffard^{1,2}, Lisa M. Wu^{3,4,5}, Josée Savard^{6,7,8} and Ali Amidi⁵

¹Normandie Université, UNICAEN, PSL Université, EPHE, INSERM, U1077, CHU de Caen, GIP Cyceron, Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, Caen, France, ²Cancer and Cognition Platform, Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer, Caen, France, ³Department of Medical Social Sciences, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁴Aarhus Institute of Advanced Studies, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁵Sleep & Circadian Psychology Research Group, Department of Psychology and Behavioural Sciences, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁶School of Psychology, Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada, ⁷CHU de Québec-Université Laval Research Center, Quebec City, QC, Canada, ⁸Laval University Cancer Research Center, Quebec City, QC, Canada

KEYWORDS

cancer, sleep, cognition, fatigue, anxio-depressive factors

Editorial on the Research Topic

Sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients and their relationship with quality of life

We spend around one third of our lives sleeping and a good night of sleep is critical for many important functions such as learning and memory, brain restoration and plasticity, and immune functioning. Furthermore, inadequate sleep and insomnia are linked to numerous illnesses including metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. Cancer patients have frequent complaints of insomnia, with a high prevalence of 30–60% before, during and after treatment (Savard et al., 2011). There is also emerging evidence of circadian disruption associated with cancer and cancer treatments, which may underlie and exacerbate commonly reported symptoms of depressed mood, fatigue, cognitive complaints and sleep disturbances (ANSES, 2016; Labrèche et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2021; Milanti et al., 2021; Amidi and Wu, 2022). Despite the important impact of sleep on mental and physical health, until recently, sleep disturbances following cancer and its treatment were often neglected by both clinicians and researchers.

This Research Topic aims to elucidate sleep and circadian rhythm disturbances associated with cancer and cancer treatments, as well as their impact on quality of life and survivorship. The high quality of the manuscripts published in this Research Topic highlights the increased interest in the field of sleep/circadian rhythms and cancer and the broad scope of work in the area. Three reviews highlighted the importance of sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients as potential drivers of quality-of-life sequelae, five papers investigated quality of life and sleep and circadian rhythm biomarkers in cancer patients and, two papers focused on innovative approaches to tackle sleep and circadian rhythm alterations in cancer patients.

Sleep disruption and cancer: Beyond quality of life

The first review perfectly exemplifies the current debate in the scientific literature about sleep and cancer with the socalled "chicken or the egg" question. Berisha et al. present an elegant review that discusses existing evidence about sleep disruption both as a consequence or as a potential risk factor of cancer. After describing sleep disruption-induced changes in systemic physiology and associated changes in the central nervous system, the authors explain the clinical implications of these findings, as well as the need to better manage sleep disruption in cancer patients, such as through the use of melatonin. Finally, unanswered questions and future directions are discussed in order to pave the way for future studies.

Two more reviews give additional insights into the same "chicken or the egg" question, but are not able to definitively conclude that a causal relationship exists between sleep disruption and quality of life/prognosis outcomes. The systematic review and meta-analysis by Strom et al. focuses on associations between sleep/sleep-wake activity and prognostic outcomes in cancer patients. Among the 26 studies included in their review, 19 report associations between poorer sleep, and a poorer response to treatment, shorter time to progression, and/or reduced overall survival. However, the authors also highlight several limitations of the studies reviewed, such as the high heterogeneity of sleep measures across studies that weaken comparability, and the small number of studies that used objective measures of sleep with the remainder relying primarily on single-item questionnaires. The authors conclude that disturbed sleep during treatment may be a relevant behavioral marker of poor cancer prognosis that warrants further investigation.

The systematic review by Helligsoe et al. describes the nature of sleep disorders in survivors of childhood central nervous system tumor and explores the association between tumor location and diagnosed sleep disorder. Only 11 studies are included in the review, pointing to the scarcity of studies that have objectively assessed sleep disorders using polysomnography with proper diagnosis in brain tumor patients. Analyses show that sleep disorders are common among children who have survived a central nervous system tumor with the most common being sleep-related breathing disorders (i.e., obstructive sleep apnea) and central disorders of hypersomnolence (i.e., narcolepsy).

Links between sleep/circadian rhythm dysregulation and quality of life in cancer

Four papers examine associations between sleep and sleepwake rhythms and aspects of cognitive functioning and quality of life. Trivedi et al. investigate post-treatment sleep-wake rhythm outcomes using actigraphy in non-central nervous system cancer (including endometrial and breast cancer and melanoma). Results show that greater sleep regularity is associated with better quality of life and better physical functioning highlighting the need for interventions to help maintain sleep-wake rhythm regularity in cancer patients. Using a large cohort of patients, Garland et al. investigate longitudinal associations between insomnia symptoms and perceived cognitive impairments in cancer patients using validated questionnaires. Results show that the presence of both insomnia and perceived cognitive impairments is significantly greater within 2 months after surgery than later on during treatment. The authors also identify important factors that are related to a higher risk of reporting comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairment. Duivon et al.'s study investigates prospective memory, i.e., the memory for future intentions in breast cancer patients treated with surgery, radiotherapy followed or not by endocrine therapy. They detect subtle changes in cortical activity (EEG) related to memory consolidation during sleep but that are not related to memory performance itself. In the study by Olsthoorn et al., caregivers of 83 pediatric brain tumor survivors were surveyed about their children's sleep difficulties. Results show that at least one sleep-related item was scored as "somewhat true" for 68% of the children and a higher level of sleep disturbance is related to worse sluggish cognitive tempo (i.e., confusion, slowed behavior and low motivation). Finally, Oliva et al. focus on inflammatory biomarkers, as assessed with plasma samples, and their relationships with selfreported sleep quality in cancer patients both before and during oncological treatments. Results indicate that, across treatments, higher sleep complaints are associated with increased levels of a number of pro-inflammatory biomarkers 3 months after treatment initiation. Authors emphasize the need to evaluate biomarkers and self-reported sleep at multiple time-points across treatment instead of single point measurements.

Targeting sleep/circadian rhythm dysregulation in cancer patients

Two intervention trials are presented that aim to improve sleep and circadian rhythm disruption in cancer patients. These

studies highlight movement in the field toward prevention and regulation of disrupted sleep and circadian rhythms in cancer patients to improve quality of life and prognostic outcomes. One study is a Phase II randomized controlled trial by Rissling et al. in which they test whether morning exposure to bright white light would maintain or improve sleep and circadian activity rhythms in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy when compared with a dim red light comparison condition. Results show that morning exposure to bright light is associated with longer night-time sleep, fewer sleep disturbances, fewer and shorter daytime naps, and less activity at night and more activity during the day by the end of cycle 4 of chemotherapy. These results show promise for the use of bright light therapy in cancer patients in order to reduce sleep and circadian rhythms disturbances, although larger scale trials are still necessary. Finally, Fox et al. present a study protocol focused on gynecologic cancer patients, a patient population that has been neglected in sleep studies as compared with breast cancer patients. The authors propose a two-part protocol guided by the Multiphase Optimization Strategy (MOST) framework. The first part will serve to identify barriers to and facilitators of intervention adherence. In the second part of the protocol, that will test the efficacy of the intervention, participants will be randomized to one of eight conditions (i.e., stimulus control, sleep restriction and bright light therapy either alone or in combination) and will complete assessments from baseline up to 3 months post-intervention. Measurements will include subjective and objective (i.e., actigraphy) sleep measures as well as questionnaires related to symptom burden, quality of life, fatigue and urine samples to analyze urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin, the primary urinary metabolite of melatonin. The ultimate goal of this study is to propose a framework to develop an efficient and effective, minimally burdensome behavioral sleep intervention.

Conclusion

Studies published in this Research Topic clearly underscore the significance of sleep and circadian rhythms disruptions in cancer patients and their possible impact on quality of life and perhaps even prognostic outcomes. Future research would benefit from deeper and integrative investigations of sleep and circadian rhythms over longer periods. Indeed, although actigraphy can provide information about rest-activity rhythms, it can be influenced by many parameters, including the quality of sleep and daytime sleepiness, and by environmental factors such as light exposure. It is thus, highly suggested to evaluate sleep and circadian processes in a multimodal manner that, in addition to questionnaires and actigraphy, includes the assessment of circadian physiology and other parameters (e.g., dim light melatonin onset, light exposure, and sleep hygiene behaviors). For instance, the use of polysomnography

(when possible) would help better understanding changes to sleep architecture that occur in cancer patients. Moreover, using polysomnography would facilitate the study of memory consolidation during sleep, known to be altered during wake in cancer (Perrier et al., 2020; Duivon et al., 2021). Moreover, additional studies of sleep and circadian rhythms are needed in relation to cancer treatments beyond chemotherapy, such as endocrine- and immune therapies, with the former being proposed to most breast cancer patients for at least 5 years and that may also impact cognitive functioning (Wu and Amidi, 2017). Finally, there is an increasing number of interventional studies targeting sleep problems or aiming to improve circadian rhythms in cancer patients being published (Garland et al., 2014; Wu et al., 2018, 2022; Savard et al., 2022). Future investigations will hopefully determine the optimal approach to administer cancer treatments informed by circadian biology, such as tailoring the timing of treatments to individuals' chronotype (e.g., Innominato et al., 2022; Printezi et al., 2022).

Author contributions

JP wrote the first draft of the manuscript. BG, LW, JS, and AA provide revisions and comments. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

JP's and BG's work was supported by the ARC Foundation for cancer research (2017–2020), the French Sleep Society (SFRMS), the Région Normandie (Réseaux d'Intérêts Normands, RIN), the Cancéropôle Nord-Ouest, and the Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer. LW's effort was supported by the American Cancer Society Award Number 131642-RSG-18-053-01-PCSM, and the European Union Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Program under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie Grant Agreement No. 754513 and the Aarhus University Research Foundation. AA's effort was supported by the Danish Cancer Society (R174-A11447-17-S52).

Acknowledgments

The editors would like to thank all authors for their contribution to this Research Topic as well as other editors and reviewers for their time and effort to improve quality of the manuscripts.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Amidi, A., and Wu, L. M. (2022). Circadian disruption and cancer- and treatment-related symptoms. *Front Oncol.* 12, 1009064. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.1009064

ANSES (2016). ANSES's Report on the Assessment of the health risks for professionals exposed to atypical working hours, especially night work (2016). Anses—Agence nationale de sécurité sanitaire de l'alimentation, de l'environnement et du travail. Available online at: https://www.anses.fr/en/content/ansess-report-assessment-health-risks-professionals-exposed-atypical-working-hours (accessed October 26, 2022).

Duivon, M., Giffard, B., Desgranges, B., and Perrier, J. (2021). Are sleep complaints related to cognitive functioning in non-central nervous system cancer? A systematic review. *Neuropsychol Rev.* 2021, 1–23. doi: 10.1007/s11065-021-09521-4

Garland, S. N., Johnson, J. A., Savard, J., Gehrman, P., Perlis, M., Carlson, L., et al. (2014). Sleeping well with cancer: a systematic review of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in cancer patients. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treatment* 10, 1113–1124. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S47790

Innominato, P. F., Karaboué, A., Bouchahda, M., Bjarnason, G. A., and Lévi, F. A. (2022). The future of precise cancer chronotherapeutics. *Lancet Oncol.* 23, e242. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(22)00188-7

Labrèche, F., Guénel, P., Lévi, F., Doré, J.-F., Costa, G., Lasfargues, G., et al. (2019). Night shift work increases cancer risk of women-letter. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 28, 422. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-1 8-0104

Martin, T., Duivon, M., Bessot, N., Grellard, J. M., Emile, G., Polvent, S., et al. (2021). Rest activity rhythms characteristics of breast cancer women following endocrine therapy. *Sleep* 2021, zsab248. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zs ab248

Milanti, A., Chan, D. N. S., Li, C., and So, W. K. W. (2021). Actigraphymeasured rest-activity circadian rhythm disruption in patients with advanced cancer: a scoping review. *Support Care Cancer.* 29, 7145–7169. doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06317-3

Perrier, J., Viard, A., Levy, C., Morel, N., Allouache, D., Noal, S., et al. (2020). Longitudinal investigation of cognitive deficits in breast cancer patients and their gray matter correlates: impact of education level. *Brain Imag. Behav.* 14, 226–241. doi: 10.1007/s11682-018-9991-0

Printezi, M. I., Kilgallen, A. B., Bond, M. J. G., Štibler, U., Putker, M., Teske, A. J., et al. (2022). Toxicity and efficacy of chronomodulated chemotherapy: a systematic review. *Lancet Oncol.* 23, e129–e143. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(21)00639-2

Savard, J., Filion, C., Gagnon, M.-P., Caplette-Gingras, A., Bélanger, L., and Morin, C. M. (2022). Barriers and facilitators to implementing a stepped care cognitive-behavioral therapy for insomnia in cancer patients: a qualitative study. *Support Care Cancer* 30, 6689–6698. doi: 10.1007/s00520-022-07094-3

Savard, J., Ivers, H., Villa, J., Caplette-Gingras, A., and Morin, C. M. (2011). Natural course of insomnia comorbid with cancer: an 18-month longitudinal study. J. Clin. Oncol. 29, 3580–3586. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.2247

Wu, L. M., and Amidi, A. (2017). Cognitive impairment following hormone therapy: current opinion of research in breast and prostate cancer patients. *Curr. Opin. Support. Palliat. Care* 11, 38–45. doi: 10.1097/SPC.00000000000251

Wu, L. M., Amidi, A., Valdimarsdottir, H., Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Winkel, G., et al. (2018). The effect of systematic light exposure on sleep in a mixed group of fatigued cancer survivors. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 14, 31–39. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6874

Wu, L. M., Valdimarsdottir, H. B., Amidi, A., Reid, K. J., Ancoli-Israel, S., Bovbjerg, K., et al. (2022). Examining the efficacy of bright light therapy on cognitive function in hematopoietic stem cell transplant survivors. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 37, 471–483. doi: 10.1177/07487304221107833





Irregular Sleep/Wake Patterns Are Associated With Reduced Quality of Life in Post-treatment Cancer Patients: A Study Across Three Cancer Cohorts

Ritu Trivedi¹, Hong Man¹, Ayey Madut¹, Marius Mather², Elisabeth Elder^{3,4}, Haryana M. Dhillon^{5,6}, Alison Brand^{3,7}, Julie Howle^{3,8,9}, Graham Mann^{3,9,10}, Anna DeFazio^{3,7,10,11}, Terence Amis^{1,3,11,12}, Sean W. Cain¹³, Andrew J. K. Phillips¹³ and Kristina Kairaitis^{1,3,11,12*}

¹ Ludwig Engel Centre for Respiratory Research, The Westmead Institute for Medical Research, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ² Sydney Informatics Hub, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, NSW, Australia, ³ Westmead Clinical School, Faculty of Medicine and Health, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ⁴ Westmead Breast Cancer Institute, Westmead Hospital, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ⁵ Centre for Medical Psychology and Evidence-Based Decision-Making, School of Psychology, Faculty of Science, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, NSW, Australia, ⁶ Psycho-Oncology Cooperative Research Group, School of Psychology, Faculty of Science, The University of Sydney, Camperdown, NSW, Australia, ⁷ Department of Gynecological Oncology, Westmead Hospital, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ⁸ Crown Princess Mary Cancer Centre, Westmead and Blacktown Hospitals, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ⁹ Melanoma Institute Australia, The University of Sydney, Sydney, NSW, Australia, ¹⁰ Centre for Cancer Research, The Westmead Institute for Medical Research, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ¹¹ Sydney West Translational Cancer Research Centre, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ¹² Department of Respiratory and Sleep Medicine, Westmead Hospital, Westmead, NSW, Australia, ¹³ Turner Institute for Brain and Mental Health, School of Psychological Sciences, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Josée Savard, Laval University, Canada

Reviewed by:

Jessica R. Lunsford-Avery, Duke University, United States Stefano Bastianini, University of Bologna, Italy

*Correspondence:

Kristina Kairaitis kristina.kairaitis@sydney.edu.au

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 08 June 2021 Accepted: 31 August 2021 Published: 22 September 2021

Citation:

Trivedi R, Man H, Madut A, Mather M, Elder E, Dhillon HM, Brand A, Howle J, Mann G, DeFazio A, Amis T, Cain SW, Phillips AJK and Kairaitis K (2021) Irregular Sleep/Wake Patterns Are Associated With Reduced Quality of Life in Post-treatment Cancer Patients: A Study Across Three Cancer Cohorts. Front. Neurosci. 15:700923. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.700923 **Background:** Cancer patients often describe poor sleep quality and sleep disruption as contributors to poor quality of life (QoL). In a cross-sectional study of post-treatment breast, endometrial, and melanoma cancer patients, we used actigraphy to quantify sleep regularity using the sleep regularity index (SRI), and examined relationships with reported sleep symptoms and QoL.

Methods: Participants were recruited post-primary treatment (35 diagnosed with breast cancer, 24 endometrial cancer, and 29 melanoma) and wore an actigraphy device for up to 2 weeks and SRI was calculated. Self-report questionnaires for cancer-related QoL [European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer EORTC (QLQ-C30)] were completed. Data were compared using analysis of variance (ANOVA) or Chi-Square tests. Multivariate linear regression analysis was used to determine independent variable predictors for questionnaire-derived data.

Results: Age distribution was similar between cohorts. Endometrial and breast cancer cohorts were predominantly female, as expected, and body mass index (BMI) was higher in the endometrial cancer cohort, followed by breast and melanoma. There were no differences between tumor groups in: total sleep time, sleep onset latency, bedtime, and SRI (breast 80.9 ± 8.0, endometrial 80.3 ± 12.2, and melanoma 81.4 ± 7.0) (all p > 0.05). A higher SRI was associated with both better functional and symptom scores,

9

including increased global QoL, better physical functioning, less sleepiness and fatigue, better sleep quality, and associated with less nausea/vomiting, dyspnea, and diarrhea (all p < 0.05).

Conclusion: In cancer patients post-treatment, greater sleep regularity is associated with increased global QoL, as well as better physical functioning and fewer cancer related symptoms. Improving sleep regularity may improve QoL for cancer patients.

Keywords: sleep quality, sleep regularity, quality of life, cancer, cancer symptoms, endometrial cancer, breast cancer, melanoma

INTRODUCTION

Sleep disturbance is a common symptom associated with cancer and its treatment, with up to 95% of people with cancer (Fortner et al., 2002; Langford et al., 2012) reporting disturbed sleep. Sleep disturbance has a negative impact on quality of life (QoL) in this population (Sun and Lin, 2016). For some people with cancer, the negative impact of poor sleep persists post-treatment (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2014) and has been associated with poorer cancer outcomes and QoL. In women with a history of breast cancer, perceived poor sleep quality post-treatment is a predictor for a poorer survival outcome (Palesh et al., 2014). Long sleep duration and frequent sleep difficulties are associated with increased breast cancer mortality in women with a history of breast cancer (Palesh et al., 2014; Trudel-Fitzgerald et al., 2017). Understanding and addressing sleep problems in people with cancer may result in improvements in long-term well-being and survival.

Sleep is often assessed using subjective metrics derived from questionnaires designed to probe an individual's perception of their at-home sleep experience over time. Actigraphy is a wellestablished, non-invasive, objective methodology for evaluating sleep across a variety of settings including cancer populations (Smith et al., 2018). Actigraphic metrics are highly correlated with gold-standard sleep assessment *via* polysomnography (PSG; Madsen, 2015). Actigraphy studies of cancer populations have usually quantified sleep in terms of sleep duration and sleep efficiency (Fernandes et al., 2006; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2014; Lévi et al., 2014; Palesh et al., 2014; Palesh, 2017). However, these metrics do not adequately capture other dimensions of sleep disturbance, including day-to-day variability in sleep patterns (Bei et al., 2016).

The sleep regularity index (SRI; Phillips et al., 2017) is a recently developed sleep metric that quantifies the consistency of an individual's daily sleep/wake pattern by computing the percentage probability of an individual being in the same state (sleep vs. wake) at any two time-points 24 h apart, averaged across the study period. The metric effectively measures the degree of overlap in sleep/wake patterns between consecutive days, with values theoretically ranging from 0 (random) to 100 (completely regular). In practice, SRI values typically range from approximately 30 to 95, with a smaller number indicating less regular sleep (Phillips et al., 2017). Recent studies have reported that, compared with the standard actigraphy metrics of sleep duration and sleep efficiency, SRI has a stronger association with increased cardiometabolic risk (Lunsford-Avery et al., 2018),

poorer mood (Pye et al., 2021), and poorer academic performance (Phillips et al., 2017).

Sleep/wake patterns in people with cancer are characterized by fragmented sleep, difficulty falling and staying asleep, waking up earlier than intended, unrestorative sleep (Roth, 2007), daytime napping, and low activity during the day (Davidson, 2002; Arndt, 2006; Kotronoulas, 2012; Lowery-Allison, 2018). These sleep patterns are likely to result in day-to-day variability in sleep/wake patterns, and contribute to a lower SRI score. Mood disorders (Mitchell et al., 2011), and cardiovascular death are common among cancer survivors due to shared risk factors (Sturgeon et al., 2019). Despite the recognition of increased mood disorders, cardiovascular risk, subjective poor sleep, and sleep fragmentation in cancer populations, SRI has not been quantified in any cancer population. In addition, the association with QoL in any population has not been examined. The aim of this study was to quantify the SRI, across three post-treatment cancer cohorts (breast, endometrial, and melanoma) using actigraphy and examine associations with subjective measurements of QoL and sleep. We hypothesized that irregular sleep/wake patterns in patients with a history of cancer, quantified using the SRI would be associated with a reduced QoL, and to subjective sleep.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was approved by the Western Sydney Local Health District Ethics Committee (AU RED HREC/15/WMEAD/369). Written, informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Participants

Participants were recruited from either breast (n = 35), endometrial (n = 24), or melanoma (n = 28) outpatient cancer clinics at Westmead Hospital between 2017 and 2019. Potential participants were approached in person by the investigators, and invited to participate in a study on sleep in cancer. Participants were included if they: (1) were at least 18 years of age; (2) had a confirmed diagnosis of breast cancer, endometrial cancer, or melanoma; and (3) had completed treatment (e.g., chemotherapy, radiotherapy, or surgery) either 2 months (endometrial cancer), 3 months (melanoma) or 12 months (breast cancer) previously. Timing of recruitment was chosen to mitigate against the acute impacts of a recent diagnosis or treatment regime. Participants were excluded if they: (1) had any serious or active medical or psychiatric comorbidities that would likely interfere with their assessment, or compliance with the protocol; (2) were unable/unlikely to comply with the study requirements for any reason; or (3) were pregnant. Twenty one of the breast cancer patients and 17 of the endometrial cancer patients had participated in a previous study (Madut et al., 2021).

Data Collection and Study Procedures

We collected demographic data, menopausal status, cancer history, including histopathology and treatment, and current medications from participants medical records. We did not collect information on sleeping environment.

Questionnaires

Subjective sleep symptoms and sleep quality were assessed at recruitment using the following validated questionnaires: (1) Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (Carpenter, 1998; Backhaus, 2002; Beaudreau, 2012) (PSQI), (2) Epworth Sleepiness Scale (Johns, 1992) (ESS), and (3) Insomnia Severity Index (Savard et al., 2005) (ISI). QoL was assessed using the validated European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core (Fayers, 2002) (EORTC QLQ-C30) questionnaire. The EORTC QLQ-30 produces subscales of Global QoL, Functional scales (physical functioning, role functioning, emotional functioning, cognitive functioning, and social functioning) and Symptom scales (fatigue, nausea and vomiting, pain, dyspnoea, insomnia, appetite loss, constipation, diarrhea, and financial difficulties).

Actigraphy

Participants wore an *Actiwatch-2* (Philips Respironics, Bend, OR, United States) on their non-dominant wrist for up to 14 consecutive days, except when showering. Data were downloaded into proprietary software (Actiware, Phillips Respironics, Bend, OR, United States) for analysis. Automatically analyzed data for 30-s epochs were reviewed, quality checked, and manually adjusted. Rest periods were identified as the absence of light with continued activity, and sleep time identified as reduction in both light and activity. Time periods where the actiwatch was not worn by the participant with a complete absence of activity were excluded from analysis. Total sleep time, sleep onset latency, sleep effectiveness, wake after sleep onset (WASO), number of awakenings, get up, and bedtime were determined using the proprietary software algorithms.

Sleep Regularity Index Calculation

The SRI was calculated using the established method (Phillips et al., 2017). The SRI was calculated as SRI = $200 \times \text{Agreement/Cases} - 100$, where Agreement is the number of valid (non-missing) epochs 24 h apart in the same sleep/wake state across the actigraphy recording, while Cases is the number of valid (non-missing) epochs 24 h apart. Patients were not included for SRI calculation if there were fewer than 5 days (120 h) of valid overlapping epochs of actigraphy (n = 6 patients). Five valid overlapping days is the minimum required data to obtain an accurate estimate of sleep regularity (Fischer et al., 2021).

Statistical Analyses

Statistical analyses were conducted using R version 3.6.2. P < 0.05 was considered significant. Univariate comparisons were performed using ANOVA for continuous variables and Chi-Squared Tests for categorical variables. Multivariate analysis was performed using linear regression models to determine independent variable predictors for questionnaire-derived data (dependent variables). Each of the subscales of the EORTC QLQ-C30 were included. Regression models were run using complete cases only. Actigraphy measures were entered into these models as potential predictors with log₁₀ transformation for skewed variables (reported below). The regression models controlled for the covariates of age, BMI, neck circumference, gender, and cancer type. Bed time was coded with midnight as zero, with times between midday and midnight coded as negative values (number of h away from midnight), and those between midnight and midday as positive. All numeric predictors were mean centered and scaled. To avoid issues with collinearity, time in bed, and get up time were not included as predictors in these models, as they were linearly dependent on other variables already included (sleep onset time and wake time, respectively). Given the inherent correlation between some of the actigraphy measures, Variance Inflation Factors were also checked to diagnose collinearity (Johnston et al., 2018). The breast cancer cohort was used as the reference group for all linear regression models.

RESULTS

Participant Demographics

Participant demographics are shown in **Table 1**. Average age was not significantly different between cancer cohorts (p = 0.489). As expected, endometrial and breast cancer cohorts were almost exclusively female. The majority of women were postmenopausal, apart from one endometrial cancer and four melanoma patients. Nineteen breast cancer patients were taking anti- oestrogen therapy (tamoxifen or an aromatase inhibitor). Of the melanoma cohort, 69% were male. Endometrial cancer patients had a higher BMI relative to the other groups (p = 0.001).

Cancer Grade/Stage and Treatment Modalities and Sleep Assessment

Cancer grade/stage data and classification of treatment modalities are provided in **Supplementary Table 1**. Most of the breast cancer patients had Grade 2/3 malignancies treated with a combination of surgery, radiation, chemotherapy, and endocrine treatments. The majority of endometrial (Grade 1/Stage 1a) and melanoma participants (Stage Ia + Ib) had less advanced malignancies and were treated with surgery alone (hysterectomy and bilateral salpingo-oophorectomy and excision, respectively). For the breast cancer patients, actigraphy was performed an average of 2 years after initial diagnosis, endometrial cancer patients were assessed around 7 months after diagnosis and melanoma was assessed around 14 months after initial diagnosis (**Supplementary Table 1**).

Group		Breast cancer	Endometrial cancer	Melanoma	Total	р
n		35	24	29	88	
Gender n (%)	F	34 (97.1)	24 (100.0)	9 (31.0)	67 (76.1)	< 0.001
	Μ	1 (2.9)	O (0.0)	20 (69.0)	21 (23.9)	
Mean (STD)						
Age (years)		62.1 (9.5)	62.5 (9.1)	59.5 (11.8)	61.3 (10.2)	0.49
BMI (kg/m ²)		28.4 (5.7)	34.3 (7.4)	30.8 (4.7)	30.8 (6.3)	0.001

TABLE 1 | Patient demographics.

Standard Actigraphy Metrics

Data for standard actigraphy metrics for each of the three cohorts are shown in **Table 2**. Breast cancer participants had, on average, 6 and 14 min greater WASO than the endometrial and melanoma groups, respectively (p = 0.018). There were no other significant cancer cohort differences for other standard actigraphy metrics (all p > 0.22; **Table 2**).

Sleep Regularity Index

Sleep regularity index could not be measured in six subjects (three breast cancer patients, one endometrial cancer patient, and two melanoma patients), as actigraphy data collection time was less than 5 overlapping days. For the 82 subjects in whom we measured SRI, actigraphy data for an average of 11.2 ± 2.0 days (range 5.9–13.2 days) was analyzed, and only one subject did not have a weekend day included. For those excluded from analysis, average actigraphy data collection was 3.46 ± 0.97 days (range 1.9–4.6 days). The SRI values ranged from 34.3 to 95.6, with left-skewed distributions, particularly in the endometrial and breast cancer cohorts (**Figure 1**). Group mean values for SRI were not significantly different (p = 0.09) between cancer cohorts (breast cancer: 80.9 ± 8.0 ; endometrial cancer: 80.3 ± 12.2 ; and melanoma cancer: 81.4 ± 7.0).

Questionnaire Data

Data by cancer cohort for each questionnaire, including QoL, functional, and symptoms scores from the QLQ-C30 questionnaire, are shown in **Figure 2** and **Supplementary Table 2**. There were no significant differences between the cancer cohorts for the majority of questionnaire results. However, the breast cancer cohort had a significantly higher PSQI score (p = 0.007) than endometrial or melanoma cancer cohorts (**Figure 2B**). The ISI score tended to be highest in the breast cancer cohort, although the difference was not significant (**Figure 2C** and **Supplementary Table 2**; p = 0.066). Similarly, sleep disturbance symptoms assessed *via* the QLQ-C30 sleep item were significantly higher for the breast cancer cohort (**Supplementary Table 2**; p = 0.012) compared with the endometrial or melanoma cohorts. No other questionnaire data were significantly different between cancer cohorts (all p > 0.20).

Multivariate Linear Regression Models

Variables included were bedtime, sleep onset latency (log-transformed), WASO, number of awakenings (log-transformed), SRI, age, BMI, gender (male), endometrial cancer, and melanoma.

Full statistical models are presented in **Supplementary Tables 3–20**, while results for significant predictor variables only are shown in **Table 3** (all p < 0.05).

QLQ-C30 Quality of Life, Function, and Symptom Scales

Quality of life score

Sleep regularity index and male sex were associated with a higher QoL score, while being a member of the melanoma cohort was associated with a lower QoL score (see **Table 3**). No other independent variable was associated with QoL score (all p > 0.1; **Supplementary Table 3**). Figure 3 shows estimated regression coefficients for linear regression models for predictors of the QLQ-C30 QoL score.

Physical functioning score

Sleep regularity index and being a member of the endometrial cancer cohort were significantly positively associated with a higher Physical Functioning Score, while greater age was associated with a lower Physical Functioning Score (see **Table 3**). No other independent variable was associated with Physical Functioning Score (all p > 0.08; **Supplementary Table 4**).

Emotional functioning score

Male sex was associated with higher levels of Emotional Functioning (see **Table 3**). However, no other independent variable tested was associated with Emotional Functioning (all p > 0.07; **Supplementary Table 6**).

Symptom scores

Lower symptom scores for fatigue, nausea/vomiting, dyspnea, and diarrhea were associated with higher SRI values; while lower nausea/vomiting, diarrhea, and financial difficulty scores associated with increased sleep onset latency (log-transformed). Constipation was associated with a later bed time, while appetite loss, and diarrhea were associated with shorter total sleep time. Lower sleep and diarrhea symptoms scores were predicted in males, while lower scores for financial difficulties were in endometrial cancer (all p < 0.05, **Table 3**).

Role, cognitive, and social functioning scores

No independent variable tested was associated with the role, cognitive, and social functioning scores (all p > 0.07; **Supplementary Tables 5**, **7**,**8**).

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

Lower PSQI scores (better sleep quality) were predicted by a higher SRI score, a longer sleep onset latency, and in endometrial

TABLE 2 | Standard actigraphy metrics.

Variable	Breast cancer	Endometrial cancer	Melanoma	р
n	35	24	29	
Mean (SD)				
Sleep time (h)	7.5(1.0)	7.3(0.8)	7.3(1.1)	0.701
Onset latency (min)	29.7(21.8)	28.8(18.2)	34.1(25.2)	0.634
Sleep efficiency (%)	82.4(5.3)	82.6(4.5)	82.6(7.4)	0.980
Wake after sleep onset (min)	54.5(20.9)	48.1(15.3)	41.6(15.7)	0.018
Number of awakenings (n)	39.5(11.5)	35.4(10.4)	35.1(11.3)	0.218
Getup time (h)	07 : 16(00 : 13)	07:03(00:18)	07:07(00:16)	0.727
Bed time (h)	22:12(00:19)	22:19(00:31)	22:05(00:37)	0.918



cancer cohorts. No other independent variable emerged as a significant predictor for the PSQI Score (all p > 0.09; **Supplementary Table 18**).

Insomnia Severity Index

Lower ISI scores (less insomnia symptoms) were predicted by a higher SRI value, male sex, and endometrial cancer (see **Table 3**). No other independent variable tested was a significant predictor for the ISI Score (all p > 0.1; **Supplementary Table 19**).

Epworth Sleepiness Scale

Lower ESS scores were predicted by later bedtimes and higher SRI values (see **Table 3**). No other independent variable tested emerged as a significant predictor for the ESS Score (all p > 0.2; **Supplementary Table 19**).

DISCUSSION

We found that greater sleep regularity is associated with higher QoL in melanoma, breast, and endometrial cancer patients. Sleep regularity was superior in predicting QoL relative to other actigraphic metrics of sleep, including sleep duration, sleep efficiency, and sleep timing. Greater sleep regularity was also a predictor of higher sleep quality, fewer insomnia symptoms, and less sleepiness. When the subscales of the cancer QoL questionnaires were examined, sleep regularity was also associated with better physical functioning, less fatigue, less dyspnoea and less nausea, and vomiting. These findings have important implications for assessing and improving sleep in cancer patients and may have implications for improving longerterm cancer survival.

In this group of cancer patients, the SRI was associated with many of the subjective cancer symptoms measured. Other predictors were also important, including: (1) male sex, which was associated with better QoL, emotional functioning, fewer diarrhea symptoms, and less insomnia severity; (2) shorter sleep onset latency, which was a predictor of less nausea and diarrhea symptoms, and fewer financial difficulties; (3) longer total sleep time, which was a predictor of more diarrhea symptoms and greater appetite loss; and (4) later sleep onset time, which was associated with less sleepiness. The relationship between less physical symptoms such as gastrointestinal symptoms, breathlessness, and better sleep regularity is a novel finding. These associations may be explained by the presence of circadian rhythms in all biological processes. Gastro-intestinal functions have clear circadian variation (Voigt et al., 2019), and similarly, breathlessness has demonstrated circadian rhythmicity (Tsai et al., 2007). The negative associations between nausea and vomiting, diarrhea and sleep onset latency



FIGURE 2 | Questionnaire outcomes in breast (pink; n = 35), endometrial (green; n = 24), and melanoma (blue; n = 29) cancer patients. (A) European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer EORTC QLQ-C30) questionnaire with quality of life (QoL) and individual function scores (physical, role, emotional, cognitive, and social), (B) Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) >5 indicates poor sleep quality (C) Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (Dashed lines ISI > 8 sub-threshold insomnia, >14 clinical insomnia), (D) Epworth Sleepiness Scale (Dashed lines: ESS > 10 indicated daytimes sleepiness). BRC, breast cancer; ENDO, endometrial cancer; and MEL, melanoma cancer, *p < 0.009.

may similarly be circadian rhythms, or alternatively sleep may be delayed due to gastrointestinal symptoms. Circadian rhythms and relationships to sleep regularity are discussed in more detail below. Relationship between sleep onset latency to financial difficulties would seem to be most likely a consequence of anxiety (Vahtera et al., 2007). No previous studies have examined the associations between regular sleep and cancer symptoms.

In addition to cancer symptoms and QoL, sleep regularity was also a better predictor of other sleep symptoms in these cancer patients than any other actigraphic metric of sleep. A higher SRI was associated with better sleep quality (as measured by the PSQI), less insomnia (as measured by the ISI), and less sleepiness (as measured by the ESS). Most participants slept for around 7 h with average sleep efficiency of 82%, similar to previous reports in breast (Berger and Higginbotham, 2000; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2006; Palesh et al., 2014) and endometrial cancer patients (Armbruster, 2018). However, the objective actigraphic measurement most closely predicting sleep symptoms was the SRI.

Sleep regularity has emerged recently as a powerful predictor of a range of health outcomes. Sleep regularity has not been measured in the general population, however, in an older group of healthy patients is reported to be around 86.4 (Pye et al., 2021). Our cancer cohorts have similar values for SRI to older patients with current depression (Pye et al., 2021). Recent studies have found lower SRI to be associated with depression (Pye et al., 2021), insomnia, post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (Mascaro et al., 2021), poorer mood (Sano et al., 2015), cardiometabolic dysfunction (Lunsford-Avery et al., 2018; Fritz et al., 2020), and poorer functional outcomes in autism (Cohen et al., 2017) and delayed sleep-wake phase disorder (Murray et al., 2019). The SRI has also been found to improve with treatment for alcohol dependence (Brooks et al., 2020). Our findings show that SRI is also a strong predictor for measures of QoL in cancer populations, including both functional and symptom scores. The broad utility of the SRI is likely due to its composite nature. Rather than being based on variability in any one dimension of sleep (e.g., variability in sleep onset time or total sleep time), the

TABLE 3 | Coefficients from linear regression models predicting questionnaire variables [European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Quality of Life Core (EORTC QLQ-C30) quality of life (QoL) scores, functional scores, and symptoms scales; Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI); Insomnia Severity Index (ISI); and Epworth Sleepiness Scale (ESS)].

Variable	b	95% CI	p
Quality of life (n = 79)			
Sleep regularity index	10.28	4.86 to 15.69	< 0.001
Gender: male	31.73	10.49 to 52.97	0.0040
Melanoma	-14.63	-28.86 to -0.39	0.044
Physical functioning ($n = 80$)			
Sleep regularity index	6.55	2.88 to 10.22	< 0.001
Age (years)	-4.57	-7.78 to -1.36	0.0059
Endometrial cancer	12.30	4.81 to 19.78	0.0017
Emotional functioning ($n = 79$)			
Gender: male	31.26	7.14 to 55.39	0.012
Fatigue (<i>n</i> = 80)			
Sleep regularity index	-7.50	-12.76 to -2.24	0.0059
Nausea/vomiting (n = 80)			
Onset latency (log-transformed)	-3.63	-7.21 to -0.04	0.048
Sleep regularity index	-3.88	-7.64 to -0.11	0.044
Dyspnoea (n = 80)			
Sleep regularity index	-5.53	-10.92 to -0.13	0.045
Insomnia (n = 80)			
Gender: male	-37.01	-70.28 to -3.75	0.030
Appetite loss (n = 80)			
Sleep time (h)	4.55	0.16 to 8.94	0.042
Constipation (<i>n</i> = 80)			
Bed time	5.89	0.87 to 10.91	0.022
Diarrhea (n = 79)			
Sleep time (h)	2.97	0.25 to 5.69	0.033
Onset latency (log-transformed)	-6.18	-9.47 to -2.88	< 0.001
Sleep regularity index	-3.58	-6.96 to -0.21	0.037
Gender: male	-17.47	-30.7 to -4.25	0.010
Financial difficulties ($n = 79$)			
Onset latency (log-transformed)	-8.93	-15 to -2.86	0.0045
Endometrial cancer	-16.50	-29.21 to -3.8	0.012
PSQI (n = 80)			
Onset latency (log-transformed)	-1.14	-2.19 to -0.08	0.035
Sleep regularity index	-1.51	-2.62 to -0.4	0.0082
Endometrial cancer	-3.11	-5.37 to -0.85	0.0076
ISI (n = 80)			
Sleep regularity index	-2.77	-4.45 to -1.09	0.0016
Gender: male	-6.90	-13.49 to -0.31	0.041
Endometrial cancer	-4.17	-7.59 to -0.74	0.018
ESS (<i>n</i> = 80)			
Bedtime	-1.15	-2.08 to -0.22	0.016
Sleep regularity index	-2.86	−3.96 to −1.76	< 0.001

Only significant predictors are shown; for complete results, refer to **Supplementary Tables 3–20**. Numeric predictors were centered and scaled. Coefficients reflect the increase in scores for a one standard deviation increase in the predictor for continuous variables, or difference from the reference level for categorical variables, holding other variables constant.

SRI compares the overall degree of overlap in sleep/wake patterns between consecutive days. Consequently, it is sensitive to many aspects of sleep disruption, including variation in sleep onset time, wake time, sleep duration, WASO, and napping. Given sleep disruption manifests in various forms across different health conditions, the SRI may have general clinical utility as a predictor of multiple outcomes.

The day-to-day variability of sleep/wake patterns is a consequence of factors including behavioral influences, social settings, circadian rhythms, and light sensitivity. Circadian



rhythms are daily cycles that occur in virtually all biological processes, centrally co-ordinated and controlled by the brain's master clock, the suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN). Less regular sleep is associated with later onset of melatonin production (Phillips et al., 2017) and less stable timing of melatonin onset (Watson et al., 2020). Recent studies have shown significant variability in the population in light-related suppression of SCN outputs (Phillips et al., 2019), and home lighting exposures are in the range of light likely to suppress SCN outputs (Phillips et al., 2019; Cain et al., 2020). Our study has not examined which mechanisms are contributing in these cancer cohorts. This knowledge may lead to approaches to improve sleep regularity, which may in turn improve QoL, physical functioning, and cancer-related symptoms. Measurement of sleep regularity in cancer patients is relatively simple, uses standard clinical tools that are relatively available such as actigraphy. Addressing and improving sleep regularity may even result in better cancer outcomes in the longer term; at least in breast cancer patients sleep disruption and extreme sleep duration are associated with increased long-term mortality (Trudel-Fitzgerald et al., 2017). Whether improvements in sleep regularity will improve short or long term cancer outcomes is as yet unknown.

This is a relatively small study of a restricted number of cancer cohorts. The study is cross- sectional, and demonstrates associations rather than causation. An alternative interpretation may be that physical symptoms such as pain, breathlessness, and gastrointestinal disturbance can result in irregular sleep. In addition, the majority of participants were women, a group with more sleep-related symptoms, and all the male participants had melanoma. However, results for each of the symptom questionnaires, as well as actigraphy, were similar to those reported in larger, more diverse cancer populations. Actigraphy was analyzed without the assistance of a sleep diary. It has been demonstrated that there are small systematic differences in measured sleep duration and sleep onset latency when automatic analysis of actigraphy is compared with a sleep diary, resulting in slightly longer sleep duration with automatic analysis (van Hees et al., 2018). This may have impacted on the sleep regularity measurement, although as it is a systematic error this effect is unlikely to be large. Another important factor is that many of the patients may have had other sleep disorders, such as obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), that may have influenced sleep regularity and may be an important mediator of the effects of low SRI on outcomes in this population. In particular, we have recently demonstrated that nearly two-thirds of women with breast or endometrial cancer have moderate to severe OSA (Madut et al., 2021), which would be expected to associate with lower SRI due to frequent awakenings. Many of the patients in this study were also involved in this earlier study, and 41% all participants had a history of snoring. In addition, we did not collect information on sleeping environments such as bed partners, or employment status which may result in structured or unstructured days, and in turn have influenced sleep regularity. Despite these limitations, this small pilot study is suggestive of an important role for sleep regularity in QoL, physical functioning, and cancer-related symptoms in patients with a history of cancer.

In summary, in this novel investigation of sleep regularity in cancer cohorts, we found that sleep regularity is an important predictor for QoL. There is growing appreciation for considering other dimensions of sleep, including sleep regularity, in measuring sleep and circadian disruption, and predicting the downstream effects on health. Parallel to findings in other populations, sleep regularity was a stronger predictor of many key outcomes than other sleep-related metrics. These findings suggest we need to enrich traditional quota-based assessments of total sleep time and sleep efficiency with measures of sleep regularity for a fuller picture of health. Moreover, attention to measuring sleep regularity using widely available actigraphic methods including consumer devices, and management strategies aimed at improving sleep regularity (e.g., potentially via controlled lighting exposures) may provide a pathway to better sleep and QoL outcomes for cancer patients in the clinical setting.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed for this study are available at: https://hdl. handle.net/2123/26161.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Western Sydney Local Health District Ethics Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RT: data curation, formal analysis, and writing original draft. HM and AM: data curation and investigation. MM: formal analysis. EE, AB, JH, and AD: conceptualization, funding acquisition, resources, and writing review and editing. HD: conceptualization, funding acquisition, and writing review and editing. GM: conceptualization, funding acquisition, and resources. TA and KK: conceptualization, formal analysis, funding acquisition, investigation, methodology, project administration, supervision, and writing review and editing. AP and SC: conceptualization, formal analysis, methodology, and writing review and editing.

REFERENCES

- Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Marler, M., Parker, B., Jones, V., Sadler, G., et al. (2006). Fatigue, sleep, and circadian rhythms prior to chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 14, 201–209. doi: 10.1007/s00520-005-0861-0
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Rissling, M., Natarajan, L., Neikrug, A., Palmer, B., et al. (2014). Sleep, fatigue, depression, and circadian activity rhythms in women with breast cancer before and after treatment: a 1-year longitudinal study. *Support. Care Cancer* 22, 2535–2545. doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2204-5
- Armbruster, S. D. (2018). Endometrial cancer survivors' sleep patterns before and after a physical activity intervention: a retrospective cohort analysis. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 149:133. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2018.01.028
- Arndt, V. (2006). A population-based study of the impact of specific symptoms on quality of life in women with breast cancer 1 year after diagnosis. *Cancer Cytopathol.* 107:2496. doi: 10.1002/cncr.22274
- Backhaus, J. (2002). Test-retest reliability and validity of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index in primary insomnia. J. Psychosom. Res. 53:737. doi: 10.1016/ S0022-3999(02)00330-6
- Beaudreau, S. A. (2012). Validation of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index and the epworth sleepiness scale in older black and white women. *Sleep Med.* 13:36. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2011.04.005
- Bei, B., Wiley, J. F., Trinder, J., and Manber, R. (2016). Beyond the mean: a systematic review on the correlates of daily intraindividual variability of sleep/wake patterns. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 28, 108–124. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.06. 003
- Berger, A. M., and Higginbotham, P. (2000). Correlates of fatigue during and following adjuvant breast cancer chemotherapy: a pilot study. Oncol. Nursing Forum 27, 1443–1448.
- Brooks, A. T., Raju, S., Barb, J. J., Kazmi, N., Chakravorty, S., Krumlauf, M., et al. (2020). Sleep regularity index in patients with alcohol dependence: daytime napping and mood disorders as correlates of interest. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:331. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17010331

All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Strategic Priority Area for Research Collaboration grant, University of Sydney, the ResMed Foundation, and the Hill Foundation and Sydney West Translational Cancer Research Centre. This research was also supported by the Sydney Informatics Hub, a Core Research Facility of the University of Sydney.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Veronika Fuchsova, Catherine Kennedy, Annie Stenlake, Masrura Kabir, Alissa Phung, Ragini Gengiah, Christine L. Clarke, Nirmala Pathmanathan, James French, Kristina Lindemann, Robyn Sayers, Paul Harnett, and John Wheatley for their assistance with this study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins. 2021.700923/full#supplementary-material

- Cain, S. W., McGlashan, E. M., Vidafar, P., Mustafovska, J., Curran, S. P. N., Wang, X., et al. (2020). Evening home lighting adversely impacts the circadian system and sleep. *Sci. Rep.* 10:19110. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-75622-4
- Carpenter, J. S. (1998). Psychometric evaluation of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index. J. Psychosom. Res. 45:5. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(97)00298-5
- Cohen, S., Fulcher, B. D., Rajaratnam, S. M. W., Conduit, R., Sullivan, J. P., Hilaire, M. A. S., et al. (2017). Behaviorally-determined sleep phenotypes are robustly associated with adaptive functioning in individuals with low functioning autism. *Sci. Rep.* 7:14228. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14611-6
- Davidson, J. R. (2002). Sleep disturbance in cancer patients. Social Sci. Med. 54:1309. doi: 10.1016/S0277-9536(01)00043-0
- Fayers, P. (2002). Quality of life research within the EORTC—the EORTC QLQ-C30. *Eur. J. Cancer* 38, 125. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(01)00448-8
- Fernandes, R., Stone, P., Andrews, P., Morgan, R., and Sharma, S. (2006). Comparison between fatigue, sleep disturbance, and circadian rhythm in cancer inpatients and healthy volunteers: evaluation of diagnostic criteria for cancer-related fatigue. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 32, 245–254. doi: 10.1016/j. jpainsymman.2006.03.014
- Fischer, D., Klerman, E. B., and Phillips, A. J. K. (2021). Measuring sleep regularity: theoretical properties and practical usage of existing metrics. *Sleep* zsab103. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsab103
- Fortner, B. V., Stepanski, E. J., Wang, S. C., Kasprowicz, S., and Durrence, H. H. (2002). Sleep and quality of life in breast cancer patients. J. Pain Symptom Manage. 24, 471–480. doi: 10.1016/S0885-3924(02)00500-6
- Fritz, J., Phillips, A. J. K., Hunt, L. C., Imam, A., Reid, K. J., Perreira, K. M., et al. (2020). Cross-sectional and prospective associations between sleep regularity and metabolic health in the hispanic community health study/study of latinos. *Sleep* 44:zsaa218. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsaa218
- Johns, M. W. (1992). Reliability and factor analysis of the Epworth Sleepiness Scale. *Sleep* 15:376. doi: 10.1093/sleep/15.4.376
- Johnston, R., Jones, K., and Manley, D. (2018). Confounding and collinearity in regression analysis: a cautionary tale and an alternative procedure, illustrated

by studies of British voting behaviour. *Quality Quantity* 52, 1957–1976. doi: 10.1007/s11135-017-0584-6

- Kotronoulas, G. (2012). A critical review of women's sleep-wake patterns in the context of neo-adjuvant chemotherapy for early-stage breast cancer. *Breast* 21:128. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2011.12.004
- Langford, D. J., Lee, K., and Miaskowski, C. (2012). Sleep disturbance interventions in oncology patients and family caregivers: a comprehensive review and metaanalysis. Sleep Med. Rev. 16, 397–414. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2011.07.002
- Lévi, F., Dugué, P.-A., Innominato, P., Karaboué, A., Dispersyn, G., Parganiha, A., et al. (2014). Wrist actimetry circadian rhythm as a robust predictor of colorectal cancer patients survival. *Chronobiol. Int.* 31, 891–900. doi: 10.3109/ 07420528.2014.924523
- Lowery-Allison, A. E. (2018). Sleep problems in breast cancer survivors 1-10 years posttreatment. *Palliative Support. Care* 16:325. doi: 10.1017/ S1478951517000311
- Lunsford-Avery, J. R., Engelhard, M. M., Navar, A. M., and Kollins, S. H. (2018). Validation of the sleep regularity index in older adults and associations with cardiometabolic risk. *Sci. Rep.* 8:14158. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-32402-5
- Madsen, M. T. (2015). Actigraphy for measurements of sleep in relation to oncological treatment of patients with cancer: a systematic review. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 20:73. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2014.07.002
- Madut, A., Fuchsova, V., Man, H., Askar, S., Trivedi, R., Elder, E., et al. (2021). Increased prevalence of obstructive sleep apnea in women diagnosed with endometrial or breast cancer. *PLoS One* 16:e0249099. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0249099
- Mascaro, L., Phillips, A. J. K., Clark, J. W., Straus, L. D., and Drummond, S. P. A. (2021). Diurnal rhythm robustness in individuals with PTSD and insomnia and the association with sleep. *J. Biol. Rhythms* 36, 185–195. doi: 10.1177/ 0748730420984563
- Mitchell, A. J., Chan, M., Bhatti, H., Halton, M., Grassi, L., Johansen, C., et al. (2011). Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and adjustment disorder in oncological, haematological, and palliative-care settings: a meta-analysis of 94 interview-based studies. *Lancet Oncol.* 12, 160–174. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70002-X
- Murray, J. M., Phillips, A. J. K., Magee, M., Sletten, T. L., Gordon, C., Lovato, N., et al. (2019). Sleep regularity is associated with sleep-wake and circadian timing, and mediates daytime function in delayed sleep-wake phase disorder. *Sleep Med.* 58, 93–101. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2019.03.009
- Palesh, O. (2017). Relationship between subjective and actigraphy-measured sleep in 237 patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Quality Life Res.* 26:2783. doi: 10.1007/s11136-017-1617-2
- Palesh, O., Aldridge-Gerry, A., Zeitzer, J. M., Koopman, C., Neri, E., Giese-Davis, J., et al. (2014). Actigraphy-measured sleep disruption as a predictor of survival among women with advanced breast cancer. *Sleep* 37, 837–842. doi: 10.5665/ sleep.3642
- Phillips, A., Clerx, W., O'Brien, C., Sano, A., Barger, L., Picard, R., et al. (2017). Irregular sleep/wake patterns are associated with poorer academic performance and delayed circadian and sleep/wake timing. *Sci. Rep.* 7:3216. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-017-03171-4
- Phillips, A. J. K., Vidafar, P., Burns, A. C., McGlashan, E. M., Anderson, C., Rajaratnam, S. M. W., et al. (2019). High sensitivity and interindividual variability in the response of the human circadian system to evening light. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 12019–12024. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1901824116
- Pye, J., Phillips, A. J., Cain, S. W., Montazerolghaem, M., Mowszowski, L., Duffy, S., et al. (2021). Irregular sleep-wake patterns in older adults with current or remitted depression. *J. Affect. Disord.* 281, 431–437. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.12. 034
- Roth, T. (2007). Insomnia: definition, prevalence, etiology, and consequences. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 3(5 Suppl), S7–S10. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.26929

- Sano, A., Yu, A. Z., McHill, A. W., Phillips, A. J., Taylor, S., Jaques, N., et al. (2015). Prediction of Happy-Sad mood from daily behaviors and previous sleep history. *Annu. Int. Conf. IEEE Eng. Med. Biol. Soc.* 2015, 6796–6799. doi: 10.1109/EMBC.2015.7319954
- Savard, J., Simard, S., Ivers, H., and Morin, C. M. (2005). Randomized study on the efficacy of cognitive-behavioral therapy for insomnia secondary to breast cancer, part I: sleep and psychological effects. J. Clin. Oncol. 23, 6083–6096. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.09.548
- Smith, M. T., McCrae, C. S., Cheung, J., Martin, J. L., Harrod, C. G., Heald, J. L., et al. (2018). Use of actigraphy for the evaluation of sleep disorders and circadian rhythm sleep-wake disorders: an american academy of sleep medicine systematic review, meta-analysis, and GRADE assessment. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 14, 1209–1230. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.7228
- Sturgeon, K. M., Deng, L., Bluethmann, S. M., Zhou, S., Trifiletti, D. M., Jiang, C., et al. (2019). A population-based study of cardiovascular disease mortality risk in US cancer patients. *Eur. Heart J.* 40, 3889–3897. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ ehz766
- Sun, J.-L., and Lin, C.-C. (2016). Relationships among daytime napping and fatigue, sleep quality, and quality of life in cancer patients. *Cancer Nurs.* 39, 383–392. doi: 10.1097/NCC.0000000000299
- Trudel-Fitzgerald, C., Zhou, E. S., Poole, E. M., Zhang, X., Michels, K. B., Eliassen, A. H., et al. (2017). Sleep and survival among women with breast cancer: 30 years of follow-up within the Nurses' Health Study. *Br. J. Cancer* 116, 1239–1246. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.85
- Tsai, C. L., Brenner, B. E., and Camargo, C. A. Jr. (2007). Circadian-rhythm differences among emergency department patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbation. *Chronobiol. Int.* 24, 699–713. doi: 10.1080/ 07420520701535753
- Vahtera, J., Kivimaki, M., Hublin, C., Korkeila, K., Suominen, S., Paunio, T., et al. (2007). Liability to anxiety and severe life events as predictors of new-onset sleep disturbances. *Sleep* 30, 1537–1546. doi: 10.1093/sleep/30.11. 1537
- van Hees, V. T., Sabia, S., Jones, S. E., Wood, A. R., Anderson, K. N., Kivimaki, M., et al. (2018). Estimating sleep parameters using an accelerometer without sleep diary. *Sci. Rep.* 8:12975. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-31266-z
- Voigt, R. M., Forsyth, C. B., and Keshavarzian, A. (2019). Circadian rhythms: a regulator of gastrointestinal health and dysfunction. *Expert Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 13, 411–424. doi: 10.1080/17474124.2019.1595588
- Watson, L. A., McGlashan, E. M., Hosken, I. T., Anderson, C., Phillips, A. J. K., and Cain, S. W. (2020). Sleep and circadian instability in delayed sleep-wake phase disorder. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 16, 1431–1436. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.8516

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Trivedi, Man, Madut, Mather, Elder, Dhillon, Brand, Howle, Mann, DeFazio, Amis, Cain, Phillips and Kairaitis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Prospective Rates, Longitudinal Associations, and Factors Associated With Comorbid Insomnia Symptoms and Perceived Cognitive Impairment

Sheila N. Garland^{1,2}, Hans Ivers^{3,4,5} and Josée Savard^{3,4,5*}

¹ Department of Psychology, Faculty of Science, Memorial University, St. John's, NL, Canada, ² Discipline of Oncology, Faculty of Medicine, Memorial University, St. John's, NL, Canada, ³ School of Psychology, Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada, ⁴ CHU de Québec-Université Laval Research Center, Quebec City, QC, Canada, ⁵ Laval University Cancer Research Center, Quebec City, QC, Canada

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Zhi-Li Huang, Fudan University, China

Reviewed by:

Seockhoon Chung, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, South Korea Shawn D. Youngstedt, Arizona State University, United States

> *Correspondence: Josée Savard josee.savard@psy.ulaval.ca

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 18 November 2021 Accepted: 30 December 2021 Published: 24 January 2022

Citation:

Garland SN, Ivers H and Savard J (2022) Prospective Rates, Longitudinal Associations, and Factors Associated With Comorbid Insomnia Symptoms and Perceived Cognitive Impairment. Front. Neurosci. 15:817933. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.817933 **Background:** Insomnia and cognitive impairment are both common conditions experienced by people diagnosed with cancer. Individually, these conditions have negative impacts on functioning, but the combined burden has yet to be evaluated. The purpose of this research was to estimate rates of comorbid insomnia and perceived cognitive impairments, examine the longitudinal associations between these two conditions, and identify demographic and clinical factors associated with reporting both insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment.

Methods: In this secondary analysis, a heterogeneous sample of 962 patients completed the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) and the Cognitive Failures Questionnaire (CFQ) at the time of their cancer surgery (baseline; T1) and then again at 2 (T2), 6 (T3), 10 (T4), 14 (T5), and 18 (T6) months. Correlations and partial correlations, controlling for age and education level, were computed at each time point to assess the relationship between ISI and CFQ scores. Cross-lagged correlations assessed associations between ISI and CFQ scores over time. Proportions of patients with comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairments were calculated and logistic regressions investigated changes over time in these proportions. ANOVAs, logistic regressions, ordinal regressions, and multinomial regressions were used to identify risk factors of having comorbid insomnia and cognitive difficulties.

Results: Significant and bidirectional correlations between ISI and CFQ scores were observed at each time point and over time. The proportion of patients having both clinical levels of insomnia and perceived cognitive difficulties ranged from 18.73 to 25.84% across time points and this proportion was significantly greater at T1 and T2 than T4, T5, and T6. Participants who reported comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairment were more likely to be younger, female, not currently working, currently receiving chemotherapy, with clinical levels depression and anxiety, and using antidepressants or anxiolytics.

Conclusion: Comorbid insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment affects around one in five patients and is more frequent at the beginning of the cancer care trajectory. The relationship between insomnia and cognitive impairment appears to be bidirectional. Insomnia may represent an important patient level vulnerability that when identified and treated can improve perception of cognitive function.

Keywords: cancer, cognition, impairment, insomnia, sleep

INTRODUCTION

Insomnia is a prevalent and persistent condition in people diagnosed with cancer throughout their treatment trajectory (Palesh et al., 2010; Leysen et al., 2019). Insomnia is defined as dissatisfaction with sleep quality or quantity characterized by difficulty initiating or maintaining sleep that causes significant distress and impairment in functioning (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). When symptoms occur at least 3 times per week and have been present for at least 3 months, the diagnostic criteria for insomnia disorder are met. Estimates suggest that roughly 40-60% of patients will present with insomnia symptoms and that around 20% will meet the criteria for a disorder at the time of diagnosis (Savard et al., 2011; Fleming et al., 2018; Harrold et al., 2020). Even after treatment completion, the prevalence of insomnia symptoms or disorder remains up to three times greater than in the general population, with a prevalence of insomnia symptoms of 47% at 12 months (Fleming et al., 2018) and 36% at 18 months (Savard et al., 2011) compared to roughly 6-10% (Ohayon, 2002; Buysse, 2013). Patients who experience insomnia at the time of their cancer diagnosis are significantly more likely to report persistent insomnia, compared to those who identify as good sleepers (Savard et al., 2011), which emphasizes the importance of early identification and intervention. Factors associated with cancer-related insomnia include younger age (Harrold et al., 2020), having a diagnosis of a breast or gynecological cancer (Savard et al., 2011; Harrold et al., 2020), receiving chemotherapy (Fleming et al., 2018), and experiencing comorbid anxiety or depression (Hoang et al., 2019; Maguire et al., 2019). Insomnia in cancer survivors has been associated with greater overall symptoms burden including higher levels of pain, fatigue, anxiety, and depression (Nishiura et al., 2015). Insomnia has also been linked to an increased risk of infections (Ruel et al., 2015), worse long-term quality of life (Lowery-Allison et al., 2018), and poorer treatment response and greater overall mortality (Innominato et al., 2015), although the latter needs to be demonstrated in more studies. As such, insomnia is an important treatment target to optimize short and long-term cancer recovery.

Cognitive impairment is also a common, but less wellunderstood, complaint of people diagnosed and treated for cancer. Compared to non-cancer controls, neuropsychological testing demonstrates a range of objective deficits in memory, concentration, information processing and executive functioning in some but not all cancer survivors (Ahles and Root, 2018; Janelsins et al., 2018). A systematic review of 101 cross-sectional, longitudinal, and randomized controlled studies reported more cancer-related cognitive alterations for subjective measures than performance tasks (Bray et al., 2018). In a prospective observational study, 45% of women with breast cancer 6 months post-chemotherapy (n = 581) reported a clinically meaningful decline in perceived cognition, compared to 12% of non-cancer controls (n = 334) (Janelsins et al., 2017). As with insomnia, younger age and higher levels of anxiety and depression are also associated with greater cognitive complaints. Cognitive impairment has a significant negative impact on quality of life, including return to work, social relationships, and self-confidence (Lange et al., 2019), which makes the identification of potentially modifiable risk factors a research and clinical imperative.

In the general population, insufficient quality and quantity of sleep has been found to be associated with numerous cognitive deficits including impaired psychomotor and cognitive speed, attention, learning, memory, and executive function (Goel et al., 2009). More specifically, insomnia is associated with worse working memory, attention, and perceived cognitive impairment (Brownlow et al., 2020). The cognitive effects of insomnia in cancer patients has not been well studied. An early cross-sectional study of women with breast cancer found that those with an insomnia disorder had worse verbal episodic memory and executive functioning assessed objectively (Caplette-Gingras et al., 2013). In a more recent cross sectional online survey of 1,393 breast cancer survivors, 47% showed current cognitive complaints and those who reported sleep difficulties were twice as likely to report cognitive impairments (Boscher et al., 2020). When assessed prospectively in a different sample of 98 women with breast cancer from the time of diagnosis to 12 months, rates of perceived cognitive impairments were stable at roughly 36% (Rodriguez et al., 2021). While fatigue and insomnia were associated with greater perceived cognitive impairment, insomnia did not significantly predict future cognitive impairment (Rodriguez et al., 2021). In men with prostate cancer, insomnia symptoms significantly mediated the relationship between receiving androgen deprivation therapy and perceived cognitive function and satisfaction with cognition (Garland et al., 2021b). In sum, although existing research suggests an association between cancer-related insomnia and both objective and perceived cognitive impairment, it is not yet clear the extent to which insomnia precedes or follows cognitive impairments, how commonly these symptoms coexist and what factors may influence this co-morbidity. Further, studies have investigated only a few specific groups of cancer patients, often breast cancer, which limits the generalizability of results.

The objectives of this secondary analysis were to estimate rates of comorbid insomnia and perceived cognitive impairments and examine the longitudinal associations between these two conditions in the 18 months following a cancer surgery. Further, we sought to identify factors that are associated with reporting both insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment, compared to those individuals who only report one of the symptoms or none.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants

This is a secondary analysis of a larger study on the epidemiology of cancer-related insomnia (for details, see Savard et al., 2009, 2011). Patients were eligible if they were scheduled to undergo a surgery with a curative intent for a first non-metastatic cancer, were between 18 and 80 years old and were able to read and understand French. They were excluded if they had received a neoadjuvant treatment for cancer, the surgery was part of brachytherapy for prostate cancer, had severe cognitive impairments (e.g., Alzheimer's disease) or a severe psychiatric disorder (e.g., psychosis, bipolar disorder), had received a diagnosis for a sleep disorder other than insomnia (including sleep apnea), and had severe visual, hearing or language defects. A total of 3,196 patients were solicited, 1,677 were eligible (52.5% of solicited patients), and 962 agreed to participate (57.4% of eligible patients).

Procedure

Patients were approached by a research assistant to participate to the study on the day of their pre-operative visit at L'Hôtel-Dieu de Québec and the Hôpital du St-Sacrement of the CHU de Québec-Université Laval. The study was approved by the ethics review boards of both hospitals. After the study goals and procedures were explained, agreeing patients were invited to provide written consent to participate. They also received a battery of self-report scales to be completed within the next 2 weeks (baseline; T1) and received by mail the same questionnaires to fill out 2 (T2), 6 (T3), 10 (T4), 14 (T5), and 18 (T6) months later. Of note, 81.2% of the participants completed baseline measures after the surgery (20 days after on average).

Measures

Data on cancer and treatment-related information was abstracted from patients' medical charts. Participants self-reported other demographic variables.

Insomnia Severity Index (ISI): The ISI contains 7 items designed to specifically assess the severity of insomnia symptoms, their impact on daytime functioning, and the amount of associated distress in the past week (Savard et al., 2005). The ISI is summed to compute a total score with a range of 0–28. Higher values indicate more severe insomnia severity and a score of ≥ 8 indicates the presence of clinical levels of insomnia.

Cognitive Failures Questionnaire (CFQ): The CFQ is a 25item measure of self-reported failures in perception, memory, and motor function in the past 6 months at T1 and since the last questionnaire completion from T2 to T6 (Broadbent et al., 1982). Responses are rated on a 5 point scale from 0 (never) to 5 (very often), yielding a total score of 0–100. The higher the score, the more cognitive impairment. The psychometric qualities of this questionnaire are satisfactory (Broadbent et al., 1982) and this measure is frequently used to assess self-reported cognition in cancer patients (Bray et al., 2018). While there is no universally agreed upon cutoff score to distinguish clinically significant levels of perceived cognitive impairment using this instrument in cancer patients, past research in cardiac patients have used scores ≥ 26 (Moulaert et al., 2017), > 32 (Boyce-van der Wal et al., 2015), and > 44 (Steinbusch et al., 2017). We decided to use a cutoff > 32, which appeared to be a good compromise between having a too liberal or a too conservative criterion.

Statistical Analyses

Correlations and partial correlations, controlling for age and education level, were computed at each time point to assess the relationship between insomnia (ISI) and cognitive functioning (CFQ) scores. Cross-lagged correlations of ISI scores with subjective cognitive functioning (CFQ) were also computed between one variable at one time point and the other variable at the previous time point, and this, by including in the calculation all five possible combinations of a time point and the previous time point (i.e., T1-T2, T2-T3, T3-T4, T4-T5, and T5-T6). Descriptive analyses (frequencies, percentages) were conducted to estimate, at each time point, the proportion of patients who had both clinical levels of insomnia (ISI ≥ 8) and perceived cognitive impairments (CFQ > 32), who had only one condition and who had none. Logistic regressions with repeated measures, including a random effect for patients, were computed to investigate changes over time in these proportions. Finally, to identify risk factors of having comorbid insomnia and cognitive difficulties, ANOVAs (for continuous variables), logistic regressions (for dichotomous variables), ordinal regressions (for ordinal variables) and multinomial regressions (for categorical variables with more than two categories) were conducted to compare patients having both conditions to the remaining on: age, sex, education, marital status, occupation, income, cancer type, cancer stage, current and past chemotherapy, current and past radiation therapy, current hormone therapy, medical comorbidity, menopausal status (for females), presence of clinical levels of depression and anxiety, and the use of antidepressants and anxiolytics. With the exception of education and income, for which baseline data were used, all models included data at all time points and a random patient effect to take into account the dependence between data collected from the same patient throughout the study.

RESULTS

Participants' Characteristics

The mean age was 57.0 years old (SD = 9.9; range: 23–79) and 64.4% of the sample was composed of females. Time since cancer diagnosis was 2.2 months on average (range: 0.1–7.1). The cancer types were breast (48.3%), prostate (27.3%), gynecological (11.5%), urinary and gastro-intestinal (7.2%), and other (5.7%). Most commonly, patients had Stage 1 (35.2%) or Stage 2 (37.2%) disease. More information is available elsewhere (Savard et al., 2009, 2011).

Associations Between Insomnia and Perceived Cognitive Impairments

Correlations obtained between ISI and CFQ scores and partial correlations controlling for age and education are presented in **Table 1**. Correlations were all significant (all ps < 0.0001) and varied between 0.25 and 0.35 across time, while partial correlations were also all significant (all ps < 0.0001) and ranged from 0.23 to 0.37. In both cases, the lowest correlation coefficients were found at baseline (T1).

Significant cross-lagged partial correlations, controlling for age and education, were obtained between ISI and CFQ scores, where ISI scores at one time point was significantly associated with CFQ scores at the previous time point (previous CFQ \rightarrow current ISI: r = 0.30, p < 0.001) and CFQ scores at one assessment was significantly correlated with ISI scores at the previous time point (previous ISI \rightarrow current CFQ; r = 0.31, p < 0.001).

Mean Scores and Rates of Insomnia and Perceived Cognitive Impairments Across Time

Participants obtained mean ISI scores of 8.89 (SD = 6.1) at T1, 8.83 (SD = 5.6) at T2, 7.65 (SD = 5.7) at T3, 6.99 (SD = 5.4) at T4, 6.85 (SD = 5.4) at T5, and 6.47 (SD = 5.1) at T6. The mean CFQ scores were 29.23 (SD = 12.6), 29.04 (SD = 13.6), 29.30 (SD = 13.2), 29.19 (SD = 13.4), 28.90 (SD = 13.3), and 28.69 (SD = 13.0), respectively. Rates of clinical levels of cognitive impairments varied from 37.18 to 39.88% with little change over time, while rates of clinical insomnia ranged from 35.63 to 55.88% with the highest proportions found at T1 (see **Table 2**).

Comorbidity of Insomnia and Perceived Cognitive Impairments

The proportion of patients having both clinical levels of insomnia and perceived cognitive difficulties ranged from 18.73 to 25.84% across time points (see **Table 2**). Most participants had scores under the clinical cutoff for both insomnia and cognitive impairments (from 31.51 to 45.92%). Having clinical levels of cognitive impairments with no clinical levels of insomnia was the least frequent situation (from 12.12 to 18.57%). The proportion of patients having comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairments significantly changed over time, F(5, 1,972) = 5.20, p < 0.0001. Pairwise comparisons indicated that this proportion was significantly greater at T1 and T2 than T4, T5, and T6.

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{TABLE 1}}\xspace$ [Correlations and partial correlations, controlling for age and education, between ISI and CFQ scores.

Time	Correlation	Partial correlation
T1 (0 month)	0.25****	0.23****
T2 (2 months)	0.35****	0.35****
T3 (6 months)	0.32****	0.32****
T4 (10 months)	0.35****	0.35****
T5 (14 months)	0.34****	0.37****
T6 (18 months)	0.33****	0.33****

ISI, Insomnia Severity Index; CFQ, Cognitive Failures Questionnaires. ****p < 0.0001. **TABLE 2** | Rates (n;%) of clinical levels of insomnia and perceived cognitive impairments and comorbidity rates.

	With clinical cognitive impairments	Without clinical cognitive impairments	Total with clinical insomnia
T1 (n = 952)			
With clinical insomnia	246 (25.84%)	286 (30.04%)	532 (55.88%)
Without clinical insomnia	120 (12.61%)	300 (31.51%)	
Total with clinical cognitive impairments	366 (38.45%)		
T2 (n = 850)			
With clinical insomnia	219 (25.76%)	247 (29.06%)	466 (54.82%)
Without clinical insomnia	103 (12.12%)	281 (33.06%)	
Total with clinical cognitive impairments	322 (37.88%)		
T3 (n = 810)			
With clinical insomnia	185 (22.84%)	173 (21.36%)	358 (44.20%)
Without clinical insomnia	138 (17.04%)	314 (38.77%)	
Total with clinical cognitive impairments	323 (39.88%)		
T4 (n = 769)			
With clinical insomnia	158 (20.55%)	140 (18.21%)	298 (38.75%)
Without clinical insomnia	138 (17.95%)	333 (43.30%)	
Total with clinical cognitive impairments	296 (38.49%)		
T5 (n = 727)			
With clinical insomnia	148 (20.36%)	128 (17.61%)	276 (37.96%)
Without clinical insomnia	135 (18.57%)	316 (43.47%)	
Total with clinical cognitive impairments	283 (38.93%)		
T6 (n = 710)			
With clinical insomnia	133 (18.73%)	120 (16.90%)	253 (35.63%)
Without clinical insomnia	131 (18.45%)	326 (45.92%)	
Total with clinical cognitive impairments	264 (37.18%)		

The bold refers to the total number of participants with clinical levels of insomnia or cognitive impairment.

A significant time effect was also found on rates of clinical insomnia only, F(5, 797.8) = 17.77, p < 0.0001. Pairwise comparisons revealed that rates obtained as T1 and T2 were significantly greater than those observed from T3 to T6. The proportion of patients with clinical cognitive impairments only significantly changed over time, F(5, 2,665) = 13.90, p < 0.0001, with significantly lower rates at T1 and T2 than from T3-T6. Finally, a significant time effect was shown on rates of patients with absence of clinical levels on any of the symptoms, F(5, 914.8) = 16.83, p < 0.0001. Pairwise comparisons indicated that these proportions were significantly lower from T1 to T3 than from T4 and T6 and that they were significantly lower at T1 and T2 than T3 and T5.

Risk Factors for Comorbid Insomnia and Perceived Cognitive Impairments

Among all possible risk factors investigated, differences between patients with and without comorbid insomnia-perceived cognitive impairments were significant on age, sex, occupation, current chemotherapy, the presence of clinical levels of depression and anxiety, and the use of antidepressants and

Comorbid Insomnia and Cognitive Impairment

anxiolytics. More specifically, patients with comorbidity were significantly younger, F(1, 3,701) = 21.81, p < 0.0001 (57.46 vs. 57.63), more likely to be females, F(1, 4,816) = 7.20, p < 0.01 (83.32% vs. 73.28%), to be currently receiving chemotherapy F(1, 1,747) = 6.22, p < 0.05 (4.98% vs. 3.63%), and to use antidepressants, F(1, 4,635) = 6.90, p < 0.01 (8.35% vs. 5.47%) and anxiolytics, F(1, 4,635) = 36.30, p < 0.0001 (29.77% vs. 16.02%). They were also less likely to work, F(1, 4,801) = 7.03, p < 0.01 (24.22% vs. 30.58%) and to report a clinical level of depression, F(1, 4,804) = 7.70, p < 0.01 (95.64% vs. 97.35%), and anxiety, F(1, 4,806) = 26.00, p < 0.0001 (96.94% vs. 99.12%).

DISCUSSION

To our knowledge, this is the first study to prospectively assess the comorbidity of insomnia symptoms and perceived cognitive impairment in a large, heterogeneous sample of cancer patients. Over an 18-month period post-surgery, the prevalence of both perceived clinically significant insomnia and cognitive impairment was highest at baseline at 25.84% and lowest at 18 months at 18.73%. We observed strong associations between subjectively assessed insomnia and cognitive functioning, independent of patient age and education. Further, the association between insomnia and cognitive impairments was bidirectional, wherein the presence of one at a single timepoint was significantly associated with the other at the following timepoint. Having comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairment was associated with a few demographic and clinical variables.

In non-cancer samples, there is a large body of experimental evidence to support the insomnia (or sleep deprivation) \rightarrow perceived cognitive impairment relationship. Sufficient quality and quantity of sleep is essential for optimal attention, concentration, memory, and executive functions (Walker, 2009; Raven et al., 2018). There are several biological mechanisms that have been proposed in an effort to establish the pathways by which sleep disturbances may contribute to cognitive impairment. These include, but are not limited to, changes in neurotransmitter systems involved in sleep (Bekinschtein et al., 2008; Havekes et al., 2012), neural disruptions and reduction in the volume of the hippocampus (Riemann et al., 2007; Meerlo et al., 2009), changes in the functioning of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis (van Dalfsen and Markus, 2018), and changes in functionality of different brain regions involved in working memory (Mu et al., 2005; Chee et al., 2006). This suggests that an intervention designed to target insomnia may have a secondary benefit of improving perceived cognitive function, but this remains to be tested in cancer survivors (Garland et al., 2021a). Less is known about why perceived or objectively assessed cognitive impairment might be associated with future insomnia, but it is possible that the distress caused by the perception of cognitive impairment (Myers, 2013) might increase insomnia at a subsequent timepoint. Alternatively, there may be some third variable or common etiology (e.g., HPA axis dysregulation) that may explain both (Balbo et al., 2010), but this requires further investigation.

The prevalence of both perceived clinically significant insomnia and cognitive impairment was highest at baseline and declined thereafter, albeit modestly. This is likely due to the acute impact of the distress caused by receiving a cancer diagnosis (Kaiser et al., 2019) or the impacts of a recent surgery (and hospitalization) on sleep (Ida et al., 2019) and cognitions (Wu et al., 2019). The prevalence of clinical levels of perceived cognitive impairment ranged from 37.18 to 39.88% across the 18 months, whereas the prevalence for clinically relevant insomnia symptoms ranged from 35.63 to 55.88%. Our findings further support previous cross-sectional and longitudinal studies demonstrating that roughly 30 percent of breast cancer patients experience perceived cognitive impairment prior to even starting treatment (Wefel et al., 2004; Hermelink et al., 2007). Our results also suggest that perceived cognitive impairment can persist past treatment and remission, in line with past research that up to 35 percent of patients report cognitive impairments from 6 months to 20 years following treatment (Yamada et al., 2010; Koppelmans et al., 2012). We observed that clinical levels of insomnia were more frequent than clinical levels of cognitive impairments, and rates obtained are consistent with past estimates placing the prevalence of cancer-related insomnia to be between 30 and 60%, depending on the type and timing of measurement (Savard and Morin, 2001; Davidson et al., 2002; Savard et al., 2011). The prevalence and relative stability of these two symptoms have important implications for overall health and functioning. Both insomnia and cognitive failures (as measured by the CFQ) have been associated with workplace (Daley et al., 2009; Day et al., 2012) and traffic (Allahyari et al., 2008; Leger et al., 2014) accidents. Research has also demonstrated a direct relationship of insomnia on impaired workplace functioning, including greater absenteeism and presenteeism (Brossoit et al., 2019). Those patients who experience both insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment may be at greater risk for these and other negative impacts on their health and functioning.

A few demographic and clinical variables were significantly associated with the presence of comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairment. Patients with this comorbidity were younger, more likely to be female, and currently undergoing chemotherapy. Previous research has reported associations between younger age and female sex and higher levels of insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment (Oertelt-Prigione et al., 2021). There is also robust evidence to support the association between chemotherapy and both insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment, that persists past treatment completion (Hermelink et al., 2007; Lindner et al., 2014; Janelsins et al., 2017; Yao et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2020). Those who experienced comorbid insomnia and cognitive impairment were also significantly less likely to work than those without clinical levels of insomnia and/or cognitive complaints. This supports the greater combined occupational impacts of having these two conditions. Interestingly, patients with both conditions were less likely to have clinical levels of depression and anxiety, but this can be explained by their greater likelihood of using a psychotropic medication to manage these disorders. None of the other clinical characteristics, including cancer type, or demographic variables were associated with comorbidity.

There are a number of limitations that need to be considered. First, this was a secondary analysis of a larger study designed to assess insomnia over time and not cognitive function. This limited the ability to assess more specific indices of cognitive function. The inclusion of objective measures of cognition would not have been practically feasible with a sample this large. The absence of neuropsychological tests does not allow us to draw conclusions about specific domains of cognitive function associated with insomnia. Further, the measure we used, the CFQ, has a high test-retest reliability which makes it hard to determine whether the relative stability of problems we observed were a result of persistent problems or the measures insensitivity to detect change. Other studies in cancer samples have also not found significant change over time using this measure (Bray et al., 2018). In addition, empirically validated cutoffs for the CFQ have not been established in people diagnosed with cancer. Although patients with an existing diagnosis of a sleep disorder other than insomnia, e.g., sleep apnea, were excluded from this study, those with an undiagnosed sleep disorder may have been undetected. Sleep disorders other than insomnia have also been associated with cognitive complaints. As such, we cannot fully rule out the potential influence of other sleep-related factors in the results observed. Finally, the intervals between time points were fairly long (2 and 4 months) making it more difficult to conclude with certainty about the direction of the relationship between insomnia and cognitive impairment. Additional prospective and clinical studies using both objective and subjective measures of cognitive functioning and shorter time intervals are needed.

Comorbid insomnia and perceived cognitive impairment affects around one in five patients and is more frequent at the beginning of the cancer care trajectory. Reporting these symptoms simultaneously has the potential to exacerbate the overall symptom burden and impact on individual functioning. All patients should be regularly screened for insomnia, cognitive concerns, along with other survivorship issues, followed by a more careful assessment and/or a referral for neuropsychological testing if warranted (Van Dyk and Ganz, 2021). Insomnia may represent an important patient level vulnerability that when identified, can be effectively treated with cognitive-behavioral therapy for insomnia (Johnson et al., 2016), which can improve not only insomnia but also co-occurring fatigue (Heckler et al., 2016), mood disturbance (Peoples et al., 2019), and possibly cognitive impairment.

REFERENCES

- Ahles, T. A., and Root, J. C. (2018). Cognitive Effects of Cancer and Cancer Treatments. Annu. Rev. Clin. Psychol. 14, 425–451.
- Allahyari, T., Saraji, G. N., Adl, J., Hosseini, M., Iravani, M., Younesian, M., et al. (2008). Cognitive failures, driving errors and driving accidents. *Int. J. Occup.* Saf. Ergon. 14, 149–158. doi: 10.1080/10803548.2008.11076759
- American Psychiatric Association (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (DSM-5), 5th Edn. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Balbo, M., Leproult, R., and Van Cauter, E. (2010). Impact of sleep and its disturbances on hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal axis activity. *Int. J. Endocrinol.* 2010:759234. doi: 10.1155/2010/759234

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Committees of the Centre Hospitalier Universitaire de Québec, the Centre Hospitalier Affilié Universitaire de Québec, and the Université Laval. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SG: conceptualization, methodology, and writing and editing the original draft. HI: data curation, formal analysis, and editing. JS: funding acquisition, conceptualization, methodology, writing, and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This study was funded by a grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (MOP-69073).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to acknowledge the important contribution of Valérie Tremblay, Lucie Casault, Caroline Desautels, Geneviève Dumont, Dave Flanagan, Nathalie Gagnon, Catherine Gonthier, Geneviève Laurent, Marie-Ève Le May, Julie Maheux, Marie-Esther Paradis, Sylvie Perron, Julie Roy, Sophie Ruel, Élaine Thériault, Claudia Trudel-Fitzgerald, and Maude Villeneuve who were involved in the recruitment and assessment of the participants or the data entry, as well as the participants who volunteered their time for this study.

- Bekinschtein, P., Cammarota, M., Katche, C., Slipczuk, L., Rossato, J. I., Goldin, A., et al. (2008). BDNF is essential to promote persistence of long-term memory storage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A.* 105, 2711–2716. doi: 10.1073/pnas. 0711863105
- Boscher, C., Joly, F., Clarisse, B., Humbert, X., Grellard, J. M., Binarelli, G., et al. (2020). Perceived Cognitive Impairment in Breast Cancer Survivors and Its Relationships with Psychological Factors. *Cancers* 12:10. doi: 10.3390/ cancers12103000
- Boyce-van der Wal, L. W., Volker, W. G., Vliet Vlieland, T. P., van den Heuvel, D. M., van Exel, H. J., and Goossens, P. H. (2015). Cognitive problems in patients in a cardiac rehabilitation program after an out-of-hospital cardiac arrest. *Resuscitation* 93, 63–68. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2015.0 5.029

- Bray, V. J., Dhillon, H. M., and Vardy, J. L. (2018). Systematic review of selfreported cognitive function in cancer patients following chemotherapy treatment. *J. Cancer Surviv.* 12, 537–559. doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0 692-x
- Broadbent, D. E., Cooper, P. F., FitzGerald, P., and Parkes, K. R. (1982). The Cognitive Failures Questionnaire (CFQ) and its correlates. *Br. J. Clin. Psychol.* 21, 1–16. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8260.1982.tb01421.x
- Brossoit, R. M., Crain, T. L., Leslie, J. J., Hammer, L. B., Truxillo, D. M., and Bodner, T. E. (2019). The effects of sleep on workplace cognitive failure and safety. *J. Occup. Health Psychol.* 24, 411–422. doi: 10.1037/ocp0000139
- Brownlow, J. A., Miller, K. E., and Gehrman, P. R. (2020). Insomnia and Cognitive Performance. *Sleep Med. Clin.* 15, 71–76.

Buysse, D. J. (2013). Insomnia. JAMA 309, 706-716.

- Caplette-Gingras, A., Savard, J., Savard, M. H., and Ivers, H. (2013). Is insomnia associated with cognitive impairments in breast cancer patients? *Behav. Sleep Med.* 11, 239–257. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2012.672940
- Chee, M. W., Chuah, L. Y., Venkatraman, V., Chan, W. Y., Philip, P., and Dinges, D. F. (2006). Functional imaging of working memory following normal sleep and after 24 and 35 h of sleep deprivation: Correlations of frontoparietal activation with performance. *Neuroimage* 31, 419–428. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuroimage.2005.12.001
- Daley, M., Morin, C. M., LeBlanc, M., Gregoire, J. P., Savard, J., and Baillargeon, L. (2009). Insomnia and its relationship to health-care utilization, work absenteeism, productivity and accidents. *Sleep Med.* 10, 427–438. doi: 10.1016/ j.sleep.2008.04.005
- Davidson, J. R., MacLean, A. W., Brundage, M. D., and Schulze, K. (2002). Sleep disturbance in cancer patients. Soc. Sci. Med. 54, 1309–1321.
- Day, A. J., Brasher, K., and Bridger, R. S. (2012). Accident proneness revisited: the role of psychological stress and cognitive failure. *Accid. Anal. Prev.* 49, 532–535. doi: 10.1016/j.aap.2012.03.028
- Fleming, L., Randell, K., Stewart, E., Espie, C. A., Morrison, D. S., Lawless, C., et al. (2018). Insomnia in breast cancer: a prospective observational study. *Sleep* 42:zsy245. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsy245
- Garland, S. N., Savard, J., Dalton, K., Walsh, N. A., Seal, M., Rash, J., et al. (2021a). Rationale and protocol for a randomized waitlist controlled trial of videoconference delivered cognitive behaviour therapy for insomnia (CBT-I) to improve perceived cognitive impairment (PCI) among cancer survivors. *Contemp. Clin. Trials* 103:106322. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2021.106322
- Garland, S. N., Savard, J., Eisel, S. L., Wassersug, R. J., Rockwood, N. J., Thoms, J., et al. (2021b). A 2-year prospective analysis of insomnia as a mediator of the relationship between androgen deprivation therapy and perceived cognitive function in men with prostate cancer. *Cancer* 127, 4656–4664. doi: 10.1002/ cncr.33850
- Goel, N., Rao, H., Durmer, J. S., and Dinges, D. F. (2009). Neurocognitive consequences of sleep deprivation. *Semin. Neurol.* 29, 320–339. doi: 10.1055/ s-0029-1237117
- Harrold, E. C., Idris, A. F., Keegan, N. M., Corrigan, L., Teo, M. Y., O'Donnell, M., et al. (2020). Prevalence of Insomnia in an Oncology Patient Population: An Irish Tertiary Referral Center Experience. J. Natl. Compr. Canc. Netw. 18, 1623–1630. doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2020.7611
- Havekes, R., Vecsey, C. G., and Abel, T. (2012). The impact of sleep deprivation on neuronal and glial signaling pathways important for memory and synaptic plasticity. *Cell Signal*. 24, 1251–1260. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2012.02.010
- Heckler, C. E., Garland, S. N., Peoples, A. R., Perlis, M. L., Shayne, M., Morrow, G. R., et al. (2016). Cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia, but not armodafinil, improves fatigue in cancer survivors with insomnia: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. *Support Care Cancer* 24, 2059–2066. doi: 10.1007/ s00520-015-2996-y
- Hermelink, K., Untch, M., Lux, M. P., Kreienberg, R., Beck, T., Bauerfeind, I., et al. (2007). Cognitive function during neoadjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer: results of a prospective, multicenter, longitudinal study. *Cancer* 109, 1905–1913. doi: 10.1002/cncr.22610
- Hoang, H. T. X., Molassiotis, A., Chan, C. W., Nguyen, T. H., and Liep Nguyen, V. (2019). New-onset insomnia among cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy: prevalence, risk factors, and its correlation with other symptoms. *Sleep Breath* 24, 241–251. doi: 10.1007/s11325-019-01839-x
- Ida, M., Onodera, H., Yamauchi, M., and Kawaguchi, M. (2019). Preoperative sleep disruption and postoperative functional disability in lung surgery patients: a

prospective observational study. J. Anesth. 33, 501-508. doi: 10.1007/s00540-019-02656-y

- Innominato, P. F., Spiegel, D., Ulusakarya, A., Giacchetti, S., Bjarnason, G. A., Levi, F., et al. (2015). Subjective sleep and overall survival in chemotherapynaive patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Sleep Med.* 16, 391–398. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2014.10.022
- Janelsins, M. C., Heckler, C. E., Peppone, L. J., Ahles, T. A., Mohile, S. G., Mustian, K. M., et al. (2018). Longitudinal Trajectory and Characterization of Cancer-Related Cognitive Impairment in a Nationwide Cohort Study. J. Clin. Oncol. 2018;JCO2018786624. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.6624
- Janelsins, M. C., Heckler, C. E., Peppone, L. J., Kamen, C., Mustian, K. M., Mohile, S. G., et al. (2017). Cognitive Complaints in Survivors of Breast Cancer After Chemotherapy Compared With Age-Matched Controls: An Analysis From a Nationwide, Multicenter, Prospective Longitudinal Study. J. Clin. Oncol. 35, 506–514. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.68.5826
- Johnson, J. A., Rash, J. A., Campbell, T. S., Savard, J., Gehrman, P. R., Perlis, M., et al. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of cognitive behavior therapy for insomnia (CBT-I) in cancer survivors. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 27, 20–28. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.07.001
- Kaiser, J., Dietrich, J., Amiri, M., Ruschel, I., Akbaba, H., Hantke, N., et al. (2019). Cognitive Performance and Psychological Distress in Breast Cancer Patients at Disease Onset. *Front Psychol.* 10:2584. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.02584
- Kim, H. J., Jung, S. O., Kim, H., and Abraham, I. (2020). Systematic review of longitudinal studies on chemotherapy-associated subjective cognitive impairment in cancer patients. *Psychooncology* 29, 617–631. doi: 10.1002/pon. 5339
- Koppelmans, V., Breteler, M. M., Boogerd, W., Seynaeve, C., Gundy, C., and Schagen, S. B. (2012). Neuropsychological performance in survivors of breast cancer more than 20 years after adjuvant chemotherapy. J. Clin. Oncol. 30:1080. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.37.0189
- Lange, M., Joly, F., Vardy, J., Ahles, T., Dubois, M., Tron, L., et al. (2019). Cancerrelated cognitive impairment: an update on state of the art, detection, and management strategies in cancer survivors. *Ann. Oncol.* 30, 1925–1940. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz410
- Leger, D., Bayon, V., Ohayon, M. M., Philip, P., Ement, P., Metlaine, A., et al. (2014). Insomnia and accidents: cross-sectional study (EQUINOX) on sleeprelated home, work and car accidents in 5293 subjects with insomnia from 10 countries. J. Sleep Res. 23, 143–152. doi: 10.1111/jsr.12104
- Leysen, L., Lahousse, A., Nijs, J., Adriaenssens, N., Mairesse, O., Ivakhnov, S., et al. (2019). Prevalence and risk factors of sleep disturbances in breast cancersurvivors: systematic review and meta-analyses. *Support Care Cancer* 27, 4401–4433. doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04936-5
- Lindner, O. C., Phillips, B., McCabe, M. G., Mayes, A., Wearden, A., Varese, F., et al. (2014). A meta-analysis of cognitive impairment following adult cancer chemotherapy. *Neuropsychology* 28, 726–740. doi: 10.1037/neu0000064
- Lowery-Allison, A. E., Passik, S. D., Cribbet, M. R., Reinsel, R. A., O'Sullivan, B., Norton, L., et al. (2018). Sleep problems in breast cancer survivors 1-10 years posttreatment. *Palliat. Support Care.* 16, 325–334. doi: 10.1017/ S1478951517000311
- Maguire, R., Drummond, F. J., Hanly, P., Gavin, A., and Sharp, L. (2019). Problems sleeping with prostate cancer: exploring possible risk factors for sleep disturbance in a population-based sample of survivors. *Support Care Cancer* 27, 3365–3373. doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4633-z
- Meerlo, P., Mistlberger, R. E., Jacobs, B. L., Heller, H. C., and McGinty, D. (2009). New neurons in the adult brain: the role of sleep and consequences of sleep loss. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 13, 187–194. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2008.07.004
- Moulaert, V. R. M., van Heugten, C. M., Gorgels, T. P. M., Wade, D. T., and Verbunt, J. A. (2017). Long-term Outcome After Survival of a Cardiac Arrest: A Prospective Longitudinal Cohort Study. *Neurorehabil. Neural. Repair.* 31, 530–539. doi: 10.1177/1545968317697032
- Mu, Q., Nahas, Z., Johnson, K. A., Yamanaka, K., Mishory, A., Koola, J., et al. (2005). Decreased cortical response to verbal working memory following sleep deprivation. *Sleep* 28, 55–67. doi: 10.1093/sleep/28.1.55
- Myers, J. S. (2013). Cancer- and chemotherapy-related cognitive changes: the patient experience. *Semin Oncol. Nurs.* 29, 300–307. doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2013. 08.010
- Nishiura, M., Tamura, A., Nagai, H., and Matsushima, E. (2015). Assessment of sleep disturbance in lung cancer patients: relationship between sleep

disturbance and pain, fatigue, quality of life, and psychological distress. *Palliat. Support Care.* 13, 575–581. doi: 10.1017/S1478951513001119

- Oertelt-Prigione, S., de Rooij, B. H., Mols, F., Oerlemans, S., Husson, O., Schoormans, D., et al. (2021). Sex-differences in symptoms and functioning in >5000 cancer survivors: Results from the PROFILES registry. *Eur. J. Cancer.* 156, 24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2021.07.019
- Ohayon, M. M. (2002). Epidemiology of insomnia: what we know and what we still need to learn. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 6, 97–111. doi: 10.1053/smrv.2002.0186
- Palesh, O. G., Roscoe, J. A., Mustian, K. M., Roth, T., Savard, J., Ancoli-Israel, S., et al. (2010). Prevalence, demographics, and psychological associations of sleep disruption in patients with cancer: University of Rochester Cancer Center-Community Clinical Oncology Program. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, 292–298. doi: 10. 1200/JCO.2009.22.5011
- Peoples, A. R., Garland, S. N., Pigeon, W. R., Perlis, M. L., Wolf, J. R., Heffner, K. L., et al. (2019). Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia Reduces Depression in Cancer Survivors. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 15, 129–137. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.7586
- Raven, F., Van der Zee, E. A., Meerlo, P., and Havekes, R. (2018). The role of sleep in regulating structural plasticity and synaptic strength: Implications for memory and cognitive function. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 39, 3–11. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.0 5.002
- Riemann, D., Voderholzer, U., Spiegelhalder, K., Hornyak, M., Buysse, D. J., Nissen, C., et al. (2007). Chronic insomnia and MRI-measured hippocampal volumes: a pilot study. *Sleep* 30, 955–958. doi: 10.1093/sleep/30.8.955
- Rodriguez, N., Fawcett, J. M., Rash, J. A., Lester, R., Powell, E., MacMillan, C. D., et al. (2021). Factors associated with cognitive impairment during the first year of treatment for nonmetastatic breast cancer. *Cancer Med.* 10, 1191–1200. doi: 10.1002/cam4.3715
- Ruel, S., Savard, J., and Ivers, H. (2015). Insomnia and self-reported infections in cancer patients: An 18-month longitudinal study. *Health Psychol.* 34, 983–991. doi: 10.1037/hea0000181
- Savard, J., Ivers, H., Villa, J., Caplette-Gingras, A., and Morin, C. M. (2011). Natural course of insomnia comorbid with cancer: an 18-month longitudinal study. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 29, 3580–3586. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.2247
- Savard, J., and Morin, C. M. (2001). Insomnia in the context of cancer: a review of a neglected problem. J. Clin. Oncol. 19, 895–908. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.3.895
- Savard, J., Villa, J., Ivers, H., Simard, S., and Morin, C. M. (2009). Prevalence, natural course, and risk factors of insomnia comorbid with cancer over a 2-month period. J. Clin. Oncol. 27, 5233–5239. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.21.6333
- Savard, M. H., Savard, J., Simard, S., and Ivers, H. (2005). Empirical validation of the Insomnia Severity Index in cancer patients. *Psychooncology* 14, 429–441. doi: 10.1002/pon.860
- Steinbusch, C. V. M., van Heugten, C. M., Rasquin, S. M. C., Verbunt, J. A., and Moulaert, V. R. M. (2017). Cognitive impairments and subjective

cognitive complaints after survival of cardiac arrest: A prospective longitudinal cohort study. *Resuscitation* 120, 132–137. doi: 10.1016/j.resuscitation.2017.0 8.007

- van Dalfsen, J. H., and Markus, C. R. (2018). The influence of sleep on human hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis reactivity: A systematic review. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 39, 187–194. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.10.002
- Van Dyk, K., and Ganz, P. A. (2021). Cancer-Related Cognitive Impairment in Patients With a History of Breast Cancer. JAMA 326, 1736–1737. doi: 10.1001/ jama.2021.13309
- Walker, M. P. (2009). The role of sleep in cognition and emotion. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1156, 168–197. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2009.04416.x
- Wefel, J. S., Lenzi, R., Theriault, R. L., Davis, R. N., and Meyers, C. A. (2004). The cognitive sequelae of standard-dose adjuvant chemotherapy in women with breast carcinoma: results of a prospective, randomized, longitudinal trial. *Cancer* 100, 2292–2299.
- Wu, L., Zhao, H., Weng, H., and Ma, D. (2019). Lasting effects of general anesthetics on the brain in the young and elderly: "mixed picture" of neurotoxicity, neuroprotection and cognitive impairment. J. Anesth. 33, 321– 335. doi: 10.1007/s00540-019-02623-7
- Yamada, T. H., Denburg, N. L., Beglinger, L. J., and Schultz, S. K. (2010). Neuropsychological outcomes of older breast cancer survivors: cognitive features ten or more years after chemotherapy. J. Neuropsychiatry Clin. Neurosci. 22:48. doi: 10.1176/jnp.2010.22.1.48
- Yao, C., Bernstein, L. J., and Rich, J. B. (2017). Executive functioning impairment in women treated with chemotherapy for breast cancer: a systematic review. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 166:15. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4376-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Garland, Ivers and Savard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Systematic Review: Sleep Disorders Based on Objective Data in Children and Adolescents Treated for a Brain Tumor

Anne Sophie Lind Helligsoe^{1,2*}, Kathrine Synne Weile^{1,2}, Line Kenborg³, Louise Tram Henriksen^{1,2}, Yasmin Lassen-Ramshad⁴, Ali Amidi⁵, Lisa Maria Wu^{5,6}, Jeanette Falck Winther^{1,2,3}, Line Pickering⁷ and René Mathiasen⁸

¹ Department of Pediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark, ² Department of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ³ Childhood Cancer Research Group, Danish Cancer Society Research Center, Copenhagen, Denmark, ⁴ Danish Centre for Particle Therapy, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁵ Unit for Psychooncology and Health Psychology, Department of Psychology and Behavioural Sciences, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁶ Department of AlAS, Aarhus Institute of Advanced Studies, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁷ Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Danish Center for Sleep Medicine, Rigshospitalet, University of Copenhagen, Glostrup, Denmark, ⁸ Department of Paediatrics and Adolescent Medicine, The University Hospital Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen, Denmark

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Giuseppe Plazzi, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Maria Paola Mogavero, Scientific Clinical Institute Maugeri (ICS Maugeri), Italy Marta Moraleda-Cibrián, Hospital Quirón Teknon, Spain

*Correspondence:

Anne Sophie Lind Helligsoe aslf@dadlnet.dk orcid.org/0000-0003-4956-4897

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 03 November 2021 Accepted: 25 January 2022 Published: 22 February 2022

Citation:

Helligsoe ASL, Weile KS, Kenborg L, Henriksen LT, Lassen-Ramshad Y, Amidi A, Wu LM, Winther JF, Pickering L and Mathiasen R (2022) Systematic Review: Sleep Disorders Based on Objective Data in Children and Adolescents Treated for a Brain Tumor. Front. Neurosci. 16:808398. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.808398 **Background:** Tumors of the central nervous system (CNS) are the most common solid childhood malignancy. Over the last decades, treatment developments have strongly contributed to the improved overall 5-year survival rate, which is now approaching 75%. However, children now face significant long-term morbidity with late-effects including sleep disorders that may have detrimental impact on everyday functioning and quality of life. The aims of this study were to (1) describe the symptoms that lead to polysomnographic evaluation; (2) describe the nature of sleep disorders diagnosed in survivors of childhood CNS tumor using polysomnography (PSG); and (3) explore the association between tumor location and diagnosed sleep disorder.

Methods: An extensive literature search following the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis guidelines (PRISMA) was conducted. Inclusion criteria were children and adolescents diagnosed with a CNS tumor age <20 years having a PSG performed after end of tumor treatment. The primary outcome was sleep disorder confirmed by PSG.

Results: Of the 1,658 studies identified, 11 met the inclusion criteria. All the included articles were appraised for quality and included in the analysis. Analyses indicated that sleep disorders commonly occur among childhood CNS tumor survivors. Symptoms prior to referral for PSG were excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS), fatigue, irregular breathing during sleep and snoring. The most common sleep disorders diagnosed were sleep-related breathing disorders (i.e., obstructive sleep apnea) and central disorders of hypersomnolence (i.e., narcolepsy).

27

Conclusion: Our findings point to the potential benefit of systematically registering sleep disorder symptoms among CNS tumor patients together with tumor type and treatment information, so that at-risk patients can be identified early. Moreover, future rigorous and larger scale controlled observational studies that include possible modifiable confounders of sleep disorders such as fatigue and obesity are warranted.

Clinical Trial Registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display_record.php? ID=CRD42021243866, identifier [CRD42021243866].

Keywords: childhood, CNS tumor, sleep, polysomnography, sleep disorder

BACKGROUND

Tumors of the central nervous system (CNS) are the most common solid childhood malignancy (Grabas et al., 2020). Over the last decades, treatment developments have contributed to a markedly improved overall 5-year survival rate approaching 75% (Lannering et al., 2009; Gatta et al., 2014; Desandes et al., 2020). However, children now face significant long-term morbidity, including sleep disorders, with detrimental impact on everyday functioning and quality of life (Pickering et al., 2017; Jeon et al., 2021) that may be due to the tumor type, tumor location, or treatment (typically a combination of surgery, chemotherapy).

Sleep disorders are associated with decreased healthrelated quality of life in the general pediatric and adolescent population (Hart et al., 2005; Owens, 2014). Sleep disorders, sleep disturbances, and excessive daytime sleepiness (EDS) have been reported in children with cancer and associated with an increased risk of hospitalizations (Mulrooney et al., 2008; Kenborg et al., 2019). Furthermore, sleep disturbances can adversely affect social functioning (Walsh et al., 2020) and impair scholastic achievement (Lahteenmaki et al., 2007). In general, CNS tumor survivors have an increased risk of socioeconomic adverse effects compared with other childhood cancer survivors (Frederiksen et al., 2019).

During the cancer trajectory, sleep disturbances may occur during cancer treatments and the year after (Hinds et al., 2007; Daniel et al., 2017) but it is unclear whether childhood CNS tumor survivors are likely to experience sleep disorders later in life. Such diagnostic information would not only be important for cancer survivors to be aware of, but also to inform treatment options.

Research in childhood cancer survivors has primarily focused on sleep disorders captured by self-report data (Mulrooney et al., 2008). Yet, an increasing number of studies are encouraging the evaluation of sleep disorders using polysomnography (PSG) in childhood CNS tumor survivors in order to better understand the nature of their dysfunction (Kaleyias et al., 2012). Therefore, the present study aimed to systematically review the literature to: (1) describe the symptoms that lead to polysomnographic evaluation in survivors of childhood CNS tumor; (2) describe the nature of sleep disorders diagnosed in this group using PSG; and (3) explore the association between tumor location and diagnosed sleep disorder.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis guidelines (PRISMA) were followed (Page et al., 2021). A systematic review protocol was designed, and the research group agreed on the search strategy and *a priori* defined inclusion and exclusion criteria. The study protocol was registered with Prospero (registration number CRD 42021243866).

Search Strategy

We conducted a comprehensive literature search with no restrictions with respect to language or year of publication including (1) electronic searches of PubMed/MEDLINE, Embase/Ovid, Web of Science, and Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) and (2) searches of reference lists of identified studies, related reviews, and clinical trial registries (ClinicalTrials.gov registry). Our search strategy consisted of three individual blocks combining sleep, CNS tumor, and children. The search strategy for the MEDLINE search is available in **Supplementary Table 1**. submission The search was repeated before on November 1st, 2021.

Study Selection, Inclusion, and Exclusion Criteria

Studies were included based on the following inclusion criteria: (a) CNS tumor diagnosis before the age of 20 years; (b) PSG performed after the end of treatment; (c) randomized controlled trial (RCT) or observational study with or without a control group; (d) primary outcomes were symptoms leading to PSG and diagnosed sleep disorders; and (e) the association of tumor location and diagnosed sleep disorder was described. Studies were excluded if only (a) electroencephalography or (b) actigraphy were performed, and if they were (c) case reports, case series or small sample studies in which data were not aggregated. Studies where only some of the patients fulfilled the inclusion criteria were included and data on the included individuals were extracted. Two review authors (ASLH, KSW) independently screened and selected studies based on title and abstract using Covidence. The same reviewers subsequently performed full-text screening and data extraction independently. Non-English studies were translated by a translator to decide whether inclusion criteria were met. Disagreements were resolved with discussion. Duplicates were excluded.

Data Extraction

For each included study, we recorded the first author's name, year of publication, country, study design, age at diagnosis, age at PSG, time since diagnosis, CNS tumor location, treatment, symptoms leading to PSG, and diagnosed sleep disorder based on the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (Sateia, 2014). Studies were grouped according to study design and diagnosed sleep disorder. Central sleep apnea is characterized by a lack of drive to breathe during sleep and can be influenced by tumor location, pharmacological treatment, and surgery to the area and thus interruption of the neurologic circuit (Eckert et al., 2007). Obstructive sleep apnea is characterized by repeated upper airway collapse during sleep leading to desaturation and thereby disrupted sleep (Jordan et al., 2014).

Quality Assessment

All studies were appraised for quality by two independent researchers (ASLH, KSW) using the standardized Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (Wells et al., 2021) for assessing risk of bias in observational studies as recommended by the Cochrane Collaboration (Higgins et al., 2017). The scale is based on a star rating system with a maximum of nine stars. Risk of bias was assessed in both case control as well as cohort studies according to three criteria: (1) selection of study groups, (2) comparability of the study and control group, and (3) ascertainment of outcome.

For the criteria "selection of groups," representativeness of the group, selection, and ascertainment of exposure were assessed. For the criteria "comparability between groups" we defined age as a factor of particular relevance for adjustment, as age affects the diagnostic criteria of sleep disorders made after PSG. For the criteria "ascertainment of outcome," we defined a threshold for minimum follow-up length after end of treatment of 1 year.

RESULTS

Characteristics of Included Studies

A total of 1,658 studies were identified and after removal of 247 duplicates, the remaining 1,411 studies were screened using the inclusion and exclusion criteria (**Figure 1**). After the screening of title and abstract, 1,319 studies did not meet eligibility criteria. Seventy studies were excluded as they did not meet inclusion criteria after full-text screening, and 12 were case reports or case series. One study was hand searched. Eleven studies, published between 1991 and 2021, were included in our analyses. All studies included PSG. One study included polygraphic evaluation of sleep disorders combined with data on respiratory rhythm, and was therefore included in our analyses (Fagioli et al., 1991).

Reasons for exclusion after full-text screening were: Sleep evaluation by cassette recording and not PSG (Palm et al., 1992); ongoing treatment (Chuang et al., 2013; Delrosso et al., 2014); duplicates (Mendez, 1992; Khan et al., 2017); and in one case,



FIGURE 1 PHISMA how chart. A total of 1,658 studies were produced. Of these 247 duplicates were removed, and the remaining 1,411 studies were screened. After screening title and abstract 1,319 studies were found irrelevant, as they did not meet eligibility criteria. Seventy studies were excluded as they did not meet inclusion criteria after full-text screening, and 12 were case reports or case series. Finally 11 studies were included.

the same population had been used twice, thus, we only included the most recent publication (Rosen and Brand, 2011). We did, however, include one study, where only some of the patients met the inclusion criteria (Crowley et al., 2011).

The 11 studies included represented 261 patients with a median age range at diagnosis from 5.6 to 10.1 years, at PSG from 12.4 to 40.5 years, and time from diagnosis from 0.75 year to 10.2 years (Table 1). The studies varied widely by tumor type, age at PSG, sample size and study setting. Tumor treatment consisting of either surgery, chemotherapy, and/or radiation had been completed in all studies except one (Rosen and Brand, 2011) where 25% of the patients were still receiving treatment. Three studies were conference abstracts (Müller et al., 2006; Pilotto et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2020) and eight studies were full text articles. In four studies (n = 39), the patients had been diagnosed with craniopharyngioma (Müller et al., 2006; O'Gorman et al., 2010; Crowley et al., 2011; Manley et al., 2012) and in seven studies (n = 222), the population consisted of different CNS tumor diagnoses (Fagioli et al., 1991; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2017; Pilotto et al., 2019; Johnson et al., 2020; Pickering et al., 2021). In three studies, the patients were diagnosed with both craniopharyngioma and obesity (Müller et al., 2006; O'Gorman et al., 2010; Crowley et al., 2011). In one study (Crowley et al., 2011), only 25% of the study sample (n = 7) were diagnosed in childhood and TABLE 1 | Characteristics of studies according to country, number of participants, age at diagnosis, age at polysomnography, and quality assessment following the Newcastle-Ottawa Scale.

Author, Year	Country	Total number of participants	Subjects meeting eligibility criteria	Age at diagnosis (median, years)	Age at PSG (median, years)	Time since diagnosis (years)	Quality Assessment (0–9 stars)
Crowley et al. (2011)	Ireland	28	7	NA	40.5	NA	5
Fagioli et al. (1991)	France	19	19	6.8	NA	NA	5
Johnson et al. (2020) (abstract)	USA	12	12	NA	14	9-72 months	2
Khan et al. (2017)	USA	39	39	10.1	NA	10.2	6
Mandrell et al. (2012)	USA	31	31	7.4	14.3	NA	5
Manley et al. (2012)	USA	19	9 (data on 7)	8	17.5	9	5
Müller et al. (2006)	Germany	115	10	NA	NA	NA	5
O'Gorman et al. (2010)	Canada	15	15	NA	15.5	NA	7
Pickering et al. (2021)	Denmark	61	61	5.6	12.4	5.3	6
Pilotto et al. (2019) (abstract)	Italy	16	12	9.3	12.5	NA	2
Rosen and Brand (2011)	USA	70	48	NA	NA	NA	4

specific sleep disorder data for those individuals could not be separately extracted.

Regarding study design, no RCTs were identified, but five publications included control or comparison groups (O'Gorman et al., 2010; Crowley et al., 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2017; Pickering et al., 2021). Due to heterogeneity and the risk of bias, it was only possible to narratively describe the results with a focus on symptoms that led to PSG, the sleep disorders diagnosed after PSG, and their association with tumor location.

Quality Assessment

Risk of bias assessment is summarized in **Table 2**. The quality scale ranged from 0 to 9, where scores below seven was indicative of low quality (Wells et al., 2021). The 11 studies had an average score of 4.7, and only one study (O'Gorman et al., 2010) met criteria for high quality due to its high scores with respect to comparability between groups. In general, studies received the lowest scores with respect to "selection of study groups" and "comparability between groups" and highest scores in "ascertainment of outcome."

Symptoms Leading to Polysomnography

In seven (64%) studies, symptoms prior to referral for PSG were presented (**Table 3**). The patients reported EDS, fatigue, irregular breathing during sleep, and snoring.

Sleep Disorders Diagnosed After Polysomnography

Findings from the PSGs are listed in **Table 3**. Seven studies (O'Gorman et al., 2010; Crowley et al., 2011; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2017; Pilotto et al., 2019; Pickering et al., 2021) reported that the PSG was performed in accordance with guidelines from the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (Iber et al., 2007). In eight studies, specific diagnoses of sleep disorders were noted (Müller et al., 2006; Crowley et al., 2011; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Mandrell et al.,

2012; Manley et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2017; Johnson et al., 2020; Pickering et al., 2021). We grouped these in accordance with the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (Sateia, 2014) into: (1) sleep-related breathing disorders, (2) central disorders of hypersomnolence, (3) parasomnias, and (4) sleep-related movement disorders (**Table 4**), as no other diagnostic categories of sleep disorders were captured in the included studies.

Sleep-Related Breathing Disorders

In four studies (Crowley et al., 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Manley et al., 2012; Pickering et al., 2021), 83/129 (64%) patients were diagnosed with sleep-related breathing disorders that included obstructive, central, and mixed sleep apnea (Sateia, 2014). The majority of the patients in the four studies (79/129)had hypothalamic tumor involvement. The largest study of the four (Pickering et al., 2021) reported on 61 patients (respiratory data on 59 patients), of whom 51 of the children were diagnosed with sleep apnea (obstructive n = 29, mixed n = 7, central n =5). The most common symptoms prior to referral for PSG were EDS, irregular breathing during sleep, snoring, and fatigue. In the second largest study (Mandrell et al., 2012), EDS was confirmed by a short mean sleep latency of 3 min measured by a multiple sleep latency test (MSLT). The MSLT is an objective test of the tendency to fall asleep under controlled conditions (Arand and Bonnet, 2019).

Daytime sleepiness and sleep apnea were assessed in one study with patients with craniopharyngioma (Crowley et al., 2011), and almost 40% (11/28) of the patients with craniopharyngioma presented with EDS and were diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea. Furthermore, they were treated with continuous positive airway pressure and modafinil and four out of 11 (36%) benefitted from the treatment.

Central Disorders of Hypersomnolence

In six studies (Müller et al., 2006; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2017; Johnson et al., 2020;

Study author, Year	Design	Selection 1	Selection 2	Selection 3	Selection 4	Comparability 1	Exposure/ Outcome 1	Exposure/ Outcome 2	Exposure/ Outcome 3	Tota
Crowley et al. (2011)	Case control	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	0	5
Fagioli et al. (1991)	Cohort	1	NA	1	0	NA	1	1	1	5
Johnson et al. (2020)	Cohort	0	NA	1	0	NA	1	1	0	2
Khan et al. (2017)	Case control	1	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	6
Mandrell et al. (2012)	Cohort	1	NA	1	0	NA	1	0	1	5
Manley et al. (2012)	Cohort	1	NA	1	0	NA	1	1	1	5
Müller et al. (2006)	Cohort	1	NA	1	0	NA	1	0	1	5
O'Gorman et al. (2010)	Case control	1	1	0	1	2	1	1	1	7
Pickering et al. (2021)	Cohort	1	NA	1	0	2	0	1	1	6
Pilotto et al. (2019)	Cohort	1	NA	0	0	NA	1	1	0	2
Rosen and Brand (2011)	Cohort	1	NA	1	0	NA	1	0	0	4
Mean										4,7

TABLE 2 | Quality appraisal of the ten studies included according to Newcastle Ottawa Scale.

Exposure was related to case-control studies, whereas outcome was related to cohort studies. The questions related in every column refer to the Newcastle Ottawa Scale. Not assessed (NA) is noted when there was no comparison group (Selection 1 = "Adequate case definition/Representativeness of cohort", Selection 2 = "Representativeness of cases/Selection of non-exposed cohort", Selection 3 = "Selection of controls/Ascertainment of exposure", Selection 4 = "Definition of controls/Outcome of interest", Comparability 1 = "Comparability of cases and controls/cohorts", Exposure/Outcome 1 = "Ascertainment of exposure/Assessment of outcome", Exposure/Outcome 2 = "Method of ascertainment/Long enough follow-up", Exposure/Outcome 3 = "Non-response rate/Adequacy of follow-up").

Pickering et al., 2021), 63 patients complaining of EDS prior to PSG were subsequently diagnosed with either hypersomnia or narcolepsy. In two studies, EDS was assessed by questionnaire with the Epworth Sleepiness Scale (Khan et al., 2017) or the Pediatric Daytime Sleepiness Scale (Pickering et al., 2021). The presence of cataplexy was reported in three studies (Mandrell et al., 2012; Khan et al., 2017; Pickering et al., 2021), and hypocretin levels were not reported in any studies.

Four out of the six studies involved tumors predominantly located in the hypothalamus (Müller et al., 2006; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Pickering et al., 2021), one study with tumors in different locations (Khan et al., 2017), and one with tumors in unknown locations (Johnson et al., 2020).

As expected, the prevalence of EDS and narcolepsy was higher in childhood brain tumor survivors compared with the general population, and in more than 50% of cases (40/77), a diagnosis led to treatment of the sleep disorder (Khan et al., 2017; Pickering et al., 2021). In one study, narcolepsy was diagnosed between 9 and 72 months after cancer treatment (Khan et al., 2017).

Somnolence together with sleep apnea was assessed in one study with patients with craniopharyngioma (Crowley et al., 2011), and as described, almost 40% (11/28) of the patients with craniopharyngioma presented with EDS and were diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea.

Tumor Location and Sleep Disorder

Four studies included only patients diagnosed with a suprasellar tumor (n = 62), and they were diagnosed with obstructive sleep apnea (n = 11), narcolepsy/hypersomnia (n = 7), central or obstructive sleep apnea (n = 3), and sleep-related breathing disorder (n = 2) (Müller et al., 2006; O'Gorman et al., 2010; Crowley et al., 2011; Manley et al., 2012). One study observed an association between central sleep apnea and tumor location

in cerebellum suggesting an impact of posterior fossa tumor involvement on sleep and ventilatory control (Pilotto et al., 2019).

Two studies (Fagioli et al., 1991; Pilotto et al., 2019) included patients with cerebellar tumors and found shorter sleeping times and more awakenings compared with normative data. In one study, two patients were diagnosed with non-rapid eye movement (NREM) parasomnias after partial resection of a pilocytic astrocytoma and a ganglioglioma, respectively. One patient was diagnosed with rapid eye movement (REM) sleep parasomnia after partial resection of a diffuse astrocytoma (Pickering et al., 2021). One study reported restless legs syndrome after diagnosis of craniopharyngioma in three out of seven patients (Manley et al., 2012). Two studies reported no specific diagnoses of sleep disorders (Fagioli et al., 1991; O'Gorman et al., 2010).

Other PSG Findings

One study investigated growth hormone secretion in relation to sleep (Fagioli et al., 1991), and another study reported a higher frequency of sleep disordered breathing in obese patients with craniopharyngiomas than obese controls (O'Gorman et al., 2010).

DISCUSSION

The present systematic review of 11 published studies indicates that sleep disorders may occur after surviving a childhood CNS tumor. From these studies we found that the symptoms leading to PSG were heterogeneous, and we found no clear association between tumor location and sleep disorder. However, these studies reported a high occurrence of sleep disorders among their patients. By using the diagnostic classification system from the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (Sateia, 2014), the

Author	Number of participants	Population	Tumor location	Symptoms	Findings after PSG
Fagioli et al. (1991)	19 (18)	Mix of CNS tumors	Cerebellum/4 th ventricle $(n = 18),$	NA	Shorter sleeping time and more awakenings compared to controls.
Johnson et al. (2020)	12	Mix of CNS tumors	NA	NA	High risk of sleep wake cycle disorder in early survivorship (9-72 months post treatment). Morning melatonin and biomarker correlates with fatigue 7 clinical sleep disorders, 2 hypersomnia, 1 narcoplepsy.
Khan et al. (2017)	39	Mix of CNS tumors	Cortical ($n = 4$), midline ($n = 26$), paramedian ($n = 4$), posterior fossa ($n = 5$)	Hypersomnia	13 hypersomnia and 26 narcoplepsy without cataplexy. 11/39 abnormal PSG. 37 patients received treatment.
Mandrell et al. (2012)	31	Mix of CNS tumors	Fossa posterior/4 th ventricle ($n = 4+4$), sellar/parasellar/hypothalamic ($n = 17$), optic nerve ($n = 2$), pineal gland ($n = 1$), spinal ($n = 1$), thalamus ($n = 1$), brainstem ($n = 1$)	Excessive daytime sleeping, fatigue, snoring, irregular breathing during sleep	14 obstructive sleep apnea, 4 central sleep apnea,4 hypersomnia, 3 narcolepsy without cataplexy.
Pickering et al. (2021)	61 (59)	Mix of CNS tumors	Thalamus, hypothalamus, basal forebrain $(n = 25)$, fossa posterior $(n = 16)$, brain stem $(n = 5)$, ventricles $(n = 3)$, pineal gland $(n = 2)$, optic nerve (n = 2), other $(n = 9)$	Sleep disordered breathing, emotional problems, fatigue	51/59 sleep apnea (obstructive, n=29, central, n=5, mixed, n=7), 5/59 narcolepsy, 2/59 NREM parasomnia, 1/59 REM sleep parasomnia.
Pilotto et al. (2019)	16	Mix of CNS tumors	Sub tentorial tumor ($n = 8$)	NA	Increased central apnea index with cerebellum localization.
Rosen and Brand (2011)	48	Mix of CNS tumors	Hypothalamus/brainstem $(n = 35)$, posterior fossa $(n = 7)$, cortex $(n = 6)$	Sleepiness, fatigue, respiratory insufficiency, snoring	9/14 excessive daytime sleepiness, 5 of them with positive PSG of narcolepsy.
Crowley et al. (2011)	7 (28)	Craniopharyngioma	Suprasellar/Hypothalamic	Somnolence	11/28 obstructive sleep apnea. Somnolence can be due to obstructive sleep apnea in patients with craniopharyngioma.
Manley et al. (2012)	9 (7)	Craniopharyngioma	Suprasellar/Hypothalamic	Day time fatigue, sleep dysfunction	3 obstructive or central sleep apnea, arousal index 11.0, 3 restless legs syndrome. Sleep dysfunction is multifactorial, PSG should be performed more often.
Müller et al. (2006)	10	Craniopharyngioma	Suprasellar/Hypothalamic	Obesity, increased daytime sleepiness	2 sleep related breathing disorder, 4 repeated episodes of SOREM (sleep onset rapid eye movement), 3 hypersomnia, 9 were acutely obese.
O'Gorman et al. (2010)	15	Craniopharyngioma	Suprasellar/Hypothalamic	NA	Obstructive hypopnea apnea index was increased in patients with craniopharyngioma. Sleep disordered breathing is more frequent in patients with craniopharyngioma and obesity compared with BMI matched controls.

TABLE 3 | Characteristics of population, symptoms leading to polysomnography, tumor location, and findings after polysomnography.

two most common sleep diagnoses captured by the included studies were obstructive sleep apnea and narcolepsy categorized in sleep related breathing disorders and central disorders of hypersomnolence, respectively.

Symptoms Before PSG

Patients commonly reported EDS, fatigue, irregular breathing during sleep, and snoring prior to PSG. These symptoms were not associated with specific sleep disorders, but fatigue and sleepiness

TABLE 4 | Sleep disorders classified according to International Classification of Sleep Disorders, Third edition.

Diagnostic group	Sleep disorders	Authors	Number of patients with sleep disorders/ total of patients included
Sleep-related breathing disorders	Obstructive, central or mixed sleep apnea	Pickering et al.	51/59
	Obstructive or central sleep apnea	Manley et al.	3/7
	Obstructive sleep apnea	Mandrell et al.	14/31
	Central sleep apnea	Mandrell et al.	4/31
	Central sleep apnea	Pilotto et al.	n was unknown
Central disorders of hypersomnolence	Narcolepsy	Pickering et al.	5/61
	Narcolepsy or hypersomnolence	Khan et al.	37/39
	Narcolepsy, hypersomnolence	Mandrell et al.	7/31
	Narcolepsy, hypersomnolence + unknown sleep disorder	Johnson et al.	2+5/12
	Narcolepsy, hypersomnolence	Müller et al.	7/10
Parasomnias	NREM parasomnia	Pickering et al.	2/59
	REM sleep parasomnia		1/59
Sleep-related movement disorders	Restless legs syndrome	Manley et al.	3/7
Delayed sleep phase	Delayed sleep phase syndrome	Rosen et al.	1/48

are recognized late effects for childhood cancer survivors and can persist years after end of cancer treatment and lead to psychosocial challenges (Verberne et al., 2012). Central nervous system tumor survivors have an increased risk of EDS compared with children, who have survived other childhood malignancies (van Deuren et al., 2020).

Sleep Disorder Diagnoses and the Association With Tumor Location

The different types of sleep disorders may be associated with specific tumor locations. Overall, studies reported tumors in a variety of locations including suprasellar, posterior fossa, and brain stem. Indeed, five of the 11 included studies included patients with suprasellar tumors (O'Gorman et al., 2010; Crowley et al., 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Manley et al., 2012; Pickering et al., 2021). The most common type of sleep disorder observed in survivors of CNS tumors was sleep apnea. Adenotonsillar hypertrophy is the most important risk factor for obstructive sleep apnea in general pediatric populations (Gislason and Benediktsdóttir, 1995; Dayyat et al., 2009). Obesity increases the risk of obstructive sleep apnea in adolescents and likely also children with specific medical conditions and comorbidities such as children with brain tumors (Jordan et al., 2014). Prior studies have reported that patients with tumor involvement of the hypothalamus may suffer from hypothalamic obesity due to underlying mechanisms causing a combination of increased energy intake and reduced physical activity (Harz et al., 2003; Park et al., 2013).

Narcolepsy was another sleep disorder diagnosed in CNS tumor survivors. In such studies, tumor locations included the hypothalamus, brain stem, or posterior fossa. This association is posited to be due to disruption of sleep- and wakefulness-promoting neural networks caused by the tumor itself or by subsequent treatments such as surgery and/or radiotherapy (Sakuta et al., 2012). Specifically, sleep and wakefulness are regulated by neuronal networks of the thalamus, hypothalamus, basal forebrain and brain stem, and an ascending reticular

activation system originating from the upper brainstem and basal forebrain activates the cortex and modulates wakefulness (Saper et al., 2005). Thus, damage to this network or to any of the central nuclei may potentially result in disturbed sleep (Saper, 2013). Manifestation of narcolepsy in CNS tumor survivors due to lack of hypocretin may also relate to the flip-flop switch that mediates transitions between wakefulness and sleep (Saper et al., 2005). The switch is stabilized by orexin produced by neurons located in the lateral hypothalamus. A deficiency of orexin, as seen in patients with narcolepsy type 1, causes undesired switches between sleep and wakefulness resulting in sleep attacks and fragmented sleep pattern. Furthermore, orexin suppresses REM sleep which explains the REM sleep dissociation events observed in these patients. Among patients with CNS tumors, numerous studies have reported secondary/comorbid narcolepsy in those patients with tumors involving the hypothalamic area or close to the third ventricle (Kanbayashi et al., 2006; Sakuta et al., 2012; Madan et al., 2021). Mogavero et al. propose that a diagnosis of neurodegenerative disease may decrease the risk of cancer i.e., the inverse comorbidity mechanism (Mogavero et al., 2020, 2021). Narcolepsy type 1 results from an autoimmune destruction of the orexin producing neurons in the lateral hypothalamus. An interconnection between narcolepsy and cancer, based on genetic and immunological factors, may therefore be hypothesized. As orexin deficiency is the pathological feature in narcolepsy type 1, orexin may play a role in some tumor types. Numerous studies have reported on secondary/comorbid narcolepsy in patients with brain tumors, which may be due to an involvement of the orexin producing neurons or their projections (Marcus et al., 2002; Mandrell et al., 2012). In children with brain tumors, comorbid narcolepsy was observed in 8% and sleep apnea in 86% (Pickering et al., 2021). In comparison, the prevalence of narcolepsy type 1 in the general population is about 0.03% (Longstreth et al., 2007) and sleep apnea 1-10% (Tsukada et al., 2018). On that note, a brain tumor diagnosis does not seem to provide protection against sleep disorders.

Where the cerebellum has a key role in central respiratory control (Stoodley et al., 2012), the brainstem plays an important modulating role (Feldman and Del Negro, 2006). In our study, few patients with brainstem tumors were included, but they were often diagnosed with either hypersomnolence or narcoplepsy (Rosen and Brand, 2011; Mandrell et al., 2012; Pickering et al., 2021). Other studies have described sleep disordered breathing associated with brainstem tumors (Osanai et al., 1994; Ito et al., 1996).

In this review, one study reported sleep-related movement disorder in three out of seven patients with restless legs syndrome (Manley et al., 2012). Another study reported of periodic leg movement, which did not interfere with sleep and thus not classified as a sleep disorder (Khan et al., 2017). Only a few patients in this review were diagnosed with parasomnias, although it has been reported in case reports previously (Cordani et al., 2021). Moreover, none of the 11 studies included described insomnia among their patients. Activity of the ventrolateral preoptic nucleus located in the anterior hypothalamus is central to sleep promotion and it has been reported that involvement of the area results in insomnia (Nofzinger et al., 2004), and insomnia is prevalent both in childhood CNS tumor survivors as well as in the general population (Morin et al., 2011). However, insomnia may be underreported in this review, due to our inclusion criteria of PSG, as insomnia is typically captured using patient-reported outcome measures (Ohayon and Reynolds, 2009).

Patients in our systematic review were all diagnosed before the age of 20 years but underwent PSG between 12.4 and 40.5 years of age. The study population is therefore heterogenous with respect to age, and different sleep disorders are prevalent in different age groups just as one sleep disorder may change across the life span (Lividini et al., 2021). Importantly, PSG was scored in relation to age (Berry et al., 2012). Sleep architecture and the amount of sleep needed changes from childhood into adulthood (Kahn et al., 1996; Quan et al., 2003; McLaughlin Crabtree and Williams, 2009; Owens and Weiss, 2017). In adolescence, altered psychosocial life and maturing of biological processes regulating sleep/wake systems can alter the homeostatic process that works together with the circadian timing system, and this maturation of the biological processes leads to a lower total sleep time in adulthood compared to childhood (Carskadon et al., 2004). Furthermore, delayed sleep phase in adolescents can be debilitating and complicate the diagnosis of other sleep disorders (Thorpy et al., 1988).

Strengths and Limitations

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review undertaken of studies on PSG-diagnosed sleep disorders in childhood CNS tumor survivors. In addition, we examined associations between sleep disorders and tumor location, the results of which can inform researchers, health care providers and patients about this important late effect during the cancer trajectory.

This review highlights a number of limitations across research in this area. First, all but one of the studies were rated with a high risk of bias. The studies were heterogenous when comparing study population and design, and only five studies included a control group. Second, the included studies were published between the years 1991 and 2021, during which cancer treatment improved significantly, further reducing comparability between studies. In addition, several potential confounders such as fatigue and obesity were also not investigated in depth (Mulrooney et al., 2008; Crabtree et al., 2010). Third, some studies only conducted PSG on selected patients with specific symptoms, such as EDS, while other studies conducted PSG on all included patients independently of symptoms of a sleep disorder. Fifth, PSG evaluations of children can be limited by the lack of normative data for children under 18 years (Ng and Chan, 2013). Lastly, the majority of sleep disorders in children are diagnosed based on medical history combined with validated sleep questionnaires. Polysomnography is mandatory only when diagnosing obstructive sleep apnea, PSG combined with MSLT for narcolepsy and actigraphy for diagnosing circadian rhythm disorders. Therefore, children diagnosed with either questionnaires or actigraphy were not included in this review.

It is also important to note that we did not consider the effects of specific treatments on the diagnosis of sleep disorders, and we know that treatment alone can have an effect on the developing brain (Mogavero et al., 2020). Furthermore, patient reported outcome measures may better capture other sleep disorders, such as insomnia that commonly occur in cancer survivors (Merz and Tomfohr-Madsen, 2018; Tonning Olsson et al., 2020). Thus, an overall evaluation of the frequency of the full range of sleep disorders in childhood CNS survivors could not be determined from this review.

Conclusion, Research Implications, and Perspectives

In conclusion, the identification of symptoms of a PSG-diagnosed sleep disorder and potential associations with tumor location can provide important information regarding this important late effect that can impair quality of life for childhood CNS tumor survivors. In the future, it will benefit health care practitioners and patients to systematically register sleep disorder symptoms together with tumor type and treatment information in patients, with an awareness of known discrepancies between subjective and objective sleep evaluations (Jackowska et al., 2011; Lubas et al., 2021). By doing so, clinicians can better identify patients who are likely to need referral for PSG. Furthermore, more rigorous and larger scale controlled observational studies are warranted focusing on possible modifiable confounders of sleep disorders such as fatigue and obesity. Overall, capturing sleep disorder symptoms would inform the development of interventions for affected children, with the ultimate goal of improving social functioning, educational attainment and health related quality of life in childhood CNS tumor survivors.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AH designed the study, collected, analyzed, and interpreted the data, wrote and edited the manuscript. KW designed the study, analyzed and interpreted the data, and critically reviewed the manuscript. LK, LH, YL-R, AA, LW, JW, LP, and RM designed the study, interpreted the data, and critically reviewed the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

AH's work was supported by the Danish Childhood Cancer Foundation, Lizzy and Mogens Staal Foundation, Dagmar

REFERENCES

- Arand, D. L., and Bonnet, M. H. (2019). "Chapter 26 The multiple sleep latency test," in *Handbook of Clinical Neurology*, eds K. H. Levin and P. Chauvel (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 393–403.
- Berry, R. B., Budhiraja, R., Gottlieb, D. J., Gozal, D., Iber, C., Kapur, V. K., et al. (2012). Rules for scoring respiratory events in sleep: update of the 2007 AASM manual for the scoring of sleep and associated events. deliberations of the sleep apnea definitions task force of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 8, 597–619. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.2172
- Carskadon, M. A., Acebo, C., and Jenni, O. G. (2004). Regulation of adolescent sleep: implications for behavior. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1021, 276–291. doi: 10.1196/annals.1308.032
- Chuang, S., Thambipillay, G., Sampaio, H., Cohn, R., and Teng, A. (2013). Severe central apnea and hypoxia treated with acetazolamide in a toddler with brainstem ganglioglioma. *Sleep Biol. Rhythms* 11, 36–37. doi: 10.1111/sbr.12028
- Cordani, R., Veneruso, M., Napoli, F., Milanaccio, C., Verrico, A., Consales, A., et al. (2021). Sleep disturbances in craniopharyngioma: a challenging diagnosis. *J. Neurol.* 268, 4362–4369. doi: 10.1007/s00415-021-10794-1
- Crabtree, V. M., Ormsby, J., Yang, J., Wang, C. K., Wise, M. S., West, N. K., et al. (2010). Changes in sleep and fatigue in newly treated pediatric oncology patients. *Sleep* 33, A342. doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2356-3
- Crowley, R. K., Woods, C., Fleming, M., Rogers, B., Behan, L. A., O'Sullivan, E. P., et al. (2011). Somnolence in adult craniopharyngioma patients is a common, heterogeneous condition that is potentially treatable. *Clin. Endocrinol.* 74, 750–755. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.2011.03993.x
- Daniel, L. C., Aggarwal, R., and Schwartz, L. A. (2017). Sleep in adolescents and young adults in the year after cancer treatment. J. Adolesc. Young Adult Oncol. 6, 560–567. doi: 10.1089/jayao.2017.0006
- Dayyat, E., Kheirandish-Gozal, L., Sans Capdevila, O., Maarafeya, M. M. A., and Gozal, D. (2009). Obstructive sleep apnea in children: relative contributions of body mass index and adenotonsillar hypertrophy. *Chest* 136, 137–144. doi: 10.1378/chest.08-2568
- Delrosso, L. M., Hoque, R., and Gonzalez-Toledo, E. (2014). Two-year-old with post-surgical hypoglossal nerve injury and obstructive sleep apnea. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 10, 97–98. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.3372
- Desandes, E., Faure, L., Guissou, S., Goujon, S., Berger, C., Minard-Colin, V., et al. (2020). Infant cancers in France: incidence and survival (2000-2014). *Cancer Epidemiol*. 65, 101697. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2020.101697
- Eckert, D. J., Jordan, A. S., Merchia, P., and Malhotra, A. (2007). Central sleep apnea: pathophysiology and treatment. *Chest* 131, 595–607. doi: 10.1378/chest.06.2287
- Fagioli, I., Brauner, R., and Rappaport, R. (1991). Polygraphic sleep patterns and growth hormone secretion in children after cranial irradiation. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 150, 200–204. doi: 10.1007/bf01963567
- Feldman, J. L., and Del Negro, C. A. (2006). Looking for inspiration: new perspectives on respiratory rhythm. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 7, 232–242. doi: 10.1038/nrn1871

Marshall Foundation, Tømrermester Jørgen Holm & Hustru Elisa F. Hansen Foundation, Health Research Foundation of Central Denmark Region, and Aarhus University. LW's effort was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie Grant Agreement No. 754513 and the Aarhus University Research Foundation. The funders had no role in designing or conducting the study.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins. 2022.808398/full#supplementary-material

- Frederiksen, L. E., Mader, L., Feychting, M., Mogensen, H., Madanat-Harjuoja, L., Malila, N., et al. (2019). Surviving childhood cancer: a systematic review of studies on risk and determinants of adverse socioeconomic outcomes. *Int. J. Cancer* 144, 1796–1823. doi: 10.1002/ijc.31789
- Gatta, G., Botta, L., Rossi, S., Aareleid, T., Bielska-Lasota, M., Clavel, J., et al. (2014). Childhood cancer survival in Europe 1999-2007: results of EUROCARE-5-a population-based study. *Lancet Oncol.* 15, 35–47. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70548-5
- Gislason, T., and Benediktsdóttir, B. (1995). Snoring, apneic episodes, and nocturnal hypoxemia among children 6 months to 6 years old. An epidemiologic study of lower limit of prevalence. *Chest* 107, 963–966. doi: 10.1378/chest.107.4.963
- Grabas, M. R., Kjaer, S. K., Frederiksen, M. H., Winther, J. F., Erdmann, F., Dehlendorff, C., et al. (2020). Incidence and time trends of childhood cancer in Denmark, 1943–2014. Acta Oncol. 59, 588–595. doi: 10.1080/0284186x.2020.1725239
- Hart, C. N., Palermo, T. M., and Rosen, C. L. (2005). Health-related quality of life among children presenting to a pediatric sleep disorders clinic. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 3, 4–17. doi: 10.1207/s15402010bsm0301_3
- Harz, K. J., Müller, H. L., Waldeck, E., Pudel, V., and Roth, C. (2003). Obesity in patients with craniopharyngioma: assessment of food intake and movement counts indicating physical activity. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 88, 5227–5231. doi: 10.1210/jc.2002-021797
- Higgins, J. P. T., Altman, D. G., and Sterne, J. A. C. (2017). "Assessing risk of bias in included studies," in *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.2.0*, eds J. P. T. Higgins, R. Churchill, J. Chandler, and M. S. Cumpston (Cochrane). Available online at: www.training.cochrane.org/handbook
- Hinds, P. S., Hockenberry, M., Rai, S. N., Zhang, L., Razzouk, B. I., McCarthy, K., et al. (2007). Nocturnal awakenings, sleep environment interruptions, and fatigue in hospitalized children with cancer. *Oncol. Nurs. Forum* 34, 393–402. doi: 10.1188/07.Onf.393-402
- Iber, C., A.-I. S., Chesson, A., and Quan, S. (2007). The AASM Manual for the Scoring of Sleep and Associated Disorders. Westchester: AASM.
- Ito, K., Murofushi, T., Mizuno, M., and Semba, T. (1996). Pediatric brain stem gliomas with the predominant symptom of sleep apnea. *Int. J. Pediatr. Otorhinolaryngol.* 37, 53–64. doi: 10.1016/0165-5876(96)01375-4
- Jackowska, M., Dockray, S., Hendrickx, H., and Steptoe, A. (2011). Psychosocial factors and sleep efficiency: discrepancies between subjective and objective evaluations of sleep. *Psychosom. Med.* 73, 810–816. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182359e77
- Jeon, M. S., Agar, M. R., Koh, E. S., Nowak, A. K., Hovey, E. J., and Dhillon, H. M. (2021). Understanding sleep disturbance in the context of malignant brain tumors: a qualitative analysis. *Neurooncol. Pract.* 8, 179–189. doi: 10.1093/nop/npaa081
- Johnson, A. H., Bashore, L., Hines, A., Aufricht, J., Smith, A. M., and Pearson, H. (2020). Biobehavioral markers for sleep/wake disturbance and fatigue in young childhood brain tumor survivors. *Sleep* 43(Suppl 1), A18. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsaa056.044
- Jordan, A. S., McSharry, D. G., and Malhotra, A. (2014). Adult obstructive sleep apnoea. *Lancet* 383, 736–747. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(13) 60734-5
- Kahn, A., Dan, B., Groswasser, J., Franco, P., and Sottiaux, M. (1996). Normal sleep architecture in infants and children. J. Clin. Neurophysiol. 13, 184–197. doi: 10.1097/00004691-199605000-00002
- Kaleyias, J., Manley, P., and Kothare, S. V. (2012). Sleep disorders in children with cancer. Semin. Pediatr. Neurol. 19, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2012.02.013
- Kanbayashi, T., Arii, J., Kubota, H., Yano, T., Kashiwagi, M., Yoshikawa, S., et al. (2006). Symptomatic hypersomnia due to orexin deficiency in hypothalamic lesions. *No To Hattatsu* 38, 340–345. doi: 10.11251/ojjscn1969.38.340
- Kenborg, L., Winther, J. F., Linnet, K. M., Krøyer, A., Albieri, V., Holmqvist, A. S., et al. (2019). Neurologic disorders in 4858 survivors of central nervous system tumors in childhood-an Adult Life after Childhood Cancer in Scandinavia (ALiCCS) study. *Neuro Oncol.* 21, 125–136. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noy094
- Khan, R. B., Merchant, T. E., Sadighi, Z. S., Crabtree, V. M., Bello, M., Sykes, A., et al. (2017). Risk factors for hypersomnia and narcolepsy and response to therapy in survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Neuro Oncol.* 19, iii4. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox036
- Lahteenmaki, P. M., Harila-Saari, A., Pukkala, E. I., Kyyronen, P., Salmi, T. T., and Sankila, R. (2007). Scholastic achievements of children with brain tumors at the end of comprehensive education - a nationwide, register-based study. *Neurology* 69, 296–305. doi: 10.1212/01.wnl.0000265816.44697.b4
- Lannering, B., Sandstrom, P. E., Holm, S., Lundgren, J., Pfeifer, S., Samuelsson, U., et al. (2009). Classification, incidence and survival analyses of children with CNS tumours diagnosed in Sweden 1984-2005. *Acta Paediatr.* 98, 1620–1627. doi: 10.1111/j.1651-2227.2009.01417.x
- Lividini, A., Pizza, F., Filardi, M., Vandi, S., Ingravallo, F., Antelmi, E., et al. (2021). Narcolepsy type 1 features across the life span: age impact on clinical and polysomnographic phenotype. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 17, 1363–1370. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.9198
- Longstreth, W. T. Jr., Koepsell, T. D., Ton, T. G., Hendrickson, A. F., and van Belle, G. (2007). The epidemiology of narcolepsy. *Sleep* 30, 13–26. doi: 10.1093/sleep/30.1.13
- Lubas, M. M., Szklo-Coxe, M., Mandrell, B. N., Howell, C. R., Ness, K. K., Srivastava, D. K., et al. (2021). Concordance between self-reported sleep and actigraphy-assessed sleep in adult survivors of childhood cancer: the impact of psychological and neurocognitive late effects. *Support Care Cancer* 30, 1159–1168. doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06498-x
- Madan, R., Pitts, J., Patterson, M. C., Lloyd, R., Keating, G., and Kotagal, S. (2021). Secondary narcolepsy in children. J. Child Neurol. 36, 123–127. doi: 10.1177/0883073820954617
- Mandrell, B. N., Wise, M., Schoumacher, R. A., Pritchard, M., West, N., Ness, K. K., et al. (2012). Excessive daytime sleepiness and sleep-disordered breathing disturbances in survivors of childhood central nervous system tumors. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 58, 746–751. doi: 10.1002/pbc.23311
- Manley, P. E., McKendrick, K., McGillicudy, M., Chi, S. N., Kieran, M. W., Cohen, L. E., et al. (2012). Sleep dysfunction in long term survivors of craniopharyngioma. *J. Neuro Oncol.* 108, 543–549. doi: 10.1007/s11060-012-0859-7
- Marcus, C. L., Trescher, W. H., Halbower, A. C., and Lutz, J. (2002). Secondary narcolepsy in children with brain tumors. *Sleep* 25, 435–439. doi: 10.1093/sleep/25.4.427
- McLaughlin Crabtree, V., and Williams, N. A. (2009). Normal sleep in children and adolescents. *Child Adolesc. Psychiatr. Clin. N. Am.* 18, 799–811. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2009.04.013
- Mendez, M. F. (1992). Pavor nocturnus from a brainstem glioma. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 55, 860. doi: 10.1136/jnnp.55.9.860
- Merz, E. L., and Tomfohr-Madsen, L. (2018). Sleep disruption in pediaric cancer survivors: conceptual framework and opportunities for clinical assessment and behavioral treatment. Am. J. Lifestyle Med. 12, 311–323. doi: 10.1177/1559827616681725
- Mogavero, M. P., Bruni, O., DelRosso, L. M., and Ferri, R. (2020). Neurodevelopmental consequences of pediatric cancer and its treatment: the role of sleep. *Brain Sci.* 10, 411. doi: 10.3390/brainsci10070411
- Mogavero, M. P., Silvani, A., DelRosso, L. M., Salemi, M., and Ferri, R. (2021). Focus on the complex interconnection between cancer, narcolepsy and other neurodegenerative diseases: a possible case of orexin-dependent

inverse comorbidity. Cancers (Basel) 13, 2612. doi: 10.3390/cancers1311 2612

- Morin, C. M., LeBlanc, M., Bélanger, L., Ivers, H., Mérette, C., and Savard, J. (2011). Prevalence of insomnia and its treatment in Canada. *Can. J. Psychiatry* 56, 540–548. doi: 10.1177/070674371105600905
- Müller, H. L., Müller-Stöver, S., Gebhardt, U., Kolb, R., Sörensen, N., and Handwerker, G. (2006). Secondary narcolepsy may be a causative factor of increased daytime sleepiness in obese childhood craniopharyngioma patients. *J. Pediatr. Endocrinol. Metab.* 1, 423–429. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-974095
- Mulrooney, D. A., Ness, K. K., Neglia, J. P., Whitton, J. A., Green, D. M., Zeltzer, L. K., et al. (2008). Fatigue and sleep disturbance in adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from the childhood cancer survivor study (CCSS). *Sleep* 31, 271–281. doi: 10.1093/sleep/31.2.271
- Ng, D. K., and Chan, C. H. (2013). A review of normal values of infant sleep polysomnography. *Pediatr. Neonatol.* 54, 82–87. doi: 10.1016/j.pedneo.2012.11.011
- Nofzinger, E. A., Buysse, D. J., Germain, A., Price, J. C., Miewald, J. M., and Kupfer, D. J. (2004). Functional neuroimaging evidence for hyperarousal in insomnia. *Am. J. Psychiatry* 161, 2126–2128. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.161.11.2126
- O'Gorman, C. S., Simoneau-Roy, J., Pencharz, P., MacFarlane, J., MacLusky, I., Narang, I., et al. (2010). Sleep-disordered breathing is increased in obese adolescents with craniopharyngioma compared with obese controls. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 95, 2211–2218. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2003
- Ohayon, M. M., and Reynolds, C. F. 3rd (2009). Epidemiological and clinical relevance of insomnia diagnosis algorithms according to the DSM-IV and the International Classification of Sleep Disorders (ICSD). *Sleep Med.* 10, 952–960. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2009.07.008
- Osanai, S., Iida, Y., Nomura, T., Takahashi, F., Tsuji, S., Fujiuchi, S., et al. (1994). [A case of unilateral brain-stem tumor and impaired ventilatory response]. *Nihon Kyobu Shikkan Gakkai Zasshi* 32, 990–995.
- Owens, J. (2014). Insufficient sleep in adolescents and young adults: an update on causes and consequences. *Pediatrics* 134, e921–e932. doi: 10.1542/peds.2014-1696
- Owens, J. A., and Weiss, M. R. (2017). Insufficient sleep in adolescents: causes and consequences. *Minerva Pediatr.* 69, 326–336. doi: 10.23736/s0026-4946.17.04914-3
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., et al. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Bmj* 372, n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Palm, L., Nordin, V., Elmqvist, D., Blennow, G., Persson, E., and Westgren, U. (1992). Sleep and wakefulness after treatment for craniopharyngioma in childhood: influence on the quality and maturation of sleep. *Neuropediatrics* 23, 39–45. doi: 10.1055/s-2008-1071310
- Park, S. W., Jung, H. W., Lee, Y. A., Shin, C. H., Yang, S. W., Cheon, J. E., et al. (2013). Tumor origin and growth pattern at diagnosis and surgical hypothalamic damage predict obesity in pediatric craniopharyngioma. *J. Neurooncol.* 113, 417–424. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1128-0
- Pickering, L., Klose, M., Feldt-Rasmussen, U., and Jennum, P. (2017). Polysomnographic findings in craniopharyngioma patients. *Sleep Breath* 21, 975–982. doi: 10.1007/s11325-017-1574-6
- Pickering, L., Main, K. M., Sehested, A., Mathiasen, R., Feldt-Rasmussen, U., Klose, M., et al. (2021). Brain tumours result in sleep disorders in children and adolescents. *Sleep Med.* 88, 13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2021.09.016
- Pilotto, C., Vidoni, M., Passone, E., Liguoro, I., Valentini, E., Tosolini, R., et al. (2019). Sleep disorder in children treated for brain tumour. a polysomnography study. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 66, S189–S190. doi: 10.1002/pbc.27989
- Quan, S. F., Goodwin, J. L., Babar, S. I., Kaemingk, K. L., Enright, P. L., Rosen, G. M., et al. (2003). Sleep architecture in normal Caucasian and Hispanic children aged 6-11 years recorded during unattended home polysomnography: experience from the Tucson Children's Assessment of Sleep Apnea Study (TuCASA). Sleep Med. 4, 13–19. doi: 10.1016/s1389-9457(02)00235-6
- Rosen, G., and Brand, S. R. (2011). Sleep in children with cancer: case review of 70 children evaluated in a comprehensive pediatric sleep center. *Support. Care Cancer* 19, 985–994. doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-0921-y
- Sakuta, K., Nakamura, M., Komada, Y., Yamada, S., Kawana, F., Kanbayashi, T., et al. (2012). Possible mechanism of secondary narcolepsy with a long sleep time following surgery for craniopharyngioma. *Intern. Med.* 51, 413–417. doi: 10.2169/internalmedicine.51.6101

- Saper, C. B. (2013). The neurobiology of sleep. Continuum (Minneap Minn) 19(1 Sleep Disorders), 19–31. doi: 10.1212/01.Con.0000427215.07715.73
- Saper, C. B., Scammell, T. E., and Lu, J. (2005). Hypothalamic regulation of sleep and circadian rhythms. *Nature* 437, 1257–1263. doi: 10.1038/nature04284
- Sateia, M. J. (2014). International classification of sleep disorders-third edition: highlights and modifications. Chest 146, 1387–1394. doi: 10.1378/chest.14-0970
- Stoodley, C. J., Valera, E. M., and Schmahmann, J. D. (2012). Functional topography of the cerebellum for motor and cognitive tasks: an fMRI study. *Neuroimage* 59, 1560–1570. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2011.08.065
- Thorpy, M. J., Korman, E., Spielman, A. J., and Glovinsky, P. B. (1988). Delayed sleep phase syndrome in adolescents. J. Adolesc. Health Care 9, 22–27. doi: 10.1016/0197-0070(88)90014-9
- Tonning Olsson, I., Lubas, M. M., Li, C., Mandrell, B. N., Banerjee, P., Howell, C. R., et al. (2020). Insomnia and neurocognitive functioning in adult survivors of childhood cancer. JNCI Cancer Spectr. 4, pkaa008. doi: 10.1093/jncics/pkaa008
- Tsukada, E., Kitamura, S., Enomoto, M., Moriwaki, A., Kamio, Y., Asada, T., et al. (2018). Prevalence of childhood obstructive sleep apnea syndrome and its role in daytime sleepiness. *PLoS ONE* 13, e0204409. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204409
- van Deuren, S., Boonstra, A., van Dulmen-den Broeder, E., Blijlevens, N., Knoop, H., and Loonen, J. (2020). Severe fatigue after treatment for childhood cancer. *Cochr. Database Syst. Rev.* 2020, CD012681. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD012681.pub2
- Verberne, L. M., Maurice-Stam, H., Grootenhuis, M. A., Van Santen, H. M., and Schouten-Van Meeteren, A. Y. (2012). Sleep disorders in children after treatment for a CNS tumour. J. Sleep Res. 21, 461–469. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2869.2011.00971.x

- Walsh, C. A., Yi, J. C., Rosenberg, A. R., Crouch, M. V., Leisenring, W. M., and Syrjala, K. L. (2020). Factors associated with social functioning among long-term cancer survivors treated with hematopoietic stem cell transplantation as adolescents or young adults. *Psychooncology* 29, 1579–1586. doi: 10.1002/pon.5460
- Wells, G. A., Shea, S. B., O'Connell D, Peterson J, Welch V, Losos M, et al. (2021). The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS) for assessing the quality if nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Helligsoe, Weile, Kenborg, Henriksen, Lassen-Ramshad, Amidi, Wu, Winther, Pickering and Mathiasen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Optimizing a Behavioral Sleep Intervention for Gynecologic Cancer Survivors: Study Design and Protocol

Rina S. Fox^{1,2,3*}, Julia S. Gaumond³, Phyllis C. Zee^{4,5}, Karen Kaiser^{3,6}, Edward J. Tanner^{6,7}, Sonia Ancoli-Israel⁸, Juned Siddique^{6,9}, Frank J. Penedo¹⁰, Lisa M. Wu^{3,11}, Kathryn J. Reid^{4,5}, Sairam Parthasarathy^{12,13}, Terry A. Badger^{1,2}, Christine Rini^{3,6} and Jason C. Ong^{4,5,14}

¹ Division of Community and Systems Health Science, University of Arizona College of Nursing, Tucson, AZ, United States, ² University of Arizona Cancer Center, Tucson, AZ, United States, ³ Department of Medical Social Sciences, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁴ Department of Neurology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁵ Center for Circadian and Sleep Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁶ Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center of Northwestern University, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁷ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁸ Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ⁸ Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ⁹ Department of Preventive Medicine, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, United States, ¹⁰ Department of Medicine and Psychology and Sylvester Comprehensive Cancer Center, University of Miami, Miami, FL, United States, ¹¹ Aarhus Institute of Advanced Studies, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ¹² Division of Pulmonary, Allergy, Critical Care, and Sleep Medicine, Department of Medicine, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ¹⁴ Nox Health Sciences – Center for Sleep and Circadian Science, University of Arizona, Tucson, AZ, United States, ¹⁴ Nox Health, Suwanee, GA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christopher S. Colwell, University of California, Los Angeles, United States

Reviewed by:

Maria Paola Mogavero, Scientific Clinical Institute Maugeri (ICS Maugeri), Italy Jessica R. Lunsford-Avery, Duke University, United States

> *Correspondence: Rina S. Fox rsfox@arizona.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 19 November 2021 Accepted: 28 January 2022 Published: 04 March 2022

Citation:

Fox RS, Gaumond JS, Zee PC, Kaiser K, Tanner EJ, Ancoli-Israel S, Siddique J, Penedo FJ, Wu LM, Reid KJ, Parthasarathy S, Badger TA, Rini C and Ong JC (2022) Optimizing a Behavioral Sleep Intervention for Gynecologic Cancer Survivors: Study Design and Protocol. Front. Neurosci. 16:818718. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.818718 Sleep difficulties, particularly symptoms of insomnia and circadian disruption, are among the primary complaints of gynecologic cancer survivors before, during, and after treatment. Moreover, difficulty sleeping has been linked to poorer health-related quality of life and elevated symptom burden in this population. Although leading behavioral sleep interventions have demonstrated efficacy among cancer survivors, up to 50% of survivors are non-adherent to these treatments, likely because these interventions require labor-intensive behavior and lifestyle changes. Therefore, there is a need for more effective and acceptable approaches to diminish sleep disturbance among cancer survivors. This manuscript describes the methodology of a two-part study guided by the Multiphase Optimization Strategy (MOST) framework to identify a streamlined behavioral sleep intervention for gynecologic cancer survivors. Three candidate intervention components previously shown to decrease sleep disturbance will be evaluated, including sleep restriction, stimulus control, and systematic bright light exposure. Participants will be adult women with a history of non-metastatic gynecologic cancer who have completed primary treatment and who report current poor sleep quality. Fifteen participants will be recruited for Part 1 of the study, which will utilize qualitative methods to identify barriers to and facilitators of intervention adherence. Results will inform changes to the delivery of the candidate intervention components to promote adherence in Part 2, where 80 participants will be recruited and randomized to one of eight conditions reflecting every possible combination of the three candidate intervention components in a full factorial design. Participants will complete assessments at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-months post-intervention. Part 2 results will identify the combination of candidate intervention components that yields the most efficacious yet efficient 6-week intervention for diminishing sleep disturbance. This is the first known study to apply the MOST framework to optimize a behavioral sleep intervention and will yield a resource-efficient treatment to diminish sleep disturbance, improve health-related quality of life, and decrease symptom burden among gynecologic cancer survivors. ClinicalTrials.gov Identifier: NCT05044975.

Keywords: sleep disturbance, gynecologic cancer, behavioral sleep intervention, optimization, cancer survivorship

INTRODUCTION

Sleep Disturbance in Cancer Survivorship

Sleep difficulties, particularly symptoms of insomnia and circadian disruption, are common among gynecologic cancer survivors (Westin et al., 2016; Campbell et al., 2019; Palagini et al., 2021), with recent research demonstrating an estimated prevalence greater than 80% (Pozzar et al., 2021). Sleep disturbance has also been associated with poorer health-related quality of life (HRQOL) and higher symptom burden in this population (Ross et al., 2020). Difficulty sleeping is often treated with Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Insomnia (CBT-I), the gold-standard treatment for insomnia, including among those with comorbid conditions (Schutte-Rodin et al., 2008; Qaseem et al., 2016; van Straten et al., 2017). CBT-I is a multicomponent behavioral intervention consisting of cognitive restructuring, sleep restriction, stimulus control, sleep hygiene education, and relaxation therapy (Morin and Benca, 2012). Sleep restriction and stimulus control are generally recognized as the core components driving treatment effects (Morin et al., 2006). A recent metaanalysis evaluating the efficacy of CBT-I specifically in cancer survivors found that the intervention improved multiple sleep outcomes, including sleep efficiency, sleep onset latency, wake after sleep onset, and insomnia symptom severity (Johnson et al., 2016). Another recent meta-analysis supported the efficacy of CBT-I among cancer survivors regardless of whether the intervention was delivered in-person or remotely (Ma et al., 2021). However, although CBT-I can be highly efficacious, up to 50% of cancer survivors do not adhere to the treatment as it is currently packaged, and thus do not benefit maximally from it (Matthews et al., 2012, 2013; McChargue et al., 2012; Garland et al., 2014). This may be because the intervention requires patients to make multiple, simultaneous, and often intrusive behavioral and lifestyle changes (Agnew et al., 2021). A less burdensome alternative is systematic bright light exposure, which has recently been explored as another strategy for improving sleep disturbance in cancer survivors (Wu et al., 2018, 2021; Fox et al., 2021). Results suggest systematic bright light exposure in the morning may have a beneficial impact on sleep disturbance among cancer survivors. However, effects are generally not as strong as they are for CBT-I, with research thus far limited to small pilot studies where the mechanisms underlying the effects of bright light have not been well explored.

A leading theory of sleep-wake regulation is the two-process model (Borbely et al., 2016), which posits that sleep timing and

intensity depend on the interaction of a homeostatic process and a circadian process, which function independently. According to this model, the homeostatic process reflects the body's attempts to maintain balance, in that more time spent awake leads to increased pressure to fall asleep (Deboer, 2018). The circadian process, a pacemaker managed by the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the hypothalamus, determines one's daily rhythm for sleep and wake, leading to increased sleepiness at certain times of the day and increased alertness at others (Deboer, 2018). Thus, sleepwake cycles and circadian rhythms separately influence sleep (Borbely et al., 2016). Sleep restriction and stimulus control, the two core components of CBT-I, both target the homeostatic process. Conversely, systematic bright light exposure targets the circadian process. Therefore, combining sleep restriction, stimulus control, and bright light may have additive or even interactive effects. One known study is currently exploring this hypothesis (Bean et al., 2020); however, it is doing so exclusively among patients undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer. Thus, the applicability of results to cancer survivors who have completed primary treatment will be unclear. Additionally, this known study is adding systematic bright light exposure to CBT-I as a packaged intervention, thus increasing the burden associated with this already challenging treatment. To maximize benefit from the available evidence-based treatments, studies are needed that can determine what combination of behavioral sleep intervention components yields the most effective intervention while also maximizing adherence to optimize impact.

Intervention Optimization

Multicomponent behavioral interventions are traditionally developed and evaluated as pre-bundled treatment packages and assessed via randomized controlled trial (RCT; Guastaferro and Collins, 2019). This is an effective and important scientific approach to identify how an intervention performs relative to a control or comparison. However, this approach is unable to identify which components of the intervention, if any, could be changed or removed to increase efficiency and decrease burden. That is to say, the effects of the individual components of the intervention, both independently and interactively, remain unknown. To address this challenge, Collins and colleagues developed the Multiphase Optimization Strategy (MOST) framework (Collins et al., 2005; Collins, 2018). MOST is grounded in engineering theory and involves three phases. Like traditional RCT-based intervention science, the MOST framework involves a Preparation phase that includes developing a conceptual model, selecting candidate intervention

components based on theory and evidence, and conducting pilot testing. It also includes an Evaluation phase, in which components are bundled into a final intervention package that is then evaluated, typically *via* RCT.

What sets MOST apart is the inclusion of an Optimization phase, which occurs between the Preparation and Evaluation phases, in which candidate intervention components are evaluated using randomized experimentation to determine the impact of components individually and in various combinations. This enables identification of which components make valuable contributions to the overall program effects and what combination of components yields the greatest impact. The result is an intervention that has been optimized according to specific criteria (e.g., effectiveness, efficiency, cost) and that can achieve desired results with fewer resources and less participant burden. Of note, factorial designs are frequently used in the Optimization phase because they provide an economical framework for testing multiple components in a single study.

The Present Study

This paper describes the procedures and methodology of a twopart study guided by the MOST framework. The first part, which is consistent with the Preparation phase of the framework, will employ a qualitative approach to identify barriers to and facilitators of adherence to sleep restriction, stimulus control, and systematic bright light exposure, three evidence-based candidate intervention components previously shown to decrease sleep disturbance among cancer survivors. The second part, which is consistent with the Optimization phase of the framework, will employ a factorial design to identify the best combination of these three components, enhanced to promote adherence per the results of Part 1, to yield a resource-efficient behavioral sleep intervention with exclusively active components. Feasibility, acceptability, and adherence will also be examined, and the potential mediating roles of sleep disturbance and circadian markers on intervention effects will be explored. This work will yield an optimized behavioral sleep intervention to diminish sleep disturbance, improve HRQOL, and reduce symptom burden among gynecologic cancer survivors.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Recruitment

Across both parts of the study, participants will be survivors of a non-metastatic gynecologic cancer who have completed primary treatment, are between the ages of 18 and 74, and report poor sleep quality. Part 1 of the study will include 15 participants and Part 2 will include 80, for a total sample size of 95 participants to be enrolled over 5 years. Participants will be recruited from the Robert H. Lurie Comprehensive Cancer Center of Northwestern University and the University of Arizona Cancer Center, two comprehensive cancer centers located in Chicago, IL and Tucson, AZ, United States, respectively. All potential participants will provide verbal consent to complete screening for study eligibility. Those who are eligible and subsequently enroll will provide written informed consent prior to engaging in any study activities.

Eligibility

Potential participants will be identified through a combination of physician referral and electronic medical record screening. Study eligibility will be confirmed by participant self-report *via* a telephone screening interview. To be eligible for the study, participants must endorse or demonstrate: (1) a history of a nonmetastatic ovarian, uterine, vaginal, vulvar, or cervical cancer; (2) English language proficiency; (3) age 18–74 years; (4) typical sleep onset between 9:00pm and 3:00am; (5) poor sleep quality [i.e., score > 5 on the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index [PSQI] (Buysse et al., 1989)]; and (6) reliable telephone and internet access.

Participants who meet any of the following criteria will be excluded: (1) diagnosis of a second primary cancer other than a non-melanoma skin cancer; (2) diagnosis of significant neurological, physiological or psychological dysfunction that could impact study participation [e.g., active psychosis, glaucoma, HIV, epilepsy, current substance abuse, active suicidality]; (3) diagnosis of sleep apnea, restless legs syndrome, periodic limb movement disorder, or narcolepsy per self-report and medical record review; (4) completion of primary anti-cancer treatment (e.g., chemotherapy, radiation therapy) <30 days prior to participation or surgical intervention <60 days prior to participation; (5) significant mental or physical decline (i.e., >2 mistakes on the six-item version of the Mini Mental Status Exam [MMSE] (Callahan et al., 2002) or Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group [ECOG] (Oken et al., 1982) performance status score > 1); (6) shift work; and (7) plans to travel across meridians during participation. Exclusion criteria were selected due to their known impact on study outcomes or because of potential interference with study participation.

Candidate Intervention Components and Intervention Delivery

The three candidate intervention components to be evaluated were selected according to the two-process model of sleep-wake regulation (Borbely et al., 2016). To further minimize burden, only the sleep restriction and stimulus control components of CBT-I will be evaluated while sleep hygiene education, cognitive restructuring, and relaxation therapy will not, as sleep restriction and stimulus control have been identified as primary mechanisms of CBT-I efficacy among adherent patients (Morin et al., 2006).

Sleep Restriction

Sleep restriction involves limiting one's opportunity for sleep to the amount of time reported sleeping on an average night plus 30 min. For this study, wake time will be determined by asking participants to identify the earliest time they need to awaken on any given day based on their individual lifestyles. The prescribed bedtime will then be identified by working backward from this wake time. The initial sleep opportunity window will be informed by 7 days of sleep diaries completed immediately prior to beginning the intervention. This window will then be adjusted weekly based on participants' sleep efficiency (i.e., ratio of time asleep to time in bed at night), calculated from weekly sleep diaries, as is the gold standard recommendation (Spielman et al., 1987).

Stimulus Control

Based on classical and operant conditioning, stimulus control aims to disassociate non-sleep behaviors from the bedroom and reinforce the association of the bedroom with sleep-related stimuli (e.g., bed). Instructions include not going to bed until sleepy, getting out of bed if unable to fall asleep or fall back to sleep within approximately 20 min, avoiding behaviors other than sleep and sexual activity in the bedroom, waking up at the same time each day, and avoiding daytime naps (Bootzin et al., 1991).

Systematic Bright Light Exposure

Bright light will be systematically delivered by wearable Re-TimerTM glasses. The Re-TimerTM glasses are a small $(7.9'' \times 5.5'' \times 2.2'')$, lightweight (2.64 oz.) device that delivers green-blue light from below to replicate the natural pathway of light to the eyes. Participants will be instructed to wear the glasses on the highest setting for 30 min every morning during the intervention period, initiating this time within 30 min of awakening and completing light exposure prior to noon. Re-TimerTM glasses can be worn over traditional eyeglasses as long as the eyeglasses do not have photochromatic or tinted lenses.

Intervention Delivery

Prior to the initiation of the intervention period, research staff will provide an intervention orientation to participants. This orientation, which will last approximately 30–60 min, will be completed either in-person or over video conference, and will include general sleep education as well as an explanation of the intervention components the participant will receive and the rationale behind them. After this orientation, participants will implement their assigned intervention components at home daily for 6 weeks.

The candidate intervention components will be administered via weekly emails. All participants will monitor their sleep by completing a daily sleep diary for the duration of the 6-week intervention period. All participants will also receive a weekly email from the study team with a reminder to complete and return the sleep diary. Sleep diaries will be returned electronically. For participants receiving stimulus control, the weekly email will also contain a reminder of the stimulus control instructions. For participants receiving systematic bright light exposure, the weekly email will also contain a reminder of how to use the Re-TimerTM glasses. For participants receiving sleep restriction, the weekly email will also contain a reminder of the sleep restriction instructions and the prescribed sleep schedule for the coming week, which will be determined by a licensed clinical psychologist with specialized training in behavioral sleep intervention (RSF) based on the prior week's sleep diary. Participants receiving more than one candidate intervention component will receive a single weekly email containing the information relevant to all components being delivered. The study team will be available to participants throughout the intervention period to answer questions, troubleshoot, and provide support as needed.

Study Design

This two-part study is guided by the MOST framework. Participants in Part 1 will not be randomized, but rather will receive all three candidate intervention components simultaneously. It is well established that greater adherence predicts behavioral sleep intervention efficacy; however, knowledge of how best to increase adherence is limited (Matthews et al., 2012, 2013; Agnew et al., 2021). Therefore, upon completion of the intervention in Part 1, individual semi-structured interviews will be conducted with participants and analyzed to identify barriers to and facilitators of adherence to the three candidate intervention components. Results will inform the design and delivery of the components in Part 2 to enhance adherence. Subsequently, in Part 2, a full factorial experiment will be completed that involves eight experimental conditions (Table 1). It is important to note that this study is not an eight-arm RCT and the purpose is not to compare outcomes across each of the eight conditions directly. Rather, each main effect and interaction estimate will use data from participants in all of the experimental conditions. For example, the main effect of sleep restriction will be estimated by comparing the mean for the 40 participants in conditions 1 through 4 to the mean for the 40 participants in conditions 5 through 8 in Table 1. A detailed explanation of how factorial study designs maintain power has been previously published (Collins et al., 2009).

Hypotheses

We hypothesize that gynecologic cancer survivors will be able to engage with each of the three candidate intervention components and that each component will be deemed acceptable. We further hypothesize that the optimal combination of intervention components will yield stronger effects for diminishing sleep disturbance, improving HRQOL, and reducing symptom burden than each individual component.

DATA COLLECTION AND MEASURES

Data Collection

Data to be collected include sociodemographic information, medical information, patient-reported outcome measures, qualitative patient feedback, urine samples, and objective sleep information recorded by actigraphy. Throughout the study, the REDCap (Harris et al., 2009) data collection platform will be used to capture and store participant data. This platform is

	TABLE 1	Experimental	conditions.
--	---------	--------------	-------------

Experimental condition	Sleep restriction	Stimulus control	Bright light
1	Yes	Yes	Yes
2	Yes	Yes	No
3	Yes	No	Yes
4	Yes	No	No
5	No	Yes	Yes
6	No	Yes	No
7	No	No	Yes
8	No	No	No

optimized for secure research data collection and storage and allows for HIPPA-compliant export and analysis. Data will be entered into REDCap either directly by participants or by the research team. All study assessments will be completed in-person or remotely *via* videoconference.

Across both Part 1 and Part 2 of the study, the screening questionnaire will be administered by telephone to determine eligibility. Eligible and interested participants will then provide informed consent before completing a baseline assessment where they will provide sociodemographic and medical information and complete questionnaires related to their sleep, HROOL, and symptom burden. Participants will also collect urine the night before this baseline assessment, wear a wrist actigraph, and complete sleep diaries for the 7 days leading up to the assessment. Immediately after completing the 6-week intervention period, participants will complete a follow-up assessment that mirrors the baseline plus an additional measure of acceptability. In addition to the baseline and post-intervention assessments, participants in Part 1 will complete a semi-structured interview and accompanying survey within 2 weeks of completing the intervention to provide information about barriers to and facilitators of protocol adherence. In contrast, participants in Part 2 will complete an additional follow-up assessment 3 months after completing the intervention that mirrors the baseline and post-intervention assessments to measure longitudinal intervention effects.

Measures

Feasibility and Acceptability

In both Part 1 and Part 2, study feasibility will be assessed according to established procedures (Bowen et al., 2009), including documenting the number of eligible participants, participant willingness to be enrolled, attrition, reported reasons for withdrawing, and self-reported protocol adherence.

Acceptability of the candidate intervention components will be assessed with items from the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy – Treatment Satisfaction – General scale (FACIT-TS-G) (Peipert et al., 2014), which will be administered at the post-intervention assessment only. The FACIT-TS-G includes eight items that utilize Likert-type response scales, were developed as stand-alone single items, and are scored individually. Higher item scores indicate greater acceptability.

Covariates

Sociodemographic and Medical Information

Sociodemographic and medical information will be gathered through participant self-report and medical chart review at screening, baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month followup. Sociodemographic data will include age, education, income, racial background, ethnicity, employment status, and relationship status. Medical data will include information about exclusionary and comorbid medical conditions, prescription medication use, and cancer-related information (e.g., time since diagnosis, stage at diagnosis, treatment history). Participants will also complete the Self-Administered Comorbidity Questionnaire (Sangha et al., 2003).

Sleep Apnea Risk

The Berlin questionnaire (Netzer et al., 1999) will assess risk for sleep apnea at baseline. This screener consists of nine items reflecting known clinical features of sleep apnea and yields scores in three categories related to the risk of having sleep apnea. Participants are classified as High Risk or Low Risk based on their responses to individual items and their overall scores in the symptom categories.

Pain

An 11-item numerical rating scale, ranging from 0 (*No pain*) to 10 (*Worst imaginable pain*), will evaluate pain intensity (Ferreira-Valente et al., 2011) at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month follow-up. The numerical rating scale is one of the most commonly used measures of pain intensity and has been shown to be responsive to pain (Ferreira-Valente et al., 2011).

Treatment Expectancy

Following the baseline assessment and orientation session and prior to the start of the 6-week intervention period, participants will complete the Credibility/Expectancy Questionnaire (Devilly and Borkovec, 2000). This six-item measure was developed for clinical studies to measure treatment expectancy and rationale credibility. It yields two subscale scores reflecting affectively based expectancy and cognitively based credibility.

Primary Outcomes

Objectively Measured Sleep

The Actiwatch Spectrum Plus (Mini Mitter/Phillips/Respironics) will be used to objectively measure sleep/wake activity at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month follow-up. In addition to sleep/wake activity, the Actiwatch Spectrum Plus records information about amount and duration of ambient white light luminance in units of lux. Participants will wear the device, which is similar in size to a watch, on the non-dominant wrist for 7 consecutive days immediately prior to each assessment. Actiwatch Spectrum Plus data will be scored and analyzed with Actiware Sleep v6.1.2 (Phillips-Respironics, Mini Mitter, Bend, OR, United States) to calculate sleep outcomes, such as total sleep time, percent sleep, total wake time, number and duration of nighttime awakenings, sleep mid-point, and number and duration of daytime naps (defined as a minimum of 10 consecutive min of inactivity). These data will also be used to calculate circadian activity rhythms (Marler et al., 2006) and the sleep regularity index (Phillips et al., 2017), which are indicators of circadian rhythm robustness. Participants will be instructed to press the event marker on the Actiwatch when initiating sleep effort at the start of the main sleep period, when discontinuing sleep effort upon final awakening, and when taking daytime naps. When wearing the Actiwatch, participants will also complete an actigraphy log in which they will record instances of and reasons for Actiwatch removal, which will be used to inform editing of the actigraphy data (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2015).

Subjectively Measured Sleep

Consensus Sleep Diary. Participants will complete the Consensus Sleep Diary (Carney et al., 2012) daily during the intervention period and whenever wearing the Actiwatch Spectrum Plus. The

Consensus Sleep Diary includes questions about time to bed, time to sleep, number and duration of nighttime awakenings, time of final awakening, time out of bed, and overall sleep quality. Diary data will guide the weekly sleep opportunity window for those receiving sleep restriction. It will also be used in conjunction with the actigraphy log to facilitate actigraphy scoring, as described above (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2015).

Perceived Sleep Quality. The eight-item Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) Sleep Disturbance Short Form 8a (Yu et al., 2012) will be used to assess perceived sleep quality at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month follow-up. Respondents rate the quality of their sleep over the prior 7 days on a five-point scale ranging from Very poor to Very good and rate the frequency with which they experienced different sleep symptoms on a five-point scale ranging from Not at all to Very much. Higher scores reflect worse sleep quality. All PROMIS assessments generate T scores that are standard scores with a mean of 50 and a standard deviation of 10 based on the reference population in which the measure was developed. For many PROMIS measures this is the general United States population; however, the Sleep Disturbance scale was developed with a population enriched for chronic illness. Thus, a score of 50 on this scale represents the average for individuals slightly more impaired than the general population.

Sleep-Related Daytime Impairment. The eight-item PROMIS Sleep-related Impairment Short Form 8a (Yu et al., 2012) will assess perceived impairment during wake associated with sleep problems at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month followup. Respondents rate the frequency with which they experienced daytime sleep-related symptoms over the prior 7 days on a fivepoint scale ranging from *Not at all* to *Very much.* Higher scores indicate greater daytime impairment. The PROMIS Sleep-related Impairment scale was also developed with a population enriched for chronic illness, and thus scores can be interpreted similarly to the Sleep Disturbance scale.

Secondary Outcomes

Health-Related Quality of Life

The 27-item Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy – General (FACT-G) (Webster et al., 2003) will measure HRQOL at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month follow-up. Participants indicate the extent to which each item has applied to them over the past week using a five-point scale ranging from *Not at all* to *Very much*, with higher scores indicating better HRQOL. The measure yields four subscales reflecting physical, social, emotional, and functional well-being, which can be summed to yield a total score.

Symptom Burden

The Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale. The 32-item Memorial Symptom Assessment Scale (MSAS; Portenoy et al., 1994) will evaluate overall symptom burden at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month follow-up. The MSAS measures the prevalence of, severity of, and distress associated with 32 physical and psychological symptoms over the course of the past week.

Frequency of symptoms is rated on a four-point scale ranging from *Rarely* to *Almost constantly*, severity of symptoms is rated on a four-point scale ranging from *Mild* to *Very severe*, and symptom-related distress is measured on a five-point scale ranging from *Not at all* to *Very much*. The measure yields three sub-scales reflecting physical symptom burden, psychological symptom burden, and overall distress. A total score can also be computed, with higher scores indicating greater symptom burden.

Patient Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Cancer Computer Adaptive Tests

Symptoms of fatigue (Lai et al., 2011), anxiety (Pilkonis et al., 2011), and depression (Pilkonis et al., 2011, 2014) will be assessed at baseline, post-intervention, and 3-month follow-up with PROMIS-Cancer computer adaptive tests. The PROMIS-Cancer scales were derived from established PROMIS item banks and were refined to increase the cancer-relevance of the measures (Garcia et al., 2007). For all constructs, respondents rate their symptom experience over the past 7 days on a five-point scale ranging from *Never* to *Always*. Select items in the Fatigue item bank use a five-point scale ranging from *Not at all* to *Very much* or from *None* to *Very*. Across all item banks higher scores indicate greater symptom burden.

Urine

Urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin (aMT6s), the primary urinary metabolite of melatonin, will be measured at baseline, postintervention, and 3-month follow-up as a marker of circadian rhythms. The night prior to each assessment participants will collect three urine samples: pre-bedtime, overnight including the first morning void, and approximately 3 h after the first morning void (Cook et al., 2000). For each sample, total volume will be recorded, aMT6s and creatinine will be determined, and the concentration of aMT6s will be calculated and expressed as μ g/g Cr (Schernhammer and Hankinson, 2009).

Adherence

In Part 1 of the study, participants will provide information about protocol adherence in the semi-structured interview and accompanying survey. In both parts of the study, adherence to sleep restriction and stimulus control instructions will be gathered by self-report and from the Consensus Sleep Diaries that participants will complete daily during the 6-week intervention period. Re-TimerTM usage and reasons for non-adherence will be recorded on a daily Re-TimerTM log (Fox et al., 2021).

Analytic Plan

Across both parts of the study, descriptive statistics will be used to characterize the sample.

Part 1: Qualitative Approach

For Part 1 of the study, two coders will review the semistructured interview transcripts and independently generate a preliminary list of themes regarding barriers and facilitators of treatment adherence using a constant comparative approach (Glaser and Strauss, 1967). The coders will meet regularly to discuss and compare themes. Redundant and irrelevant themes will be removed, and a coding dictionary will be developed for the remaining analysis. Coders will use this dictionary to code all transcripts, and data saturation will be evaluated. Past work indicates that saturation often occurs within the first 12 interviews, and basic themes may be identifiable as early as the sixth interview (Guest et al., 2006). Therefore, 15 interviews will be conducted to increase the likelihood of reaching saturation. Results, consisting of the most prevalent and important themes and corresponding quotations from participants, will inform any needed modifications to the delivery of the candidate intervention components to enhance adherence in Part 2.

Part 2: Intervention Optimization

For Part 2, we will use benchmarks of 80% recruitment (i.e., 80% of eligible survivors) and 80% retention to demonstrate feasibility. We will use a benchmark of 60% protocol adherence for each candidate intervention component, based on prior studies of CBT-I and bright light in cancer survivors (Berger et al., 2003; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2012). Descriptive statistics will be applied to the FACIT-TS-G items to examine acceptability.

To identify the optimal combination of candidate intervention components, longitudinal mixed effects models will be fit to the data with primary and secondary outcomes evaluated in separate models. All study time points will be included in these models, and fixed effects will include time (a nominal variable with three levels, which will be entered as two indicator variables), each candidate intervention component, and twoway interactions among components. The effect of a component at post-intervention and 3-month follow-up will be assessed based on that component's interaction with time. Candidate intervention components will be defined using effect coding (absence: -1, presence: +1) so effects remain uncorrelated (Kugler et al., 2012). Models will also adjust for hypothesized covariates as outlined above, as well as demographic and baseline clinical characteristics found to significantly differ across conditions. Further analyses will evaluate if the presence of multiple candidate intervention components has a greater effect on each outcome than single components. To do this, an additional variable will be created to indicate the number of components to which a participant was exposed (0, 1, 2, 3). This variable will be included as a fixed effect in these models, along with its interaction with time.

In addition to optimizing the intervention, we will also explore the potential mediating role of circadian markers (i.e., aMT6s, circadian activity rhythms, sleep regularity) on the effects of candidate intervention components. The potential mediating role of sleep disturbance on the relationships of intervention components to HRQOL and symptom burden will also be evaluated. Given the exploratory nature of this analysis, interpretation will focus on effect sizes rather than statistical significance.

Power analyses for Part 2 were conducted using the Factorial Power Plan Macro for SAS (Dziak et al., 2013) to detect an effect size ≥ 0.40 for main effects and two-way interactions

with 80% power and two-sided alpha = 0.05. Analyses will be conducted using a maximum likelihood estimation approach, which provides valid inference in the presence of missing data under a missing at random assumption (Enders and Bandalos, 2001). Once all data are collected, they will be imported into SPSS (IBM, Armonk, NY, United States) (IBM Corp, 2020) for cleaning. Data will then be analyzed in SPSS (IBM Corp, 2020), and MPlus (Muthén & Muthén, Los Angeles, CA, United States) (Muthén and Muthén, 1998-2017).

DISCUSSION

The goal of this study is to optimize a behavioral intervention to decrease sleep disturbance, improve HRQOL, and diminish symptom burden among survivors of gynecologic cancers. While efficacious when adhered to, current leading behavioral sleep intervention packages are burdensome and often have low adherence among oncologic samples. Part 1 of the study will address this concern by utilizing qualitative methods to identify barriers to and facilitators of intervention adherence, with results informing subsequent treatment delivery to maximize participant engagement. Additionally, delivering bundled treatment packages without assessing their individual components can lead to unnecessary burden and inefficient use of resources, because inactive components may be included in these treatments. By leveraging the MOST framework, Part 2 of this study will efficiently test the efficacy of three candidate intervention components independently and in combination to identify a resource-efficient, maximally effective, evidence-based behavioral sleep intervention for gynecologic cancer survivors that consists of exclusively active components. Feasibility, acceptability, and adherence will also be explored.

The primary limitation of this study is that intervention components that were not examined could be important to sleep disturbance, HRQOL, and/or symptom burden. However, we selected the components under evaluation because, taken together, they directly address both components of the twoprocess model of sleep-wake regulation (Borbely et al., 2016), emphasize the most well-supported components of CBT-I, and include a lower-burden systematic bright light exposure component that has shown promising efficacy and acceptability in past studies. Nonetheless, future research may benefit from examining other candidate intervention components. Additionally, it is possible that participants with non-insomnia sleep disorders may be recruited, as diagnostic sleep interviews are not being conducted as part of screening. However, to minimize the likelihood of this occurring we will assess past diagnosis of a sleep disorder by both self-report and medical record review.

To our knowledge, this is the first study that will apply the MOST framework to develop an efficient, minimally burdensome behavioral sleep intervention. Select prior studies have attempted to disentangle multicomponent sleep interventions like CBT-I using a comparative treatment design, in which participants

receive an intervention component in isolation, a combination of components, or a control (Epstein et al., 2012; Harvey et al., 2014). However, unlike the present study, this approach has not supported exploration of interactions among components. The present study will use optimization strategies so the final treatment includes only active components, and intervention delivery will be adapted to promote treatment adherence. Given the notable impact and implications of sleep disturbance among gynecologic cancer survivors, there is a great need to identify non-pharmacological treatments to address symptoms with as little burden as possible. If the components ultimately included in the optimized intervention prove to be feasible and acceptable, this work will yield a resource-efficient behavioral intervention that is primed for evaluation in a subsequent, large, fully powered RCT. This in turn could identify an effective treatment package to diminish the highly prevalent and understudied problem of sleep disturbance among survivors of gynecologic cancers.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

REFERENCES

- Agnew, S., Vallières, A., Hamilton, A., McCrory, S., Nikolic, M., Kyle, S. D., et al. (2021). Adherence to cognitive behavior therapy for insomnia: an updated systematic review. *Sleep Med. Clin.* 16, 155–202. doi: 10.1016/j.jsmc.2020.11. 002
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Martin, J. L., Blackwell, T., Buenaver, L., Liu, L., Meltzer, L. J., et al. (2015). The SBSM guide to actigraphy monitoring: clinical and research applications. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 13, S4–S38. doi: 10.1080/15402002. 2015.1046356
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Rissling, M., Neikrug, A., Trofimenko, V., Natarajan, L., Parker, B. A., et al. (2012). Light treatment prevents fatigue in women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 20, 1211–1219. doi: 10.1007/s00520-011-1203-z
- Bean, H. R., Stafford, L., Little, R., Diggens, J., Ftanou, M., Alexander, M., et al. (2020). Light-enhanced cognitive behavioural therapy for sleep and fatigue: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial during chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Trials* 21:295. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-4196-4
- Berger, A. M., VonEssen, S., Kuhn, B. R., Piper, B. F., Agrawal, S., Lynch, J. C., et al. (2003). Adherence, sleep, and fatigue outcomes after adjuvant breast cancer chemotherapy: results of a feasibility intervention study. *Oncol. Nurs. Forum* 30, 513–522. doi: 10.1188/03.ONF.513-522
- Bootzin, R. R., Epstein, D., and Wood, J. M. (1991). "Stimulus control instructions," in *Case Studies in Insomnia*, ed. P. J. Hauri (Boston, MA: Springer US), 19–28.
- Borbely, A. A., Daan, S., Wirz-Justice, A., and Deboer, T. (2016). The two-process model of sleep regulation: a reappraisal. J. Sleep Res. 25, 131–143. doi: 10.1111/ jsr.12371
- Bowen, D. J., Kreuter, M., Spring, B., Cofta-Woerpel, L., Linnan, L., Weiner, D., et al. (2009). How we design feasibility studies. Am. J. Prev. Med. 36, 452–457. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2009.02.002
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., and Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The Pittsburgh sleep quality index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* 28, 193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)9 0047-4
- Callahan, C. M., Unverzagt, F. W., Hui, S. L., Perkins, A. J., and Hendrie, H. C. (2002). Six-item screener to identify cognitive impairment among potential

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RF, PZ, KK, ET, SA-I, JS, FP, LW, KR, CR, and JO contributed to the conception and design of the study. RF wrote the first draft of the manuscript. JG wrote the sections of the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, and read and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Cancer Institute under grant #K08CA247973 (PI: Fox) and the University of Arizona College of Nursing. LW's effort was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Sklodowska–Curie grant agreement no. 754513 and the Aarhus University Research Foundation.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Abigail Crawford for her contributions to this work.

subjects for clinical research. Med. Care 40, 771-781. doi: 10.1097/00005650-200209000-00007

- Campbell, G., Thomas, T. H., Hand, L., Lee, Y. J., Taylor, S. E., and Donovan, H. S. (2019). Caring for survivors of gynecologic cancer: assessment and management of long-term and late effects. *Semin. Oncol. Nurs.* 35, 192–201. doi: 10.1016/j.soncn.2019.02.006
- Carney, C. E., Buysse, D. J., Ancoli-Israel, S., Edinger, J. D., Krystal, A. D., Lichstein, K. L., et al. (2012). The consensus sleep diary: standardizing prospective sleep self-monitoring. *Sleep* 35, 287–302. doi: 10.5665/sleep.1642
- Collins, L. M. (2018). Optimization of Behavioral, Biobehavioral, and Biomedical Interventions: The Multiphase Optimization Strategy (MOST). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Collins, L. M., Dziak, J. J., and Li, R. (2009). Design of experiments with multiple independent variables: a resource management perspective on complete and reduced factorial designs. *Psychol. Methods* 14, 202–224. doi: 10.1037/a00 15826
- Collins, L. M., Murphy, S. A., Nair, V. N., and Strecher, V. J. (2005). A strategy for optimizing and evaluating behavioral interventions. *Ann. Behav. Med.* 30, 65–73. doi: 10.1207/s15324796abm3001_8
- Cook, M. R., Graham, C., Kavet, R., Stevens, R. G., Davis, S., and Kheifets, L. (2000). Morning urinary assessment of nocturnal melatonin secretion in older women. J. Pineal Res. 28, 41–47. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-079x.2000.28 0106.x
- Deboer, T. (2018). Sleep homeostasis and the circadian clock: do the circadian pacemaker and the sleep homeostat influence each other's functioning? *Neurobiol. Sleep Circ. Rhythms* 5, 68–77. doi: 10.1016/j.nbscr.2018. 02.003
- Devilly, G. J., and Borkovec, T. D. (2000). Psychometric properties of the credibility/expectancy questionnaire. J. Behav. Ther. Exp. Psychiatry 31, 73–86.
- Dziak, J. J., Collins, L. M., and Wagner, A. T. (2013). Factorial Power Plan (Version 1.0) [Software]. University Park, PA: The Methodology Center, Penn State.
- Enders, C. K., and Bandalos, D. L. (2001). The relative performance of full information maximum likelihood estimation for missing data in structural equation models. *Struct. Equation Model.* 8, 430–457.
- Epstein, D. R., Sidani, S., Bootzin, R. R., and Belyea, M. J. (2012). Dismantling multicomponent behavioral treatment for insomnia in older adults:

a randomized controlled trial. Sleep 35, 797–805. doi: 10.5665/slee p.1878

- Ferreira-Valente, M. A., Pais-Ribeiro, J. L., and Jensen, M. P. (2011). Validity of four pain intensity rating scales. *Pain* 152, 2399–2404. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2011. 07.005
- Fox, R. S., Baik, S. H., McGinty, H., Garcia, S. F., Reid, K. J., Bovbjerg, K., et al. (2021). Feasibility and preliminary efficacy of a bright light intervention in ovarian and endometrial cancer survivors. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 28, 83–95. doi: 10.1007/s12529-020-09861-0
- Garcia, S. F., Cella, D., Clauser, S. B., Flynn, K. E., Lad, T., Lai, J. S., et al. (2007). Standardizing patient-reported outcomes assessment in cancer clinical trials: a patient-reported outcomes measurement information system initiative. J. Clin. Oncol. 25, 5106–5112. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.12.2341
- Garland, S. N., Johnson, J. A., Savard, J., Gehrman, P., Perlis, M., Carlson, L., et al. (2014). Sleeping well with cancer: a systematic review of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in cancer patients. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 10, 1113– 1124. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S47790
- Glaser, B., and Strauss, A. (1967). *The Discovery of Grounded Theory*. Chicago, IL: Aldine.
- Guastaferro, K., and Collins, L. M. (2019). Achieving the goals of translational science in public health intervention research: the multiphase optimization strategy (MOST). Am. J. Public Health 109, S128–S129. doi: 10.2105/AJPH. 2018.304874
- Guest, G., Bunce, A., and Johnson, L. (2006). How many interviews are enough:An experiment with data saturation and variability. *Field Methods* 18, 59–82. doi: 10.1177/1525822x05279903
- Harris, P. A., Taylor, R., Thielke, R., Payne, J., Gonzalez, N., and Conde, J. G. (2009).
 Research electronic data capture (REDCap)—a metadata-driven methodology and workflow process for providing translational research informatics support. *J. Biomed. Inform.* 42, 377–381. doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2008.08.010
- Harvey, A. G., Belanger, L., Talbot, L., Eidelman, P., Beaulieu-Bonneau, S., Fortier-Brochu, E., et al. (2014). Comparative efficacy of behavior therapy, cognitive therapy, and cognitive behavior therapy for chronic insomnia: a randomized controlled trial. *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 82, 670–683. doi: 10.1037/a00 36606
- IBM Corp (2020). IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 27.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.
- Johnson, J. A., Rash, J. A., Campbell, T. S., Savard, J., Gehrman, P. R., Perlis, M., et al. (2016). A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials of cognitive behavior therapy for insomnia (CBT-I) in cancer survivors. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 27, 20–28. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2015.07.001
- Kugler, K. C., Trail, J. B., Dziak, J. J., and Collins, L. M. (2012). Effect Coding Versus Dummy Coding in Analysis of Data From Factorial Experiments. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University.
- Lai, J.-S., Cella, D., Choi, S., Junghaenel, D. U., Christodoulou, C., Gershon, R., et al. (2011). How item banks and their application can influence measurement practice in rehabilitation medicine: a PROMIS fatigue item bank example. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 92, S20–S27. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2010. 08.033
- Ma, Y., Hall, D. L., Ngo, L. H., Liu, Q., Bain, P. A., and Yeh, G. Y. (2021). Efficacy of cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia in breast cancer: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 55:101376. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101376
- Marler, M. R., Gehrman, P., Martin, J. L., and Ancoli-Israel, S. (2006). The sigmoidally transformed cosine curve: a mathematical model for circadian rhythms with symmetric non-sinusoidal shapes. *Stat. Med.* 25, 3893–3904. doi: 10.1002/sim.2466
- Matthews, E. E., Arnedt, J. T., McCarthy, M. S., Cuddihy, L. J., and Aloia, M. S. (2013). Adherence to cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia: a systematic review. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 17, 453–464. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2013. 01.001
- Matthews, E. E., Schmiege, S. J., Cook, P. F., Berger, A. M., and Aloia, M. S. (2012). Adherence to cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia (CBTI) among women following primary breast cancer treatment: a pilot study. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 10, 217–229. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2012.666220
- McChargue, D. E., Sankaranarayanan, J., Visovsky, C. G., Matthews, E. E., Highland, K. B., and Berger, A. M. (2012). Predictors of adherence to a behavioral therapy sleep intervention during breast cancer chemotherapy. *Support. Care Cancer* 20, 245–252. doi: 10.1007/s00520-010-1060-1

Morin, C. M., and Benca, R. (2012). Chronic insomnia. Lancet 379, 1129-1141.

- Morin, C. M., Bootzin, R. R., Buysse, D. J., Edinger, J. D., Espie, C. A., and Lichstein, K. L. (2006). Psychological and behavioral treatment of insomnia:update of the recent evidence (1998-2004). *Sleep* 29, 1398–1414. doi: 10.1093/sleep/29.11. 1398
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (1998-2017). *Mplus User's Guide*, Eighth Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Netzer, N. C., Stoohs, R. A., Netzer, C. M., Clark, K., and Strohl, K. P. (1999). Using the Berlin questionnaire to identify patients at risk for the sleep apnea syndrome. Ann. Intern. Med. 131, 485–491. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-131-7-199910050-00002
- Oken, M. M., Creech, R. H., Tormey, D. C., Horton, J., Davis, T. E., McFadden, E. T., et al. (1982). Toxicity and response criteria of the Eastern cooperative oncology group. Am. J. Clin. Oncol. 5, 649–656. doi: 10.1097/00000421-198212000-00014
- Palagini, L., Miniati, M., Massa, L., Folesani, F., Marazziti, D., Grassi, L., et al. (2021). Insomnia and circadian sleep disorders in ovarian cancer: evaluation and management of underestimated modifiable factors potentially contributing to morbidity. *J. Sleep Res.* e13510. doi: 10.1111/jsr. 13510 [Epub ahead of print].
- Peipert, J. D., Beaumont, J. L., Bode, R., Cella, D., Garcia, S. F., and Hahn, E. A. (2014). Development and validation of the functional assessment of chronic illness therapy treatment satisfaction (FACIT TS) measures. *Qual. Life Res.* 3, 815–824. doi: 10.1007/s11136-013-0520-8
- Phillips, A. J. K., Clerx, W. M., O'Brien, C. S., Sano, A., Barger, L. K., Picard, R. W., et al. (2017). Irregular sleep/wake patterns are associated with poorer academic performance and delayed circadian and sleep/wake timing. *Sci. Rep.* 7:3216. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-03171-4
- Pilkonis, P. A., Choi, S. W., Reise, S. P., Stover, A. M., Riley, W. T., Cella, D., et al. (2011). Item banks for measuring emotional distress from the patientreported outcomes measurement information system (PROMIS[®]): depression, anxiety, and anger. *Assessment* 18, 263–283. doi: 10.1177/10731911114 11667
- Pilkonis, P. A., Yu, L., Dodds, N. E., Johnston, K. L., Maihoefer, C. C., and Lawrence, S. M. (2014). Validation of the depression item bank from the patient-reported outcomes measurement information system (PROMIS[®]) in a three-month observational study. *J. Psychiatric Res.* 56, 112–119. doi: 10.1016/j. jpsychires.2014.05.010
- Portenoy, R. K., Thaler, H. T., Kornblith, A. B., Lepore, J. M., Friedlander-Klar, H., Kiyasu, E., et al. (1994). The memorial symptom assessment scale: an instrument for the evaluation of symptom prevalence, characteristics and distress. *Eur. J. Cancer* 30a, 1326–1336. doi: 10.1016/0959-8049(94)9 0182-1
- Pozzar, R. A., Hammer, M. J., Paul, S. M., Cooper, B. A., Kober, K. M., Conley, Y. P., et al. (2021). Distinct sleep disturbance profiles among patients with gynecologic cancer receiving chemotherapy. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 163, 419–426. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2021.09.002
- Qaseem, A., Kansagara, D., Forciea, M. A., Cooke, M., and Denberg, T. D. (2016). Management of chronic insomnia disorder in adults: a clinical practice guideline from the American college of physicians. *Ann. Intern Med.* 165, 125–133.
- Ross, T. L., DeFazio, A., Friedlander, M., Grant, P., Nagle, C. M., Williams, M., et al. (2020). Insomnia and its association with quality of life in women with ovarian cancer. *Gynecol. Oncol.* 158, 760–768. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2020. 06.500
- Sangha, O., Stucki, G., Liang, M. H., Fossel, A. H., and Katz, J. N. (2003). The selfadministered comorbidity questionnaire: a new method to assess comorbidity for clinical and health services research. *Arthritis Rheum.* 49, 156–163. doi: 10.1002/art.10993
- Schernhammer, E. S., and Hankinson, S. E. (2009). Urinary melatonin levels and postmenopausal breast cancer risk in the Nurses' Health Study cohort. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomark. Prevent.* 18, 74–79. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-0 8-0637
- Schutte-Rodin, S., Broch, L., Buysse, D., Dorsey, C., and Sateia, M. (2008). Clinical guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic insomnia in adults. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 4, 487–504. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.27286
- Spielman, A. J., Saskin, P., and Thorpy, M. J. (1987). Treatment of chronic insomnia by restriction of time in bed. *Sleep* 10, 45–56.

- van Straten, A., van der Zweerde, T., Kleiboer, A., Cuijpers, P., Morin, C. M., and Lancee, J. (2017). Cognitive and behavioral therapies in the treatment of insomnia: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 38, 3–16. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017. 02.001
- Webster, K., Cella, D., and Yost, K. (2003). The functional assessment of chronic illness therapy (FACIT) measurement system: properties, applications, and interpretation. *Health Qual. Life Outcomes* 1:79. doi: 10.1186/1477-75 25-1-79
- Westin, S. N., Sun, C. C., Tung, C. S., Lacour, R. A., Meyer, L. A., Urbauer, D. L., et al. (2016). Survivors of gynecologic malignancies: impact of treatment on health and well-being. *J. Cancer Survivorship* 10, 261–270. doi: 10.1007/s11764-015-0472-9
- Wu, H.-S., Davis, J. E., and Chen, L. (2021). Bright light shows promise in improving sleep, depression, and quality of life in women with breast cancer during chemotherapy: findings of a pilot study. *Chronobiol. Int.* 38, 694–704. doi: 10.1080/07420528.2021.1871914
- Wu, L. M., Amidi, A., Valdimarsdottir, H., Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Winkel, G., et al. (2018). The effect of systematic light exposure on sleep in a mixed group of fatigued cancer survivors. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 14, 31–39. doi: 10.5664/jcs m.6874
- Yu, L., Buysse, D. J., Germain, A., Moul, D. E., Stover, A., Dodds, N. E., et al. (2012). Development of short forms from the PROMISTM sleep disturbance and sleep-related impairment item banks. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 10, 6–24. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2012.636266

Conflict of Interest: SP is a consultant for Jazz Pharmaceuticals, Inc., receives royalty from UpToDate, Inc., and has a patent that was licensed by SaiOx, Inc. (US20160213879A1). SP reports receiving grants to institution from the following entities: Sergey Brin Family Foundation (Verily Life Sciences, Inc.), Philips-Respironics, Inc., WHOOP, Inc., Sommetrics, Inc., and Regeneron, Inc. These conflicts are unrelated to this manuscript.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Fox, Gaumond, Zee, Kaiser, Tanner, Ancoli-Israel, Siddique, Penedo, Wu, Reid, Parthasarathy, Badger, Rini and Ong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Preventing Sleep Disruption With Bright Light Therapy During Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer: A Phase II Randomized Controlled Trial

Michelle Rissling¹, Lianqi Liu², Shawn D. Youngstedt³, Vera Trofimenko⁴, Loki Natarajan^{5,6}, Ariel B. Neikrug⁷, Neelum Jeste⁸, Barbara A. Parker^{2,6} and Sonia Ancoli-Israel^{1,6*}

¹ Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ² Department of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ³ Edson College of Nursing and Health Innovation, Arizona State University, Phoenix, AZ, United States, ⁴ St. Joseph Hospital, Orange, CA, United States, ⁵ Family Medicine and Public Health, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ⁶ Moores Cancer Center, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, ⁷ Department of Psychiatry and Human Behavior, University of California, Irvine, Irvine, CA, United States, ⁸ Johnson & Johnson, San Diego, CA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Josée Savard, Laval University, Canada

Reviewed by:

William David Todd, University of Wyoming, United States Ciro della Monica, University of Surrey, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Sonia Ancoli-Israel sancoliisrael@health.ucsd.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 15 November 2021 Accepted: 21 January 2022 Published: 09 March 2022

Citation:

Rissling M, Liu L, Youngstedt SD, Trofimenko V, Natarajan L, Neikrug AB, Jeste N, Parker BA and Ancoli-Israel S (2022) Preventing Sleep Disruption With Bright Light Therapy During Chemotherapy for Breast Cancer: A Phase II Randomized Controlled Trial. Front. Neurosci. 16:815872. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.815872 **Purpose:** The goal of this study was to examine whether daily increased morning light exposure would maintain or improve sleep and the circadian pattern of relatively more activity in the day and less during the night in women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer.

Patients and Methods: Participants were 39 women with newly diagnosed breast cancer, randomized to either 30-mins of daily morning bright white light (BWL) or dim red light (DRL). Sleep/wake was measured objectively for 72-h with wrist actigraphy and subjectively with the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) prior to and during chemotherapy cycles 1 and 4. The study was registered with the National Institutes of Health ClinicalTrials.gov (Clinical Trials number: NCT00478257).

Results: Results from actigraphy suggested that compared to the DRL group, women in the BWL group had longer night-time sleep, fewer sleep disturbances during the night, and had fewer and shorter daytime naps at the end of cycle 4 of chemotherapy as well as exhibiting less activity at night and more activity during the day by the end of cycle 4. Results from PSQI indicated that components of sleep quality improved but daytime dysfunction deteriorated during cycle 4 treatment in the BWL group; meanwhile the DRL group used more sleep medications in the treatment weeks which might have led to the improved sleep quality during the recovery weeks of both cycles.

Conclusion: These results suggest that bright white light therapy administered every morning on awakening may protect women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer from nighttime sleep and daytime wake disruption. Randomized clinical trials in larger samples are needed to confirm these findings.

Keywords: breast cancer, light therapy, sleep, actigraphy, PSQI, activity

INTRODUCTION

Disturbed sleep is one of the most common and distressing complaints among patients with breast cancer, occurring in 30– 50% of patients undergoing chemotherapy (Savard and Morin, 2001). Nighttime sleep disruptions, such as difficulty falling asleep, staying asleep, and frequent awakenings, are aggravated in women with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2006; Berger et al., 2007; Palesh et al., 2010). Patients with cancer also complain of increased daytime napping (Engstrom et al., 1999) described as longer and more frequent daytime naps as treatment progresses (Berger and Farr, 1999; Young-McCaughan et al., 2003; Levin et al., 2005; Wielgus et al., 2009), which has been associated with decreased daytime activity that, in turn, has been found to predict higher cancer-related fatigue (CRF) (Berger and Farr, 1999; Wielgus et al., 2009).

Many studies measuring sleep in cancer have used actigraphs, a wrist worn device which measures activity which can be used to estimate sleep and wake. Despite the ability of actigraphy to simultaneously measure both sleep and activity (Berger et al., 2008), relatively few studies have evaluated both outcomes in patients with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy (Young-McCaughan et al., 2003; Berger et al., 2007).

Previous research in our laboratory found that women with breast cancer have decreased daytime light exposure both before and during chemotherapy, with the most pronounced decrease in light exposure during the treatment infusion weeks of chemotherapy (Liu et al., 2005). Synchronized endogenous circadian activity rhythms are related to exposure to diurnal bright light (Kripke et al., 2007); low diurnal illumination levels have been associated with nocturnal sleep dysfunction (Terman et al., 1995; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2002). Sleep and mood disruptions have been successfully treated with morning exposure to increased artificial bright light in other populations, including individuals with winter depression (Rosenthal et al., 1985; Terman and Terman, 2005), non-seasonal depression (Al-Karawi and Jubair, 2016), anxiety (Youngstedt and Kripke, 2007), and PTSD (Youngstedt et al., 2021). Our laboratory has shown that morning bright light therapy prevents cancer related fatigue from getting worse, prevents circadian activity rhythms from deteriorating and improves quality of life in women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2011; Neikrug et al., 2012; Jeste et al., 2013). Morning light therapy has been combined with cognitive behavioral therapy to improve sleep in women undergoing chemotherapy (Bean et al., 2020); however, there are no studies evaluating just bright light therapy on sleep or activity in this group. Thus, we evaluated whether administration of bright light upon awakening in the morning would alleviate the poor nighttime sleep and lower daytime alertness experienced during chemotherapy in women with breast cancer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

We conducted a small phase II randomized clinical pilot study comparing bright white light (BWL) therapy to dim

red light (DRL) therapy in women diagnosed with breast cancer undergoing four cycles of adjuvant or neo-adjuvant chemotherapy. The study was conducted between July 2005 and June 2007

Patients

Data were collected from the same women reported in previous publications on the effect of light on fatigue, circadian activity rhythms and quality of life (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2011; Neikrug et al., 2012; Jeste et al., 2013). As reported in those studies, 58 women were referred by physicians for the study (see **Figure 1**). Of those referred, 17 were ineligible after screening and 41 were consented and randomized. Of the 41 randomized, two participants (one from each group) dropped out immediately and were not included in the analysis; eight women from the BWL and three women from the DRL dropped during the treatment phase and were included in the analysis. Therefore, data are presented from 39 women (mean age = 53.95 years, SD = 9.06, range = 32-70 years).

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Participants were referred by medical oncologists in the San Diego community or from the UCSD Moores Cancer Center. Inclusion criteria were having a new diagnosis of stage I–III breast cancer and scheduled to receive at least four cycles of adjuvant or neoadjuvant chemotherapy. Exclusion criteria were being pregnant, having metastatic or IIIB (including inflammatory) breast cancer, significant pre-existing anemia, or confounding underlying medical illnesses or any other physiological or psychological impairments that would have limited participation. Breast cancer disease staging was based on the American Joint Committee on Cancer Staging Manual 5th Edition (Greene, 2002). Menopausal status was determined using self-report of the occurrence of menses (Rissling et al., 2011).

After referral from the oncologist, informed consent, HIPAA, and release of information were obtained by the study coordinator. Pertinent medical information [e.g., stage of disease and estrogen/progesterone receptor status (ER/PR)] was abstracted from each participant's medical record prior to participation in the study.

Approval for this study was received from the University of California San Diego Office of IRB Administration and by the UC San Diego Moores Cancer Center's Protocol Review and Monitoring Committee. All women provided written informed consent before participation. The study was registered with the National Institutes of Health ClinicalTrials.gov (Clinical Trials number: NCT00478257).

Study Design

Figure 2 shows the study design which included a baseline assessment, treatment randomization prior to the start of chemotherapy followed by daily morning light treatment for four cycles of chemotherapy. After baseline, actigraphy and questionnaires were repeated only during the treatment and recovery weeks of cycles 1 and 4 of chemotherapy. Each chemotherapy cycle was either 2 or 3 weeks as the recommended



chemotherapy regimen changed in the middle of our study. Wrist actigraphs were worn for three consecutive 24-h periods (72-h) at each of the five time-points: prior to the start of chemotherapy (baseline), chemotherapy treatment week of cycle 1 (C1TW), recovery week of cycle 1 (C1RW), chemotherapy treatment week of cycle 4 (C4TW), and recovery week of cycle 4 (C4RW). Actigraphy periods coincided with each participant's scheduled weekday chemotherapy infusions. All questionnaires could be filled out any time during the 3 days that actigraphy data were collected. The actigraph and the questionnaires were all picked up together.

Results of questionnaire data assessing fatigue, mood, quality of life, functional outcome, menopausal status and climacteric symptoms have been previously published (Liu et al., 2009, 2012; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2011; Rissling et al., 2011; Neikrug et al., 2012; Jeste et al., 2013).

Randomization

The randomization sequence was generated by the study statistician using the R statistical software package.¹ A blocked design with a 2:3 allocation to dim red light (DEL; n = 16) versus bright white treatment (BWL; n = 23) using a block size of 4. Our hypothesis was that BWL would be more beneficial; and therefore, more participants were randomized to BWL to provide a larger sample with this treatment. Both treatments were non-invasive. The study coordinators were blinded to the randomization allocation of participants.

Instructions to Participants

Each participant was provided with a Litebook[®], a demonstration of proper operation, a paper tape measure and digital timer.

¹http://cran.r-project.org/



Participants were instructed how to position the Litebook[®] and to operate it for 30 continuous minutes immediately upon awakening every day throughout their four cycles of chemotherapy. The goal of the study was described to participants by the study coordinators as an evaluation of two frequencies of light therapy (red or white) for improving sleep and fatigue during chemotherapy.

Light

Light was administered via a Litebook[®] 1.2 (Litebook Ltd., Medicine Hat, AB, Canada). The Litebook® is a small $(6'' \times 5'' \times 1'')$ and lightweight (8 oz.) light box designed to be placed on a table about 18'' from the patient's head and within a 45° visual field. As previously published (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2011; Neikrug et al., 2012), light was administered with the Litebook® 1.2 (Litebook Ltd., Medicine Hat, AB, Canada). The Litebook® utilizes 60 white light-emitting diode (LED) lights with a distribution of energy particularly concentrated in the middle and long wavelengths (Desan et al., 2007) and which mimic the visible spectrum of sunlight (about 1,500 lux) for minimum glare and maximum eye comfort, without emitting ultraviolet (UV) light. Two women randomized into the BWL group reported the light aversive and dropped out during treatment; however, these data are included in the analysis. An identical-appearing device utilizing red LEDs emitting dim red light at <50 lux was used for the comparison DRL group. No participants reported the dim red light aversive.

The Litebooks[®] were modified to include an integrated meter which allowed for monitoring treatment adherence by recording operation time and duration. Partial adherence data were available for 30 participants (BWL n = 17; DRL n = 13); analysis indicated similar frequency of use (BWL = 55.0%; DRL = 70.2% of days assigned) and duration of use [BWL = 31.5 min (SD = 9.89); DRL = 33.9 min (SD = 10.93) per day used] with no significant difference between the groups.

Measures

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index

Sleep quality was measured with the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), a 19-item questionnaire which rates patients' reports of sleep quality, sleep latency, sleep duration, habitual sleep efficiency, sleep disturbances, use of sleep medication and daytime dysfunction (Buysse et al., 1989). The total PSQI scores range from 0 to 21 with high scores reflecting poor sleep quality. A total score above 5 is generally considered poor sleep. Due to the timeline of the data collection, in consultation with Dan Buysse, the developer of the PSQI (personal communication), the PSQI was modified to assess sleep over the past week.

Actigraphy

Wrist actigraphy devices were used for obtaining objective measures of nighttime and daytime sleep as well as for activity levels. Wrist actigraphy measures motion over time by recording the amount of electrical deflection during a fixed interval (e.g., minute by minute) (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2003; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2015). In the current study, two similar actigraphy devices were used. The Actillume® was used with the first 11 participants (Ambulatory Monitoring, Inc., Ardsley, NY, United States). Actillume® data were analyzed using the Action-3 software program (Ambulatory Monitoring Inc., Ardsley, NY, United States). Actillume® data for nine participants (BWL = 5; DRL = 4) are included in these analyses. The Actiwatch-Light® (Mini-Mitter| Respironics/Philips, Eindhoven, Netherlands) was used in the remainder of the participants (n = 28). Actiwatch-Light[®] data were analyzed using the Actiware[®] 5 sleep and activity monitoring software program (Mini-Mitter| Respironics). Activity sensitivity threshold was set to medium. Both devices record continuous acceleration data on the non-dominant wrist using a battery-operated microprocessor that senses motion with a piezoelectric beam and detects movement in all three axes. As previously published, device equivalency was evaluated by comparing data collected by paired devices worn simultaneously for 72-h by eight healthy adult volunteers (Liu et al., 2005, 2013a,b; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2014). The software-scored sleep/wake data based on the two types of activity count were highly correlated (both rs > 0.85, both p's < 0.0001), therefore, these variables were deemed equivalent for the purpose of this study. Data from 39 participants (BWL = 23, DRL = 16) are included in analyses.

Actigraphic sleep variables were derived from a mean of three continuous sleep and wake (night/day) periods using 1-min epochs. Self-report *via* sleep log was used to edit actigraphy data and determine daytime and nighttime sleep and wake periods. Nighttime variables included: nighttime average activity counts per minute, sleep percentage (%sleep), nighttime total sleep time (TST) and nighttime total waketime (TWT). Daytime variables included: daytime average activity counts per minute, mean nap duration (mNAP), number of daytime naps (nNAP), and total nap time (TNT). A daytime sleep episode, or nap, was defined as any period of 10 or more minutes of consecutive actigraphic inactivity (i.e., sleep) during the period between final out of bedtime in the morning and into bedtime the following night.

Statistical Analyses

Descriptive statistics were calculated for the entire sample as well as separately for the two treatment groups. Group differences were assessed with *t*-tests at baseline for possible confounders (i.e., demographic variables, clinical characteristics, and chemotherapy regimen). Variables that significantly differed between the treatment groups at a 0.05 significance level were controlled for in the inferential analysis.

Linear mixed-effects models were used for analyzing changes of subjective sleep quality, objective activity count and sleep/wake variables before and during chemotherapy, with group, time and group-by-time interaction included as fixed covariate effects. Baseline was the reference time point and the DRL group was the reference group. Each of the outcome variables were modeled separately. If a significant group, time or group-x-time interaction was found, further post hoc tests were conducted using appropriate contrasts: between group differences at each time point, and/or within group changes from Baseline to the other time points. Linear mixed-effects models and restricted maximum likelihood methods (Diggle et al., 1996) were employed for analyzing and comparing sleep and activity variables for each treatment group. This paradigm relies on the "missing at random" assumption (Diggle et al., 1996) and allows for modeling partial data where the number of measures per person could vary and participants with missing time points could still be included in the analysis. Thus, mixed model protects from a "completers only" bias.

RESULTS

Demographics

Table 1 shows the sociodemographic characteristics of oursample. There were no significant differences between thetreatment groups in age, BMI, race, income, education, maritalstatus, ER/PR status, or stage of disease.

Objective Sleep Measures

Nighttime Sleep

At baseline, the BWL group had significantly less TST than the DRL group (p = 0.01), thus the baseline TST was adjusted in all linear mixed-effects models. No other group differences were found at baseline (both p's > 0.2 for %sleep and TWT).

While controlling for baseline differences, a significant groupby-time interaction was found for TST at both C4TW (p = 0.042) and C4RW (p = 0.012; **Figure 3A**). Compared with baseline, the BWL group had significant increases in TST at C4TW and C4RW (p's < 0.03), whereas the DRL group had no significant changes in TST at these time points.

Significant group-by-time interactions were found for %sleep and TWT at C4RW (**Figures 3B,C**). Compared with baseline, the DRL had a significant decrease in %sleep (p < 0.05) and a significant increase in TWT (p < 0.05) at C4RW, whereas **TABLE 1** | Demographic and medical characteristics at baseline (N = 39).

Variable	BWL (n = 23)	DRL (<i>n</i> = 16)	p value ^a
Age: mean years (<i>SD</i>)	54.26 (9.31)	53.50 (8.96)	0.799
BMI (SD)	29.03 (7.78)	29.58 (8.25)	0.836
Marital status: [<i>n</i> (%)]	((0120)	0.882
Never married	1 (4.4)	1 (6.3)	
Divorced	7 (30.4)	3 (18.8)	
Widowed	2 (8.7)	1 (6.3)	
Married	13 (56.5)		
Ethnicity/race [n (%)]	()	, ,	0.952
African American Black	4 (17.4)	2 (12.5)	
Asian	2 (8.7)	1 (6.3)	
Caucasian	15 (65.2)	13 (81.3)	
Other	2 (8.7)	0 (0.0)	
Education [n (%)]			0.879
Some high school or less	2 (8.7)	0 (0.0)	
Completed high school	6 (26.01)	6 (37.5)	
Some college	8 (34.8)	4 (25.0)	
College degree	7 (30.4)	6 (37.5)	
Annual family income [n (%)]			0.222
≤\$15,000	5 (21.7)	3 (18.8)	
≤\$30,000	6 (26.1)	0 (0.0)	
≤\$50,000	1 (4.4)	2 (12.5)	
≤\$100,000	4 (17.4)	2 (12.5)	
>\$100,000	5 (21.7)	6 (37.5)	
Did not Answer	2 (8.7)	3 (18.8)	
Menopausal status pre-chemotherapy [n (%)]			0.982
Premenopausal	5 (21.7)	4 (25.0)	
Perimenopausal	3 (13.0)	2 (12.5)	
Postmenopausal	8 (34.8)	7 (43.8)	
Post-hysterectomy	6 (26.1)	3 (18.8)	
Unknown	1 (4.4)	0 (0.0)	
Cancer stage [<i>n</i> (%)]			0.789
Stage I	4 (17.4)	5 (31.3)	
Stage II	10 (43.5)	6 (37.5)	
Stage III	4 (17.4)	2 (12.5)	
Unknown	5 (21.7)	3 (18.8)	
Surgery [<i>n</i> (%)]	- ()	- (/	0.750
Lumpectomy	7 (30.4)	8 (50.0)	
Mastectomy	9 (39.1)	6 (37.5)	
Double mastectomy	4 (17.4)	1 (6.3)	
Pre-op chemotherapy	2 (8.7)	1 (6.3)	
Unknown	1 (4.4)	0 (0.0)	
Chemotherapy regimen [<i>n</i> (%)]	. (/	0 (010)	0.162
Exactly four cycles of AC	3 (13.0)	3 (18.8)	0.102
Exactly four cycles of AC + Taxotere	5 (21.7)	0 (0.0)	
Exactly four cycles of AC $+$ Taxol	6 (26.1)	2 (12.5)	
6 cycles of TAC	2 (8.7)	2 (12.3) 4 (25.0)	
·	. ,	(/	
Other regimen	4 (17.4)	6 (37.5)	
Unknown Prior use of hormone replacement therapy	3 (13.0)	1 (6.3)	0.155
[n (%)]			1
Yes	2 (8.7)	4 (25.0)	

TABLE 1 | (Continued)

Variable	BWL (n = 23)	DRL (<i>n</i> = 16)	p value ^a
No	13 (56.5)	10 (62.5)	
Unknown	8 (34.8)	2 (12.5)	

BWL, bright white light; DRL, dark red light; BMI, body mass index.

^aTwo sample T test for continuous variables and Fisher's Exact test for categorical variables.

the BWL had no significant changes in these variables at these time points.

Daytime Sleep

No group differences in daytime sleep at baseline were detected (all p's > 0.3). A significant group-by-time interaction for nNAP was found at both C4TW and C4RW (p's < 0.05; **Figure 4A**). Compared with baseline, nNAP increased significantly at C4TW (p < 0.03) and C4RW (p = 0.0003) in the DRL group, whereas the BWL group had no significant changes in nNAP at these time points.

Significant group-by-time interactions for TNT were found at C4TW and C4RW (ps < 0.05; **Figure 4B**). Compared with baseline, in the DRL group, TNT increased significantly at C4TW (p = 0.0003) and but changes during C4RW were not significant. In the BWL group there were no significant changes in TNT.

Significant group-by-time interactions for mNAP were found at C1TW (p < 0.03), C4TW (p < 0.05), and C4RW (p < 0.05; **Figure 4C**). Compared with baseline, mNAP increases significantly at C1TW (p < 0.003) and C4TW (p < 0.05) and non-significantly at C4RW (p < 0.05) in the DRL group, whereas compared with baseline, mNAP had a small (non-significant) increase at C1TW, and small (non-significant) decreases at C4TW and C4RW in the BWL group.

Activity

Activity During the Nighttime Sleep Period

As shown in **Figure 5A**, activity counts during the nighttime sleep period did not differ between groups at baseline (p = 0.16). At C4RW a significant group-by-time interaction was found (p = 0.047). Compared with baseline, at C4RW the DRL group had a significant increase in nighttime sleep period activity (p = 0.033), whereas the BWL group showed a non-significant decrease in nighttime sleep activity count. No other group-by-time effect was found for activity during the night period.

Activity During the Daytime Wake Period

As shown in **Figure 5B**, activity counts during the daytime wake period did not differ between groups at baseline (p = 0.35). A significant group-by-time interaction was observed at C4TW (p = 0.013). Compared with baseline, at C4TW the DRL group had significantly less activity counts (p < 0.001), whereas the BWL did not have a significantly change in activity count. A similar pattern was observed during C1TW; compared with baseline, activity counts decreased in the DRL group (p < 0.001) but did not change significantly in the BWL group. However, the



FIGURE 3 | Bar graphs depicting nighttime (A) total sleep time, (B) sleep percentage, and (C) total wake time for both bright white light (BWL) and dim red light (DRL) treatment groups from baseline through the treatment weeks (TW) and recovery weeks (RW) of chemotherapy cycles 1 and 4. With the exception of recovery week of cycle 1 (C1RW), the BWL group demonstrated longer total sleep time (A) compared to baseline. On the other hand, DRL group demonstrated longer total sleep time (A) compared to baseline. On the other hand, DRL group demonstrated longer total sleep to cycle 4 (C4RW). *p < 0.05 for group-by-time interaction, indicating that compared to DRL group, BWL group had significant longer total sleep time during cycle 4 (both C4TW and C4RW), significant higher sleep percentage and shorter total wake time during C4RW.

group-by-time interaction was not significant at C1TW, nor for other assessment times.

Subjective Sleep Quality

Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index global and component scores are listed in **Table 2**. There were no significant differences in the PSQI global or component scores between the BWL group and the DRL group at baseline (all p's > 0.05), and also no significant



FIGURE 4 | Bar graphs depicting daytime (**A**) number of naps, (**B**) total nap time, and (**C**) mean nap duration for both BWL and DRL treatment groups from baseline through the TW and RW of chemotherapy cycles 1 and 4. With the exception of recovery weeks (C1RW and C4RW), the DRL group demonstrated more frequent (**A**) and longer (**B**) naps as chemotherapy treatment progressed. Mean nap duration (**C**) also increased at C1TW for the DRL group, *p < 0.05 for group-by-time interaction, indicating that compared to DRL group, BWL group had significant fewer naps and shorter total nap time during cycle 4 (both C4TW and C4RW).

group-by-time interactions for the global or component scores during either cycle (all p's > 0.05). Within the BWL group, compared to baseline, there were significantly lower scores in three subscales (i.e., improvement in subjective sleep quality, sleep duration, sleep disturbances) during C4RW, however, the daytime dysfunction component score increased (i.e., worse daytime function) during both weeks of cycle 4 (both p's < 0.05). Within the DRL, compared to baseline, the subjective sleep quality component score decreased during the recovery weeks of both cycles (i.e., sleep quality improved) but the use of sleeping



FIGURE 5 | Bar graphs depicting average counts per minute for both (A) the nighttime sleep period and (B) the daytime wake period activity in the BWL and DRL treatment groups from baseline through the TW and RW of chemotherapy cycles 1 and 4. As depicted in panel (A), the average nighttime activity decreased in the BWL group while the DRL increased from baseline to the end of cycle 4 (C4RW). Conversely, as depicted in panel (B), the average daytime activity decreased in the DRL group from baseline to the treatment weeks of cycle 1 (C1TW) and cycle 4 (C4TW). * $\rho < 0.05$ for group-by-time interaction, indicating that compared to DRL group, BWL group had significant less daytime activity decrease during C4TW.

medication increased during the treatment weeks of both cycles (all p's < 0.05).

DISCUSSION

The results of this study suggest that morning bright white light administered daily during chemotherapy to women with breast cancer may help reduce deterioration of nighttime sleep and sleep quality and reduce daytime sleepiness.

During the weeks of chemotherapy administration, the weeks of greatest distress, the women in both treatment groups took more and longer naps. During the recovery week of cycle 1, both groups returned to the pre-chemotherapy levels. However, by the fourth cycle, the cumulative effects of chemotherapy resulted in less sleep at night and more and longer naps during the day in the women in the DRL group while women in the BWL group showed an increase in nighttime sleep and a return to pre-chemotherapy levels of napping.

PSQI		B	right white lig	jht				Dim red ligh	t	
	Baseline	C1TW	C1RW	C4TW	C4RW	Baseline	C1TW	C1RW	C4TW	C4RW
	<i>N</i> = 16	<i>N</i> = 14	<i>N</i> = 13	<i>N</i> = 12	<i>N</i> = 14	N = 22	<i>N</i> = 17	<i>N</i> = 18	<i>N</i> = 16	<i>N</i> = 15
Global	8.9	9.1	8.6	8.5	6.9	7.9	8.1	7.1	7.9	6.9
	(0.9)	(0.8)	(1.0)	(0.9)	(0.9)	(0.9)	(1.1)	(1.3)	(0.9)	(1.1)
Subjective sleep quality	1.3	1.4	1.0	0.9	0.4**	1.6	1.4	1.0*	1.1	0.9*
	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.2)	(0.2)
Sleep latency	1.4	1.4	1.4	0.9	0.8	1.5	1.1	1.2	1.0	1.3
	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)
Sleep duration	1.3	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9*	0.8	0.8	0.5	0.4	0.5
	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.1)
Habitual sleep efficiency	1.8	1.9	1.3	1.6	1.1	1.3	0.9	0.9	1.2	0.7
	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.3)	(0.4)	(0.3)
Sleep disturbances	1.5	1.4	1.2	1.3	1.1*	1.6	1.5	1.4	1.7	1.5
	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.1)
Use of sleeping medication	1.1	1.4	1.7	1.8	1.6	0.7	1.5*	1.3	1.4*	1.2
	(0.3)	(0.4)	(0.3)	(0.4)	(0.4)	(0.3)	(0.4)	(0.4)	(0.4)	(0.4)
Daytime dysfunction	0.6	0.8	0.9	1.1*	1.0*	0.6	0.9	0.7	1.0	0.8
	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.1)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)	(0.2)

TABLE 2 | Mean (SE) Pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI) total and component scores by group condition and mixed model analysis.

Compared to Baseline in each group: *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01; there were no significant group by time interactions for both groups at any time point (all p's > 0.1).

Similar results were observed in sleep quality. While no significant group by time interaction was observed by the end of cycle 4 chemotherapy, compared to baseline, the BWL group reported improvement in nighttime sleep quality (subjective sleep quality, sleep duration and sleep disturbance components). Reports of daytime dysfunction, however, increased. This deterioration of daytime functioning during the fourth cycle of treatment might be attributed not only to disturbed sleep, but also to the cumulative side-effects of cancer treatment. The finding that the DRL group reported improved sleep quality during the treatment weeks of both cycles may be explained by the concurrent increase in sleep medication use (Huedo-Medina et al., 2013). Taken together, the objective sleep and subjective sleep quality results suggest that overall, the bright white light resulted in less deterioration of sleep.

In addition to the effects on sleep, significant changes in the amount of activity both during the sleep period and the wake period were observed. Berger et al. (2009) showed that there is little distinction between night and day activity, as measured by actigraphy during chemotherapy, which suggested both disrupted sleep at night and disrupted wake during the day (2009). Having high actigraphic activity counts during the wake period and low counts during the sleep period has been associated with higher survival (Mormont et al., 2000; Innominato et al., 2009), better quality of life (Innominato et al., 2009), and lower levels of depression (Du-Quiton et al., 2010) and fatigue (Innominato et al., 2009) in patients with cancer. Having a more robust circadian pattern of acigraphic activity and better sleep has also been predictive of less cognitive decline in women with breast cancer (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2021). In the current study, women exposed to dim red light had decreased wake-time activity during chemotherapy treatment weeks of cycle 1 and cycle 4, as might be expected during chemotherapy, while those exposed to bright white light had no significant changes in daytime activity

compared to baseline. During the sleep period, those in the BWL group showed less activity than those in the DRL group. These data suggest that bright white light also protected the women from the deterioration in wake-time physical activity usually experienced during chemotherapy. Nonetheless, activity levels during the wake period are considered low (Kwan et al., 2020). Even modest increases in physical activity could potentially elicit improvements in sleep (Mercier et al., 2017) and in circadian synchronization (Youngstedt et al., 2019).

The impetus for this study was the prior observation that women undergoing chemotherapy receive progressively less bright light exposure as treatment progresses, particularly in the days following chemotherapy infusion, and that this decrease is associated with fatigue and sleep disturbances (Liu et al., 2005). Previously reported data from this sample demonstrated that bright light therapy prevented cancer-related fatigue (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2011) and prevented deterioration of both the circadian activity rhythm (Neikrug et al., 2012) and subjective quality of life during chemotherapy (Jeste et al., 2013). The current results demonstrate not only a lack of deterioration of sleep and activity in the bright white light group but also improvement in daytime sleep and nighttime activity compared to pre-chemotherapy levels.

We believe that the most likely mechanisms mediating sleep improvement reported in the present study are the indications of better circadian entrainment by light (Neikrug et al., 2012). Bright light entrains the circadian system by stimulating retinal photoreceptors in the retina, which interact with the SCN *via* a monosynaptic pathway, as well as multi-synaptic pathways from the retina to the ventral lateral geniculate nucleus and intergeniculate nucleus (Golombek and Rosenstein, 2010). Effects of bright light on alertness and sleepiness (Badia et al., 1991) also might have contributed to better nighttime sleep, as well as reduced napping noted in the present study. However, whether the observed benefit of bright light therapy was due to the alerting effect of light, to the improvement in circadian activity rhythms or some other unobserved mechanism, cannot be determined from this study.

While there have been a few other studies examining the effect of bright light treatment on sleep in cancer survivors (Johnson et al., 2016, 2018; Starreveld et al., 2018; Valdimarsdottir et al., 2018; Wu et al., 2018; Fox et al., 2020), to our knowledge, this is the first randomized controlled trial examining the effect of bright light therapy on sleep (measured both objectively and subjectively) and activity during chemotherapy in women with breast cancer. Berger et al. (2009) found a positive effect on sleep in a similar population using a modified behavioral therapy that included both nighttime and daytime sleep restriction; however, the improvement in the treatment group was limited to an improvement in subjective sleep quality and fewer objectively measured awakenings at night (daytime sleep was not reported). While these results are suggestive that targeting both nighttime and daytime sleep disruption using a behavioral treatment may be beneficial during chemotherapy, the lack of objective improvement in sleep also suggests that additional intervention may be needed.

Notwithstanding the significant group-by-time effects for several of the variables, the clinical significance of some of these effects was minimal. While bright light has been shown to be highly effective in fatigue, circadian rhythms and quality of life in these same women (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2011; Neikrug et al., 2012; Jeste et al., 2013), the percent sleep remained low and total wake time remained high at all time points. Combining bright light with other treatments, such as cognitive behavioral treatment for insomnia (Bean et al., 2020) or exercise (Mercier et al., 2017) may have additive benefits with greater clinical efficacy.

The strengths of the current study include the randomized controlled and longitudinal design; in particular, the inclusion of a baseline prior to chemotherapy in addition to data collection during chemotherapy. Additional strengths include the inclusion of both subjective and objective measures of sleep and the utilization of the mixed model statistical analysis which allowed for partially complete subject records (i.e., missing data at some time-points), thereby avoiding the biases of "completers only" analysis.

However, there are also limitations to the study. The first major limitation is the small sample size. With a larger sample size, trends such as the deterioration found in the DRL group may have been statistically significant. However, this was a preliminary study intended to provide Phase II data for a larger randomized trial. Secondly, the physical activity results should be interpreted with caution as we did not employ waist actigraphy. Our main interest was on sleep for which wrist actigraphy is a reliable measure (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2003; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2015). More detailed assessment of physical activity and exercise is needed in future work. A third limitation may be the 72-h period of actigraphy data collection. This shorter period was chosen to both reduce patient burden and to ensure sufficient time for baseline data collection as often the time period between recruitment and the start of chemotherapy was less than 1 week.

In summary, the breast cancer chemotherapy group receiving dim red light showed expected and progressive deterioration during chemotherapy, particularly in daytime sleepiness and inactivity during the day during cycle 4. The bright white light group, however, showed significantly less deterioration and were less sleepy and more active during the day at cycle 4 showing a greater ability to recover from the cumulative negative effects of chemotherapy. Larger studies are needed to replicate these findings; however, the study suggests that morning bright light, an easy, non-invasive, non-harmful behavioral treatment, may at least prevent deterioration of nighttime sleep and promote daytime activity and alertness in women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by University of California San Diego Office of IRB Administration and by the UC San Diego Moores Cancer Center's Protocol Review and Monitoring Committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

SA-I was the PI of the study. MR led the writing of the manuscript and contributed to the data collection and interpretation. LL contributed to the study conception, design, material preparation, and commenting on all versions of the manuscript. SY contributed to writing and commenting on previous versions of the manuscript. VT and LN contributed to the study conception, design, material preparation, and writing and commenting on previous versions of the manuscript. LN performed the statistical analyses. AN contributed to material preparation, data collection, and commenting on all versions of the manuscript. SA-I, NJ, and BP contributed to the study conception, design, material preparation, and writing and commenting on all versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by California Breast Cancer Research Program 11IB-0034, Litebook Inc. (which supplied light boxes but was not involved in study design, analysis, interpretation of data, writing this article, or the decision to submit for publication), NCI CA112035, UL1RR031980 (CTRI), UC San Diego Moores Cancer Center (NCI P30 CA-23100), the UCSD Stein Institute for Research on Aging, and the Department of Veterans Affairs Center of Excellence for Stress and Mental Health (CESAMH).

REFERENCES

- Al-Karawi, D., and Jubair, L. (2016). Bright light therapy for nonseasonal depression: Meta-analysis of clinical trials. J. Affect. Disord. 198, 64–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.03.016
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Cole, R., Alessi, C. A., Chambers, M., Moorcroft, W. H., and Pollack, C. P. (2003). The role of actigraphy in the study of sleep and circadian rhythms. *Sleep* 26, 342–392. doi: 10.1093/sleep/26.3.342
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Marler, M. R., Parker, B. A., Jones, V., Sadler, G. R., et al. (2006). Fatigue, sleep, and circadian rhythms prior to chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 14, 201–209. doi: 10.1007/s00520-005-0861-0
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Natarajan, L., Rissling, M., Neikrug, A. B., Youngstedt, S. D., et al. (2021). Reductions in sleep quality and circadian activity rhythmicity predict longitudinal changes in objective and subjective cognitive functioning in women treated for breast cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 2021:3. doi: 10.1007/ s00520-021-06743-3
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Rissling, M., Natarajan, L., Neikrug, A. B., Palmer, B. W., et al. (2014). Sleep, fatigue, depression, and circadian activity rhythms in women with breast cancer before and after treatment: a 1-year longitudinal study. *Support. Care Cancer* 22, 2535–2545. doi: 10.1007/s00520-014-2204-5
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Martin, J. L., and Blackwell, T. (2015). The SBSM guide to actigraphy monitoring: clinical and research applications. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 13, S4–S38. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2015.1046356
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Martin, J. L., Kripke, D. F., Marler, M., Melville, R., and Klauber, M. (2002). Effect of light treatment on sleep and circadian rhythms in demented nursing home patients. *J. Am. Geriat. Soc.* 50, 282–289. doi: 10.1046/j.1532-5415.2002.50060.x
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Rissling, M., Neikrug, A., Trofimenko, V., Natarajan, L., Parker, B. A., et al. (2011). Light treatment prevents fatigue in women undergoing chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Suppor. Care Cancer* 20, 1211–1219. doi: 10. 1007/s00520-011-1203-z
- Badia, P., Myers, B., Boecker, M., Culpepper, J., and Harsh, J. R. (1991). Bright light effects on body temperature, alertness. *EEG Behav. Physiol. Behav.* 50, 583–588. doi: 10.1016/0031-9384(91)90549-4
- Bean, H. R., Stafford, L., Little, R., Diggens, J., Ftanou, M., Alexander, M., et al. (2020). Light-enhanced cognitive behavioural therapy for sleep and fatigue: Study protocol for a randomised controlled trial during chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Trials* 21:295. doi: 10.1186/s13063-020-4196-4
- Berger, A. M., and Farr, L. (1999). The influence of daytime inactivity and nighttime restlessness on cancer-related fatigue. Oncol. Nurs. Forum 26, 1663–1671.
- Berger, A. M., Farr, L. A., Kuhn, B. R., Fischer, P., and Agrawal, S. (2007). Values of sleep/wake, activity/rest, circadian rhythms, and fatigue prior to adjuvant breast cancer chemotherapy. *J. Pain Symp. Manag.* 33, 398–409. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2006.09.022
- Berger, A. M., Kuhn, B. R., Farr, L. A., Von Essen, S. G., Chamberlain, J., Lynch, J. C., et al. (2009). One-year outcomes of a behavioral therapy intervention trial on sleep quality and cancer-related fatigue. J. Clin. Oncol. 27, 6033–6040. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.8306
- Berger, A. M., Wielgus, K. K., Young-McCaughan, S., Fischer, P., Farr, L., and Lee, K. A. (2008). Methodological challenges when using actigraphy in research. *J. Pain Symp. Manag.* 36, 191–199. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2007.10.008
- Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., and Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The pittsburgh sleep quality index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiat. Res.* 28, 193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Desan, P. H., Weinstein, A. J., Michalak, E. E., Tam, E. M., Meesters, Y., Ruiter, M. J., et al. (2007). A controlled trial of the Litebook light-emitting diode (LED) light therapy device for treatment of seasonal affective disorder (SAD). BMC Psychiat. 7:38. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-7-38
- Diggle, P. J., Liang, K. Y., and Zeger, S. L. (1996). Analysis of Longitudinal Data. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1–254.
- Du-Quiton, J., Wood, P. A., Burch, J. B., Grutsch, J. F., Gupta, D., Tyer, K., et al. (2010). Actigraphic assessment of daily sleep-activity pattern abnormalities reflects self-assessed depression and anxiety in outpatients with advanced non-small cell lung cancer. *Psycho-Oncolog* 19, 180–189. doi: 10.1002/pon.1539
- Engstrom, C. A., Strohl, R. A., Rose, L., Lewandowski, L., and Stefanek, M. E. (1999). Sleep alterations in cancer patients. *Cancer Nurs.* 22, 143–148. doi: 10.1097/00002820-199904000-00006

- Fox, R. S., Ancoli-Israel, S., Roesch, S. C., Merz, E. L., Mills, S. D., Wells, K. J., et al. (2020). Sleep disturbance and cancer-related fatigue symptom cluster in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Support. Care Cancer* 28, 845–855. doi: 10.1007/S00520-019-04834-W
- Golombek, D. A., and Rosenstein, R. E. (2010). Physiology of circadian entrainment. *Physiol. Rev.* 90, 1063–1102. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00009.2009
- Greene, F. L. (2002). AJCC Cancer Staging Manual. Berlin: Springer Science & Business Media. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4757-3656-4
- Huedo-Medina, T. B., Kirsch, I., Middlemass, J., Klonizakis, M., and Niroshan Siriwardena, A. (2013). Effectiveness of non-benzodiazepine hypnotics in treatment of adult insomnia: Meta-analysis of data submitted to the Food and Drug Administration. *BMJ* 346:8343. doi: 10.1136/bmj.e8343
- Innominato, P. F., Focan, C., and Gorlia, T. (2009). Circadian rhythm in rest and activity: a biological correlate of quality of life and a predictor of survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 69, 4700–4707. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4747
- Jeste, N., Liu, L., Rissling, M., Trofimenko, V., Natarajan, L., and Parker, B. A. (2013). Prevention of quality-of-life deterioration with light therapy Is associated with changes in fatigue in women with breast cancer undergoing chemotherapy. Qual. Life Res. 22, 1239–1244. doi: 10.1007/s11136-012-0243-2
- Johnson, J. A., Sheila, N., and Garland, L. E. (2018). Bright light therapy improves cancer-related fatigue in cancer survivors: A randomized controlled trial. *J. Cancer Survivorship* 12, 206–215. doi: 10.1007/S11764-017-0659-3
- Johnson, J. A., Garland, S. N., Carlson, L. E., Savard, J., Simpson, J. S., and Ancoli-Israel, S. (2016). The LITE study: Rationale and protocol for a randomized controlled trial of light therapy for cancer-related fatigue in cancer survivors. *Contemp. Clinl. Trials* 49, 166–173. doi: 10.1016/j.cct.2016.07.004
- Kripke, D. F., Elliott, J. A., Youngstedt, S. D., and Rex, K. M. (2007). Circadian phase response curves to light in older and young women and men. J. Circadian. *Rhyth.* 10:4. doi: 10.1186/1740-3391-5-4
- Kwan, R. Y. C., Liu, J. Y. W., Lee, D., Tse, C. Y. A., and Lee, P. H. (2020). A validation study of the use of smartphones and wrist-worn ActiGraphs to measure physical activity at different levels of intensity and step rates in older people. *Gait Posture* 82, 306–312. doi: 10.1016/j.gaitpost.2020.09.022
- Levin, R. D., Daehler, M. A., Grutsch, J. F., Quiton, J., Lis, C. G., Peterson, C., et al. (2005). Circadian function in patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. *Br. J. Cancer* 93, 1202–1208. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602859
- Liu, L., Fiorentino, L., Natarajan, L., Parker, B. A., Mills, P. J., Sadler, G. R., et al. (2009). Pre-treatment symptom cluster in breast cancer patients is associated with worse sleep, fatigue and depression during chemotherapy. *Psychooncol* 18, 187–194. doi: 10.1002/pon.1412
- Liu, L., Fiorentino, L., Rissling, M., Natarajan, L., Parker, B. A., Dimsdale, J. E., et al. (2013a). Decreased health-related quality of life in women with breast cancer is associated with poor sleep. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 11, 189–206. doi: 10. 1080/15402002.2012.660589
- Liu, L., Marler, M. R., Parker, B. A., Jones, V., Johnson, S., Cohen-Zion, M., et al. (2005). The relationship between fatigue and light exposure during chemotherapy. *Support. Care Cancer* 13, 1010–1017. doi: 10.1007/s00520-005-0824-5
- Liu, L., Rissling, M., and Natarajan, L. (2012). The longitudinal relationship between fatigue and sleep in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Sleep* 35, 237–245. doi: 10.5665/sleep.1630
- Liu, L., Rissling, M., Neikrug, A., Fiorentino, L., Natarajan, L., Faierman, M., et al. (2013b). Fatigue and circadian activity rhythms in breast cancer patients before and after chemotherapy: a controlled study. *Fatigue* 1, 12–26. doi: 10.1080/ 21641846.2012.741782
- Mercier, J., Savard, J., and Bernard, P. (2017). Exercise interventions to improve sleep in cancer patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 36, 43–56. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2016.11.001
- Mormont, M. C., Waterhouse, J., Bleuzen, P., Giacchetti, S., Jami, A., Bogdan, A., et al. (2000). Marked 24-h rest/activity rhythms are associated with better quality of life, better response, and longer survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer and good performance status. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 6, 3038–3045.
- Neikrug, A. B., Rissling, M., Trofimenko, V., Liu, L., Natarajan, L., Lawton, S., et al. (2012). Bright light therapy protects women from circadian rhythm desynchronization during chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Behav. Sleep Med.* 10, 202–216. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2011.634940

- Palesh, O. G., Roscoe, J. A., Mustian, K. M., Roth, T., Savard, J., Ancoli-Israel, S., et al. (2010). Prevalence, demographics, and psychological associations of sleep disruption in patients with cancer: University of Rochester cancer center-Community Clinical Oncology Program. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, 292–298. doi: 10. 1200/JCO.2009.22.5011
- Rissling, M. B., Liu, L., Natarajan, L., He, F., and Ancoli-Israel, S. (2011). Relationship of menopausal status and climacteric symptoms to sleep in women undergoing chemotherapy. *Support. Care Cancer* 19, 1107–1115. doi: 10.1007/ s00520-010-0914-x
- Rosenthal, N. E., Sack, D. A., Carpenter, C. J., Parry, B. L., Mendelson, W. B., and Wehr, T. A. (1985). Antidepressant effects of light in seasonal affective disorder. *Am. J. Psychiat.* 142, 163–170. doi: 10.1176/ajp.142.2.163
- Savard, J., and Morin, C. M. (2001). Insomnia in the context of cancer: A review of a neglected problem. J. Clin. Oncol. 19, 895–908. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2001.19.3.895
- Starreveld, D. E. J., Daniels, L. A., and Valdimarsdottir, H. B. (2018). Light therapy as a treatment of cancer-related fatigue in (Non-)Hodgkin Lymphoma Survivors (SPARKLE Trial): study protocol of a multicenter randomized controlled trial. *BMC Cancer* 18:4762. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4746-2
- Terman, M., Lewy, A. J., Dijk, D. J., Boulos, Z., Eastman, C. I., and Campbell, S. S. (1995). Light teatment for sleep disorders: consensus report. IV. Sleep phase and duration disturbances. J. Biol. Rhythms 10, 135–147. doi: 10.1177/ 074873049501000206
- Terman, M., and Terman, J. S. (2005). "Light therapy," in *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine*, eds T. Roth and W. C. Dement (Amsterdam: Elsevier), 1424–1442. doi: 10.1016/B0-72-160797-7/50128-2
- Valdimarsdottir, H. B., Figueiro, M. G., Holden, W., Lutgendorf, S., Wu, L. M., Ancoli-Israel, S., et al. (2018). Programmed environmental illumination during autologous stem cell transplantation hospitalization for the treatment of multiple myeloma reduces severity of depression: A preliminary randomized controlled trial. *Cancer Med.* 7, 4345–4353. doi: 10.1002/cam4.1690
- Wielgus, K. K., Berger, A. M., and Hertzog, M. (2009). Predictors of fatigue 30 days after completing anthracycline plus taxane adjuvant chemotherapy for breast cancer. Oncol. Nurs. Forum 36, 38–48. doi: 10.1188/09.ONF.38-48
- Wu, L. M., Amidi, A., Valdimarsdottir, H., Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Winkel, G., et al. (2018). The effect of systematic light exposure on sleep in a mixed group of fatigued cancer survivors. J. Clin. Sleep Med. 14, 31–39. doi: 10.5664/JCSM.6874

- Young-McCaughan, S., Mays, M. Z., Arzola, S. M., Yoder, L. H., Dramiga, S. A., Leclerc, K. M., et al. (2003). Research and commentary: change in exercise tolerance, activity and sleep patterns, and quality of life in patients with cancer participating in a structured exercise program. *Oncol. Nurs. Forum* 30, 441–454. doi: 10.1188/03.ONF.441-454
- Youngstedt, S. D., Elliott, J. A., and Kripke, D. F. (2019). Human phaseresponse curves for exercise. J. Physiol. 597, 2253–2268. doi: 10.1113/JP2 76943
- Youngstedt, S. D., and Kripke, D. F. (2007). Does bright light have an anxiolytic effect? *Open Trial. BMC Psychiat.* 7:62. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-7-62
- Youngstedt, S. D., Kline, C. E., Reynolds, A. M., Crowley, S. K., Burch, J. B., Khan, N., et al. (2021). Bright light treatment of combat-related PTSD: A randomized controlled trial. *Mil. Med.* 2021:14. doi: 10.1093/milmed/ usab014

Conflict of Interest: SA-I was a consultant for Eisai, Biogen, Merck, Idorsia, and Pear Therapeutics. NJ was a student at UCSD at the time of the study and currently works for J&J which has had no influence or funding of this study.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rissling, Liu, Youngstedt, Trofimenko, Natarajan, Neikrug, Jeste, Parker and Ancoli-Israel. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Sleep During Oncological Treatment – A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Associations With Treatment Response, Time to Progression and Survival

Louise Strøm^{1*}, Josefine T. Danielsen¹, Ali Amidi¹, Ana Lucia Cardenas Egusquiza², Lisa Maria Wu^{1,3} and Robert Zachariae^{1,4}

¹ Unit for Psycho-Oncology and Health Psychology, Department of Psychology and Behavioral Sciences, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ² Department of Psychology and Behavioral Sciences, Center for Autobiographical Memory Research, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ³ Aarhus Institute of Advanced Studies, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark, ⁴ Department of Oncology, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Jeremy Borniger, Stanford University, United States

Reviewed by:

Laura Helen Jacobson, University of Melbourne, Australia Maria Paola Mogavero, Scientific Clinical Institute Maugeri (ICS Maugeri), Italy

> *Correspondence: Louise Strøm louisestroem@psy.au.dk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 18 November 2021 Accepted: 02 February 2022 Published: 19 April 2022

Citation:

Strøm L, Danielsen JT, Amidi A, Cardenas Egusquiza AL, Wu LM and Zachariae R (2022) Sleep During Oncological Treatment – A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Associations With Treatment Response, Time to Progression and Survival. Front. Neurosci. 16:817837. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.817837 **Introduction:** Disrupted sleep and sleep-wake activity are frequently observed in cancer patients undergoing oncological treatment. These disruptions are often associated with aggravated symptom burden and diminished health-related quality of life that in turn may compromise treatment adherence and, thus, effectiveness. In addition, disrupted sleep has been linked to carcinogenic processes, which ultimately could result in worse prognostic outcomes.

Aims: Our aim was to systematically review and conduct a meta-analysis of studies examining the associations between sleep and sleep-wake activity and prognostic outcomes in cancer patients undergoing oncological treatment.

Methods: A comprehensive systematic search of English language papers was undertaken in June 2020 using PubMed, The Cochrane Library, and CINAHL. Two reviewers independently screened 4,879 abstracts. A total of 26 papers were included in the narrative review. Thirteen papers reporting hazard ratios reflecting associations between a dichotomized predictor variable (sleep) and prognostic outcomes were subjected to meta-analysis.

Results: Nineteen of the 26 eligible studies on a total of 7,092 cancer patients reported associations between poorer sleep and poorer response to treatment, shorter time to progression, and/or reduced overall survival, but were highly heterogeneous with respect to the sleep and outcome parameters investigated. Meta-analysis revealed statistically significant associations between poor self-reported sleep and reduced overall survival (HR = 1.33 [95% CI 1.09–1.62], k = 11), and shorter time to progression (HR = 1.40 [95% CI 1.23–1.59], k = 3) and between poor objectively assessed sleep and reduced overall survival (HR = 1.74 [95% CI 1.05–2.88], k = 4).

Conclusion: The current findings indicate that disturbed sleep during treatment may be a relevant behavioral marker of poor cancer prognosis. The limited number of studies, the common use of single item sleep measures, and potential publication bias highlight the need for further high quality and longitudinal studies.

Keywords: cancer patients, sleep, sleep-wake activity, survival, time to progression, treatment response

INTRODUCTION

Disturbances and alterations in sleep architecture and behavior commonly occur when individuals experience medical illness (Opp and Krueger, 2015), and cancer is no exception (Clevenger et al., 2012; Sharma et al., 2012; Loh et al., 2018). Such sleep disturbances are often associated with aggravation of symptom burden (Palesh et al., 2010; George et al., 2016) and impairments to quality of life (Trudel-Fitzgerald et al., 2014; Nho et al., 2017). Additionally, accumulating evidence highlights the important role of healthy sleep in cell genome stability (Lamia, 2017), efficient immune responses (Fondell et al., 2011; De Lorenzo et al., 2015), and sufficient melatonin secretion that can mitigate carcinogenic processes (Schernhammer and Schulmeister, 2004; Mirza-Aghazadeh-Attari et al., 2020). Hence, sleep disturbances and disorders have been linked to various pathologies, including increased risk of cancer (Erren et al., 2016; Mogavero et al., 2021), all-cause mortality in the general population (Dew et al., 2003), and tumor progression in mouse models (Papagiannakopoulos et al., 2016; De Lorenzo et al., 2018). Moreover, once diagnosed with cancer, the cancer itself may serve as an indirect factor influencing sleep, through various pathophysiological processes, including inflammation, which has been proposed as an underlying biological mechanism of sleep disturbance (Raison et al., 2010; Irwin et al., 2016; Besedovsky et al., 2019). This suggests that the cancer-related inflammatory response may be an additional contributor to alterations in cancer patients' sleep (Mantovani et al., 2008). Apart from biological mechanisms, psychological symptoms, such as heightened stress, depression, and anxiety may also play an important role in the manifestation of sleep disturbance (Ancoli-Israel, 2009; Liu et al., 2009). In addition, persistent behavioral problems, including those arising from pediatric cancers, may contribute to long-term sleep disturbance (Mogavero et al., 2020). However, both psychologically and biologically driven sleep disturbances are most likely bi-directionally related, both contributing to the perpetuation and exacerbation of sleep and sleep-wake irregularity (Krueger et al., 2003, 2009; Meier-Ewert et al., 2004; Rockstrom et al., 2018; Ashok Kumar et al., 2019), which makes the relationship between sleep, sleep-wake activity, tumorigenesis and cancer progression highly complex.

While sleep disturbances may be present in cancer patients already prior to treatment (Zhou et al., 2018), many patients undergoing oncological treatment, especially chemotherapy and radiotherapy, experience sleep problems with prevalence estimates ranging from 30% to 75% (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2001; Savard et al., 2009, 2015; Palesh et al., 2010; Costa et al., 2014). Cancer prognosis has improved for most cancers, especially with the introduction of new targeted therapies like immune checkpoint inhibitors (Kennedy and Salama, 2020). However, sleep disturbances during treatment in these patients could challenge response to treatment and compromise survival, by potentially aggravating symptom burden, hence compromising adherence to treatment (Kidwell et al., 2014), as well as potentially disrupting immunological and endocrine processes in protecting the body against cancer development (Eismann et al., 2010). In a meta-analysis by Stone et al. (2019), long sleep duration was found to be associated with increased cancer-specific mortality for all-cancers, and all-cause mortality for breast cancer. While this review added to the field by highlighting the long-term risks of sleep duration on cancer-specific mortality, it focused on sleep duration in cancer survivors both pre-diagnosis and years after treatment completion. Other meta-analyses investigating sleep and cancer-mortality have been limited, primarily focusing on general population samples (Gallicchio and Kalesan, 2009; Ma et al., 2016). Thus, to the best of our knowledge, no review has been published on the association between sleep disturbance during oncological treatment and the subsequent response to treatment, time to progression and survival. However, this is an important time period in the trajectory of cancer patients, since an increased symptom burden including sleep disturbance may have prognostic consequences.

Therefore, the primary aim of the present review was to systematically review and conduct a meta-analysis of available studies examining associations between disturbed sleep and sleep-wake activity and cancer prognostics, e.g., treatment response, time to progression, and survival in a population of cancer patients undergoing oncological treatment.

Improving our knowledge about the association between sleep during treatment and treatment response and survival, could enable the development of targeted interventions to support patients' recovery, at a critical time in the course of their disease.

METHODS

Registration and Search Strategy

This present systematic review and meta-analysis adheres to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (Moher et al., 2009), and was pre-registered in PROSPERO (Page et al., 2018) (registration ID: CRD42020189880). A broad systematic search of English language papers was undertaken by the first author and a librarian in June 2020 using PubMed, The Cochrane Library, and CINAHL. The following search terms were used, including MeSH-terms or MeSH-term equivalents: (Sleep OR insomnia OR "circadian rhythm" OR rhythm) AND (immunotherapy OR immunotherapies OR "checkpoint inhibitor" OR "checkpoint inhibitors" OR ICI OR ICIS OR "PD-1" OR "PD-L1" OR nivolumab OR pembrolizumab OR chemotherapeutic OR chemotherapy OR "cancer treatment*" OR cytostatic) AND (effect OR effects OR outcome OR outcomes OR "clinical response" OR "clinical effect" OR response OR "response to treatment" OR survival OR mortality OR prognos*) AND (cancer OR neoplasms OR neoplasm). No publication date restriction was imposed.

Selection Criteria and Screening

Identified records were imported to the review software Covidence (Kellermeyer et al., 2018). Two authors (LS and JTD) independently screened 4,879 abstracts, according to predefined hierarchically displayed inclusion criteria based on the PICO framework (Sackett et al., 1996) and adapted to meet our research question: "Is sleep and sleep-wake activity in cancer patients receiving oncological treatment associated with response to treatment, time to progression and survival?". Inclusion criteria were: (1) cancer patients regardless of diagnosis, who have received approved oncological treatment, except for transplantation; (2) all sleep-related measures (self-reported and objective) represented by at least one quantified item, assessed after diagnosis, and immediately prior to or during cancer treatment; (3) outcome evaluated in relation to a sleep measure (4) outcome constitutes clinical response to oncological treatment, overall survival or time-to-progression after oncological treatment; and (5) all types of observational and controlled trial studies of adult humans (≥ 18 years), except for Phase 1 studies.

If abstracts reported both a sleep measure and measure of treatment response or survival indicating that results on a possible association could be found in the full text, studies were considered eligible for full text review. Full texts were independently screened by two authors (LS and JTD), and reasons for exclusion were documented. Conflicts were resolved at consensus meetings with a third author (RZ). Subsequently, reference lists of included studies and relevant reviews were screened for papers missed by the systematic database search. Moreover, included studies were objects for citation searches.

Quality Assessments

Methodological quality and risk of bias assessment, was undertaken independently by two authors (LS and JTD) for all included studies, using the NIH Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies (National Heart Lung, 2014). Although 12 studies based their results on samples obtained in randomized controlled trails, the measurement of sleep data and outcome met criteria for observational designs.

Data Extraction and Synthesis

Data extraction was performed independently by two authors (LS and AC). The data extraction form included: name of first author, year of publication, title of paper, study design, number of participants, age and gender of participants, diagnosis of participants, treatment regimens, treatment-naivety,

method used for assessing sleep or sleep-wake activity (i.e., subjective/objective assessment), time of reported sleep measure (i.e., prior to treatment, during treatment), sleep measure (actigraphy measure, sleep scale or sleep item), number of assessments, outcome measure (i.e., response rate, response classification, time to progression/progression free survival, and overall survival) results, and median follow-up time. In case of missing data, the corresponding author of set paper was contacted for this information. A narrative method was applied to synthesize the findings, and an a priori decision was made to perform a meta-analysis if a minimum of three studies reported comparable predictor and outcome measures. Analyses were grouped according to the predictor being self-reported or objective and according to the reported treatment outcome (i.e., overall survival, time-to-progression and response to treatment).

Meta-Analytic Strategy

A total of 13 studies were subjected to meta-analysis to ascertain the pooled overall effect estimate and its precision. Eligibility criteria were results of unadjusted analyses reported as hazard ratios reflecting associations between a dichotomized predictor variable (sleep) and the outcome. One study reporting only adjusted analyses (Sullivan et al., 2006), was also included. To aid the interpretation of the results, we conducted a Bayesian Model-Averaged meta-analysis, as a supplement to the conventional frequentist meta-analysis (Gronau et al., 2017). The frequentist analyses were performed using Comprehensive Meta-Analysis, version 3 (Borenstein et al., 2013). The supplementary Bayesian analyses were conducted with JASP Version 0.12.2 (JASP Team, 2022).

Pooling Effects

An inverse variance-weighted random-effects model considering the precision of each study was used in all analyses, with hazard ratios larger than 1.0 taken to indicate an effect in the hypothesized direction, i.e., poor sleep associated with a shorter time to progression or shorter overall survival. Three studies reported survival outcomes for several sleep variables (Palesh et al., 2014; Cash et al., 2018; Gottfried et al., 2020). For these studies, the results were combined into one pooled weighted result to ensure independence of effects included in the metaanalysis.

Heterogeneity

Heterogeneity was investigated using Q and I^2 statistics (Higgins et al., 2019). Heterogeneity tests aim at determining to which degree the variation in effect sizes reflects true differences (heterogeneity) or sampling error. The I^2 value is an estimate of the between-study variance in a pooled effect estimate that is accounted for by heterogeneity of the effect sizes in the included studies and is assumed to be relatively unaffected by the number of studies (Higgins et al., 2003). If the results indicated heterogeneity ($I^2 > 0.0$), we calculated the 95% prediction interval, which estimates the expected range of true effects in 95% of similar future studies (IntHout et al., 2016).

Publication Bias

The possibility of publication bias was assessed using funnel plots and Egger's test (Egger et al., 1997). If results were suggestive of possible publication bias, sensitivity analyses were conducted by imputing the "missing studies" and calculating adjusted effect estimates using the Duval and Tweedie trim-and-fill method (Duval and Tweedie, 2000).

Moderator Analysis

To explore possible sources of heterogeneity ($I^2 > 0.0$), we examined the role on the effect size of four possible moderators with meta-regression based on random-effects models and estimated with maximum likelihood method. The moderators included percent women, median follow-up time in months, mean sample age, and cancer stage (advanced vs. mixed). If associations were found between the moderators, this was adjusted for in the analysis.

Bayesian Analysis

A supplementary Bayesian Model-Averaged meta-analysis (Gronau et al., 2017) of the associations between sleep and overall survival and time-to-progression, respectively, examined the results of four models: (a) fixed-effect null hypothesis (fH_0) , (b) fixed-effect alternative hypothesis (fH₁), (c) random-effects null hypothesis (rH₀), and (d) random effects alternative hypothesis (rH1). Bayesian Model-Averaged analysis thus avoids selecting either a fixed- or random-effects model and addresses two questions in light of the observed data: What is the plausibility that the overall effect is non-zero and is there between-study variability in the effect size? We chose an uninformed prior probability, i.e., 25%, of each of the four models and 2,000 iterations. Concerning parameter distributions, we chose previously recommended defaults (Gronau et al., 2017). We thus used a zero-centered Cauchy prior with a scale of 0.707 for the effect size. To have zero indicating the null effect, the hazard ratios and the upper and lower limits were log-transformed. For the between-study variation, we used an empirically informed prior distribution of non-zero between-study deviation estimates based on effect sizes from 705 meta-analyses published in Psychological Bulletin between 1990 and 2013 (van Erp et al., 2017). This distribution has been approximated by an Inverse-Gamma (1, 0.15) prior on the standard deviation (Tau) (Gronau et al., 2017).

RESULTS

Search Results

A total of 4,879 studies were identified after duplicate removal and 10 additional studies were identified by other sources (two studies through reference list screenings, and eight studies by citation search) of which five were eligible for full text screening. A total of 105 papers were eligible for full text screening with 26 studies being included for analysis. Exclusion of the 79 studies upon full-text screening were primarily attributed to the exclusion criteria "not relating a sleep measure to one of the predefined outcome measures, e.g., response to treatment, time to progression or overall survival" (67%). A table of all excluded studies following full-text screening including reasons for exclusion are provided in the **Supplementary Table 1**. Level of conflict following the abstract screening was 103 out of 4,879 screenings corresponding to a 97.9% agreement between reviewers. Following full text, agreement was 93.3% (Cohen's Kappa 0.82). Full-text conflicts were mainly concerned with which primary exclusion criterion to apply. Screening and selection process is provided in the PRISMA flow diagram in **Figure 1**.

Study Characteristics

Characteristics of the 26 included studies are shown in **Table 1** and described in the sections below.

Diagnosis and Stage

A total of 13 different cancer diagnoses were represented in the 26 studies. The most frequently investigated cancers were colorectal cancer reported in six studies (Mormont et al., 2000; Maisey et al., 2002; Innominato et al., 2009, 2012, 2015; Lévi et al., 2014), non-small cell lung cancer in six studies (Naughton et al., 2002; Braun et al., 2011; Zhao et al., 2013; Chang and Lin, 2014; Gottfried et al., 2020; Kuo et al., 2020), and breast cancer in five studies (Geels et al., 2000; Kramer et al., 2000; Zhao et al., 2013; Chang and Lin, 2014; Palesh et al., 2014). In four studies, the sample consisted of mixed cancer populations (Zhao et al., 2013; Chang and Lin, 2014; Collins et al., 2017; Chandra et al., 2019). Twenty-four studies included patients with advanced disease, of which 10 studies included mixed cancer stages, and two studies failed to report cancer stage (Geels et al., 2000; Chandra et al., 2019).

Study Samples

The sample sizes ranged from 33 to 1,194 (median = 190). Three studies reported data from the same trial, but had different study objectives and no overlapping data (Innominato et al., 2009, 2012, 2015). Thus, they were considered independent samples. One paper (Lévi et al., 2014) reported a pooled sample, consisting of three different samples. Two of these samples were already represented in our review (Mormont et al., 2000; Innominato et al., 2009), thus, only the third and newly obtained sample from the paper was included. One study (Robinson et al., 2012) reported separate data for two independent samples of women with ovarian and endometrial cancer.

Study Design and Treatment Regimen

Twelve of the studies reported their sample to be subsamples from Phase III randomized controlled trials and were therefore combined samples in which different treatment regimens were utilized. Treatment regimens were reported in 20 studies, of which 18 reported having different regimens within the same study, including systemic treatment (i.e., hormonal and chemotherapy), radiation or surgery. Seven of the 26 study samples included treatment-naive participants at study entry. Thus, in the majority of studies, participants had received oncological treatment prior to participation.



Quality Assessments

Supplementary Table 2 provides an overview of the quality ratings for the individual studies. Overall, the ratings indicated high quality regarding clear definitions of research question, study population, exposure and outcome measures, and high quality in assessing exposure prior to outcome, as well as including a sufficient timeframe between the two. However, assessment of sleep more than once had low-quality ratings in all but five studies, and although all studies meet criteria for examining effects of different levels of sleep disturbance on outcome, levels were converted to a dichotomous variable in 16 studies, whereas six studies used quartiles, composite scores or change in symptom score between two assessments. Continuous variables were used in four studies. Moreover, power justifications were only reported in two studies.

Sleep Parameters

Both self-reported (k = 19) and objective (k = 7) measures were used to evaluate sleep, and one study (Palesh et al., 2014) reported a self-reported measure verified by an objective measure. Of the 18 studies only using self-reported sleep measures, the majority (k = 13) were based on a single item regarding sleep disturbances from the European Organization for the Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire (EORTC QLQ-C30), a validated quality of life instrument for cancer patients (Aaronson et al., 1993). In this item cancer patients respond to the following question about their sleep: "During the past week, have you had trouble sleeping?". The four available response categories are; "Not at all," "a little," "quite a bit," and "very much" (Aaronson et al., 1993). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI), a 19-item self-rated questionnaire that assesses

TABLE 1 | Study characteristics.

Study	Cancer type	Study design	N in analysis (% women)	Sleep (predictor) (S) = Self-report (O) = Objective	Timing of sleep assessment	Prognostic outcomes	Median follow-up (months)	Analysis and predictor	Results (Direction of association ¹)	Included in meta-analysis (+)
Braun et al., 2011	Non-small cell	Observational –	1194 (49 7%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	NR	Unadjusted: Insomnia	ns	
Bradit of al., 2011	lung cancer	retrospective	1104 (40.176)		i to accanone	ovorali oli viva		Adjusted: NR	10	
								Unadjusted:		
Braun et al., 2012	Prostate cancer	Observational – retrospective	673 (0%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	NR	Insomnia Adjusted: Insomnia	ns	
								Unadjusted:	115	
Cash et al., 2018	Head and	Observational –	38 (40%)	Actigraphy (O)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	24	Sleep-wake activity (r24)	+	+
	neck cancer	prospective						Sleep-wake activity (I $<$ 0)	+	
						Response to treatment		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
						Overall survival		Adjusted: Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
						Overali Survivai		Unadjusted:	Ŧ	
Chandra et al., 2019	Hematological malignancy and lymphoma	Observational – prospective	66 (40.90%)	PSQI (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	6	Sleep quality Adjusted: NR	+	
	ана упрногна							Unadjusted:		
Chang and Lin, 2014	Lung, breast,	Observational –	68 (50%)	Actigraphy (O)	During treatment	Overall survival	84	Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	+
	gastro and liver, head and	retrospective		PSQI (S)				Sleep quality Adjusted:	+	
	neck cancer,							Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
	hematology, genitourinary							Sleep quality	ns	
								Unadjusted:		
Collette et al., 2004	Prostate	RCT	388 (0%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	NR	Insomnia	+	+
	cancer							Adjusted:		
								Insomnia Unadjusted:	+	
Collins et al., 2017	Hepatobiliary-	Observational –	292 (36%)	PSQI (S)	NR	Overall survival	NR	Sleep latency	ns	
	pancreatic	retrospective		. ,				Sleep efficiency	ns	
	system							Shorter sleep duration	+	
	cancers as							Shorter and longer sleep duration	+	
	primary cancers or							Adjusted: Shorter sleep duration	+	
	metastases							Shorter and longer sleep duration	+	
	from other primary cancers								·	

(Continued)

Sleep and Cancer Survival

TABLE 1 | (Continued)

Study	Cancer type	Study design	N in analysis (% women)	Sleep (predictor)	Timing of sleep assessment	Prognostic outcomes	Median follow-up (months)	Analysis and predictor	Results (Direction of association ¹)	Included in meta-analysis (+
				(S) = Self-report						
				(O) = Objective						
								Unadjusted:		
Geels et al., 2000	Breast cancer	RCT	198 (NR)	QoL and CRF (case	Pre- and during	Response to treatment	NR	Insomnia (QoL)	ns	
				report forms) (S)	treatment			Insomnia (CRF)	ns	
								Adjusted: NR		
								Unadjusted:		
Gottfried et al., 2020	Lung cancer	Registry-based	404 (40.80%)	Single sleep question (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	26	Difficulty falling asleep	ns	+
								Frequent arousals at night	+	
								Both of the above combined	+	
								Adjusted models:		
								Sleep abnormalities	+	
								Unadjusted:		
nnominato et al., 2009	Colorectal	RCT	130 (43.10%)	Actigraphy (O)	Pre- and during	Overall survival	72	Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
	cancer				treatment			Sleep-wake activity (r24)	+	
								Mean rest-activity rhythm	ns	
						Response to treatment		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0 and r24) $$	ns	
						Progression free survival		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0 and r24) $$	ns	
								Adjusted models:		
						Overall survival		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Unadjusted:		
Innominato et al., 2012	Colorectal cancer	RCT	77 (35.10%)	Actigraphy (O)	During treatment	Overall survival	77.2	Sleep-wake activity (I $<$ 0)	+	+
						Response to treatment &		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	ns	
						Progression free survival				
								Adjusted:		
						Overall survival		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Unadjusted:		
nnominato et al., 2015		RCT	361 (38.80%)	EORTC	Pre- and during	Overall survival	89.2	Insomnia	+	+
	cancer			QLQ-C30 (S)	treatment	Time to progression		Insomnia	+	
						Response to treatment		Insomnia	+	
								Adjusted:		
						Overall survival		Insomnia	+	

(Continued)

Study	Cancer type	Study design	N in analysis (% women)	Sleep (predictor)	Timing of sleep assessment	Prognostic outcomes	Median follow-up (months)	Analysis and predictor	Results (Direction of association ¹)	Included in meta-analysis (+)
				(S) = Self-report (O) = Objective						
								Unadjusted:		
Kramer et al., 2000	Breast cancer	Observational -	187 (100%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	42.2	Insomnia	ns	+
		retrospective				Response to treatment		Insomnia	ns	
								Adjusted: NR		
								Unadjusted:		
Kuo et al., 2020	Lung cancer	Observational -	33 (18.20%)	Actigraphy (O)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	6.15	Sleep-wake activity ($I < 0$)	+	+
		prospective						Adjusted:		
								Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Unadjusted:		
Lévi et al., 2014	Colorectal	RCT	436 (37.40%)	Actigraphy (O)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	NR	Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
(Cohort III) ²	cancer					Progression-free survival (PFS)		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Adjusted:		
						Overall survival		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Unadjusted:		
Maisey et al., 2002	Colorectal	RCT	501 (37%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	34.1	Insomnia	+	+
	cancer							Adjusted:		
								Insomnia	+	
								Unadjusted:		
Merli et al., 2004	Non-Hodgkin's	RCT	91 (66%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-, during and	Treatment response	NR	Insomnia	+	
	lymphoma				post-treatment			Adjusted: NR		
								Unadjusted:		
Mormont et al., 2000	Colorectal	Observational -	192 (33%)	Actigraphy (O)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival	24	Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
	cancer	prospective				Objective response		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Sleep-wake activity (r24)	+	
								Adjusted:		
						Overall survival		Sleep-wake activity (I < 0)	+	
								Sleep-wake activity (r24)	+	
								Mean sleep-wake activity	+	
								Unadjusted:		
Naughton et al., 2002	Small-cell lung	RCT -	67 (29%)	Sleep Quality Scale -	Pre- and during	Overall survival	NR	Sleep quality	ns	
	cancer	companion study		four items (S)	treatment			Adjusted:		

(Continued)

in Nei inoscience | www.frontie

TABLE 1 | (Continued)

Study	Cancer type	Study design	N in analysis (% women)	Sleep (predictor) (S) = Self-report (O) = Objective	Timing of sleep assessment	Prognostic outcomes	Median follow-up (months)	Analysis and predictor	Results (Direction of association ¹)	Included in meta-analysis (+
Nowak et al., 2004	Pleural mesothelioma	Phase II trial single-arm	53 (15%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall Survival	NR	Unadjusted: Insomnia Adjusted: NR	ns	
Palesh et al., 2014	Breast cancer	Observational – prospective	97 (100%)	Sleep logs and actigraphy (S), (O)	NR	Overall survival	72	Unadjusted: Sleep efficiency Time in bed WASO Wake episodes Wake episode duration Sleep latency WASO Wake episodes Wake episodes Wake episodes	+ ns + + ns + + + +	+
Robinson et al., 2012	Endometrial and ovarian cancer	Cross- sectional	453 (100%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	During and after treatment	Overall survival	NR	Unadjusted: Insomnia (Ovarian cancer) Insomnia (Endometrial cancer) Adjusted: Insomnia (Ovarian cancer) Insomnia (Endometrial cancer)	ns ns ns	÷
Roychowdhury et al., 2003	Bladder cancer	RCT	363 (20.80%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre-treatment	Overall survival Time to progression Time to treatment failure	NR	Unadjusted: Insomnia Insomnia Adjusted: NR	+ + ns	÷
Sullivan et al., 2006	Prostate cancer	RCT	765 (0%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre- and during treatment	Overall survival Time to progression	NR	Unadjusted: NR Adjusted: Insomnia Change in insomnia Change in insomnia	ns + +	÷
Teunissen et al., 2004	Gastro-entero- pancreatic cancers	Observational – prospective	42 (56%)	EORTC QLQ-C30 (S)	Pre- and post-treatment	Treatment response	1.2	Unadjusted: Change in insomnia Adjusted: NR	+	

(Continued)

Sleep and Cancer Survival

EORTC-QLQ-30, European Organization for the Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire; NR, not reported; PSQI, The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; RCT, randomized controlled ightarrow improved prognosis; ns, non-significant association. ²Reported on the independent sample in the study, to avoid sample overlap with other Sleep-wake activity (r24), autocorrelation coefficient at 24 h (regularity and reproducibility of activity pattern); Sleep-wake activity (1 < 0), dichotomy index (relative ratio of activity in meta-analysis (+) Included in Results (Direction of association¹) Change in sleep quality Analysis and Unadjusted: Sleep quality Adjusted: predictor ц Median follow-up (months) ÿ Prognostic outcomes Treatment response and post-treatment Timing of sleep assessment Pre-Sleep (predictor) (S) = Self-report (O) = Objective - = Poor sleepPSQI (S) N in analysis (% women) → worse prognosis. 240 (47%) Dbservational -Study design Open label trial trial; WASO, wake after sleep onset; Please note that + = Poor sleepCancer type rasopharynx Breast, lung, lymphoma, alimentary tract or cancer 2013 ao et al., studies. Study

sleep quality and disturbances over a 1-month period was used in three studies (Zhao et al., 2013; Collins et al., 2017; Chandra et al., 2019). One study (Gottfried et al., 2020) reported sleep based on one of two questions: "difficulty falling asleep?" and "frequent arousals at night?". The last study (Naughton et al., 2002) assessed sleep using a single item about "trouble sleeping", but this was not clearly described.

In all of the studies with objective evaluations of sleep (k = 7), the sleep outcome was sleep-wake activity measured with actigraphy [i.e., a small non-invasive wrist-worn activity logger (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2003)]. Sleep-wake activity was evaluated using the dichotomy index I < 0, measuring the relative amount of activity in bed versus out of bed (Ortiz-Tudela et al., 2014). Three studies included an additional evaluation—the autocorrelation coefficient r24— measuring the regularity of the activity pattern over 24 h (Ortiz-Tudela et al., 2014).

Associations Between Sleep, Treatment Response, Time to Progression and Survival

Reported prognostic outcomes included treatment response, time to progression or overall survival. Survival was the most frequent outcome (k = 22), and nine of the 26 studies reported on more than one outcome. Overall, 19 of 26 studies found poor sleep to be significantly associated with poorer survival or worse treatment response, while seven studies found no associations. Poor sleep was assessed from both self-reported (e.g., insomnia symptoms, poor sleep quality) and actigraphyderived sleep outcomes (e.g., sleep-wake activity, nighttime restfulness, wake after sleep onset, sleep latency, sleep efficiency, and wake episodes). No studies found associations between better sleep and poorer treatment response, shorter time to progression or poorer survival. Effect sizes and sample sizes differed significantly with hazard ratios ranging from 1.10 to 13.70, and sample sizes ranging from 33 to 1,194. Only two studies examined sleep duration. In one study of patients with advanced cancers affecting the hepatobiliary and pancreatic systems, both short and long sleep duration were associated with increased mortality (linear term: hazard ratio = 0.485; quadratic term: hazard ratio = 1.064) (Collins et al., 2017), but in another study of women with advanced breast cancer, there was no linear or quadratic association between sleep duration and survival (Palesh et al., 2014).

Adjusted models were reported in 16 of the 26 papers. However, covariates were neither comparable in characteristic nor in number, and only selected models were subjected to adjustments. In all but one study (Chang and Lin, 2014) results of the adjusted models remained statistically significant.

Meta-Analytic Results

Association Between Self-Reported Sleep and Overall Survival

As seen in **Table 2** and **Figure 2**, the overall combined hazard ratio for the 11 studies investigating self-reported sleep and overall survival in a total of 3,050 patients was 1.33, indicating that poorer self-reported sleep was statistically significantly associated with reduced overall survival (95% CI: 1.09–1.62;

FABLE 1 (Continued)

and out of bed)

p = 0.005). A sensitivity analysis omitting Sullivan et al. (2006), which had only used an adjusted model, resulted in a similar pooled effect size (HR = 1.30; 95% CI: 1.06-1.59; p = 0.012). A visual inspection of the funnel plot and the statistically significant Egger's test (p = 0.012) suggested the possibility of publication bias in the direction of an association in the hypothesized direction. As seen in Figure 3, the trim and fill method yielded five "missing" studies, which, when imputing these values, resulted in a smaller effect reduced to statistical nonsignificance. The high I^2 (87.6%) suggests that a considerable proportion of the variance is explained by systematic differences between studies rather than sampling error. When exploring the influence of possible between-study differences on the association between poorer self-reported sleep and reduced overall survival with meta-regression, the associations were significantly weaker in studies with a larger percentage of women (Slope: -0.006: p < 0.001). As seen in **Table 3**, the association was maintained when adjusting for cancer stage. While cancer stage was not a significant moderator of the association when adjusting for the percentage of women in the studies, a statistically weaker association (slope: -0.24; p = 0.032) was found between poorer sleep and reduced overall survival in studies of patients with advanced cancer, compared to studies with mixed samples. The remaining moderating factors explored did not reach statistical significance. The findings of the frequentist analysis were supported by the supplementary Bayesian Model-Averaged metaanalysis, which provided strong evidence for a non-zero effect of poor self-reported sleep on overall survival corresponding to a Bayes Factor (BF) (Duval and Tweedie, 2000) of 10.2, i.e., indicating that the alternative hypothesis is 10.2 times more likely than the null-hypothesis. The Bayesian analysis provided very strong evidence concerning heterogeneity of the effects. The BF for heterogeneity was 10¹² indicating that the probability that the effect sizes are heterogeneous are extremely likely.

Associations Between Self-Reported Sleep and Time to Progression

As seen in **Table 2** and **Figure 4**, the overall combined hazard ratio for the three studies investigating self-reported sleep and time to disease progression in a total of 1,489 patients showed that poor self-reported sleep was statistically significantly associated with shorter time to progression (HR: 1.40; 95% CI: 1.23–1.59; p < 0.001). The findings of the frequentist analysis were supported by the supplementary Bayesian Model-Averaged meta-analysis, which provided strong evidence for a non-zero effect of poor self-reported sleep on time to progression corresponding to a BF (Duval and Tweedie, 2000) of 20.9, i.e., indicating that the alternative hypothesis is more than 20 times more likely than the null-hypothesis. The BF for non-heterogeneous effect sizes. Due to the small number of studies, publication bias and moderator analyses were not conducted.

Associations Between Objectively Assessed Sleep and Overall Survival

As seen in **Table 2** and **Figure 5**, the overall combined hazard ratio for the four studies investigating objectively assessed sleep

and overall survival in a total of 216 patients showed that poor objective sleep was statistically significantly associated with reduced overall survival (HR: 1.74; 95% CI: 1.05–2.88; p = 0.032). However, a sensitivity analysis omitting an outlier with a HR (5.57) approaching two standard deviations from the pooled HR, resulted in a smaller, and non-significant, effect. The supplementary Bayesian meta-analysis provided only anecdotal evidence for a non-zero effect of poor objectively assessed sleep on overall survival corresponding to a BF (Duval and Tweedie, 2000) of 2.3, i.e., indicating that the alternative hypothesis is only 2.3 times more likely than the null-hypothesis. The Bayesian analysis provided strong evidence for heterogeneity of the effects with a BF of 10.3. Due to the small number of studies, publication bias and moderator analyses were not conducted.

DISCUSSION

Summary of Main Findings

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first systematic review of literature on associations between sleep immediately prior to or during treatment in cancer patients and prognostic indicators, thus filling a knowledge gap on the role of sleep during a critical period in the cancer trajectory. Overall, the findings of the narrative part of this review suggests that disturbances in sleep and sleep-wake activity immediately prior to or during treatment are associated with reduced overall survival, poorer response to treatment, and shorter time to progression. Traditional frequentist meta-analyses with Bayesian meta-analysis, provided evidence in support of poorer selfreported sleep being associated with reduced overall survival and shorter time to progression. However, these findings should be interpreted with caution due to the indications of possible publication bias with respect to the analyses of self-reported sleep, and less robust results with respect to the association between objective sleep and overall survival. Moderator-analyses showed a significantly weaker association between poor self-reported sleep and reduced overall survival in studies with a higher percentage of women. Furthermore, when adjusting for the percentage of women in the studies, a weaker association between poor self-reported sleep and reduced survival was found in samples of patients with more advanced cancer. One explanation for the moderating effect of female sex in the context of breast cancer could be that while anti-hormonal treatments improve prognosis, they at the same time induce menopausal symptoms that may interfere with sleep, e.g., hot flashes (Desai et al., 2013), thus weakening the association between sleep disturbance and poor prognosis. No studies reporting associations between sleep and response to treatment were eligible for meta-analysis, due to heterogeneity in reported sleep parameter, outcome, and analytic strategy.

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Perspectives

Several strengths of this review should be noted. First, previous reviews have primarily focused on the association between sleep duration and cancer-mortality in the general

TABLE 2 | Meta-analysis of associations between poorer self-reported sleep and overall survival and time to progression, and between poorer objective sleep and overall survival.

				Heterogeneity ^c				Pooled results				
Predictor	Outcome	K ^a	N ^b	Q	p	l ²	Tau ²	HRd	95%CI	р	95%PI [⊖]	
Self-reported sleep	Overall survival	11	3050	80.7	<0.001	87.6	0.083	1.33	1.09-1.62	0.005	0.67–2.65	
	Adj. for publication bias ^f	(16)	-	-	-	-	-	1.02	0.85–1.23	NS	-	
	Overall survival (sensitivity analysis) ^g	8	2,787	11.4	0.121	38.8	0.012	1.37	1.21-1.56	<0.001	1.01–1.87	
	Time to progression	3	1,489	0.53	0.766	0.0	0.0	1.40	1.23-1.59	<0.001	-	
Objective sleep	Overall survival	4	216	13.4	0.004	77.6	0.176	1.74	1.05-2.88	0.032	0.20-14.45	
	Overall survival (sensitivity analysis) ^h	3	183	9.3	0.010	78.5	0.131	1.54	0.96-2.46	0.071	_	

 ${}^{a}K$ = number of studies in the analysis; One study reported data for two independent samples (Robinson et al., 2012). ${}^{b}N$ = total number of participants in the analysis. ${}^{c}Q$ -statistic: p-values < 0.10 taken to suggest heterogeneity; p indicates the proportion of the variance in effect sizes explained systematic (non-random) betweenstudy differences. ${}^{d}HR$ = hazard ratio with a value > 1 indicating an association between worse sleep and negative prognosis. ${}^{e}PI$ = 95% prediction interval: The interval in which 95% of future observations will fall, given the observed data, calculated for heterogeneous ESs (${}^{l}2$ > 0). ^fIn case of statistically significant ESs and possible publication bias (Egger's test statistically significant (p < 0.05), "missing studies" are imputed and an adjusted pooled ES calculated (Duval and Tweedie, 2000). ^gSensitivity analysis, including only studies based on the EORTC QLQ-C30 questionnaire. ^hSensitivity analysis omitting Kuo et al. (2020), an outlier with a HR (5.57) approaching (93%) two standard deviations from the pooled HR.

	ner et al., 2000	0,910										
Pales		0,910	0,651	1,272		1	- I -	-	1	1	1	
	sh et al., 2014	0,944	0,896	0,995								
Robi	nson et al., 2012a*	0,980	0,600	1,600			_ -	-				
Robin	nson et al., 2012b	1,140	0,539	2,413			-		+			
Innor	minato et al., 2015	1,390	1,110	1,740				1-	F			
Royc	howdhury et al., 2003	1,410	1,080	1,840				-	н			
Colle	ette et al. 2004	1,450	1,166	1,803				1.1	F.			
Mais	ey et al., 2002	1,515	1,265	1,814								
Sulliv	van et al., 2006	1,680	1,297	2,176				14				
Gottf	ried et al., 2020	1,778	1,340	2,360								
Char	ng & Lin, 2014	1,880	0,980	3,608				-	-	• -		
Rano	dom effects	1,330	1,092	1,621								
					0,1	0,2	0,5	1	2	5	10	
* Robin	nson et al. 2012 includes two indepe	ndent samples	(2012a and	2012b)	Fa	vours lon	ger surviv	al Fav	ours shor	ter survi	val	

TABLE 3 | Exploring moderators of the association between poorer self-reported sleep and overall survival.

Moderator	K ^a	Slope ^b	95%CI	p
Percent women	11	-0.006	-0.007 to -0.005	<0.001
Percent women (adjusting for stage)	11	-0.006	-0.007 to -0.004	<0.001
Follow-up (months)	6	-0.003	-0.011 to 0.006	0.545
Sample mean age	5	0.032	-0.011 to 0.076	0.142
Advanced stage vs. mixed (ref.)	11	-0.117	-0.467 to 0.234	0.514
Advanced stage vs. mixed (ref.) (adjusting for percent women)	11	-0.24	-0.474 to 0.021	0.032

^aAnalyses conducted when $K \ge 5$. ^bMixed effects regression (unrestricted ML).

population (Gallicchio and Kalesan, 2009; Ma et al., 2016) and in cancer survivors (Stone et al., 2019). The present review of the role of disrupted sleep and sleep-wake activity, thus, provides a more nuanced picture of sleep assessed during a critical period in the cancer trajectory and its associations with prognostic outcomes. Second, the present review and meta-analysis included both self-reported and objective sleep parameters, providing a broader scope on sleep. Although related and to some extent inter-dependent (Choilek et al., 2021), self-reported and objective parameters represent qualitatively different aspects of sleep (Acker et al., 2021). Actigraphy is typically used to objectively examine sleep-wake-activity and sometimes external light conditions and temperature as proxies for determining sleep and wake periods (Acker et al., 2021), whereas self-reported evaluations of sleep capture the experienced sleep and sleep disturbance



Study name	Hazard ratio	Lower limit	limit	Hazard ratio and 95% CI								
Sullivan et al., 2006	1,310	1,051	1,632				-■	⊢				
Innominato et al., 2015	1,440	1,162	1,784				-	₽-				
Roychowdhury et al., 2003	1,460	1,146	1,860				-	∎-				
Random effects	1,399	1,229	1,593				<	▶				
				0,1	0,2	0,5	1	2	5	10		
		Favours longer TTP Favours shorter TTP										
FIGURE 4 Forest plot of poorer self-reported sleep a	and time to	progressior	n (TTP).									

and related effects/side-effects (Bastien et al., 2001; Choilek et al., 2021), and have been shown to be influenced by mood to a larger degree than objective evaluations (Baillet et al., 2016). One type of measure is not necessarily better than the other, but merely highlights the multi-modality of the sleep construct. Both aspects should be taken into account to obtain the most accurate picture of a persons' sleep. Third, our comprehensive search strategy highlighted the fact that the majority of studies (k = 20) were not primarily designed to examine sleep or sleep disturbances in these patients. Our review thereby provides evidence of the need for rigorous longitudinal studies focusing on sleep and sleep-wake activity across the course of treatment and the relationship with prognostic outcomes.

A number of limitations highlighted by the present review should be mentioned. First, although a variety of measures of sleep disturbance were examined in this manuscript, which provided a more nuanced picture of sleep during the cancer trajectory (including self-reported and actigraphybased measurements of sleep disturbances), their diversity also weakens comparability across studies. Second, a majority of the reviewed studies (19 out of 26) were based on selfreported sleep outcomes, with more than half of these relying on only a single item from the EORTC QLQ-C30. While self-report measures of sleep using multi-item scales such as the Insomnia Severity Index and Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index have been shown to have good psychometric properties (Beck et al., 2004; Morin et al., 2011), it is unclear whether


single-item assessments such as the sleep item from the EORTC QLQ-C30 exhibits the same level of sensitivity and reliability in detecting sleep disturbance, which could compromise the validity of the results. Nevertheless, a sensitivity analysis that only included studies using the single sleep item from the EORTC QLQ-C30, revealed a similar hazard ratio. Third, of the more objective sleep measures included, none consisted of polysomnography, which could have provided important details about underlying sleep architecture. Fourth, we could not include studies of sleep duration in the meta-analysis highlighting the need for further work in that area (Palesh et al., 2014; Collins et al., 2017). Fifth, we were not able to conduct a meta-analysis on the association between sleep and response to treatment due to heterogeneity in study methodology. However, it is worth noting that recent lines of evidence suggest that treatment response may be modulated by therapies affecting sleep and circadian rhythms. For example, administration of melatonin, as an adjuvant cancer therapy, may improve the effectiveness and reduce the side-effects of radioand chemotherapies through several mechanisms, including stimulation of apoptosis and inhibition on angiogenesis (Li et al., 2017; Farhood et al., 2019; Mortezaee et al., 2019). Moreover, chronotherapies that take advantage of the control of the circadian system may modulate the pharmacokinetic properties of antitumoral agents, thus optimizing their efficacy and reduce toxicity (Ozturk et al., 2017). Sixth, only overall survival was reported in the available studies. Hence, whether these studies reflect associations between sleep and cancerspecific mortality is not clear. Seventh, only half of the studies were eligible for meta-analysis, due to heterogeneity in the analytic strategies, sleep measures and outcome parameters used, thereby limiting our interpretability of our findings. Finally, 80% of studies reported associations based on a single time-point measurement collected immediately prior to or during treatment. However, sleep disturbances have been found to fluctuate both during and after treatment, and may, for some groups, improve over time (Thomas et al., 2010; Savard et al., 2011). Moreover, when compared to inconsistent sleep patterns, more regular sleep behavior has been shown to be associated with lower risk of cancer-specific mortality

(Marinac et al., 2017). Thus, single-time point sleep measures may be limited in their ability to predict survival, treatment response and time to progression. This also limits our ability to infer any causal relationship, leaving the question of causality unanswered: Do sleep disturbances reflect disease and symptom burden, or are sleep disturbances disrupting otherwise protective biological mechanisms and compromising treatment efficacy? Our results thus highlight the importance of continuing to investigate the effect of sleep on prognostic outcomes. Finally, future research should also examine sleep in a broader range of cancer populations, as cancer treatment varies according to cancer type.

CONCLUSION

In sum, this review and meta-analysis points to disturbances in sleep and sleep-wake activity as potential predictive markers of reduced survival, poorer response to treatment and shorter time to progression in cancer patients undergoing oncological treatment, though findings ought to be interpreted with caution due to issues with heterogeneity and methodology. Prospective longitudinal studies investigating fluctuations in sleep across the course of treatment and its relationship with prognostics are warranted.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors contributed to the protocol of this systematic review. The literature search and data exportation were performed by LS and librarian Gina Bay, and titles and abstracts were screened by LS and JTD. LS and JTD performed full text review and quality assessments, validated by RZ, LW and AA. Data extraction was performed by LS and ALCG, and RZ and LS were responsible for the analyses. LS and RZ wrote the manuscript, and all authors critically revised the manuscript and approved the final version.

FUNDING

LW's effort was supported by the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation Programme under the Marie Skłodowska-Curie grant agreement no. 754513 and the Aarhus University Research Foundation.

REFERENCES

- Aaronson, N. K., Ahmedzai, S., Bergman, B., Bullinger, M., Cull, A., Duez, N. J., et al. (1993). The European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer QLQ-C30: a quality-of-life instrument for use in international clinical trials in oncology. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 85, 365–376. doi: 10.1093/jnci/85. 5.365
- Acker, J. G., Becker-Carus, C., Büttner-Teleaga, A., Cassel, W., Danker-Hopfe, H., Dück, A., et al. (2021). The role of actigraphy in sleep medicine. *Somnologie* 25, 89–98. doi: 10.1007/s11818-021-00306-8
- Ancoli-Israel, S. (2009). Recognition and treatment of sleep disturbances in cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 27, 5864–5866. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.24.5993
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Cole, R., Alessi, C., Chambers, M., Moorcroft, W., and Pollak, C. P. (2003). The role of actigraphy in the study of sleep and circadian rhythms. *Sleep* 26, 342–392. doi: 10.1093/sleep/26.3.342
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Moore, P. J., and Jones, V. (2001). The relationship between fatigue and sleep in cancer patients: a review. *Eur. J. Cancer Care* 10, 245–255. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2354.2001.00263.x
- Ashok Kumar, P. V., Dakup, P. P., Sarkar, S., Modasia, J. B., Motzner, M. S., and Gaddameedhi, S. (2019). It's about time: advances in understanding the circadian regulation of DNA damage and repair in carcinogenesis and cancer treatment outcomes. *Yale J. Biol. Med.* 92, 305–316.
- Baillet, M., Cosin, C., Schweitzer, P., Pérès, K., Catheline, G., Swendsen, J., et al. (2016). Mood influences the concordance of subjective and objective measures of sleep duration in older adults. *Front. Aging Neurosci.* 8:181. doi: 10.3389/ fnagi.2016.00181
- Bastien, C. H., Vallières, A., and Morin, C. M. (2001). Validation of the insomnia severity index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* 2, 297–307. doi: 10.1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4
- Beck, S. L., Schwartz, A. L., Towsley, G., Dudley, W., and Barsevick, A. (2004). Psychometric evaluation of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index in cancer patients. *J. Pain Symptom Manage*. 27, 140–148. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2003. 12.002
- Besedovsky, L., Lange, T., and Haack, M. (2019). The sleep-immune crosstalk in health and disease. *Physiol. Rev.* 99, 1325–1380. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00010. 2018
- Borenstein, M., Hedges, L., Higgins, J., and Rothstein, H. (2013). Comprehensive Meta-Analysis Version 3. Englewood, NJ: Biostat.
- Braun, D. P., Gupta, D., and Staren, E. D. (2011). Quality of life assessment as a predictor of survival in non-small cell lung cancer. *BMC Cancer* 11:353. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-353
- Braun, D. P., Gupta, D., and Staren, E. D. (2012). Predicting survival in prostate cancer: the role of quality of life assessment. *Support. Care Cancer* 20, 1267– 1274. doi: 10.1007/s00520-011-1213-x
- Cash, E., Duck, C. R., Brinkman, C., Rebholz, W., Albert, C., Worthen, M., et al. (2018). Depressive symptoms and actigraphy-measured circadian disruption predict head and neck cancer survival. *Psychooncology* 27, 2500–2507. doi: 10.1002/pon.4862

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors extend their gratitude to all of the authors whose manuscript we critically reviewed or referenced, and for assisting with retrieval of additional information for the analyses when needed.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnins. 2022.817837/full#supplementary-material

- Chandra, S., Gupta, V., Chandra, H., Dhyani, M., Kotwal, A., Verma, S. K., et al. (2019). Serum interleukin-6 is not linked with sleep-quality, restless legs syndrome, and depression, but with 6-month survival in hematological malignancies. *J. Neurosci. Rural Pract.* 10, 94–100. doi: 10.4103/jnrp.jnrp_159_18
- Chang, W.-P., and Lin, C.-C. (2014). Correlation between rest-activity rhythm and survival in cancer patients experiencing pain. *Chronobiol. Int.* 31, 926–934. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2014.931412
- Choilek, S., Karashima, A., Motoike, I., Katayama, N., Kinoshita, K., and Nakao, M. (2021). Subjective sleep quality, quantitative sleep features, and their associations dependent on demographic characteristics, habitual sleep-wake patterns, and distinction of weekdays/weekends. *Sleep Biol. Rhythms* 19, 369– 381. doi: 10.1007/s41105-021-00326-9
- Clevenger, L., Schrepf, A., Christensen, D., DeGeest, K., Bender, D., Ahmed, A., et al. (2012). Sleep disturbance, cytokines, and fatigue in women with ovarian cancer. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 26, 1037–1044. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012. 04.003
- Collette, L., van Andel, G., Bottomley, A., Oosterhof, G. O., Albrecht, W., de Reijke, T. M., et al. (2004). Is baseline quality of life useful for predicting survival with hormone-refractory prostate cancer? A pooled analysis of three studies of the European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer Genitourinary Group. J. Clin. Oncol. 22, 3877–3885. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004. 07.089
- Collins, K. P., Geller, D. A., Antoni, M., Donnell, D. M., Tsung, A., Marsh, J. W., et al. (2017). Sleep duration is associated with survival in advanced cancer patients. *Sleep Med.* 32, 208–212. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2016. 06.041
- Costa, A. R., Fontes, F., Pereira, S., Gonçalves, M., Azevedo, A., and Lunet, N. (2014). Impact of breast cancer treatments on sleep disturbances - a systematic review. *Breast* 23, 697–709. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2014.09.003
- De Lorenzo, B. H. P., de Oliveira Marchioro, L., Greco, C. R., and Suchecki, D. (2015). Sleep-deprivation reduces NK cell number and function mediated by β-adrenergic signalling. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 57, 134–143. doi: 10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.04.006
- De Lorenzo, B. H. P., Novaes e Brito, R. R., Paslar Leal, T., Piqueira Garcia, N., Martins dos Santos, R. M., Alvares-Saraiva, A. M., et al. (2018). Chronic sleep restriction impairs the antitumor immune response in mice. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 25, 59–67. doi: 10.1159/000490352
- Desai, K., Mao, J. J., Su, I., Demichele, A., Li, Q., Xie, S. X., et al. (2013). Prevalence and risk factors for insomnia among breast cancer patients on aromatase inhibitors. *Support. Care Cancer* 21, 43–51. doi: 10.1007/s00520-012-1490-z
- Dew, M. A., Hoch, C. C., Buysse, D. J., Monk, T. H., Begley, A. E., Houck, P. R., et al. (2003). Healthy older adults' sleep predicts all-cause mortality at 4 to 19 years of follow-up. *Psychosom. Med.* 65, 63–73. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000039756. 23250.7c
- Duval, S., and Tweedie, R. (2000). Trim and fill: a simple funnel-plot-based method of testing and adjusting for publication bias in meta-analysis. *Biometrics* 56, 455–463. doi: 10.1111/j.0006-341X.2000.00455.x

- Egger, M., Smith, G. D., Schneider, M., and Minder, C. (1997). Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ* 315, 629–634. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315. 7109.629
- Eismann, E. A., Lush, E., and Sephton, S. E. (2010). Circadian effects in cancer-relevant psychoneuroendocrine and immune pathways. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 35, 963–976. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2009.12.011
- Erren, T. C., Morfeld, P., Foster, R. G., Reiter, R. J., Groß, J. V., and Westermann, I. K. (2016). Sleep and cancer: synthesis of experimental data and meta-analyses of cancer incidence among some 1,500,000 study individuals in 13 countries. *Chronobiol. Int.* 33, 325–350. doi: 10.3109/07420528.2016.1149486
- Farhood, B., Goradel, N. H., Mortezaee, K., Khanlarkhani, N., Najafi, M., and Sahebkar, A. (2019). Melatonin and cancer: from the promotion of genomic stability to use in cancer treatment. *J. Cell. Physiol.* 234, 5613–5627. doi: 10. 1002/JCP.27391
- Fondell, E., Axelsson, J., Franck, K., Ploner, A., Lekander, M., Bälter, K., et al. (2011). Short natural sleep is associated with higher T cell and lower NK cell activities. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 1367–1375. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.04.004
- Gallicchio, L., and Kalesan, B. (2009). Sleep duration and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J. Sleep Res.* 18, 148–158. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869. 2008.00732.x
- Geels, P., Eisenhauer, E., Bezjak, A., Zee, B., and Day, A. (2000). Palliative effect of chemotherapy: objective tumor response is associated with symptom improvement in patients with metastatic breast cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 18, 2395–2405. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2000.18.12.2395
- George, G. C., Iwuanyanwu, E. C., Anderson, K. O., Yusuf, A., Zinner, R. G., Piha-Paul, S. A., et al. (2016). Sleep quality and its association with fatigue, symptom burden, and mood in patients with advanced cancer in a clinic for early-phase oncology clinical trials. *Cancer* 122, 3401–3409. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30182
- Gottfried, T., Kamer, I., Salant, I., Urban, D., Lawrence, Y. R., Onn, A., et al. (2020). Self-reported sleep quality as prognostic for survival in lung cancer patients. *Cancer Manage. Res.* 12, 313–321. doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S234523
- Gronau, Q. F., Van Erp, S., Heck, D. W., Cesario, J., Jonas, K. J., and Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2017). A Bayesian model-averaged meta-analysis of the power pose effect with informed and default priors: the case of felt power. *Compr. Results Soc. Psychol.* 2, 123–138. doi: 10.1080/23743603.2017.1326760
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thomas, J., Chandler, J., Cumpston, M., Li, T., Page, M. J., et al. (2019). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of interventions, 2nd Edn. (Chichester: John Wiley & Sons). doi: 10.1002/9781119536604
- Higgins, J. P. T., Thompson, S. G., Deeks, J. J., and Altman, D. G. (2003). Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 327, 557–560. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414. 557
- Innominato, P. F., Focan, C., Gorlia, T., Moreau, T., Garufi, C., Waterhouse, J., et al. (2009). Circadian rhythm in rest and activity: a biological correlate of quality of life and a predictor of survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 69, 4700–4707. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4747
- Innominato, P. F., Giacchetti, S., Bjarnason, G. A., Focan, C., Garufi, C., Coudert, B., et al. (2012). Prediction of overall survival through circadian rest-activity monitoring during chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 131, 2684–2692. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27574
- Innominato, P. F., Spiegel, D., Ulusakarya, A., Giacchetti, S., Bjarnason, G. A., Lévi, F., et al. (2015). Subjective sleep and overall survival in chemotherapynaïve patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Sleep Med.* 16, 391–398. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2014.10.022
- IntHout, J., Ioannidis, J. P. A., Rovers, M. M., and Goeman, J. J. (2016). Plea for routinely presenting prediction intervals in meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 6:e010247. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2015-010247
- Irwin, M. R., Olmstead, R., and Carroll, J. E. (2016). Sleep disturbance, sleep duration, and inflammation: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies and experimental sleep deprivation. *Biol. Psychiatry* 80, 40–52. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.05.014
- JASP Team (2022). JASP (Version 0.16.1)[Computer software].
- Kellermeyer, L., Harnke, B., and Knight, S. (2018). Covidence and Rayyan. J. Med. Libr. Assoc. 106, 580–583. doi: 10.5195/jmla.2018.513
- Kennedy, L. B., and Salama, A. K. S. (2020). A review of cancer immunotherapy toxicity. CA Cancer J. Clin. 70, 86–104. doi: 10.3322/caac. 21596
- Kidwell, K. M., Harte, S. E., Hayes, D. F., Storniolo, A. M., Carpenter, J., Flockhart, D. A., et al. (2014). Patient-reported symptoms and discontinuation of adjuvant

aromatase inhibitor therapy. Cancer 120, 2403-2411. doi: 10.1002/cncr.2 8756

- Kramer, J. A., Curran, D., Piccart, M., de Haes, J. C., Bruning, P., Klijn, J., et al. (2000). Identification and interpretation of clinical and quality of life prognostic factors for survival and response to treatment in first-line chemotherapy in advanced breast cancer. *Eur. J. Cancer* 36, 1498–1506. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(00)00144-1
- Krueger, J. M., Churchill, L., and Rector, D. M. (2009). "Sleep and sleep states: cytokines and neuromodulation," in *Encyclopedia of Neuroscience*, ed. N. Squire (Cambridge, MA: Academic Press), 895–901. doi: 10.1016/B978-008045046-9. 00036-X
- Krueger, J. M., Majde, J. A., and Obál, F. (2003). Sleep in host defense. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 17, 41–47. doi: 10.1016/S0889-1591(02)00065-X
- Kuo, L.-C., Chang, W.-P., Huang, H.-C., and Lin, C.-C. (2020). Association of time-varying rest-activity rhythm with survival in older adults with lung cancer. *Cancer Nurs.* 43, 45–51. doi: 10.1097/NCC.00000000000647
- Lamia, K. A. (2017). Ticking time bombs: connections between circadian clocks and cancer [version 1; peer review: 2 approved]. *F1000Res.* 6:1910. doi: 10. 12688/f1000research.11770.1
- Lévi, F., Dugué, P.-A., Innominato, P., Karaboué, A., Dispersyn, G., Parganiha, A., et al. (2014). Wrist actimetry circadian rhythm as a robust predictor of colorectal cancer patients survival. *Chronobiol. Int.* 31, 891–900. doi: 10.3109/ 07420528.2014.924523
- Li, Y., Li, S., Zhou, Y., Meng, X., Zhang, J. J., Xu, D. P., et al. (2017). Melatonin for the prevention and treatment of cancer. *Oncotarget* 8, 39896–39921. doi: 10.18632/ONCOTARGET.16379
- Liu, L., Fiorentino, L., Natarajan, L., Parker, B. A., Mills, P. J., Sadler, G. R., et al. (2009). Pre-treatment symptom cluster in breast cancer patients is associated with worse sleep, fatigue and depression during chemotherapy. *Psychooncology* 18, 187–194. doi: 10.1002/pon.1412
- Loh, K. P., Zittel, J., Kadambi, S., Pandya, C., Xu, H., Flannery, M., et al. (2018). Elucidating the associations between sleep disturbance and depression, fatigue, and pain in older adults with cancer. J. Geriatr. Oncol. 9, 464–468. doi: 10.1016/ j.jgo.2018.02.006
- Ma, Q.-Q., Yao, Q., Lin, L., Chen, G.-C., and Yu, J.-B. (2016). Sleep duration and total cancer mortality: a meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Sleep Med.* 27–28, 39–44. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2016.06.036
- Maisey, N. R., Norman, A., Watson, M., Allen, M. J., Hill, M. E., and Cunningham, D. (2002). Baseline quality of life predicts survival in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. *Eur. J. Cancer* 38, 1351–1357. doi: 10.1016/S0959-8049(02) 00098-9
- Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., and Balkwill, F. (2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature* 454, 436–444. doi: 10.1038/nature07205
- Marinac, C. R., Nelson, S. H., Flatt, S. W., Natarajan, L., Pierce, J. P., and Patterson, R. E. (2017). Sleep duration and breast cancer prognosis: perspectives from the women's healthy eating and living study. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 162, 581–589. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4140-9
- Meier-Ewert, H. K., Ridker, P. M., Rifai, N., Regan, M. M., Price, N. J., Dinges, D. F., et al. (2004). Effect of sleep loss on C-Reactive protein, an inflammatory marker of cardiovascular risk. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 43, 678–683. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2003.07.050
- Merli, F., Bertini, M., Luminari, S., Mozzana, R., Bertè, R., Trottini, M., et al. (2004). Quality of life assessment in elderly patients with aggressive non-Hodgkin's Lymphoma treated with anthracycline-containing regimens. Report of a prospective study by the Intergruppo Italiano Linfomi. *Haematologica* 89, 973–978.
- Mirza-Aghazadeh-Attari, M., Mohammadzadeh, A., Mostavafi, S., Mihanfar, A., Ghazizadeh, S., Sadighparvar, S., et al. (2020). Melatonin: an important anticancer agent in colorectal cancer. J. Cell. Physiol. 235, 804–817. doi: 10.1002/ jcp.29049
- Mogavero, M. P., Bruni, O., Delrosso, L. M., and Ferri, R. (2020). Neurodevelopmental consequences of pediatric cancer and its treatment: the role of sleep. *Brain Sci.* 10:411. doi: 10.3390/BRAINSCI10070411
- Mogavero, M. P., DelRosso, L. M., Fanfulla, F., Bruni, O., and Ferri, R. (2021). Sleep disorders and cancer: state of the art and future perspectives. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 56:101409. doi: 10.1016/J.SMRV.2020.101409
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., and Group, T. P. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses:

the PRISMA Statement. *PLoS Med.* 6:e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed. 1000097

- Morin, C. M., Belleville, G., Bélanger, L., and Ivers, H. (2011). The Insomnia Severity Index: psychometric indicators to detect insomnia cases and evaluate treatment response. *Sleep* 34, 601–608. doi: 10.1093/sleep/34.5.601
- Mormont, M.-C., Waterhouse, J., Bleuzen, P., Giacchetti, S., Jami, A., Bogdan, A., et al. (2000). Marked 24-h Rest/activity rhythms are associated with better quality of life, better response, and longer survival in patients with metastatic colorectal cancer and good performance status. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 6, 3038–3045.
- Mortezaee, K., Najafi, M., Farhood, B., Ahmadi, A., Potes, Y., Shabeeb, D., et al. (2019). Modulation of apoptosis by melatonin for improving cancer treatment efficiency: an updated review. *Life Sci.* 228, 228–241. doi: 10.1016/J.LFS.2019.05. 009
- National Heart Lung (2014). Quality Assessment Tool for Observational Cohort and Cross-Sectional Studies (Rockville, MD: National Institutes of Health), 1–4.
- Naughton, M. J., Herndon, J. E. II, Shumaker, S. A., Miller, A. A., Kornblith, A. B., Chao, D., et al. (2002). The health-related quality of life and survival of smallcell lung cancer patients: results of a companion study to CALGB 9033. *Qual. Life Res.* 11, 235–248. doi: 10.1023/a:1015257121369
- Nho, J.-H., Reul Kim, S., and Nam, J.-H. (2017). Symptom clustering and quality of life in patients with ovarian cancer undergoing chemotherapy. *Eur. J. Oncol. Nurs.* 30, 8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ejon.2017.07.007
- Nowak, A. K., Stockler, M. R., and Byrne, M. J. (2004). Assessing quality of life during chemotherapy for pleural mesothelioma: feasibility, validity, and results of using the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer Core Quality of Life Questionnaire and Lung Cancer Module. J. Clin. Oncol. 22, 3172–3180. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.09.147
- Opp, M. R., and Krueger, J. M. (2015). Sleep and immunity: a growing field with clinical impact. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 47, 1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.03.011
- Ortiz-Tudela, E., Iurisci, I., Beau, J., Karaboue, A., Moreau, T., Rol, M. A., et al. (2014). The circadian rest-activity rhythm, a potential safety pharmacology endpoint of cancer chemotherapy. *Int. J. Cancer* 134, 2717–2725. doi: 10.1002/ ijc.28587
- Ozturk, N., Ozturk, D., Kavakli, I. H., and Okyar, A. (2017). Molecular aspects of circadian pharmacology and relevance for cancer chronotherapy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:2168. doi: 10.3390/IJMS18102168
- Page, M. J., Shamseer, L., and Tricco, A. C. (2018). Registration of systematic reviews in PROSPERO: 30,000 records and counting. Syst. Rev. 7:32. doi: 10. 1186/s13643-018-0699-4
- Palesh, O., Aldridge-Gerry, A., Zeitzer, J. M., Koopman, C., Neri, E., Giese-Davis, J., et al. (2014). Actigraphy-measured sleep disruption as a predictor of survival among women with advanced breast cancer. *Sleep* 37, 837–842. doi: 10.5665/ sleep.3642
- Palesh, O. G., Roscoe, J. A., Mustian, K. M., Roth, T., Savard, J., Ancoli-Israel, S., et al. (2010).). Prevalence, demographics, and psychological associations of sleep disruption in patients with cancer: university of Rochester Cancer Center-Community Clinical Oncology Program. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, 292–298. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.22.5011
- Papagiannakopoulos, T., Bauer, M. R., Davidson, S. M., Heimann, M., Subbaraj, L., Bhutkar, A., et al. (2016). Circadian rhythm disruption promotes lung Tumorigenesis. *Cell Metab.* 24, 324–331. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2016.07.001
- Raison, C. L., Rye, D. B., Woolwine, B. J., Vogt, G. J., Bautista, B. M., Spivey, J. R., et al. (2010). Chronic interferon-alpha administration disrupts sleep continuity and depth in patients with hepatitis C: association with fatigue, motor slowing, and increased evening cortisol. *Biol. Psychiatry* 68, 942–949. doi: 10.1016/j. biopsych.2010.04.019
- Robinson, K. M., Christensen, K. B., Ottesen, B., and Krasnik, A. (2012). Diagnostic delay, quality of life and patient satisfaction among women diagnosed with endometrial or ovarian cancer: a nationwide Danish study. *Qual. Life Res.* 21, 1519–1525. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-0077-3
- Rockstrom, M. D., Chen, L., Taishi, P., Nguyen, J. T., Gibbons, C. M., Veasey, S. C., et al. (2018). Tumor necrosis factor alpha in sleep regulation. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 40, 69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.10.005
- Roychowdhury, D. F., Hayden, A., and Liepa, A. M. (2003). Health-related qualityof-life parameters as independent prognostic factors in advanced or metastatic bladder cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 21, 673–678. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2003.04.166

- Sackett, D. L., Rosenberg, W. M. C., Gray, J. A. M., Haynes, R. B., and Richardson, W. S. (1996). Evidence based medicine: What it is and what it isn't. *BMJ* 312, 71–72. doi: 10.1136/bmj.312.7023.71
- Savard, J., Ivers, H., Savard, M.-H., and Morin, C. M. (2015). Cancer treatments and their side effects are associated with aggravation of insomnia: results of a longitudinal study. *Cancer* 121, 1703–1711. doi: 10.1002/cncr.29244
- Savard, J., Ivers, H., Villa, J., Caplette-Gingras, A., and Morin, C. M. (2011). Natural course of insomnia comorbid with cancer: an 18-month longitudinal study. J. Clin. Oncol. 29, 3580–3586. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.2247
- Savard, J., Liu, L., Natarajan, L., Rissling, M. B., Neikrug, A. B., He, F., et al. (2009). Breast cancer patients have progressively impaired sleep-wake activity rhythms during chemotherapy. *Sleep* 32, 1155–1160. doi: 10.1093/sleep/32.9. 1155
- Schernhammer, E. S., and Schulmeister, K. (2004). Melatonin and cancer risk: Does light at night compromise physiologic cancer protection by lowering serum melatonin levels? *Br. J. Cancer* 90, 941–943. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.660 1626
- Sharma, N., Hansen, C. H., O'Connor, M., Thekkumpurath, P., Walker, J., Kleiboer, A., et al. (2012). Sleep problems in cancer patients: prevalence and association with distress and pain. *Psychooncology* 21, 1003–1009. doi: 10.1002/pon.2004
- Stone, C. R., Haig, T. R., Fiest, K. M., McNeil, J., Brenner, D. R., and Friedenreich, C. M. (2019). The association between sleep duration and cancer-specific mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Cancer Causes Control* 30, 501–525. doi: 10.1007/s10552-019-01156-4
- Sullivan, P. W., Nelson, J. B., Mulani, P. M., and Sleep, D. (2006). Quality of life as a potential predictor for morbidity and mortality in patients with metastatic hormone-refractory prostate cancer. *Qual. Life Res.* 15, 1297–1306. doi: 10. 1007/s11136-006-0003-2
- Teunissen, J. J., Kwekkeboom, D. J., and Krenning, E. P. (2004). Quality of Life in Patients With Gastroenteropancreatic Tumors Treated [177Lu-DOTA0,Tyr3] octreotate. J. Clin. Oncol. 22, 2724–2729.
- Thomas, K. S., Bower, J., Hoyt, M. A., and Sepah, S. (2010). Disrupted sleep in breast and prostate cancer patients undergoing radiation therapy: the role of coping processes. *Psychoancology* 19, 767–776. doi: 10.1002/pon.1639
- Trudel-Fitzgerald, C., Savard, J., and Ivers, H. (2014). Longitudinal changes in clusters of cancer patients over an 18-month period. *Health Psychol.* 33, 1012– 1022. doi: 10.1037/a0033497
- van Erp, S., Verhagen, J., Grasman, R. P. P. P., and Wagenmakers, E.-J. (2017). Estimates of between-study heterogeneity for 705 meta-analyses reported in psychological bulletin from 1990–2013. J. Open Psychol. Data 5:4. doi: 10.5334/ jopd.33
- Zhao, J., Dai, Y. H., Xi, Q. S., and Yu, S. Y. (2013). A clinical study on insomnia in patients with cancer during chemotherapy containing high-dose glucocorticoids. *Pharmazie* 68, 421–427.
- Zhou, E. S., Clark, K., Recklitis, C. J., Obenchain, R., and Loscalzo, M. (2018). Sleepless from the get go: sleep problems prior to initiating cancer treatment. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 25, 502–516. doi: 10.1007/s12529-018-9 715-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Strøm, Danielsen, Amidi, Cardenas Egusquiza, Wu and Zachariae. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Sleep Disruption and Cancer: Chicken or the Egg?

Adrian Berisha¹, Kyle Shutkind² and Jeremy C. Borniger^{1*}

¹ Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor, NY, United States, ² Donald and Barbara Zucker School of Medicine at Hofstra/Northwell, Hempstead, NY, United States

Sleep is a nearly ubiquitous phenomenon across the phylogenetic tree, highlighting its essential role in ensuring fitness across evolutionary time. Consequently, chronic disruption of the duration, timing, or structure of sleep can cause widespread problems in multiple physiological systems, including those that regulate energy balance, immune function, and cognitive capacity, among others. Many, if not all these systems, become altered throughout the course of cancer initiation, growth, metastatic spread, treatment, and recurrence. Recent work has demonstrated how changes in sleep influence the development of chronic diseases, including cancer, in both humans and animal models. A common finding is that for some cancers (e.g., breast), chronic disruption of sleep/wake states prior to disease onset is associated with an increased risk for cancer development. Additionally, sleep disruption after cancer initiation is often associated with worse outcomes. Recently, evidence suggesting that cancer itself can affect neuronal circuits controlling sleep and wakefulness has accumulated. Patients with cancer often report difficulty falling asleep, difficulty staying asleep, and severe fatigue, during and even years after treatment. In addition to the psychological stress associated with cancer, cancer itself may alter sleep homeostasis through changes to host physiology and via currently undefined mechanisms. Moreover, cancer treatments (e.g., chemotherapy, radiation, hormonal, and surgical) may further worsen sleep problems through complex biological processes yet to be fully understood. This results in a "chicken or the egg" phenomenon, where it is unclear whether sleep disruption promotes cancer or cancer reciprocally disrupts sleep. This review will discuss existing evidence for both hypotheses and present a framework through which the interactions between sleep and cancer can be dissociated and causally investigated.

Keywords: sleep disruption, cancer, anti-tumor immunity, stress, inflammation, HPA axis, sympathetic nervous system, hypocretin/orexin

INTRODUCTION

The importance of sleep has been recognized throughout history by the likes of the ancient Egyptians, the Greeks and the Romans-as demonstrated by the names of the gods they worshiped. Sleep is an essential component for maintaining normal physiology and re-establishing homeostasis. Sleep presents a period of vulnerability whereby the brain resides in a relative state of rest and displays reduced sensitivity to external stimuli (e.g., light, sound). Despite this period of vulnerability, sleep remains a highly conserved process whereby humans (and other primates)

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joy Perrier, INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, France

Reviewed by:

Henrik Oster, University of Lübeck, Germany Pasquale Innominato, University of Warwick, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Jeremy C. Borniger bornige@cshl.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

Received: 16 January 2022 Accepted: 05 April 2022 Published: 19 May 2022

Citation:

Berisha A, Shutkind K and Borniger JC (2022) Sleep Disruption and Cancer: Chicken or the Egg? Front. Neurosci. 16:856235. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.856235

76

spend a significant portion of their lives asleep-about one-third of their total lives. Additionally, the amount of time spent asleep varies greatly in mammals, varying between 3 h and more than 20 h of sleep per day (Siegel, 2008). Indeed, long sleep is not a unique feature of primates as large animals also experience long sleep (Nicolau et al., 2000; Lesku et al., 2008). The functions of sleep remain to be fully elucidated, however, there are several prominent theories that have been postulated attempting to identify ultimate and proximate reasons for why we sleep (Benington and Craig Heller, 1995; Berger and Phillips, 1995; Walker and Stickgold, 2006; Siegel, 2009). In the last few decades, dozens of neuronal circuits have been mapped each contributing to the initiation, maintenance, and transition of sleep/wake states. Among these, subcortical neurons in the hypothalamus and brainstem are the most well-described. For example, hypocretin/orexin (HO) neurons are located within the lateral hypothalamus, a brain region that is essential for critical behaviors such as sleep, feeding, stress, and energy balance.

Normal human sleep consists of two major stages- nonrapid eye movement (NREM) and rapid-eye movement (REM) sleep. Most importantly, these different sleep stages can be easily distinguished using the electroencephalogram (EEG)measured in microvolts (μ V)-to detect changes in electric charge in the brain, in the form of neuronal oscillations or "brain waves." EEG can be used to report the collective activity of many neurons recorded by electrodes placed on the surface of the scalp. These brain waves serve various physiological functions and correlate with the different behavioral states and physiological processes that occur during different sleep stages. In addition, electromyogram (EMG) biopotential signals can be used-in tandem with EEG-as an objective measurement for sleep characterization. Interestingly, scientists have discovered that these brain waves oscillate within specific frequency bands, ranging from very slow (<0.01 Hz) to ultra-fast (>1,000 Hz) oscillations (Penttonen et al., 1998). However, the raw EEG is usually described in terms of conventional frequency bands, including delta (δ ; 0.5–4 Hz), theta (θ ; 6–9 Hz), alpha (α ; 9– 12 Hz), sigma (ς ; spindle band; 12–15 Hz), beta (β ; 12–30 Hz), low (30-60 Hz), and high gamma (y; 60-100 Hz) (Berger and Phillips, 1995). Consequently, the conventional bandwidth of clinical EEG focuses on the analysis of waveforms ranging from 0.5 to 70 Hz.

Non-rapid eye movement sleep, also known as slow wave sleep (SWS), is the first stage of sleep following the transition from wakefulness. NREM sleep constitutes about 75–80% of total time spent in sleep and is typically associated with reduced cortical neuronal activity. Hence, the most prominent brain waves in the EEG during NREM sleep are low frequency, high amplitude delta (δ) waves. These delta waves reflect synchronization between thalamocortical (TC) neuronscharacterized by prolonged periods of hyperpolarization and increased membrane conductance. These changes at the cellular level are reflected at the circuit level as these periods of prolonged hyperpolarization result in a reduction in the encoding of afferent signals, thus temporarily depriving the cerebral cortex of external stimuli (Steriade, 2003). In humans, NREM sleep is subdivided into several stages numbered 1–3, each of which offers the relative depth of sleep and includes unique characteristics and changes in brain activity and physiology. The physiological changes that occur during NREM sleep include decreased blood pressure and heart rate as a result of decreased sympathetic-nerve activity, decreased ventilation and respiratory flow, decreased movements of the eyes under the closed eyelids, and significant changes in blood flow and metabolism (Nowak et al., 2021).

In contrast, REM sleep, also known as "paradoxical" or "active" sleep (as the EEG waveform closely resembles that of wakefulness) is the stage of sleep following the transition from NREM sleep. REM sleep constitutes the remaining 20-25% of total time spent in sleep and is typically associated with increased heart rate and respiration, fluctuations in brain/body temperature, increased brain activity, and active suppression of skeletal muscle activity apart from those controlling eye movement and inflation/contraction of the diaphragm. REM sleep is predominantly characterized by lower amplitude, higher frequency theta (θ) waves that reflect desynchronization of cortical neurons (Vertes, 1984; Frauscher et al., 2016). Theta oscillations are generated in the hippocampus where a combination of cellular characteristics and network interactions facilitate in the generation of rhythms that can be detected in the overlying cortex (O'Keefe, 1993; Colgin, 2013). Several studies have highlighted the role of pyramidal neurons and more recently, parvalbumin interneurons of the hippocampus in mediating theta frequency (Pike et al., 2000; Amilhon et al., 2015). REM sleep is the phase of sleep thought to be responsible for dreaming, although evidence suggests dreams may also occur during NREM sleep (Siclari et al., 2018). During REM sleep, there is total body voluntary muscle paralysis which is believed to be a mechanism that prevents us from acting out our dreams. This temporary paralysis of muscles is achieved through the inhibition of spinal motor neurons via brainstem GABA/glycinergic signaling (Carskadon and Dement, 2005; Brooks and Peever, 2012).

Our understanding of the interaction between sleep and circadian rhythms can be partially attributed to the twoprocess model of sleep regulation which has served as a major conceptual framework in sleep research for the last four decades. Today, we understand that sleep is regulated by a homeostatic, sleep-dependent process (Process S) that interacts with a sleep-independent circadian process (Process C) (Borbély et al., 2016). The two-process model of sleep regulation was organized based on the initial observation that variations in the sleep stages (i.e., sleep propensity) mirror the rhythm of our body temperature (Kleitman, 1933; Murray et al., 1958). Process S represents the sleep propensity, or sleep debt, which increases during wakefulness and declines during sleep. Process C, the circadian component of sleep is closely related to the circadian rhythms of metabolic and endocrine processes, indicating an important role of sleep in maintaining proper energy homeostasis, growth and development (Huang et al., 2011; Depner et al., 2014). Desynchronization of normal circadian rhythms impairs physiological functions in disease processes including metabolic diseases, cardiovascular diseases, and cancer (Fu and Lee, 2003; Sahar and Sassone-Corsi, 2009; Arble et al., 2010; Savvidis and Koutsilieris, 2012; Chaves et al., 2019). In

fact, in 2007, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classified "shift work that involves circadian disruption" as a probable human carcinogen (Group 2A in the IARC classification of *Known and Probable Human Carcinogens*). The synchronization of circadian rhythms is an essential component to sleep homeostasis, as the regulation of sleep/wake cycles are mainly controlled by daily circadian rhythms. In this review, we will discuss how sleep disruption may promote tumorigenesis through alterations in a variety of physiological processes such as energy balance and immunity. Reciprocally, we will discuss how cancer-mediated alterations in our physiological processes may lead to aberrant neural activity, affecting a myriad of behavioral changes including disruption of sleep/wake cycles.

SLEEP DISRUPTION-INDUCED CHANGES TO SYSTEMIC PHYSIOLOGY

The prevalence of sleep disorders in modern societies is increasing, affecting 20-40% of the general population (Chattu et al., 2019), likely in part due to increased shift work and exposure to artificial light at night. Sleep disturbances and disruptions in circadian synchronization are associated with the development of several disease states including cancer (Fu and Lee, 2003; Savvidis and Koutsilieris, 2012). Sleep disruption is common across different types of cancers, with the highest prevalence experienced by patients with breast cancer (Davidson et al., 2002; Budhrani et al., 2015). Although a consensus definition of "sleep disruption" does not exist, approximately 30-70% of cancer patients report sleep problems before and during treatment, which is about two times higher than in the general population (Savard et al., 2001; Ancoli-Israel et al., 2006; Palesh et al., 2010; Fiorentino et al., 2011). The most common problems related to sleep in breast cancer are insufficient sleep, hypersomnia, sleep fragmentation, poor sleep efficiency (i.e., time spent asleep/time in bed), hot flashes, and circadian misalignment. To examine the relationship between sleep and cancer risk, studies have largely focused on sleep duration, presence of sleep disorders, and night shift work as risk factors driving cancer.

A growing body of research links sleep disruption and circadian misalignment to subsequent tumor initiation and growth (Hansen, 2001; Schernhammer et al., 2006; Van Dycke et al., 2015). Given that the overall prevalence of sleep disorders is on the rise (Ferrie et al., 2011; Chattu et al., 2019), it is necessary to assess its contribution to tumorigenesis. Notably, a prospective study of approximately 24,000 women by Kakizaki et al. (2008) demonstrated an inverse association between sleep duration and risk of breast cancer, where shorter sleep duration (i.e., 6 h or less) was associated with an increased risk of breast cancer. The hazard ratio (HR) of women who slept less than 6 h was 1.62, of those who slept 8 h was 1.14 and of those who slept 9 h or more was 0.72. In addition, the deleterious effects of sleep disruption on systemic physiology has also been explored in animal models, where several studies implicate sleep disruption in both tumor progression and cancer-related mortality (Maragno-Correa et al., 2013; Hakim et al., 2014). In this section, we will delve into inflammation, altered metabolism, anti-tumor immunity, stress, and sympathetic nervous system activity in driving tumor initiation, growth, and subsequent metastasis as potential mechanisms linking disrupted sleep to cancer outcomes.

Sleep Disruption and Anti-Tumor Immunity

Sleep and the immune system engage in a form of bi-directional communication, and comprise two essential components in health and disease (Lorton et al., 2006). As we will discuss in later sections of this review, activation of the immune system (e.g., via immune-cell-derived cytokines) alters sleep, and reciprocally, sleep affects both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system. Several human studies have demonstrated sleep disruption-induced elevations in circulating immune cells, including granulocytes (e.g., neutrophils) T cells, and B cells (Born et al., 1997; Faraut et al., 2011; Besedovsky et al., 2016), indicative of an inflammatory state. In addition, studies in mice have recently illuminated the role of sleep deprivation in promoting tumor progression as a result of impaired antitumor immunity (De Lorenzo et al., 2018; Huang et al., 2021). A study by De Lorenzo et al. (2018) demonstrated the deleterious effects of 18-h sleep deprivation on antitumor immunity in a murine model of melanoma. The results demonstrated that sleep deprivation reduced the number of cytotoxic cells (i.e., NK and CD8+ T cells), concurrent with increased numbers of pro-tumor regulatory T cells, in the tumor microenvironment (TME). In addition, similar effects were observed systemically as the number of CD4+ and CD8+ T cells were reduced in the blood of sleepdeprived mice along with a decreased population of dendritic cells (antigen-presenting), indicative of an immunosuppressive phenotype. The effects of this immunosuppressive phenotype were exemplified by an earlier onset of lung metastasis in sleep-deprived animals, leading to increased metastatic burden. Previous work by De Lorenzo et al. (2015) demonstrates a role of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) in sleep disruptioninduced reductions in the number and cytotoxic activity of NK cells, as treatment with the beta-2 adrenergic receptor (β_2 -AR) antagonist propranolol reversed the effects of sleep disruption on NK cell phenotypes. However, the causality of sleep disruptioninduced alterations to the immune landscape and subsequent tumor growth remains unclear.

Until recently, most studies investigating the immune landscape in the context of sleep deprivation used flow cytometric analysis with little-to-no use of high-dimensional single-cell techniques. These approaches are required to garner critical information on the molecular and cellular interactions underpinning sleep disruption associated malignancies. A study by Liu et al. (2021) provide unique insight into the dynamic single-cell alterations underlying sleep disruption-induced rewiring of the immune cell landscape. Blood was collected from six healthy individuals before and after 24-h sleep deprivation (preSU and postSU, respectively) and then subsequently analyzed using mass cytometry by time of flight (CyTOF) and single-cell RNA sequencing (scRNA-seq). Coincident with the aforementioned studies, Liu et al. (2021) found increases in circulating T cells (TC) as well as decreases in myeloid cells (MYE) postSU as assessed by classical lineage markers using scRNA-seq. Next, the five major immune cell lineages (TC, NK, BC, MC, and DC) were further sub-clustered into transcriptionally distinct subsets. Following 24-h sleep deprivation, single-cell clustering identified the onset of lymphocythemia (i.e., increased number of lymphocytes) as demonstrated by increases in CD8⁺ effector memory TCs (CD8 T_{EM}), proliferating TCs (mitotic TC, T-mito), and exhausted TCs (Tex) (as a percent of CD45+). Next, Liu et al. (2021) sought to identify the molecular events associated with 24-h sleep deprivation which was achieved through the analysis of differentially expressed genes from blood immune cells in the postSU group compared with the preSU group. All six participants in the study showed an increase in several inflammatory genes including markers of DNA damage, AP-1 family genes (JUN, FOS), IFNG and interferon-related developmental regulator 1 (IFRD1). In addition, gene ontology (GO) identified the upregulated genes across participants postSU were enriched in the AP-1 pathway, leukocyte activation, and cellular responses to stress (i.e., cellular senescence). The most prominent downregulated genes postSU were those involved in metal ion homeostasis and detoxification. These findings indicate that sleep deprivation induces general oxidative stress and an inflammatory state in circulating immune cells. Importantly, TCs, BCs, and DCs were the cell types most strongly affected by sleep deprivation among individuals according to their upregulated genes. Within CD4⁺ TCs, Liu et al. (2021) demonstrated that sleep-deprivation resulted in an increase Th17 differentiation markers CCR6, CXCR3, the cell proliferating marker Ki67, and apoptotic marker CD279. In addition, increased levels of CXCR3, CCR6, and the autoimmune-related BC (ABC) marker T-bet were identified in B cells after sleepdeprivation, indicative of autoimmune-associated changes in effector lymphocytes postSU.

Importantly, Liu et al. (2021) revealed that functional marker expression of cytotoxic cells (i.e., NK and CD8⁺ TCs) were altered postSU, including decreased expression of transcription factors (e.g., T-bet) that normally promote differentiation and functional polarization of cytotoxic cells. In addition, sleepdeprivation upregulated levels of PFN1, a negative regulator of cytotoxic cell killing and migratory functions. Thus, the cytotoxic cells present in postSU blood show transcriptional alterations that favor an increase in an inflammatory phenotype and coincident decrease in cytotoxic activity. Lastly, Liu et al. (2021) demonstrated that the particular cell-cell interactions in the blood after sleep-deprivation were those mainly involved in inflammatory activation of lymphocytes to other cells and chemotaxis of MYEs to other cells. In addition, unique intercellular interactions between TCs, NKs, and BCs were identified with upregulated expression of the ephrin family and their receptor EPH family in the postSU group which are implicated in the onset of inflammation and disease pathogenesis. Thus, sleep deprivation promotes an inflammatory environment in peripheral tissues with reduced differentiation and immune activity of cytotoxic cells, likely increasing susceptibility to tumorigenesis. The findings by Liu et al. (2021) can be used to inform the cellular and molecular mechanisms underlying sleep disruption-induced pathogenesis, including its potential contribution to development and progression of cancer (Figure 1).

Sleep Disruption-Induced Inflammation

Inflammation is an evolutionarily ancient process wherein cells of the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system are activated and recruited to sites of host insult or pathogen invasion. Equally important to host defense is inflammation's role in tissue repair and regeneration. Although vital for normal health, several decades of research have firmly implicated inflammation in the development and progression of cancer. Site specific chronic inflammation and subsequent cancer development is a common theme for many organ systems. Prominent examples highlighting this relationship include cigarette smoking and chronic viral hepatitis increasing the risk of lung cancer and liver cancer, respectively. Epidemiologic evidence also demonstrates that inhibition of inflammation with NSAIDs reduces incidence and mortality of many cancers following long term use (Rothwell et al., 2011).

Substantial experimental evidence demonstrates that sleep disruption promotes inflammation in both animal models and in human studies. In one study, rats that were selectively sleep deprived of REM sleep for 72 h showed significant increases in proinflammatory cytokines compared to controls. The elevated markers include IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta, IL-6, IL-17, TNF-alpha, corticosterone, and homocysteine. The shift to a pro-inflammatory state persisted for at least 1 week, as levels of IL-17, TNF-alpha, corticosterone, and homocysteine remained elevated despite having the opportunity for normal sleep and sleep rebound (Yehuda et al., 2009). Even just one night of sleep loss in healthy adults induces an inflammatory response. In a study where volunteers underwent partial sleep deprivation (awake from 11 p.m. to 3 a.m.), morning monocyte production of IL-6 and TNF-alpha was significantly elevated compared to prior mornings following uninterrupted sleep (Irwin et al., 2006). The rise in proinflammatory signaling following sleep loss is largely mediated through the transcription factor NF-kB. Following a single night of partial sleep deprivation, mononuclear cell NFkB was significantly elevated compared to uninterrupted or recovery sleep. NF-kB is intimately tied to chronic inflammation and tumorigenesis where it provides cells with resistance to apoptotic insults and leads to the production of growth factors (Karin and Greten, 2005). In another study, 24 healthy adults undergoing one night of partial sleep deprivation similarly showed greater expression of IL-6 and TNF-alpha relative to baseline. These inflammatory cytokines were accompanied by increased monocytic expression of activated (phosphorylated) STAT1 and STAT5 (Irwin et al., 2015). STAT proteins transduce signals to the nucleus where they function as transcription factors, with certain STAT proteins (STAT1) acting to increase anti-tumor immunity and others (namely STAT3) facilitating cancer-promoting inflammation (Yu et al., 2009). Interestingly, there appears to be sex differences in sleep disruption driven inflammation. In the morning after sleep loss, LPS-stimulated IL-6, and TNF-alpha concentrations were equally elevated in both females and males. However, production of these cytokines remained elevated in females into the evening whereas it decreased in males (Irwin et al., 2010). These findings suggest



differentiation of cytotoxic cells further prevents cancer elimination. (C) Sleep disruption engages the HPA axis and autonomic nervous system. Glucocorticoids and catecholamines have widespread effects on the immune system and energy balance important for tumor progression. (D) Sleep disruption alters systemic metabolism. Wake-promoting neurons (e.g., hypocretin/orexin) regulate the activity of others that control food intake and metabolic health (e.g., POMC, AgRP, NPY neurons). (E) Sleep disruption promotes the breakdown of the blood brain barrier (BBB). Disrupted sleep results in vascular endothelial cell dysfunction and inflammation, further contributing to BBB impairment. This allows inflammatory molecules in blood to reach the brain, where they alter the function of sleep/wake regulatory systems (Made with BioRender.com).

sleep loss may exert a differential risk for inflammatory driven disorders across sexes.

The evidence linking sleep disruption and induction of a proinflammatory state is vast, however, the underlying mechanisms remain to be fully studied. Sleep induced inflammation is driven by complex neuro-immune interactions, likely mediated through neuroendocrine axes (e.g., HPA axis) and the autonomic nervous system, as previously discussed. As discussed above, sleep disturbance activates the HPA axis. In turn, a chronically active HPA axis can lead to glucocorticoid resistance of immune cells, wherein immune cells lose sensitivity to the anti-inflammatory effects of glucocorticoids (Webster et al., 2001). A natural decrease in sympathetic nervous system (SNS) activity that occurs during the night is also prevented when sleep loss occurs. This increased sympathetic outflow is carried forward into the day and influences inflammation. Noradrenergic signaling through beta receptors can activate NF-kB and induce the production of inflammatory cytokines (Irwin and Cole, 2011). In a study examining sleep and cardiovascular disease, mice undergoing chronic sleep fragmentation developed larger atherosclerotic plaques and produced less hypocretin in the lateral hypothalamus compared to controls. Additionally, the aortas and blood of sleep deprived mice contained higher levels of monocytes, neutrophils, and macrophages. Hypothalamic hypocretin reduced gradually and was inversely correlated with leukocytosis throughout the sleep disruption paradigm. It was determined that the link between reduced hypocretin and leukocytosis is mediated through hypocretin sensitive pre-neutrophils, whose production of colony stimulating factor-1 is decreased in response to hypocretin. Taken altogether, hypocretin dysfunction alters the immune landscape, leading to a relative leukocytosis that favors atherosclerosis. Whether alterations in hematopoiesis in response to sleep disruption similarly increases tumorigenesis is yet to be determined.

Inflammation's role in tumor initiation is multifactorial. Sleep induced inflammation is systemic and differs from the traditional model of "site specific" chronic inflammation leading to organ-specific tumors. Cytokine and immune cell alterations following sleep disruption may create an environment favoring cancer development and progression. For example, mice that constitutively produce IL-15, a proinflammatory cytokine and growth factor, developed fatal lymphocytic leukemia (Fehniger et al., 2001). Macrophage-migration inhibitory factor, another proinflammatory cytokine, suppresses the activity of p53 (Hudson et al., 1999). IL-1 is required for angiogenesis and invasiveness as mice deficient in IL-1alpha or IL-1beta exhibit impaired tumor development and blood vessel growth in melanoma, mammary adenocarcinoma, and prostate cancer (Voronov et al., 2003). CSF-1 serves as a regulator of mammary tumor metastasis as its overexpression accelerated the progression and invasion of the primary tumor to other sites (Lin et al., 2001). Inflammation can trigger mutagenesis through ROS formation by macrophages and neutrophils (Canli et al., 2017). Inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-alpha can activate epigenetic machinery in epithelial cells, altering expression of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes (Grivennikov, 2013). Inflammation has also been shown to induce tumor initiating stem-cell like cells from normal epithelium (Schwitalla et al., 2013). Further, cytokine receptor signaling through NF-kB, JAK/STAT, and other cascades may induce pro-survival pathways, increasing the likelihood for a cancerous cell to survive and produce successful clones (Grivennikov et al., 2009). Thus, unresolved inflammation that arises due to sleep disruption sustains a proinflammatory environment, both locally within tissues and systemically. This favors tumorigenesis through aberrant

cytokine signaling and subsequent cell growth, increased cell turnover, and immune evasion.

Sleep Disruption, Stress, and the Sympathetic Nervous System

Psychological or psychosocial stress has been implicated in the etiology of several prominent diseases in humans including clinical depression, cardiovascular disease (CVD), human immunodeficiency virus (HIV/AIDS), and cancer (Cohen et al., 2007). Moreover, chronic stress has emerged as a key factor associated with cancer initiation, progression, and subsequent metastasis in animal models and humans (Sklar and Anisman, 1981; Kim-Fuchs et al., 2014; Le et al., 2016). A combination of retrospective, prospective, and observational studies have explored the effects of psychological stress on tumorigenesis, revealing that stressful life events (e.g., death of a family member, divorce, etc.) frequently precede the appearance of several forms of malignancies including breast cancer (Cooper et al., 1989; Geyer, 1991; Ginsberg et al., 1996). Several behavioral changes that occur as adaptations or coping responses to stressful life events such as loss of sleep and exercise, increased smoking or alcohol consumption, and reduced adherence to medical regimens constitute several pathways by which stressors increase susceptibility to developing a chronic disease. In addition, two stressor-induced endocrine responses provide additional pathways influencing disease risk; namely the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis and the sympathetic-adrenal-medullary (SAM) system. Glucocorticoids, the primary output of the HPA axis, regulate a multitude of physiological processes (e.g., glucose mobilization, immunosuppression) and are also involved in resetting the circadian clock in peripheral tissues (Balsalobre et al., 2000; Dibner et al., 2010). The prolonged activation of these endocrine responses can interfere with their control of normal physiological systems including immune, metabolic, and neurological functions, resulting in increased susceptibility to the development of physiological and psychological disorders.

Sleep disruption triggers a stress response, which in turn increases concentrations of adrenal glucocorticoids and epinephrine (i.e., adrenaline). Research findings have firmly established that our own life-experiences, such as stressful events, have an impact on the quality, duration and physiology of sleep. Reciprocally, sleep influences stress, resulting in an overlap between stress and sleep disruption-induced physiological changes. Thus, it is difficult to disentangle the independent effects of sleep disruption alone, as sleep disruption results in emotional and physiological stress with large implications for subsequent health and disease. The connection between sleep and stress has recently been described as Li et al. (2020) demonstrated that hypocretin/orexin (HO) to CRH neuron signaling causes stress-induced insomnia.

Since the reports of the discovery of the HO neuropeptides and their receptors in 1998, research has firmly established the primary role of HO neurons in the maintenance of wakefulness (Sakurai, 2005, 2007; Adamantidis et al., 2007; Inutsuka and Yamanaka, 2013; Tyree et al., 2018). HO neurons are sensitive to circulating peripheral signals such as acyl-ghrelin, leptin, and glucose (Yamanaka et al., 2003; Adamantidis and De Lecea, 2009) which become deregulated throughout the course of cancer progression. In response, HO neurons alter their firing rates to elicit appropriate physiological responses to putatively re-establish homeostasis. HO neurons are more active during wakefulness (e.g., during sleep deprivation), resulting in an increase in the activity of post synaptic neurons in brain regions that receive their projections. More specifically, there are two critical efferent projections from HO neurons that are likely responsible for changes in peripheral physiology observed in cancer: the HPA axis and autonomic output nuclei [e.g., locus coeruleus (LC), ventrolateral medulla, A5, A1]. HO neurons project to various autonomic output nuclei in the brainstem, namely the locus coeruleus, which projects to the spinal cord to alter peripheral physiology via the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) (Geerling et al., 2003; Samuels and Szabadi, 2008a,b). The physiological changes that accompany increased activity of noradrenergic neurons in the locus coeruleus is increased arousal and vigilance and increased activity of sympathetic nerves in the periphery as assessed by dilation of the pupils (Murphy et al., 2014; Costa and Rudebeck, 2016; Joshi et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2017). Importantly, sympathetic nerves are implicated in exacerbating primary tumor growth and subsequent metastasis in animal models of breast cancer and in human patients (Sloan et al., 2010; Monje et al., 2020; Zahalka and Frenette, 2020), providing an anatomical pathway linking stress, sleep disruption, and cancer in the body.

A study by Kamiya et al. (2019) demonstrated that sympathetic innervation of tumors accelerates progression of human breast cancer xenografts in mice. Sympathetic nerves within the TME were constitutively activated, which was achieved using adeno-associated virus (AAV) delivery of a mutant sodium channel that remains open, promoting tonic depolarization of neuronal membranes. Two-photon calcium imaging of sympathetic nerve endings in the TME confirmed stimulation of sympathetic nerves, which was concurrent with increased tumor volume of the primary tumor in the mammary fat pad and increased metastasis to the lungs, a primary site of breast cancer metastasis. However, AAV delivery of diphtheria toxin A subunit (DTA) to ablate innervating sympathetic nerves, resulted in decreased primary tumor growth with no measurable metastasis. The results of the DTA-induced elimination of sympathetic nerves were recapitulated in animal models that experienced increased stimulation of parasympathetic nerves in the TME, thus highlighting the duality between the two divisions of the autonomic nervous system relevant to breast cancer (Kamiya et al., 2019). Importantly, Kamiya et al. (2019) demonstrated a similar phenomenon in human breast tumors of 29 patients who underwent surgical resection of primary breast tumors. Of these 29 patients, 10 patients subsequently experienced recurrence of breast cancer whereas the remaining 19 patients did not. Immunofluorescence staining of surgically resected primary tumors revealed a positive correlation between sympathetic nerve fiber densities and cancer recurrence. Specifically increased sympathetic nerve densities were observed in the primary tumors of patients who subsequently experienced recurrence, which was also associated with a lower recurrence-free survival rate. The

opposite correlation was observed for parasympathetic nerve densities. Thus, increased stimulation of sympathetic nerves (or reduced parasympathetic input) within the TME results in enhanced tumor growth, progression, subsequent metastasis, and increased incidence of recurrence in animal models and patients with breast cancer. Mechanistically, this may have to do with the actions of the sympathetic nervous system on local immune cells important for anti-tumor immunity. Kamiya et al. (2019) also demonstrated that genetic sympathetic nerve denervation (and parasympathetic neurostimulation) reduced the expression of immune checkpoint molecules (e.g., PD-1, PD-L1)-exploited by cancer cells in order to evade the host immune-response- in the TME in animal models of breast cancer. Once again, these findings highlight the effects of local sympathetic nerve output on anti-tumor immunity and subsequent cancer progression. In addition, sympathetic nerves were closely associated with PD-1+ and FOXP3+ tumor infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) with innervation of PD-L1+ tumor tissue in human breast cancer (Kamiya et al., 2019). Activation of the SNS decreases leukocyte (i.e., CD4+ and CD8+ T cells) mobility in peripheral tissues, as systemic administration of the SNS neurotransmitter NA and/or administration of the BAR agonist isoprenaline sequestered leukocytes in lymph nodes (Devi et al., 2021). Devi et al. (2021) demonstrated this impaired immune response was due to SNS-induced vasoconstriction and subsequent hypoxia which resulted in increased calcium signaling within leukocytes, ultimately reducing their mobility. Altogether, these results indicate a critical role for the SNS in driving tumor progression and promoting an immunosuppressive, pro-tumorigenic environment characterized by increased neurotransmitter signaling, hypoxia and reduced leukocyte motility.

In addition to the control HO neurons exert on autonomic nuclei and subsequent SNS activity in the periphery, HO neurons also modulate activity of the HPA axis. Both intracerebroventricular (icv) administration of HO and optogenetic stimulation of HO neurons results in a rapid elevation of circulating glucocorticoids (e.g., corticosterone, cortisol), the primary humoral output of the HPA axis (Kuru et al., 2000; Bonnavion et al., 2015). In agreement with the results from preclinical models, sleep deprivation in humans activates the HPA axis, as sleep deprived individuals demonstrate amplified cortisol levels (Minkel et al., 2014). In addition, sleep deprivation results in a marked increase in corticotrophinreleasing hormone (CRH) expression and release into various brain regions in rats (Fadda and Fratta, 1997). The activation of the HPA axis and subsequent secretion of glucocorticoids by the adrenal cortex is highly relevant to tumorigenesis and tumor progression as glucocorticoids are widely recognized for their anti-inflammatory, immunosuppressive effects that promote tumor initiation and progression (Barnes, 1998; Coutinho and Chapman, 2011). In addition to the systemic effects, stressors elicit activation of the LC through the actions of CRH, a key component of the HPA axis (McCall et al., 2015). The net effect of CRH binding to their receptors (CRHRs) in the LC is increased neuronal discharge resulting in high-tonic activity and increased activation of the SNS in the periphery (Samuels and Szabadi, 2008a,b; Valentino and Van Bockstaele, 2008).

Thus, it is likely that sleep deprivation (partially due to increased hypocretin neuronal activity) has both direct and indirect influences on sympathetic output. Direct (projections to the LC) and indirect (engagement of the HPA-axis) actions of hypocretin neurons on LC activity results in increased stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system.

In addition to the interplay between these two brain regions controlling stress and SNS activity in the central nervous system (CNS), stress and SNS activity are intimately linked in the periphery. Treatment of spleen-derived NK cells with the glucocorticoid receptor agonist dexamethasone upregulates expression of β_2 -adrenergic receptors (β_2 -AR) on NK cells, suggesting that glucocorticoids are able to induce expression of β_2 -AR (De Lorenzo et al., 2015). This results in a decrease in the number and cytotoxic activity of NK cells, further highlighting the dynamic interplay between sleep disruption-induced stress, SNS activity, and immune-suppression relevant to cancer. Thus, the consequence of these CNS interactions extends to the periphery, further promoting the propensity of cancer cells to grow and proliferate in an immunosuppressive environment.

Sleep Disruption-Induced Metabolic Alterations

Mounting evidence relates sleep loss to the development of obesity, diabetes, and other metabolic abnormalities. Metabolic abnormalities because of poor sleep are likely a risk factor for the development of many cancers. Interactions between sleep and metabolic regulation is primarily mediated through the hypothalamus. In a similar fashion to sleep, hypothalamic control over metabolism occurs through two networks that inhibit each other. Neuropeptide Y (NPY) and agouti-related protein (AgRP) neurons promote hunger and actively inhibit proopiomelanocortin (POMC) and amphetamine-related transcript (CART) neurons, which suppress appetite. Further, both populations of neurons are sensitive to leptin and ghrelin, which serve as major humoral cues of hunger and energy expenditure. Leptin simultaneously suppresses activity of NPY and AgRP neurons and activates POMC and CART neurons whereas ghrelin has the inverse effect in both sets of neurons (Rolls et al., 2010).

In addition to the actions of peripheral hormones on neurocircuitry, increased risk of metabolic dysfunction may be linked to sleep-induced alterations of HO neurons. Interactions between HO neurons and hypothalamic metabolic centers likely contribute to many of the metabolic abnormalities seen in those who experience chronic sleep disruption. HO neurons can sense and respond to glucose, leptin, and ghrelin, allowing for adaptive augmentation of arousal in response to changes in energy balance (Yamanaka et al., 2003; Tyree et al., 2018; Walker and Borniger, 2019). Further supporting the role of HO neurons in metabolism is the anatomical connectivity between HO neurons and metabolic nuclei of the hypothalamus. HO axons directly contact NPY and POMC neurons in the arcuate nucleus of rats and signaling through these axons has been shown to regulate their activity in a manner reciprocal to leptin (Muroya et al., 2004). Moreover, ghrelin-induced food intake is

significantly reduced in mice pretreated with antibodies against HO and HO knockout mice (So et al., 2018). In the context of sleep deprivation, the activity of HO neurons increases to maintain wakefulness against increased pressure to sleep (Wu et al., 2002). Thus, sleep loss resulting in overactivity within HO neurons likely plays a role in the metabolic effects of sleep loss as these same neurons influence the activity of metabolic centers in a way that promotes eating and energy mobilization.

Low-grade systemic inflammation due to obesity and hyperglycemia can increase the risk and progression of many cancers, including malignancy of the breast (Greten and Grivennikov, 2019). Furthermore, liver, pancreatic, colorectal, and breast cancer all show an association with Type II diabetes mellitus (Vigneri et al., 2009; Suh and Kim, 2011). In one study, patients with breast cancer had increased glucose concentrations during the time of their diagnosis when compared to agematched controls (Ryu et al., 2014, p. 201). Similarly, in a study assessing the effects of multiple nights of partial sleep loss, it was found that the rate of glucose clearance following injection was reduced by 40% after sleep restriction compared to sleep recovery nights in a sample of healthy volunteers aged 18-27 years (Spiegel et al., 1999). Glucose effectiveness, which is the ability of glucose to mobilize itself independent of an insulin response, and acute insulin response to glucose were both found to be 30% lower during mornings after sleep loss compared to mornings after sleep recovery. Sleep loss was also accompanied by an increase in afternoon and evening plasma cortisol levels. The authors proposed that the raised cortisol concentrations later in the day reflect impaired negative-feedback control of the HPA axis, which is a component of age-related insulin resistance. This study was one of the first to show that just several days of sleep disruption in healthy people is linked to drastic alterations in metabolic function, and sleep loss induced changes that mimic characteristics of aging (Spiegel et al., 1999)-which is the greatest risk factor for almost all cancers.

It is well-known that chronic hyperglycemia has profound negative health consequences, in part mediated through the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs). AGEs form throughout life via non-enzymatic glycation of various proteins and lipids, a process that is accelerated by hyperglycemia and inflammation. Interactions between AGEs and its receptor, receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGEs), alters vascular homeostasis and contributes to the development and progression of cardiovascular disease (Senatus and Schmidt, 2017). AGE-RAGE interactions and downstream signaling may also be involved in tumorigenesis. The actions of AGEs associated with cancer development include activation of RAGE leading to signaling cascades favoring proliferation, inflammation, and increased levels of ROS (Lin et al., 2016). AGEs have been implicated in the promotion of several tumor types in vitro, including breast, colon, and lung cancer, among others (Takino et al., 2010; Ishibashi et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2014). Epidemiologic and animal studies support these findings with high-AGE diets increasing the risk of many cancer types (Shimomoto et al., 2012; Foster et al., 2014; Jiao et al., 2015). In summary, sleep disruption alters systemic metabolism in a way that favors tumor initiation and growth.

The blood brain barrier (BBB) is a complex organization of cerebral endothelial cells, pericytes, and supporting astrocytes which serves to provide a stable environment for neural function through regulation of peripheral neurotransmitter infiltration, hormones, macromolecules, and the ionic microenvironment around synapses and axons. Moreover, the BBB allows for stringent control of CNS homeostasis by monitoring and detecting circulating toxins, pathogens, and inflammation. Hence, the BBB limits paracellular permeability due to the presence of tight junctions between the continuous monolayer of endothelium in the brain vasculature. However, the presence of nutrient transporters (e.g., glucose, amino acids, ketones) and receptors (e.g., for insulin, leptin) on endothelial cells lining the cerebral vasculature enables the delivery (via passive diffusion, active transport or receptor-mediated endocytosis) of essential molecules required for neural development and proper neural function. Thus, the unique structure, function, and location of the BBB enables this structure to serve as key regulator of entry into the CNS- serving a crucial role in the protection of the brain parenchyma from injury and disease.

Sleep Disruption-Induced Blood Brain Barrier Disruption

Studies have illuminated the role of sleep in providing a "restorative function" in that sleep promotes removal of neurotoxic waste products that accumulate in the interstitial space during wakefulness via a "garbage collector" system termed the glymphatic system (i.e., cerebrospinal fluid transport) (Xie et al., 2013; Ding et al., 2016; Hauglund et al., 2020). In addition, recent studies have demonstrated the role of both endogenous circadian rhythms and sleep in promoting the clearance of metabolites along the BBB at night (Cuddapah et al., 2019). This is mainly achieved via regulation of BBB permeability through the activity of permeability-glycoprotein multidrug transporters [also known as Pgp, multidrug resistance protein 1, or ATP-binding cassette sub-family B member 1(ABCB1)] which are less active at night (i.e., reduced function), thus increasing permeability of the brain overnight. The presence and activity of Pgp on brain capillary endothelial cells serves as an efflux pump to expel substrates back into the circulation after they initially diffuse into the endothelial cells, restricting entry into the brain parenchyma. Additional studies have demonstrated the role of sleep loss in impairment of BBB function and subsequent increase in BBB permeability to proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF-a) and immune cells (He et al., 2014a,b; Opp et al., 2015; Hurtado-Alvarado et al., 2017; Medina-Flores et al., 2020). A study by He et al. (2014b) investigated whether chronic sleep restriction (CSR) contributed to pathophysiological processes in the brain. Indeed, they demonstrated that CSR affects genes involved in vascular endothelial function and inflammation. In addition, they demonstrated that CSR increased the uptake of sodium fluorescein 10 min after intravenous injection in the brainstem, cerebellum, and subcortical regions, demonstrating a functional

breakdown in the barrier. Similarly, Medina-Flores et al. (2020) described the interactions between brain endothelial cells and pericytes that promote BBB disruption after sleep loss in rats. They demonstrated that daily 20-h sleep restriction for 10 days [i.e., chronic sleep restriction (CSR)] reduces pericyte-brain endothelial cell interactions as assessed by decreased expression of the pericyte-endothelial cell interaction markers connexin 43 and platelet-derived growth factor receptor-B (PDGFR-B) in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus. In addition, CSR promotes brain pericyte detachment–which was not concurrent with apoptosis of pericytes–from the capillary wall in both the cerebral cortex and hippocampus, resulting in impairment of blood brain barrier function as assessed by subsequent increase in permeability to sodium fluorescein and Evans Blue.

In alignment with these findings, previous studies in rats have demonstrated that co-culture of endothelial cells and pericytes are more effective in increasing transendothelial electrical resistance (TEER) and lowering permeability to both low and large molecular weight tracers as compared to monocultures of endothelial cells alone (Nakagawa et al., 2009). In addition, Medina-Flores et al. (2020) demonstrated that disruption of endothelial cell-pericyte interactions (i.e., BBB impairment) was also associated with decreased expression of the tight junction protein claudin-5 in both the cerebral cortex and hippocampus which was associated with overexpression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9). Lastly, Medina-Flores et al. (2020) demonstrated that the BBB disruption in CSR rats was concurrent with an increased blood-brain barrier permeability to the chemical compound rhodamine 123, which is often used as a functional reporter of PGP activity. Thus, these findings highlight the contribution of sleep loss, independent of tumor burden, on BBB disfunction. Given the contribution of various disease states (e.g., cardiovascular disease, kidney disease, diabetes, cancer) in promoting sleep disruption, it is becoming increasingly necessary to further characterize the relationship between sleep and pathological conditions. In addition, further studies need to assess the potential contribution of sleep lossinduced BBB disruption in promoting an additional, unregulated route by which peripheral signals enter the brain parenchyma in various pathologies, exacerbating aberrant neural circuitry in a vicious cycle.

Sleep Disruption and Glial Cells

Glial cells are present in both the central and peripheral nervous systems and serve many vital functions (e.g., myelin production) and are essential regulators in the formation, maintenance, and function of synapses. The major type of glial cells in the central nervous system (i.e., brain and spinal cord) are astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, microglia, and ependymal cells–each of which contain their respective function and molecular/cellular characteristics. Neurons and glial cells occupy a comparable amount of space in nervous tissue; however, the number of glial cells outnumber that of neurons. Thus, a comprehensive review of the effects of sleep disruption on tumorigenesis– and reciprocally, the effects of peripheral tumors in promoting sleep disruption–must encompass the potential contributions of glial cells. Recently, a role of glial cells in the regulation of sleep-wake cycles is emerging, highlighting the dynamic interactions present within neural circuits that influence sleep in both health and disease (Garofalo et al., 2020; Ingiosi et al., 2020). For example, a study by Bellesi et al. (2017) demonstrated that sleep loss enhances astrocyte phagocytosis as observed by an increase in the number of synaptic elements (e.g., spine head, axon, dendrite) surrounded by peripheral astrocytic processes (PAPs) in mice that underwent sleep deprivation (SD) or chronic sleep restriction (CSR). In addition, translating ribosome affinity purification technology and microarrays identified increased astrocytic Mertk expression- a "wake" gene upregulated in both spontaneous wake and sleep deprivation. In addition, Bellesi et al. (2017) demonstrated that only CSR is associated with microglia activation in the mouse cerebral cortex, assessed by analyzing the morphology (i.e., branching) of microglial cells since it correlates closely with their state of activation. Subsequently, the group demonstrated that there was higher expression of C3, a major component of the innate immune complement cascade required for microglial phagocytosis, in SD and CSR mice. Thus, CSR is associated with microglial activation and increased phagocytosis without a notable increase of inflammatory mediators in the CSF. The observed glial phagocytosis may serve different functions such as the removal of abundant synapses that become established during extended wake periods. In addition, studies have demonstrated that microglial activation can occur in response to systemic inflammation and, in turn, can communicate systemic inflammation to the brain [91]. Thus, systemic inflammation induced by sleep deprivation, cancer, or chemotherapy treatment can result in glial-mediated synaptic elimination which may contribute to the cognitive impairment observed in cancer patients and/or represent a mechanism by which sleep deprivation affects cognitive function. In addition, aberrations in neuronal circuitry during sleep deprivation that promote systemic inflammation and subsequent tumorigenesis may be attributed to synaptic remodeling by activated glial cells (Figure 2).

NON-CNS TUMOR EFFECTS ON SLEEP NEUROCIRCUITRY

Poor sleep experienced by cancer patients and survivors could be attributed to the presence of one or more underlying sleep disorders. Thus, one of the most prominent concerns in cancer patients is the onset of sleep disorders including difficulty falling asleep, problems maintaining sleep, poor sleep efficiency and early awakening. Early immunologists treated the nervous and immune systems as largely separate entities. However, today there is consensus that there is bi-directional communication between the nervous and immune systems in both health and disease states. To date, there are several pathways that have been proposed in the field of neuroimmunology as being important for the communication between the immune system and central nervous system: the neural route (e.g., vagal afferent signaling), BBB active transport of cytokines and secretions from BBB cells, passive diffusion at circumventricular organs which lack a BBB (e.g., median eminence), infiltration of peripheral immune cells, as well as interactions with meningeal lymphatics (Quan and Banks, 2007; Kipnis, 2016; Prinz and Priller, 2017). Thus, peripheral cues can signal to the CNS whereby the CNS coordinates appropriate responses (i.e., sickness behavior) as an adaptive strategy to an immune challenge. For example, intravenous (IV) administration of inflammatory cytokines interleukin-1 (IL-1), tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha), and interleukin-6 (IL-6)- all of which are upregulated during cancer progression- has been shown to induce sickness behavior (including sleep disruption) similar to those observed during infection in both mice and humans (Focà et al., 1983; Lesnikov et al., 1991; Ching et al., 2007). Interestingly, two additional reflex responses to systemic LPS have been well-studied, including both fever and the activation of the HPA axis (Hosoi et al., 2000; Romanovsky, 2005). Given the role of peripheral signals in influencing the CNS, it is unsurprising that LPS as well as additional proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL1-B and TNFa) exert somnogenic effects, in that they are involved in the regulation of sleep (Opp, 2005). In addition, studies have demonstrated that LPS-induced lethargy is mediated by alterations to HO activity (Grossberg et al., 2011). In this section we will discuss additional routes (e.g., humoral, neural) that are critical for relaying information to inform the brain about the peripheral environment.

Humoral Route

Tumors in the periphery present a systemic challenge, altering metabolic, immune, and (likely) cognitive capacity. The nervous system and peripheral tumors (i.e., non-CNS tumors) engage in bidirectional communication as well. A growing body of literature illuminates the role of nerves in cancer initiation, progression, and subsequent metastasis through direct interactions with cancer cells or through interactions with stromal cells in the TME (Faulkner et al., 2019; Monje et al., 2020; Zahalka and Frenette, 2020). Just as normal, healthy tissues recruit and maintain innervation of the peripheral nervous system (PNS) (e.g., autonomic nervous system) to promote regeneration and repair of tissue, peripheral tumors co-opt these pathways to aid in the recruitment of nerves into the tumor microenvironment through the release of neurotrophic factors (e.g., NGF, BDNF, NT-3). Subsequent outgrowth of nerves into the TME results in enhanced cholinergic or adrenergic signaling in the TME, resulting in tumorigenesis and increased aggressiveness of gastric and breast cancer, respectively (Sloan et al., 2010; Hayakawa et al., 2017). In addition, innervation of sensory nerves in the TME mediates pain responses relevant to cancer progression. Consequently, increasing tumor burden in peripheral tissues has been shown to affect neural activity in the brain, with significant consequences on sleep-controlling neurocircuitry in the hypothalamus (Walker and Borniger, 2019). The hypothalamus is sensitive to peripheral signals and is able to sense these signals (via humoral and neural routes) and subsequently alter neural activity (Francis and Borniger, 2021). Consequently, the hypothalamus is able to generate physiological and behavioral responses through its influence on both the autonomic nervous system (i.e., sympathetic and parasympathetic divisions) and the



eventually moving into the brain parenchyma impacting neurocircuitry including sleep. TME-derived proinflammatory signals also exert effects on distant organs including stomach, liver, pancreas, and adipose tissue resulting in elevated secretion of satiety/hunger hormones (e.g., leptin, ghrelin) and glucose and insulin which all exert differential effects on sleep neurocircuitry in the CNS. Sensory nerves in the TME relay information from the TME, resulting in the production of severe pain in various malignancies including breast cancer. This results in neurochemical changes in the spinal cord and forebrain, including elevated levels of noradrenaline (NA), in the brain parenchyma with negative consequences on both quality of life and survival. Aberrant neuronal activity results in subsequent physiological/behavioral changes including sleep disruption, sickness behavior, and cancer pain (Made with BioRender.com).

hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. A more thorough review on the role of the hypothalamus as a systemic integrator in both homeostasis and in response to homeostatic challenges (e.g., cancer) can be found here (Francis and Borniger, 2021).

Borniger et al. (2018) demonstrated tumor-induced sleep and metabolic abnormalities in a mouse model of non-metastatic breast cancer, independent of behavioral deficits or cachexia. The metabolic abnormalities were reflected in alterations to satiety hormone signaling (i.e., leptin and ghrelin) and hepatic glucose processing which was found to coincide with peripheral IL-6-driven inflammation. IL-6 levels were elevated both in the tumors and serum of tumor-bearing mice which was also associated with increased protein concentrations of the IL-6 regulated transcription factor pSTAT3 and increased expression of downstream targets of IL-6 signaling in the liver (e.g., Stat3). In addition, brain and muscle activity were detected using EEG and EMG, respectively, to assess changes to sleep-wake states throughout cancer progression. Interestingly, the presence of the peripheral tumor was found to disrupt sleep-wake states in the later course of tumor progression as evidenced by reduced time spent awake and an increase and fragmentation of NREM

but not REM sleep. These observed sleep-wake aberrations were mainly attributed to enhanced activity of HO neurons as evidenced by increased cFos immunoreactivity during the active phase in tumor-bearing mice. Importantly, the altered sleep patterns were not due to altered immune activation in the brain, as there were no indications of increased proinflammatory cytokines (IL-6, TNF-a, IL1-B) in several brain regions. Borniger et al. (2018) also demonstrated that the use of a HO-receptor antagonist (Almorexant) and not neutralizing antibodies against IL-6, attenuated tumor-induced impairments in glucose metabolism and improved sleep quality-indicative of active sensing of HO neurons to peripheral signals on metabolic and immune status, as previously reported (Adamantidis and De Lecea, 2009). In addition, the reported alterations in metabolism (i.e., impaired glucose tolerance, spontaneous hyperglycemia) were attributed to HO-mediated control of the sympathetic nervous system. Chemical sympathectomy (via the neurotoxin 6-OHDA) attenuated metabolic abnormalities in tumor-bearing mice as evidenced by restoration of blood glucose concentrations and normalization of several hepatic genes involved in gluconeogenesis/glycolysis (ldha, gck, pklr).

These findings provide mechanistic insight into tumor-driven alterations in sleep-wake neurocircuitry that may be coupled to changes in metabolism or immune signaling in the periphery. These findings warrant further discussion on reprogramming the use of current clinically approved hypocretin receptor antagonists (e.g., Suvorexant) for improving metabolic and sleep aberrations in cancer patients (Walker and Borniger, 2019).

Neural Route (via Sensory Neurons)

Sensory neurons form the afferent division of the peripheral nervous system and are primarily responsible for conveying various signals arising from the viscera and the skin to the central nervous system, in turn activating neuroendocrine and visceromotor reflexes. The cell bodies of sensory neurons reside in the dorsal root ganglia (DRG) of the spinal cord or along cranial nerves. Sensory neurons are subdivided into visceral and somatic sensory neurons, which transmit sensory information primarily from internal organs and skin and skeletal muscles, respectively. In addition, sensory neurons contain different receptors for different stimuli (e.g., thermoreceptors, mechanoreceptors, nociceptors, photoreceptors, and chemoreceptors) which in turn allow for the perception of various sensations including pain, temperature, and touch.

Recent studies highlight the role of sensory neurons in the initiation, migration, progression and metastasis of pancreatic and breast cancer (Demir et al., 2015; Saloman et al., 2016; Le et al., 2021). In addition, sensory neurons are implicated in the production of severe pain in breast, prostate, colon, pancreatic, and bone cancer, which is in part due to perineural invasion of cancer cells (Cain et al., 2001; Liebig et al., 2009; Andersen and Kehlet, 2011; Mantyh, 2013). Cancer pain does not only influence quality of life but also affects the survival of cancer patients (Mantyh, 2006). Nociceptors (i.e., pain receptors) are densely packed on afferent fibers of sensory neurons where they primarily relay noxious stimuli to the spinal cord that are then, via ascending pathways, conveyed to various brain regions to elicit pain sensations. Nociceptors are capable of detecting different forms of noxious stimuli (ATP, IL1, IL6, NGF, VEGF, TNFa, protons) that are secreted by cancer cells and other components of the TME (Mantyh et al., 2002). Consequently, sensory neurons alter their pattern of expression of various signaling molecules which partly underlies increased sensitization and subsequent hyperalgesia/allodynia. In addition to the changes in sensory neurons, the spinal cord and forebrain both undergo neurochemical and structural changes as chronic pain develops during cancer progression which alters neuronal activity (Honore et al., 2000a,b). A key brain region that has been extensively studied in several pain conditions and is involved in the modulation of pain is the locus coeruleus (LC), through the release of NA and subsequent action on adrenergic receptors (Brightwell and Taylor, 2009; Llorca-Torralba et al., 2016; Taylor and Westlund, 2017). Importantly, the LC has direct relevance to sleep as the LC is important for promoting arousal (Foote et al., 1983; Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003; Aston-Jones and Cohen, 2005). Neurons in the LC fire tonically at 1-3 Hz during wakefulness, fire less during NREM sleep and are essentially silent during REM sleep (G. Aston-Jones and Bloom, 1981a,b). When a painful stimulus is applied at the periphery, both ascending and descending pain pathways are activated, in which the LC is a key structure in both pathways (Hwang et al., 2001; Howorth et al., 2009). In the ascending pathway, the pain information is first transmitted to the spinal cord and subsequently along ascending axons to supraspinal structures, including the paragigantocellular nucleus (PGi), which exerts excitatory effects on the LC (Ennis et al., 1992). After reaching the LC, pain information is transmitted to other brain regions such as the amygdala, hypothalamus, thalamus, and cortex engaging more complex behaviors in response to pain (e.g., sleep and stress-related responses). Additionally, given the critical role of LC-noradrenergic neurons in the transition between sleep and wakefulness, studies have shed some insight into the possible involvement of the LC in pain-related sleep disruption (Koh et al., 2015). Since the hypocretin-mediated sleep-wake transition is heavily dependent on its projections to LC noradrenergic neurons, there may also be an important functional role of HO neurons in nociceptive perception and subsequent sleep-wake regulation in response to pain (Hagan et al., 1999; Mohammad Ahmadi Soleimani et al., 2015; Mohammad-Pour Kargar et al., 2015; Ahmadi-Soleimani et al., 2020). Thus, sensory neurons play a critical role in relaying pain information (e.g., tumorinduced inflammation) arising from the periphery to the CNS with impacts on sleep-controlling brain regions such as the lateral hypothalamus and LC (i.e., increased wakefulness). In addition, sleep disruption can increase pain sensitivity, and pain can in turn disrupt sleep physiology (Alexandre et al., 2017).

On the other hand, the descending noradrenergic pathway involves those mainly projecting to the spinal cord (Howorth et al., 2009). Interestingly, the descending noradrenergic pathway from the LC to the spinal cord is mainly ipsilateral, although there is also crossing over of the information at the midline to innervate the opposite side of the dorsal horn. However, these studies demonstrate the projections of the pain-responsive noradrenergic neurons originating in the LC to the lumbar dorsal horn. Whether or not a subset of pain-responsive noradrenergic neurons originating in the LC and projecting to other divisions of the spinal cord has not been assessed. The lateral horn of the spinal cord contains the neuronal cell bodies of the sympathetic division. Thus, it is possible that pain-induced stimulation of the LC results in the activation of descending pathways that project to the lateral horn of the spinal cord, resulting in the activation of the SNS and further promoting tumor progression. Consequently, growing tumor burden in the periphery increases pain perception via ascending pathways that project to the LC. As a result, noradrenergic neurons in the LC increase their firing rates, resulting in downstream effects on peripheral tissues-establishing a vicious cycle.

Active Surveillance of the Periphery by the Vagus Nerve Cranial Nerve X (CNX)

The discovery of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway provides another example of the important function of peripheral nerves in sensing, encoding, and relaying inputs to the CNS regarding our body's internal state (e.g., fluctuations in peripheral cytokines and toxins, tissue injury) (Tracey, 2002). Since the characterization of the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway, a plethora of studies have established the role of local and systemic inflammation in the activation of vagal efferent fibers, resulting in suppression of cytokine release from macrophages (Tracey, 2007). Most of the evidence for the action of the anti-inflammatory pathway have been demonstrated in a model of LPS administration in rodents (Borovikova et al., 2000a,b; Wang et al., 2003). Unsurprisingly, the vagus nerve may have a critical role in informing the brain about the tumor microenvironment with subsequent consequences on neuronal activity (Gidron et al., 2005).

Interestingly, several studies highlight a contribution of the vagus nerve in the sleep-promoting effects of IL1-B. A study by Hansen and Krueger (1997) demonstrated that subdiaphragmatic vagotomy blocks the sleep and fever-promoting effects of IL1-B in rats. Rodents were separated into two groups, those that received a vagotomy (Vx) or sham surgery (i.e., vagus nerve remained intact). Subsequently, both Vx and sham groups were given an intraperitoneal (IP) injection of low-dose (0.1 μ g/kg) IL-1B and the amount of time spent in sleep was analyzed. Hansen et al. observed that administration of low-dose IL1-B in sham rats increased NREM sleep, whereas administration of low-dose IL1-B in Vx rats failed to induce significant changes in NREM sleep compared to controls. In addition, Hansen et al. demonstrated that the administration of lowdose IL1-B in sham rats induced a significant increase in body temperature (i.e., fever response), whereas the increase in body temperature was completely blocked in Vx animals. One important aspect of this study is that vagotomy did not block the sleep and fever responses when rats were subject to high-dose (2.5 µg/kg) IL1-B. Thus, subdiaphragmatic vagotomy completely abolishes low-dose IL1-B-induced NREM sleep and fever responses. However, the inability of the vagotomy to block the sleep and fever responses in rats subjected to highdose of IL-1B can be attributed to mechanisms that are not dependent on intact subdiaphragmal vagi. These findings indicate that in addition to the subdiaphragmatic vagus control of sleep and fever in response to acute inflammation, alternative pathways exist that influence the CNS at more severe levels of inflammation (i.e., chronic inflammation or sepsis). Thus, elevation of IL1-B in the systemic circulation (induced by sleep disruption, cancer, chemotherapy, etc.) effect sleep neurocircuitry via vagal input and likely enter the brain parenchyma via aforementioned mechanisms (i.e., BBB-mediated transport and/or passive diffusion at circumventricular organs) resulting in aberrant neuronal activity.

Systemic Inflammation and Blood Brain Barrier Breakdown

Sleep is regulated by both humoral and neuronal mechanisms that are dependent on each other. Several studies have demonstrated that proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., IL-1B and TNF-a) have a somnogenic effect, increasing both sleep (e.g., NREM) and lethargy following peripheral immune activation (Opp, 2005). Interestingly, the concentrations of TNF-a and IL-1B in the CNS display circadian oscillations, with IL-1B and TNFa mRNA expression and protein content in the brain coinciding with the amount of NREM sleep (Bredow et al., 1997; Taishi et al., 1997). In addition, many immunomodulators of sleep-wake behaviors including cytokines, chemokines, and growth factors, all of which may become deregulated in cancer patients (Dranoff, 2004). Alterations in the levels of these signaling molecules have dynamic effects on many biological processes including release of neurotransmitters, peptides, and hormone secretions which have profound effects on sleep-wake neurocircuitry.

In addition to the established somnogenic effects of proinflammatory cytokines and chemokines (Opp, 2005), via vagal afferents (Hansen and Krueger, 1997) and additional mechanisms, proinflammatory cytokines have also been implicated in disruption and impairment of the BBB. A key component of the BBB architecture is the presence of tight junction proteins between brain capillary endothelial cells that serve to limit the movement of substances into the brain. Numerous studies have demonstrated a role of systemic inflammation (e.g., cancer) and cancer therapies (e.g., chemotherapy) in cytokine-mediated breakdown of the BBB [reviewed in Wardill et al. (2016)]. In addition, more recent studies have demonstrated that the exposure of the endothelium to immune cell-derived proinflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNFalpha, IL-1b, IFN-g) results in disruption of BBB integrity and enhanced leukocyte endothelial adhesion and migration. Thus, it is becoming increasingly important to recognize the contribution of BBB disruption as an additional route by which aberrant neuronal activity arises during cancer progression. In addition, tumor-induced disruption of the BBB promotes host death in preclinical models (Kim et al., 2021). A study by Kebir et al. (2007) demonstrated a role of human T_H17 lymphocytes in promoting blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. Interestingly, T_H17 lymphocytes were able to migrate across the BBB both in vitro (using human BBB-EC's) and in vivo as analyzed by human CNS postmortem tissues from individuals with multiple sclerosis, a disease with well-characterized BBB disruption. Kebir et al. also demonstrated that the binding of both IL-17 and IL-22, two identified cytokine products of T_H17 lymphocytes, to their receptors (IL-17R and IL-22R, respectively) on human brain endothelium was critical for the increased permeability of the BBB. IL-17 consists of a family of proinflammatory cytokines secreted primarily by activated T-helper type 17 (T_H 17) lymphocytes. IL-17 plays an important role in the homeostasis of tissues in health but also contributes to autoimmunity, chronic inflammation and invasion in various inflammatory diseases such as multiple sclerosis, rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel diseases and type I diabetes (Jin and Dong, 2013). A role for IL-17 in promoting breast cancer progression and metastasis has been described, which is associated with a worse prognosis (Du et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2013; Jin and Dong, 2013, p. 1; Coffelt et al., 2015). Within the tumor microenvironment, IL-17 is primarily secreted by tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes in two murine models of breast cancer (Du et al., 2012). Thus, IL-17 production by immune cells in the TME both promotes breast cancer progression and results



in disruption of the BBB. The consequences of BBB disruption are increased entry of proinflammatory cytokines into the brain parenchyma, resulting in an additional route of entry by which somnogenic cytokines alter sleep neurocircuitry. This, in turn, alters the activity of the HPA axis and SNS signaling in the periphery, further promoting cancer progression (**Figure 3**).

CLINICAL IMPLICATIONS

Clinical Data-Sleep Disruption and Breast Cancer

Although sleep disruption because of cancer is a well-established symptom of malignancy, its significance has been largely overlooked in traditional oncology treatment regimens. In one study, about 50% of women with non-metastatic breast cancer reported symptoms of insomnia prior to surgery, whereas rates on insomnia in men diagnosed with prostate cancer was about 30% prior to surgery (Savard et al., 2011). Clinical studies suggest that sleep disruption is particularly relevant in breast cancer. In addition to being highly prevalent, sleep problems are independently associated with a higher risk of earlier death and poor treatment response (Palesh et al., 2014; Innominato et al., 2015). Disrupted sleep patterns in breast cancer are also evidenced by alterations in the rhythmic secretion of cortisol, which is regulated by the central circadian clock in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN) (Buijs et al., 2003; Abercrombie et al., 2004; Kiessling et al., 2017). VIP (vasoactive intestinal peptide) neurons within the SCN rely on tightly coordinated

clock gene and neuronal rhythms to control their input to PVN corticotrophin-releasing hormone producing neurons (Jones et al., 2021). Normally, cortisol levels build up throughout the night, reach peak levels around the time of waking, and then steadily decline through the day (Weitzman et al., 1971). Studies have found that aberrant cortisol rhythms can even serve as a predictor of breast, lung, and ovarian cancer mortality, where patients with "flat" or abnormal rhythms show earlier mortality (Sephton et al., 2000, 2013; Schrepf et al., 2015). Experimental studies exploring the mechanistic link between circadian and cortisol rhythm disruption and cancer outcomes may be able to transform this relationship from a prognostic factor to the focus of treatments.

Epidemiological Data and Controversy in the Field

As with many emerging fields, the current epidemiological evidence relating sleep quality, sleep duration, and shift work to subsequent cancer development is controversial. Several epidemiological studies have found that women working night shifts have a significantly elevated risk of breast cancer (Manouchehri et al., 2021). Similar relationships were observed for prostate and gastrointestinal tract cancer (Schernhammer et al., 2003; Kubo et al., 2006). However, several recent systematic reviews and meta-analyses have reported no associations between altered sleep and cancer initiation (Fritschi et al., 2013; Li et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2018). In addition, a recent paper by Titova et al. (2021) employed the use of mendelian randomization (MR), an epidemiologic technique used to determine the causal role of genetic variants for disease risk, to assess the effect of sleep duration on cancer risk. Titova et al. (2021) concluded that the MR study showed a casual association between both short and long sleep duration and risk of some site-specific cancers but not overall cancer. Titova et al. (2021) concluded that there is a lack of robust evidence to support causal associations of sleep duration with risk of overall and site-specific cancers. However, recent prospective studies demonstrate an increased risk of cancer in men who reported sleep duration of 5-6 h per night compared with those who slept 7-8 h (Gu et al., 2016). Given that the current evidence is unclear, additional, well-designed, longitudinal cohort studies examining sleep and cancer are warranted. Future work could uncover the types of cancer that are most closely associated with sleep disturbances, as well as the dose-response relationship for a given sleep-related risk factor. Epidemiological studies are uniquely positioned to evaluate population level relationships that may otherwise go undetected in the laboratory.

Management of Sleep Disruption in Patients

The current approach to managing sleep disturbances in patients with cancer initially focuses on non-pharmacologic treatments, such as sleep hygiene modifications, cognitive behavioral therapy for insomnia (CBTI), and relaxation techniques. CBTI is an evidence-based, structured program that is used to combat insomnia in the general population. Recent trials have found that CBT-I can significantly improve sleep measures in breast cancer survivors and patients undergoing treatment (Savard et al., 2005; Espie et al., 2008; Berger et al., 2009). Results from these studies suggest that cancer patients may benefit from psychological interventions. If these are not available or successful, pharmacologic treatments that have not been thoroughly studied in cancer populations are usually prescribed, such as benzodiazepine receptor agonists (e.g., zolpidem) and benzodiazepines (lorazepam). In a recent survey of cancer patients, 22.6% were taking medication for sleep problems, with half of these patients using the medication every day for longer than 6 months. Long term use of hypnotic medications appears to be widely used by patients with cancer despite limited data regarding long-term efficacy and possible adverse effects, such as daytime sedation and cognitive impairments. Furthermore, chronic use is associated with dependence and offers no real evidence of benefit (Kripke, 2000). The current approach to sleep problems in patients with cancer is not sufficient given the impact sleep disruption has on both quality of life and cancer outcomes. The etiology of cancer induced sleep disruption is likely different than that of the general population, so standard sleep treatments may not offer the same benefit to patients with cancer. Recent advances in fMRI technology and analysis have allowed researchers to accurately screen for vulnerability to sleep deprivation using resting-state network measures coupled with machine learning (Xu et al., 2021). This type of novel screening tool may have useful applications in the context of cancer wherein patients could be assessed for their risk of cancer-induced sleep disruption during the initial stages of their diagnosis and treatment.

Melatonin as a Treatment

Melatonin is a physiological signal of darkness that is associated with sleep in humans. The role of melatonin suppression has been causally investigated as a contributor to increased cancer risk. Thus, considerable research has focused on the role of artificial light exposure during the night and melatonin suppression, which appears to be related to an increased cancer risk (Yang et al., 2014; Jardim-Perassi et al., 2014). In vivo studies have demonstrated that melatonin treatment reduced tumor size and cell proliferation, as well as a decrease in VEGF receptor 2 density, in mice with breast cancer xenografts (Jardim-Perassi et al., 2014). Moreover, important to tumor suppression, melatonin has gained increased notoriety over the last several decades for its antioxidant properties as melatonin influences both antioxidant enzyme activity and cellular mRNA levels for these enzymes (Tan et al., 1993; Steinhilber et al., 1995; Reiter, 1998; Reiter and Maestroni, 1999).

Experimental models and epidemiological studies indicate that melatonin may have an onco-protective role. These studies have shown that melatonin improves the sensitivity of cancers to chemotherapy and has the potential to reverse drug resistance in tumors (Uguz et al., 2012; Dauchy et al., 2014; Xiang et al., 2015). Moreover, melatonin has been shown to inhibit molecular processes associated with metastasis (Su et al., 2017). Prior to cancer initiation, melatonin also serves as a free radical scavenger (Tan et al., 2002), preventing DNA damage that could lead to

oncogenic mutations. Given these findings, a more complete understanding of melatonin in homeostasis and malignancy would be of immediate clinical utility. Melatonin is synthesized by the pineal gland and represents a biological timing signal that is driven by the activity of the SCN of the anterior hypothalamus and synchronized to the light/dark cycle (Claustrat et al., 2005). Experimental studies examining how changes in this neurocircuitry affect oncogenesis, cancer progression, and cancer treatment would be highly valuable to the clinic. For example, bilateral electrolytic lesion of the SCN results in disruption of circadian rhythms and subsequent acceleration of tumor growth (Filipski et al., 2002). Treatment modalities targeting this neurocircuitry or melatonin itself could prove useful in cancer prevention or as an adjuvant of current cancer therapies. The information gathered from these studies should be translated to the clinic, granting providers the knowledge to deliver evidencebased cancer prevention recommendations.

In clinical trials where melatonin was used as an adjuvant therapy with other chemotherapeutic drugs there was enhanced therapeutic efficacy, higher survival rate, and increases sleep and quality of life (Cerea et al., 2003; Lissoni et al., 2003). Support for the anti-cancer properties of melatonin supplementation is less consistent in epidemiological studies. Several studies report a protective role of melatonin in cancer (Basler et al., 2014), while other studies find no significant relationship (Travis et al., 2004; Sturgeon et al., 2014). Thus, melatonin treatment may help resolve the sleep disturbances experienced by patients with cancer while also decreasing tumor progression. However, melatonin is "messy" in that it signals through two distinct receptors on majority of cells and has many receptor-independent effects which could decrease the efficacy of melatonin as a therapeutic strategy in cancer patients.

UNANSWERED QUESTIONS AND FORWARD DIRECTIONS FOR THE FIELD

Employing Modern Neuroscience Techniques to Address These Questions

We are just beginning to appreciate the bi-directional communication between cancer and the nervous system. The last decade has seen an explosion in discoveries regarding the role of nerves in the tumor microenvironment. Recent advances in modern neuroscience techniques have allowed us to expand upon these findings and trace their influence on the central nervous system. These modern techniques (e.g., optogenetics, calcium imaging) should be leveraged to dissect the neural circuits disrupted by cancer, leading to a more complete understanding of the pathophysiology of malignancy. Uncovering the neural correlates of cancer-related sleep disruption has the potential to inform novel treatment approaches and screening tools that will improve patient care and oncology outcomes. Despite recent progress, many questions remain regarding sleep in the context of cancer.

A potential focus for preclinical discovery will be to localize specific sleep-associated brain nuclei deregulated by cancer and

then employ targeted stimulation or inhibition of these circuits to see what their role is in the development of cancer-associated sleep disruption. Advances in neuroimaging, such as serial two photon tomography (STPT), are already allowing researchers to examine how an entire brain responds to selective perturbations (e.g., drug administration, social interaction) (Kim et al., 2015; Ueda et al., 2020). Unbiased screens of cancer-induced changes in neuronal activity will allow for identification and subsequent manipulation of specific neuronal circuits. Neuroendocrine and metabolic changes must also be elucidated as they are closely tied to sleep physiology. Central nervous system sensitivity to immune related changes is another area that will inform many unanswered questions.

A detailed understanding of how cytokines and metabolic factors affect the central nervous system will become increasingly more important as future cancer treatments targeting or harnessing the immune system become more widely used. Immune checkpoint inhibitors, such as antibodies targeting PD-1/PD1 or CLTA-4, and cellular therapy utilizing chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T cells are all likely to alter the cancer-induced cytokine and metabolic milieu. Developing a neuroimmune effector map now will translate into the ability to predict the effects targeted immunotherapies may have on the CNS.

Computational approaches will be key in handling the large amounts of data generated by EEG/polysomnography and pulling out important cancer-related changes in brain function. These include machine learning/artificial intelligence techniques, which can (in certain situations) identify small but important changes in data structure that may be missed by classic sleep

REFERENCES

- Abercrombie, H. C., Giese-Davis, J., Sephton, S., Epel, E. S., Turner-Cobb, J. M., and Spiegel, D. (2004). Flattened cortisol rhythms in metastatic breast cancer patients. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 29, 1082–1092. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen. 2003.11.003
- Adamantidis, A. R., Zhang, F., Aravanis, A. M., Deisseroth, K., and de Lecea, L. (2007). Neural substrates of awakening probed with optogenetic control of hypocretin neurons. *Nature* 450, 420–424. doi: 10.1038/nature06310
- Adamantidis, A., and De Lecea, L. (2009). The hypocretins as sensors for metabolism and arousal. *J. Physiol.* 587, 33–40. doi: 10.1113/jphysiol.2008. 164400
- Ahmadi-Soleimani, S. M., Mianbandi, V., Azizi, H., Azhdari-Zarmehri, H., Ghaemi-Jandabi, M., Abbasi-Mazar, A., et al. (2020). Coregulation of sleeppain physiological interplay by orexin system: an unprecedented review. *Behav. Brain Res.* 391:112650. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr.2020.112650
- Alexandre, C., Latremoliere, A., Ferreira, A., Miracca, G., Yamamoto, M., Scammell, T. E., et al. (2017). Decreased alertness due to sleep loss increases pain sensitivity in mice. *Nat. Med.* 23, 768–774. doi: 10.1038/nm.4329
- Amilhon, B., Huh, C. Y. L., Manseau, F., Ducharme, G., Nichol, H., Adamantidis, A., et al. (2015). Parvalbumin interneurons of hippocampus tune population activity at theta frequency. *Neuron* 86, 1277–1289. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015. 05.027
- Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Marler, M. R., Parker, B. A., Jones, V., Sadler, G. R., et al. (2006). Fatigue, sleep, and circadian rhythms prior to chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Support Care Cancer* 14, 201–209. doi: 10.1007/s00520-005-0861-0
- Andersen, K. G., and Kehlet, H. (2011). Persistent pain after breast cancer treatment: a critical review of risk factors and strategies for prevention. J. Pain 12, 725–746. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2010.12.005

scoring techniques. This will promote a research cycle where computational approaches allow us to generate hypotheses from large datasets that can then be tested and refined *in vivo*. Finally, we need additional input from oncologists, as not all cancers influence sleep in the same way, and the amelioration of these problems will likely require close collaboration with those who know the details of specific cancer-secreted molecules, propensity for neural invasion, and treatment resistance.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AB prepared figures and figure legends. JB supervised the work. All authors designed, wrote, and edited the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by a Pershing Square Foundation Innovation Fund Award, an AACR BCRF NextGen Grant for Transformative Cancer Research (20-20-26-BORN), and BBRF NARSAD Young Investigator award (28291 to JB).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge other members of the Borniger lab for their insightful discussions and support during the preparation of this manuscript.

- Arble, D. M., Ramsey, K. M., Bass, J., and Turek, F. W. (2010). Circadian disruption and metabolic disease: findings from animal models. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 24, 785–800. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2010.08.003
- Aston-Jones, G., and Bloom, F. E. (1981a). Activity of norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats anticipates fluctuations in the sleepwaking cycle. J. Neurosci. 1, 876–886. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.01-08-00876. 1981
- Aston-Jones, G., and Bloom, F. E. (1981b). Norepinephrine-containing locus coeruleus neurons in behaving rats exhibit pronounced responses to nonnoxious environmental stimuli. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 1, 887–900. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.01-08-00887.1981
- Aston-Jones, G., and Cohen, J. D. (2005). An integrative theory of locus coeruleus-norepinephrine function: adaptive gain and optimal performance. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 28, 403–450. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro.28.061604.1 35709
- Balsalobre, A., Brown, S. A., Marcacci, L., Tronche, F., Kellendonk, C., Reichardt, H. M., et al. (2000). Resetting of circadian time in peripheral tissues by glucocorticoid signaling. *Science* 289, 2344–2347. doi: 10.1126/science.289. 5488.2344
- Barnes, P. J. (1998). Anti-inflammatory actions of glucocorticoids: molecular mechanisms. *Clin. Sci.* 94, 557–572. doi: 10.1042/cs0940557
- Basler, M., Jetter, A., Fink, D., Seifert, B., Kullak-Ublick, G. A., and Trojan, A. (2014). Urinary excretion of melatonin and association with breast cancer: meta-analysis and review of the literature. *Breast Care* 9, 182–187. doi: 10.1159/ 000363426
- Bellesi, M., de Vivo, L., Chini, M., Gilli, F., Tononi, G., and Cirelli, C. (2017). Sleep loss promotes astrocytic phagocytosis and microglial activation in mouse cerebral cortex. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 37, 5263–5273. doi: 10.1523/ JNEUROSCI.3981-16.2017

- Benington, J. H., and Craig Heller, H. (1995). Restoration of brain energy metabolism as the function of sleep. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 45, 347–360. doi: 10.1016/ 0301-0082(94)00057-0
- Berger, A. M., Kuhn, B. R., Farr, L. A., Von Essen, S. G., Chamberlain, J., Lynch, J. C., et al. (2009). One-year outcomes of a behavioral therapy intervention trial on sleep quality and cancer-related fatigue. J. Clin. Oncol. 27, 6033–6040. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.20.8306
- Berger, R. J., and Phillips, N. H. (1995). Energy conservation and sleep. *Behav. Brain Res.* 69, 65–73. doi: 10.1016/0166-4328(95)00002-b
- Berridge, C. W., and Waterhouse, B. D. (2003). The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. *Brain Res. Brain Res. Rev.* 42, 33–84. doi: 10.1016/s0165-0173(03)00143-7
- Besedovsky, L., Dimitrov, S., Born, J., and Lange, T. (2016). Nocturnal sleep uniformly reduces numbers of different T-cell subsets in the blood of healthy men. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 311, R637–R642. doi: 10.1152/ ajpregu.00149.2016
- Bonnavion, P., Jackson, A. C., Carter, M. E., and de Lecea, L. (2015). Antagonistic interplay between hypocretin and leptin in the lateral hypothalamus regulates stress responses. *Nat. Commun.* 6:6266. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7266
- Borbély, A. A., Daan, S., Wirz-Justice, A., and Deboer, T. (2016). The two-process model of sleep regulation: a reappraisal. J. Sleep Res. 25, 131–143. doi: 10.1111/ jsr.12371
- Born, J., Lange, T., Hansen, K., Mölle, M., and Fehm, H. L. (1997). Effects of sleep and circadian rhythm on human circulating immune cells. J. Immunol. 158, 4454–4464.
- Borniger, J. C., Walker, W. H., Surbhi, Emmer, K. M., Zhang, N., Zalenski, A. A., et al. (2018). A role for hypocretin/orexin in metabolic and sleep abnormalities in a mouse model of non-metastatic breast cancer. *Cell Metab.* 28, 118–129.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2018.04.021
- Borovikova, L. V., Ivanova, S., Nardi, D., Zhang, M., Yang, H., Ombrellino, M., et al. (2000a). Role of vagus nerve signaling in CNI-1493-mediated suppression of acute inflammation. *Auton. Neurosci.* 85, 141–147. doi: 10.1016/S1566-0702(00)00233-2
- Borovikova, L. V., Ivanova, S., Zhang, M., Yang, H., Botchkina, G. I., Watkins, L. R., et al. (2000b). Vagus nerve stimulation attenuates the systemic inflammatory response to endotoxin. *Nature* 405, 458–462. doi: 10.1038/35013070
- Bredow, S., Guha-Thakurta, N., Taishi, P., Obál, F. Jr., and Krueger, J. M. (1997). Diurnal variations of tumor necrosis factor alpha mrna and Alphatubulin MRNA in rat brain. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 4, 84–90. doi: 10.1159/ 000097325
- Brightwell, J. J., and Taylor, B. K. (2009). Noradrenergic neurons in the locus coeruleus contribute to neuropathic pain. *Neuroscience* 160, 174–185. doi: 10. 1016/j.neuroscience.2009.02.023
- Brooks, P. L., and Peever, J. H. (2012). Identification of the transmitter and receptor mechanisms responsible for REM sleep paralysis. J. Neurosci. 32, 9785–9795. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0482-12.2012
- Budhrani, P., Lengacher, C., Kip, K., Tofthagen, C., and Jim, H. (2015). An integrative review of subjective and objective measures of sleep disturbances in breast cancer survivors. *Clin. J. Oncol. Nurs.* 19, 185–191. doi: 10.1188/15. CJON.185-191
- Buijs, R., van Eden, C., Goncharuk, V., and Kalsbeek, A. (2003). The biological clock tunes the organs of the body: timing by hormones and the autonomic nervous system. J. Endocrinol. 177, 17–26. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1770017
- Cain, D. M., Wacnik, P. W., Turner, M., Wendelschafer-Crabb, G., Kennedy, W. R., Wilcox, G. L., et al. (2001). Functional interactions between tumor and peripheral nerve: changes in excitability and morphology of primary afferent fibers in a murine model of cancer pain. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 21, 9367–9376. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-23-09367.2001
- Canli, Ö, Nicolas, A. M., Gupta, J., Finkelmeier, F., Goncharova, O., Pesic, M., et al. (2017). Myeloid cell-derived reactive oxygen species induce epithelial mutagenesis. *Cancer Cell* 32, 869–883.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.11.004
- Carskadon, M. A., and Dement, W. C. (2005). "Chapter 2 Normal human sleep: an overview," in *Principles and Practice of Sleep Medicine*, eds M. H. Kryger, T. Roth, and W. C. Dement (St.Louis, MO: Elsevier Saunders), 21.
- Cerea, G., Vaghi, M., Ardizzoia, A., Villa, S., Bucovec, R., Mengo, S., et al. (2003). Biomodulation of cancer chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer: a randomized study of weekly low-dose irinotecan alone versus irinotecan plus the oncostatic pineal hormone melatonin in metastatic colorectal cancer

patients progressing on 5-fluorouracil-containing combinations. *Anticancer Res.* 23, 1951–1954.

- Chattu, V. K., Manzar, M. D., Kumary, S., Burman, D., Spence, D. W., and Pandi-Perumal, S. R. (2019). The global problem of insufficient sleep and its serious public health implications. *Healthcare* 7:1. doi: 10.3390/healthcare701 0001
- Chaves, I., van der Eerden, B., Boers, R., Boers, J., Streng, A. A., Ridwan, Y., et al. (2019). Gestational jet lag predisposes to later-life skeletal and cardiac disease. *Chronobiol. Int.* 36, 657–671. doi: 10.1080/07420528.2019.1579734
- Chen, H., Wu, L., Li, Y., Meng, J., Lin, N., Yang, D., et al. (2014). Advanced glycation end products increase carbohydrate responsive element binding protein expression and promote cancer cell proliferation. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* 395, 69–78. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2014.07.021
- Chen, W.-C., Lai, Y.-H., Chen, H.-Y., Guo, H.-R., Su, I.-J., and Chen, H. H. W. (2013). Interleukin-17-producing cell infiltration in the breast cancer tumour microenvironment is a poor prognostic factor. *Histopathology* 63, 225–233. doi: 10.1111/his.12156
- Chen, Y., Tan, F., Wei, L., Li, X., Lyu, Z., Feng, X., et al. (2018). Sleep duration and the risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis including dose-response relationship. *BMC Cancer* 18:1149. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-5025-y
- Ching, S., Zhang, H., Belevych, N., He, L., Lai, W., Pu, X., et al. (2007). Endothelialspecific knockdown of interleukin-1 (IL-1) type 1 receptor differentially alters CNS responses to IL-1 depending on its route of administration. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 27, 10476–10486. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3357-07.2007
- Claustrat, B., Brun, J., and Chazot, G. (2005). The basic physiology and pathophysiology of melatonin. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 9, 11–24. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv. 2004.08.001
- Coffelt, S. B., Kersten, K., Doornebal, C. W., Weiden, J., Vrijland, K., Hau, C.-S., et al. (2015). IL-17-producing γδ T cells and neutrophils conspire to promote breast cancer metastasis. *Nature* 522, 345–348. doi: 10.1038/nature14282
- Cohen, S., Janicki-Deverts, D., and Miller, G. E. (2007). Psychological stress and disease. JAMA 298, 1685–1687.
- Colgin, L. L. (2013). Mechanisms and functions of theta rhythms. Annu. Rev Neurosci. 36, 295–312. doi: 10.1146/annurev-neuro-062012-170330
- Cooper, C. L., Cooper, R., and Faragher, E. B. (1989). Incidence and perception of psychosocial stress: the relationship with breast cancer. *Psychol. Med.* 19, 415–422. doi: 10.1017/s0033291700012459
- Costa, V. D., and Rudebeck, P. H. (2016). More than meets the eye: the relationship between pupil size and locus coeruleus activity. *Neuron* 89, 8–10. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuron.2015.12.031
- Coutinho, A. E., and Chapman, K. E. (2011). The anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects of glucocorticoids, recent developments and mechanistic insights. *Mol. Cell Endocrinol.* 335, 2–13. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2010. 04.005
- Cuddapah, V. A., Zhang, S. L., and Sehgal, A. (2019). Regulation of the bloodbrain barrier by circadian rhythms and sleep. *Trends Neurosci.* 42, 500–510. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2019.05.001
- Dauchy, R. T., Xiang, S., Mao, L., Brimer, S., Wren, M. A., Yuan, L., et al. (2014). Circadian and melatonin disruption by exposure to light at night drives intrinsic resistance to tamoxifen therapy in breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 74, 4099–4110. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3156
- Davidson, J. R., MacLean, A. W., Brundage, M. D., and Schulze, K. (2002). Sleep disturbance in cancer patients. Soc. Sci. Med. 54, 1309–1321.
- De Lorenzo, B. H. P., de Oliveira Marchioro, L., Greco, C. R., and Suchecki, D. (2015). Sleep-deprivation reduces NK cell number and function mediated by β-adrenergic signalling. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 57, 134–143. doi: 10.1016/j. psyneuen.2015.04.006
- De Lorenzo, B. H. P., Novaes e Brito, R. R., Paslar Leal, T., Piqueira Garcia , N., Martins dos Santos, R. M., Alvares-Saraiva, A. M., et al. (2018). Chronic sleep restriction impairs the antitumor immune response in mice. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 25, 59–67. doi: 10.1159/000490352
- Demir, I. E., Friess, H., and Ceyhan, G. O. (2015). Neural plasticity in pancreatitis and pancreatic cancer. Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 12, 649–659. doi: 10. 1038/nrgastro.2015.166
- Depner, C. M., Stothard, E. R., and Wright, K. P. (2014). Metabolic consequences of sleep and circadian disorders. *Curr. Diab. Rep.* 14:507. doi: 10.1007/s11892-014-0507-z

- Devi, S., Alexandre, Y. O., Loi, J. K., Gillis, R., Ghazanfari, N., Creed, S. J., et al. (2021). Adrenergic regulation of the vasculature impairs leukocyte interstitial migration and suppresses immune responses. *Immunity* 54, 1219–1230.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2021.03.025
- Dibner, C., Schibler, U., and Albrecht, U. (2010). The mammalian circadian timing system: organization and coordination of central and peripheral clocks. *Annu. Rev. Physiol.* 72, 517–549. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-021909-135821
- Ding, F., O'Donnell, J., Xu, Q., Kang, N., Goldman, N., and Nedergaard, M. (2016). Changes in the composition of brain interstitial ions control the sleep-wake cycle. *Science* 352, 550–555. doi: 10.1126/science.aad4821
- Dranoff, G. (2004). Cytokines in cancer pathogenesis and cancer therapy. Nat. Rev. Cancer 4, 11–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc1252
- Du, J.-W., Xu, K.-Y., Fang, L.-Y., and Qi, X.-L. (2012). Interleukin-17, produced by lymphocytes, promotes tumor growth and angiogenesis in a mouse model of breast cancer. *Mol. Med. Rep.* 6, 1099–1102. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2012.1036
- Ennis, M., Aston-Jones, G., and Shiekhattar, R. (1992). Activation of locus coeruleus neurons by nucleus paragigantocellularis or noxious sensory stimulation is mediated by intracoerulear excitatory amino acid neurotransmission. *Brain Res.* 598, 185–195. doi: 10.1016/0006-8993(92) 90182-9
- Espie, C., Fleming, L., Cassidy, J., Samuel, L., Taylor, L., White, C., et al. (2008). Randomized controlled clinical effectiveness trial of cognitive behavior therapy compared with treatment as usual for persistent insomnia in patients with cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 26, 4651–4658. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2007.13.9006
- Fadda, P., and Fratta, W. (1997). Stress-induced sleep deprivation modifies corticotropin releasing factor (crf) levels and crf binding in rat brain and pituitary. *Pharmacol. Res.* 35, 443–446. doi: 10.1006/phrs.1997.0155
- Faraut, B., Boudjeltia, K. Z., Dyzma, M., Rousseau, A., David, E., Stenuit, P., et al. (2011). Benefits of napping and an extended duration of recovery sleep on alertness and immune cells after acute sleep restriction. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 25, 16–24. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.08.001
- Faulkner, S., Jobling, P., March, B., Jiang, C. C., and Hondermarck, H. (2019). Tumor neurobiology and the war of nerves in cancer. *Cancer Discov.* 9, 702–710. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1398
- Fehniger, T. A., Suzuki, K., Ponnappan, A., VanDeusen, J. B., Cooper, M. A., Florea, S. M., et al. (2001). Fatal leukemia in interleukin 15 transgenic mice follows early expansions in natural killer and memory phenotype CD8+ T cells. *J. Exp. Med.* 193, 219–232. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.2.219
- Ferrie, J. E., Kumari, M., Salo, P., Singh-Manoux, A., and Kivimäki, M. (2011). Sleep epidemiology—a rapidly growing field. *Int. J. Epidemiol.* 40, 1431–1437. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyr203
- Filipski, E., King, V. M., Li, X., Granda, T. G., Mormont, M.-C., Liu, X., et al. (2002). Host circadian clock as a control point in tumor progression. JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 94, 690–697. doi: 10.1093/jnci/94.9.690
- Fiorentino, L., Rissling, M., Liu, L., and Ancoli-Israel, S. (2011). The symptom cluster of sleep, fatigue and depressive symptoms in breast cancer patients: severity of the problem and treatment options. *Drug Discov. Today Dis. Models* 8, 167–173. doi: 10.1016/j.ddmod.2011.05.001
- Focà, A., Nicoletta, P., Matera, G., Mastroeni, P., and Caputi, A. P. (1983). Antidipsogenic effect of endotoxin in the rat. *Circ. Shock* 11, 341–350.
- Foote, S. L., Bloom, F. E., and Aston-Jones, G. (1983). Nucleus locus ceruleus: new evidence of anatomical and physiological specificity. *Physiol. Rev.* 63, 844–914. doi: 10.1152/physrev.1983.63.3.844
- Foster, D., Spruill, L., Walter, K. R., Nogueira, L. M., Fedarovich, H., Turner, R. Y., et al. (2014). AGE metabolites: a biomarker linked to cancer disparity? *Cancer Epidemiol. Prev. Biomarkers* 23, 2186–2191. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0564
- Francis, N., and Borniger, J. C. (2021). Cancer as a homeostatic challenge: the role of the hypothalamus. *Trends Neurosci.* 44, 903–914. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2021. 08.008
- Frauscher, B., von Ellenrieder, N., Dubeau, F., and Gotman, J. (2016). EEG desynchronization during phasic REM sleep suppresses interictal epileptic activity in humans. *Epilepsia* 57, 879–888. doi: 10.1111/epi.13389
- Fritschi, L., Erren, T. C., Glass, D. C., Girschik, J., Thomson, A. K., Saunders, C., et al. (2013). The association between different night shiftwork factors and breast cancer: a case-control study. *Br. J. Cancer* 109, 2472–2480. doi: 10.1038/ bjc.2013.544

- Fu, L., and Lee, C. C. (2003). The circadian clock: pacemaker and tumour suppressor. Nat. Rev. Cancer 3, 350–361. doi: 10.1038/nrc1072
- Garofalo, S., Picard, K., Limatola, C., Nadjar, A., Pascual, O., and Tremblay, M. -È (2020). "Role of glia in the regulation of sleep in health and disease," in *Comprehensive Physiology*, ed. Y. S. Prakash (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons), 687–712. doi: 10.1002/cphy.c190022
- Geerling, J. C., Mettenleiter, T. C., and Loewy, A. D. (2003). Orexin neurons project to diverse sympathetic outflow systems. *Neuroscience* 122, 541–550. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2003.07.008
- Geyer, S. (1991). Life events prior to manifestation of breast cancer: a limited prospective study covering eight years before diagnosis. J. Psychosom. Res. 35, 355–363. doi: 10.1016/0022-3999(91)90090-b
- Gidron, Y., Perry, H., and Glennie, M. (2005). Does the vagus nerve inform the brain about preclinical tumours and modulate them? *Lancet Oncol.* 6, 245–248. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(05)70096-6
- Ginsberg, A., Price, S., Ingram, D., and Nottage, E. (1996). Life events and the risk of breast cancer: a case-control study. *Eur. J. Cancer* 32, 2049–2052. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(96)00275-4
- Greten, F. R., and Grivennikov, S. I. (2019). Inflammation and cancer: triggers, mechanisms, and consequences. *Immunity* 51, 27–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2019.06.025
- Grivennikov, S. I. (2013). Inflammation and colorectal cancer: colitis-associated neoplasia. Semin. Immunopathol. 35, 229–244. doi: 10.1007/s00281-012-0352-6
- Grivennikov, S., Karin, E., Terzic, J., Mucida, D., Yu, G.-Y., Vallabhapurapu, S., et al. (2009). IL-6 and stat3 are required for survival of intestinal epithelial cells and development of colitis-associated cancer. *Cancer Cell* 15, 103–113. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2009.01.001
- Grossberg, A. J., Zhu, X., Leinninger, G. M., Levasseur, P. R., Braun, T. P., Myers, M. G., et al. (2011). Inflammation-induced lethargy is mediated by suppression of orexin neuron activity. *J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci.* 31, 11376–11386. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2311-11.2011
- Gu, F., Xiao, Q., Chu, L. W., Yu, K., Matthews, C. E., Hsing, A. W., et al. (2016). Sleep duration and cancer in the NIH-AARP diet and health study cohort. *PLoS One* 11:e0161561. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161561
- Hagan, J. J., Leslie, R. A., Patel, S., Evans, M. L., Wattam, T. A., Holmes, S., et al. (1999). Orexin A activates locus coeruleus cell firing and increases arousal in the rat. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 10911–10916. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.19. 10911
- Hakim, F., Wang, Y., Zhang, S. X. L., Zheng, J., Yolcu, E. S., Carreras, A., et al. (2014). Fragmented sleep accelerates tumor growth and progression through recruitment of tumor-associated macrophages and tlr4 signaling. *Cancer Res.* 74, 1329–1337. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3014
- Hansen, J. (2001). Increased breast cancer risk among women who work predominantly at night. *Epidemiology* 12, 74–77. doi: 10.1097/00001648-200101000-00013
- Hansen, M. K., and Krueger, J. M. (1997). Subdiaphragmatic vagotomy blocks the sleep- and fever-promoting effects of interleukin-1beta. Am. J. Physiol. 273, R1246–R1253. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.1997.273.4.R1246
- Hauglund, N. L., Pavan, C., and Nedergaard, M. (2020). Cleaning the sleeping brain – the potential restorative function of the glymphatic system. *Curr. Opin. Physiol.* 15, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.cophys.2019.10.020
- Hayakawa, Y., Sakitani, K., Konishi, M., Asfaha, S., Niikura, R., Tomita, H., et al. (2017). Nerve growth factor promotes gastric tumorigenesis through aberrant cholinergic signaling. *Cancer Cell* 31, 21–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.11.005
- He, J., Hsuchou, H., He, Y., Kastin, A. J., Mishra, P. K., Fang, J., et al. (2014a). Leukocyte infiltration across the blood-spinal cord barrier is modulated by sleep fragmentation in mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *Fluids Barriers CNS* 11:27. doi: 10.1186/2045-8118-11-27
- He, J., Hsuchou, H., He, Y., Kastin, A. J., Wang, Y., and Pan, W. (2014b). Sleep restriction impairs blood-brain barrier function. J. Neurosci. 34, 14697–14706. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2111-14.2014
- Honore, P., Luger, N. M., Sabino, M. A., Schwei, M. J., Rogers, S. D., Mach, D. B., et al. (2000a). Osteoprotegerin blocks bone cancer-induced skeletal destruction, skeletal pain and pain-related neurochemical reorganization of the spinal cord. *Nat. Med.* 6, 521–528. doi: 10.1038/74999
- Honore, P., Rogers, S. D., Schwei, M. J., Salak-Johnson, J. L., Luger, N. M., Sabino, M. C., et al. (2000b). Murine models of inflammatory, neuropathic and cancer

pain each generates a unique set of neurochemical changes in the spinal cord and sensory neurons. *Neuroscience* 98, 585–598. doi: 10.1016/s0306-4522(00) 00110-x

- Hosoi, T., Okuma, Y., and Nomura, Y. (2000). Electrical stimulation of afferent vagus nerve induces IL-1beta expression in the brain and activates HPA axis. *Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol.* 279, R141–R147. doi: 10.1152/ ajpregu.2000.279.1.R141
- Howorth, P. W., Teschemacher, A. G., and Pickering, A. E. (2009). Retrograde adenoviral vector targeting of nociresponsive pontospinal noradrenergic neurons in the rat in vivo. *J. Comp. Neurol.* 512, 141–157. doi: 10.1002/cne. 21879
- Huang, J., Song, P., Hang, K., Chen, Z., Zhu, Z., Zhang, Y., et al. (2021). Sleep deprivation disturbs immune surveillance and promotes the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Front. Immunol.* 12:3499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021. 727959
- Huang, W., Ramsey, K. M., Marcheva, B., and Bass, J. (2011). Circadian rhythms, sleep, and metabolism. J. Clin. Invest. 121, 2133–2141.
- Hudson, J. D., Shoaibi, M. A., Maestro, R., Carnero, A., Hannon, G. J., and Beach, D. H. A. (1999). Proinflammatory cytokine inhibits p53 tumor suppressor activity. J. Exp. Med. 190, 1375–1382. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.10.1375
- Hurtado-Alvarado, G., Velázquez-Moctezuma, J., and Gómez-González, B. (2017). Chronic sleep restriction disrupts interendothelial junctions in the hippocampus and increases blood-brain barrier permeability. J. Microsc. 268, 28–38. doi: 10.1111/jmi.12583
- Hwang, D.-Y., Carlezon, W. A., Isacson, O., and Kim, K.-S. A. (2001). Highefficiency synthetic promoter that drives transgene expression selectively in noradrenergic neurons. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 12, 1731–1740. doi: 10.1089/ 104303401750476230
- Ingiosi, A. M., Hayworth, C. R., Harvey, D. O., Singletary, K. G., Rempe, M. J., Wisor, J. P., et al. (2020). A role for astroglial calcium in mammalian sleep and sleep regulation. *Curr. Biol.* 30, 4373–4383.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2020.08.052
- Innominato, P. F., Spiegel, D., Ulusakarya, A., Giacchetti, S., Bjarnason, G. A., Lévi, F., et al. (2015). Subjective sleep and overall survival in chemotherapynaïve patients with metastatic colorectal cancer. *Sleep Med.* 16, 391–398. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2014.10.022
- Inutsuka, A., and Yamanaka, A. (2013). The physiological role of orexin/hypocretin neurons in the regulation of sleep/wakefulness and neuroendocrine functions. *Front. Endocrinol.* 4:18.
- Irwin, M. R., and Cole, S. W. (2011). Reciprocal regulation of the neural and innate immune systems. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 11, 625–632. doi: 10.1038/nri3042
- Irwin, M. R., Carrillo, C., and Olmstead, R. (2010). Sleep loss activates cellular markers of inflammation: sex differences. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 54–57. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2009.06.001
- Irwin, M. R., Wang, M., Campomayor, C. O., Collado-Hidalgo, A., and Cole, S. (2006). Sleep deprivation and activation of morning levels of cellular and genomic markers of inflammation. *Arch. Intern. Med.* 166, 1756–1762. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.16.1756
- Irwin, M. R., Witarama, T., Caudill, M., Olmstead, R., and Breen, E. C. (2015). Sleep loss activates cellular inflammation and signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) family proteins in humans. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 47, 86–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.09.017
- Ishibashi, Y., Matsui, T., Takeuchi, M., and Yamagishi, S. (2013). Metformin inhibits advanced glycation end products (ages)-induced growth and vegf expression in mcf-7 breast cancer cells by suppressing ages receptor expression via amp-activated protein kinase. *Horm. Metab. Res.* 45, 387–390. doi: 10.1055/ s-0032-1331204
- Jardim-Perassi, B. V., Arbab, A. S., Ferreira, L. C., Borin, T. F., Varma, N. R. S., Iskander, A. S. M., et al. (2014). Effect of melatonin on tumor growth and angiogenesis in xenograft model of breast cancer. *PLoS One* 9:e85311. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0085311
- Jiao, L., Stolzenberg-Solomon, R., Zimmerman, T. P., Duan, Z., Chen, L., Kahle, L., et al. (2015). Dietary consumption of advanced glycation end products and pancreatic cancer in the prospective NIH-AARP Diet and Health Study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 101, 126–134. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.098061
- Jin, W., and Dong, C. (2013). IL-17 cytokines in immunity and inflammation. Emerg. Microbes Infect. 2, 1–5. doi: 10.1038/emi.2013.58
- Jones, J. R., Chaturvedi, S., Granados-Fuentes, D., and Herzog, E. D. (2021). Circadian neurons in the paraventricular nucleus entrain and sustain daily

rhythms in glucocorticoids. Nat. Commun. 12:5763. doi: 10.1038/s41467-021-25959-9

- Joshi, S., Li, Y., Kalwani, R. M., and Gold, J. I. (2016). Relationships between pupil diameter and neuronal activity in the locus coeruleus, colliculi, and cingulate cortex. *Neuron* 89, 221–234. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.11.028
- Kakizaki, M., Kuriyama, S., Sone, T., Ohmori-Matsuda, K., Hozawa, A., Nakaya, N., et al. (2008). Sleep duration and the risk of breast cancer: the Ohsaki Cohort Study. Br. J. Cancer 99, 1502–1505. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6604684
- Kamiya, A., Hayama, Y., Kato, S., Shimomura, A., Shimomura, T., Irie, K., et al. (2019). Genetic manipulation of autonomic nerve fiber innervation and activity and its effect on breast cancer progression. *Nat. Neurosci.* 22, 1289–1305. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0430-3
- Karin, M., and Greten, F. R. (2005). NF-κB: linking inflammation and immunity to cancer development and progression. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 5, 749–759. doi: 10.1038/nri1703
- Kebir, H., Kreymborg, K., Ifergan, I., Dodelet-Devillers, A., Cayrol, R., Bernard, M., et al. (2007). Human TH17 lymphocytes promote blood-brain barrier disruption and central nervous system inflammation. *Nat. Med.* 13, 1173–1175. doi: 10.1038/nm1651
- Kiessling, S., Beaulieu-Laroche, L., Blum, I. D., Landgraf, D., Welsh, D. K., Storch, K.-F., et al. (2017). Enhancing circadian clock function in cancer cells inhibits tumor growth. *BMC Biol.* 15:13. doi: 10.1186/s12915-017-0349-7
- Kim, J., Chuang, H.-C., Wolf, N. K., Nicolai, C. J., Raulet, D. H., Saijo, K., et al. (2021). Tumor-induced disruption of the blood-brain barrier promotes host death. *Dev. Cell* 56, 2712–2721.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2021.08.010
- Kim, Y., Venkataraju, K. U., Pradhan, K., Mende, C., Taranda, J., Turaga, S. C., et al. (2015). Mapping social behavior-induced brain activation at cellular resolution in the mouse. *Cell Rep.* 10, 292–305. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2014.12.014
- Kim-Fuchs, C., Le, C. P., Pimentel, M. A., Shackleford, D., Ferrari, D., Angst, E., et al. (2014). Chronic stress accelerates pancreatic cancer growth and invasion: a critical role for beta-adrenergic signaling in the pancreatic microenvironment. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 40, 40–47. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2014.02.019
- Kipnis, J. (2016). Multifaceted interactions between adaptive immunity and the central nervous system. *Science* 353, 766–771. doi: 10.1126/science.aag2638
- Kleitman, N. (1933). Studies on the physiology of sleep. VIII. Diurnal variation in performance. Am. J. Physiol. 104, 449–456.
- Koh, K., Hamada, A., Hamada, Y., Yanase, M., Sakaki, M., Someya, K., et al. (2015). Possible involvement of activated locus coeruleus–noradrenergic neurons in pain-related sleep disorders. *Neurosci. Lett.* 589, 200–206. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet. 2014.12.002
- Kripke, D. F. (2000). Chronic hypnotic use: deadly risks, doubtful benefit: review article. Sleep Med. Rev. 4, 5–20. doi: 10.1053/smrv.1999.0076
- Kubo, T., Ozasa, K., Mikami, K., Wakai, K., Fujino, Y., Watanabe, Y., et al. (2006). Prospective cohort study of the risk of prostate cancer among rotating-shift workers: findings from the japan collaborative cohort study. *Am. J. Epidemiol.* 164, 549–555. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwj232
- Kuru, M., Ueta, Y., Serino, R., Nakazato, M., Yamamoto, Y., Shibuya, I., et al. (2000). Centrally administered orexin/hypocretin activates HPA axis in rats. *NeuroReport* 11, 1977–1980. doi: 10.1097/00001756-200006260-00034
- Le, C. P., Nowell, C. J., Kim-Fuchs, C., Botteri, E., Hiller, J. G., Ismail, H., et al. (2016). Chronic stress in mice remodels lymph vasculature to promote tumour cell dissemination. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10634. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10634
- Le, T. T., Payne, S. L., Buckwald, M. N., Hayes, L. A., Burge, C. B., and Oudin, M. J. (2021). Sensory Nerves Enhance Triple-Negative Breast Cancer Migration And Metastasis Via The Axon Guidance Molecule PlexinB3 [Internet]. Available online at: https://www.biorxiv.org/content/10.1101/2021. 12.07.471585v1 [Accessed Dec 15, 2021]
- Lesku, J. A., Roth, T. C., Rattenborg, N. C., Amlaner, C. J., and Lima, S. L. (2008). Phylogenetics and the correlates of mammalian sleep: a reappraisal. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 12, 229–244. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2007.10.003
- Lesnikov, V. A., Efremov, O. M., Korneva, E. A., Van Damme, J., and Billiau, A. (1991). Fever produced by intrahypothalamic injection of interleukin-1 and interleukin-6. *Cytokine* 3, 195–198. doi: 10.1016/1043-4666(91)9 0016-7
- Li, S.-B., Borniger, J. C., Yamaguchi, H., Hédou, J., Gaudilliere, B., and de Lecea, L. (2020). Hypothalamic Circuitry Underlying Stress-Induced Insomnia And Peripheral Immunosuppression. Sci Adv [Internet]. Available online at: https: //www.science.org/doi/abs/10.1126/sciadv.abc2590 [Accessed Jan 10, 2022]

- Li, W., Ray, R. M., Thomas, D. B., Davis, S., Yost, M., Breslow, N., et al. (2015). Shift work and breast cancer among women textile workers in Shanghai, China. *Cancer Causes Control.* 26, 143–150. doi: 10.1007/s10552-014-0493-0
- Liebig, C., Ayala, G., Wilks, J. A., Berger, D. H., and Albo, D. (2009). Perineural invasion in cancer: a review of the literature. *Cancer* 115, 3379–3391. doi: 10.1002/cncr.24396
- Lin, E. Y., Nguyen, A. V., Russell, R. G., and Pollard, J. W. (2001). Colonystimulating factor 1 promotes progression of mammary tumors to malignancy. *J. Exp. Med.* 193, 727–740. doi: 10.1084/jem.193.6.727
- Lin, J.-A., Wu, C.-H., Lu, C.-C., Hsia, S.-M., and Yen, G.-C. (2016). Glycative stress from advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and dicarbonyls: an emerging biological factor in cancer onset and progression. *Mol. Nutr. Food Res.* 60, 1850–1864. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201500759
- Lissoni, P., Chilelli, M., Villa, S., Cerizza, L., and Tancini, G. (2003). Five years survival in metastatic non-small cell lung cancer patients treated with chemotherapy alone or chemotherapy and melatonin: a randomized trial. *J. Pineal Res.* 35, 12–15. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-079x.2003.00032.x
- Liu, X., Chen, B., Huang, Z., Duan, R., Li, H., Xie, L., et al. (2021). Effects of poor sleep on the immune cell landscape as assessed by single-cell analysis. *Commun. Biol.* 4, 1–15. doi: 10.1038/s42003-021-02859-8
- Liu, Y., Rodenkirch, C., Moskowitz, N., Schriver, B., and Wang, Q. (2017). Dynamic lateralization of pupil dilation evoked by locus coeruleus activation results from sympathetic, not parasympathetic, contributions. *Cell Rep.* 20, 3099–3112. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.08.094
- Llorca-Torralba, M., Borges, G., Neto, F., Mico, J. A., and Berrocoso, E. (2016). Noradrenergic locus coeruleus pathways in pain modulation. *Neuroscience* 338, 93–113. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2016.05.057
- Lorton, D., Lubahn, C. L., Estus, C., Millar, B. A., Carter, J. L., Wood, C. A., et al. (2006). Bidirectional communication between the brain and the immune system: implications for physiological sleep and disorders with disrupted sleep. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 13, 357–374. doi: 10.1159/000104864
- Manouchehri, E., Taghipour, A., Ghavami, V., Ebadi, A., Homaei, F., and Latifnejad Roudsari, R. (2021). Night-shift work duration and breast cancer risk: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMC Womens Health* 21:89. doi: 10.1186/s12905-021-01233-4
- Mantyh, P. (2013). Bone cancer pain: causes, consequences, and therapeutic opportunities. *PAIN*[®] 154, S54–S62. doi: 10.1016/j.pain.2013.07.044
- Mantyh, P. W. (2006). Cancer pain and its impact on diagnosis, survival and quality of life. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 7, 797–809. doi: 10.1038/nrn1914
- Mantyh, P. W., Clohisy, D. R., Koltzenburg, M., and Hunt, S. P. (2002). Molecular mechanisms of cancer pain. Nat. Rev. Cancer 2, 201–209. doi: 10.1038/nrc747
- Maragno-Correa, J. M. R., Patti, C. L., Zanin, K. A., Wuo-Silva, R., Ruiz, F. S., Zager, A., et al. (2013). Sleep deprivation increases mortality in female mice bearing Ehrlich ascitic tumor. *Neuroimmunomodulation* 20, 134–140. doi: 10. 1159/000346201
- McCall, J. G., Al-Hasani, R., Siuda, E. R., Hong, D. Y., Norris, A. J., Ford, C. P., et al. (2015). CRH engagement of the locus coeruleus noradrenergic system mediates stress-induced anxiety. *Neuron* 87, 605–620. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2015.07.002
- Medina-Flores, F., Hurtado-Alvarado, G., Contis-Montes de Oca, A., López-Cervantes, S. P., Konigsberg, M., Deli, M. A., et al. (2020). Sleep loss disrupts pericyte-brain endothelial cell interactions impairing blood-brain barrier function. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 89, 118–132.
- Minkel, J., Moreta, M., Muto, J., Htaik, O., Jones, C., Basner, M., et al. (2014). Sleep deprivation potentiates HPA axis stress reactivity in healthy adults. *Health Psychol. Off. J. Div. Health Psychol. Am. Psychol. Assoc.* 33, 1430–1434. doi: 10.1037/a0034219
- Mohammad Ahmadi Soleimani, S., Azizi, H., Mirnajafi-Zadeh, J., and Semnanian, S. (2015). Orexin type 1 receptor antagonism in rat locus coeruleus prevents the analgesic effect of intra-LC met-enkephalin microinjection. *Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav.* 136, 102–106. doi: 10.1016/j.pbb.2015.07.010
- Mohammad-Pour Kargar, H., Azizi, H., Mirnajafi-Zadeh, J., Ali Reza, M., and Semnanian, S. (2015). Microinjection of orexin-A into the rat locus coeruleus nucleus induces analgesia via cannabinoid type-1 receptors. *Brain Res.* 1624, 424–432. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2015.07.050
- Monje, M., Borniger, J. C., D'Silva, N. J., Deneen, B., Dirks, P. B., Fattahi, F., et al. (2020). Roadmap for the emerging field of cancer neuroscience. *Cell* 181, 219–222. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.03.034

- Muroya, S., Funahashi, H., Yamanaka, A., Kohno, D., Uramura, K., Nambu, T., et al. (2004). Orexins (hypocretins) directly interact with neuropeptide Y, POMC and glucose-responsive neurons to regulate Ca2+ signaling in a reciprocal manner to leptin: orexigenic neuronal pathways in the mediobasal hypothalamus. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 19, 1524–1534. doi: 10.1111/j.1460-9568.2004. 03255.x
- Murphy, P. R., O'Connell, R. G., O'Sullivan, M., Robertson, I. H., and Balsters, J. H. (2014). Pupil diameter covaries with BOLD activity in human locus coeruleus. *Hum. Brain Mapp.* 35, 4140–4154. doi: 10.1002/hbm.22466
- Murray, E. J., Williams, H. L., and Lubin, A. (1958). Body temperature and psychological ratings during sleep deprivation. J. Exp. Psychol. 56, 271–273. doi: 10.1037/h0048421
- Nakagawa, S., Deli, M. A., Kawaguchi, H., Shimizudani, T., Shimono, T., Kittel, Á, et al. (2009). A new blood-brain barrier model using primary rat brain endothelial cells, pericytes and astrocytes. *Neurochem. Int.* 54, 253–263. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2008.12.002
- Nicolau, M. C., Akaårir, M., Gamundí, A., González, J., and Rial, R. V. (2000). Why we sleep: the evolutionary pathway to the mammalian sleep. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 62, 379–406. doi: 10.1016/s0301-0082(00)00013-7
- Nowak, N., Gaisl, T., Miladinovic, D., Marcinkevics, R., Osswald, M., Bauer, S., et al. (2021). Rapid and reversible control of human metabolism by individual sleep states. *Cell Rep.* 37:109903. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.109903
- O'Keefe, J. (1993). Hippocampus, theta, and spatial memory. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 3, 917–924. doi: 10.1016/0959-4388(93)90163-s
- Opp, M. R. (2005). Cytokines and sleep. Sleep Med. Rev. 9, 355–364. doi: 10.1016/j. smrv.2005.01.002
- Opp, M. R., George, A., Ringgold, K. M., Hansen, K. M., Bullock, K. M., and Banks, W. A. (2015). Sleep fragmentation and sepsis differentially impact blood–brain barrier integrity and transport of tumor necrosis factor-α in aging. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 50, 259–265. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.07.023
- Palesh, O. G., Roscoe, J. A., Mustian, K. M., Roth, T., Savard, J., Ancoli-Israel, S., et al. (2010). Prevalence, demographics, and psychological associations of sleep disruption in patients with cancer: university of rochester cancer center– community clinical oncology program. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 28, 292–298. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2009.22.5011
- Palesh, O., Aldridge-Gerry, A., Zeitzer, J. M., Koopman, C., Neri, E., Giese-Davis, J., et al. (2014). Actigraphy-measured sleep disruption as a predictor of survival among women with advanced breast cancer. *Sleep* 37, 837–842. doi: 10.5665/ sleep.3642
- Penttonen, M., Kamondi, A., Acsády, L., and Buzsáki, G. (1998). Gamma frequency oscillation in the hippocampus of the rat: intracellular analysis in vivo. *Eur. J. Neurosci.* 10, 718–728. doi: 10.1046/j.1460-9568.1998.00096.x
- Pike, F. G., Goddard, R. S., Suckling, J. M., Ganter, P., Kasthuri, N., and Paulsen, O. (2000). Distinct frequency preferences of different types of rat hippocampal neurones in response to oscillatory input currents. *J. Physiol.* 529, 205–213. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-7793.2000.00205.x
- Prinz, M., and Priller, J. (2017). The role of peripheral immune cells in the CNS in steady state and disease. *Nat. Neurosci.* 20, 136–144. doi: 10.1038/nn.4475
- Quan, N., and Banks, W. A. (2007). Brain-immune communication pathways. Brain Behav. Immun. 21, 727–735. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2021.109085
- Reiter, R. J. (1998). Oxidative damage in the central nervous system: protection by melatonin. Prog. Neurobiol. 56, 359–384. doi: 10.1016/s0301-0082(98)00052-5
- Reiter, R. J., and Maestroni, G. J. M. (1999). Melatonin in relation to the antioxidative defense and immune systems: possible implications for cell and organ transplantation. J. Mol. Med. 77, 36–39. doi: 10.1007/s001090050297
- Rolls, A., Borg, J. S., and de Lecea, L. (2010). Sleep and metabolism: role of hypothalamic neuronal circuitry. *Best Pract. Res. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* 24, 817–828. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2010.08.002
- Romanovsky, A. A. (2005). Fever and hypothermia in systemic inflammation: recent discoveries and revisions. *Front. Biosci.* 10:2193. doi: 10.2741/1690
- Rothwell, P. M., Fowkes, F. G. R., Belch, J. F., Ogawa, H., Warlow, C. P., and Meade, T. W. (2011). Effect of daily aspirin on long-term risk of death due to cancer: analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. *Lancet* 377, 31–41. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62110-1
- Ryu, T. Y., Park, J., and Scherer, P. E. (2014). Hyperglycemia as a risk factor for cancer progression. *Diabetes Metab. J.* 38, 330–336. doi: 10.4093/dmj.2014.38. 5.330

- Sahar, S., and Sassone-Corsi, P. (2009). Metabolism and cancer: the circadian clock connection. Nat. Rev. Cancer 9, 886–896. doi: 10.1038/nrc2747
- Sakurai, T. (2005). Roles of orexin/hypocretin in regulation of sleep/wakefulness and energy homeostasis. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 9, 231–241. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2004. 07.007
- Sakurai, T. (2007). The neural circuit of orexin (hypocretin): maintaining sleep and wakefulness. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 8, 171–181. doi: 10.1038/nrn2092
- Saloman, J. L., Albers, K. M., Li, D., Hartman, D. J., Crawford, H. C., Muha, E. A., et al. (2016). Ablation of sensory neurons in a genetic model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma slows initiation and progression of cancer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 3078–3083. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1512603113
- Samuels, E. R., and Szabadi, E. (2008a). Functional neuroanatomy of the noradrenergic locus coeruleus: its roles in the regulation of arousal and autonomic function Part I: principles of functional organisation. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 6, 235–253. doi: 10.2174/157015908785777229
- Samuels, E. R., and Szabadi, E. (2008b). Functional neuroanatomy of the noradrenergic locus coeruleus: its roles in the regulation of arousal and autonomic function Part II: physiological and pharmacological manipulations and pathological alterations of locus coeruleus activity in humans. *Curr. Neuropharmacol.* 6, 254–285. doi: 10.2174/157015908785777193
- Savard, J., Ivers, H., Villa, J., Caplette-Gingras, A., and Morin, C. M. (2011). Natural course of insomnia comorbid with cancer: an 18-month longitudinal study. J. Clin. Oncol. 29, 3580–3586. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2010.33.2247
- Savard, J., Simard, S., Blanchet, J., Ivers, H., and Morin, C. M. (2001). Prevalence, clinical characteristics, and risk factors for insomnia in the context of breast cancer. *Sleep* 24, 583–590. doi: 10.1093/sleep/24.5.583
- Savard, J., Simard, S., Ivers, H., and Morin, C. M. (2005). Randomized study on the efficacy of cognitive-behavioral therapy for insomnia secondary to breast cancer, part I: sleep and psychological effects. J. Clin. Oncol. Off. J. Am. Soc. Clin. Oncol. 23, 6083–6096. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.09.548
- Savvidis, C., and Koutsilieris, M. (2012). Circadian rhythm disruption in cancer biology. *Mol. Med.* 18, 1249–1260. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2012.00077
- Schernhammer, E. S., Kroenke, C. H., Laden, F., and Hankinson, S. E. (2006). Night work and risk of breast cancer. *Epidemiology* 17, 108–111. doi: 10.1097/01.ede. 0000190539.03500.c1
- Schernhammer, E. S., Laden, F., Speizer, F. E., Willett, W. C., Hunter, D. J., Kawachi, I., et al. (2003). Night-shift work and risk of colorectal cancer in the nurses' health study. JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 95, 825–828. doi: 10.1093/jnci/95.11.825
- Schrepf, A., Thaker, P. H., Goodheart, M. J., Bender, D., Slavich, G. M., Dahmoush, L., et al. (2015). Diurnal cortisol and survival in epithelial ovarian cancer. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 53, 256–267. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2015.01.010
- Schwitalla, S., Fingerle, A. A., Cammareri, P., Nebelsiek, T., Göktuna, S. I., Ziegler, P. K., et al. (2013). Intestinal tumorigenesis initiated by dedifferentiation and acquisition of stem-cell-like properties. *Cell* 152, 25–38. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012. 12.012
- Senatus, L. M., and Schmidt, A. M. (2017). The AGE-RAGE axis: implications for age-associated arterial diseases. *Front. Genet.* 8:187. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2017. 00187
- Sephton, S. E., Lush, E., Dedert, E. A., Floyd, A. R., Rebholz, W. N., Dhabhar, F. S., et al. (2013). Diurnal cortisol rhythm as a predictor of lung cancer survival. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 30, S163–S170. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2012.07.019
- Sephton, S. E., Sapolsky, R. M., Kraemer, H. C., and Spiegel, D. (2000). Diurnal cortisol rhythm as a predictor of breast cancer survival. *JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 92, 994–1000. doi: 10.1093/jnci/92.12.994
- Shimomoto, T., Luo, Y., Ohmori, H., Chihara, Y., Fujii, K., Sasahira, T., et al. (2012). Advanced glycation end products (AGE) induce the receptor for AGE in the colonic mucosa of azoxymethane-injected Fischer 344 rats fed with a high-linoleic acid and high-glucose diet. J. Gastroenterol. 47, 1073–1083. doi: 10.1007/s00535-012-0572-5
- Siclari, F., Bernardi, G., Cataldi, J., and Tononi, G. (2018). Dreaming in NREM Sleep: a high-density eeg study of slow waves and spindles. J. Neurosci. Off. J. Soc. Neurosci. 38, 9175–9185. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0855-18.2018
- Siegel, J. M. (2008). Do all animals sleep? Trends Neurosci. 31, 208–213. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2008.02.001
- Siegel, J. M. (2009). Sleep viewed as a state of adaptive inactivity. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 10, 747–753. doi: 10.1038/nrn2697
- Sklar, L. S., and Anisman, H. (1981). Stress and cancer. Psychol. Bull. 89, 369-406.

- Sloan, E. K., Priceman, S. J., Cox, B. F., Yu, S., Pimentel, M. A., Tangkanangnukul, V., et al. (2010). The sympathetic nervous system induces a metastatic switch in primary breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* 70, 7042–7052. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-10-0522
- So, M., Hashimoto, H., Saito, R., Yamamoto, Y., Motojima, Y., Ueno, H., et al. (2018). Inhibition of ghrelin-induced feeding in rats by pretreatment with a novel dual orexin receptor antagonist. J. Physiol. Sci. 68, 129–136. doi: 10.1007/ s12576-016-0517-5
- Spiegel, K., Leproult, R., and Van Cauter, E. (1999). Impact of sleep debt on metabolic and endocrine function. *Lancet* 354, 1435–1439. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(99)01376-8
- Steinhilber, D., Brungs, M., Werz, O., Wiesenberg, I., Danielsson, C., Kahlen, J.-P., et al. (1995). The nuclear receptor for melatonin represses 5-lipoxygenase gene expression in human b lymphocytes (*). J. Biol. Chem. 270, 7037–7040. doi: 10.1074/jbc.270.13.7037
- Steriade, M. (2003). The corticothalamic system in sleep. Front. Biosci. 8:d878– d899. doi: 10.2741/1043
- Sturgeon, S. R., Doherty, A., Reeves, K. W., Bigelow, C., Stanczyk, F. Z., Ockene, J. K., et al. (2014). Urinary levels of melatonin and risk of postmenopausal breast cancer: women's health initiative observational cohort. *Cancer Epidemiol. Biomarkers Prev.* 23, 629–637. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-13-1028
- Su, S.-C., Hsieh, M.-J., Yang, W.-E., Chung, W.-H., Reiter, R. J., and Yang, S.-F. (2017). Cancer metastasis: mechanisms of inhibition by melatonin. *J. Pineal Res.* 62, e12370. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12370
- Suh, S., and Kim, K.-W. (2011). Diabetes and cancer: is diabetes causally related to cancer. *Diabetes Metab. J.* 35, 193–198. doi: 10.4093/dmj.2011.35.3.193
- Taishi, P., Bredow, S., Guha-Thakurta, N., Obál, F., and Krueger, J. M. (1997). Diurnal variations of interleukin-1β mRNA and β-actin mRNA in rat brain. *J. Neuroimmunol.* 75, 69–74. doi: 10.1016/s0165-5728(97)00002-7
- Takino, J.-I., Yamagishi, S.-I., and Takeuchi, M. (2010). Cancer malignancy is enhanced by glyceraldehyde-derived advanced glycation end-products. J. Oncol. 2010:e739852. doi: 10.1155/2010/739852
- Tan, D., Reiter, R. J., Manchester, L. C., Yan, M., El-Sawi, M., Sainz, R. M., et al. (2002). Chemical and physical properties and potential mechanisms: melatonin as a broad spectrum antioxidant and free radical scavenger. *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.* 2, 181–197. doi: 10.2174/1568026023394443
- Tan, D.-X., Pöeggeler, B., Reiter, R. J., Chen, L.-D., Chen, S., Lucien, M. C., et al. (1993). The pineal hormone melatonin inhibits DNA-adduct formation induced by the chemical carcinogen safrole in vivo. *Cancer Lett.* 70, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/0304-3835(93)90076-1
- Taylor, B. K., and Westlund, K. N. (2017). The noradrenergic locus coeruleus as a chronic pain generator. J. Neurosci. Res. 95, 1336–1346. doi: 10.1002/jnr.23956
- Titova, O. E., Michaëlsson, K., Vithayathil, M., Mason, A. M., Kar, S., Burgess, S., et al. (2021). Sleep duration and risk of overall and 22 site-specific cancers: a mendelian randomization study. *Int. J. Cancer* 148, 914–920. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 33286
- Tracey, K. J. (2002). The inflammatory reflex. *Nature* 420, 853–859. doi: 10.1038/ nature01321
- Tracey, K. J. (2007). Physiology and immunology of the cholinergic antiinflammatory pathway. J. Clin. Invest. 117, 289–296. doi: 10.1172/JCI30555
- Travis, R. C., Allen, D. S., Fentiman, I. S., and Key, T. J. (2004). Melatonin and breast cancer: a prospective study. *JNCI J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 96, 475–482. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djh077
- Tyree, S. M., Borniger, J. C., and de Lecea, L. (2018). Hypocretin as a hub for arousal and motivation. *Front. Neurol.* 9:413. doi: 10.3389/fneur.2018.00413
- Ueda, H. R., Dodt, H.-U., Osten, P., Economo, M. N., Chandrashekar, J., and Keller, P. J. (2020). Whole-brain profiling of cells and circuits in mammals by tissue clearing and light-sheet microscopy. *Neuron* 106, 369–387. doi: 10.1016/ j.neuron.2020.03.004
- Uguz, A. C., Cig, B., Espino, J., Bejarano, I., Naziroglu, M., Rodríguez, A. B., et al. (2012). Melatonin potentiates chemotherapy-induced cytotoxicity and apoptosis in rat pancreatic tumor cells. *J. Pineal Res.* 53, 91–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-079X.2012.00974.x
- Valentino, R. J., and Van Bockstaele, E. (2008). Convergent regulation of locus coeruleus activity as an adaptive response to stress. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 583, 194–203. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2007.11.062
- Van Dycke, K. C. G., Rodenburg, W., van Oostrom, C. T. M., van Kerkhof, L. W. M., Pennings, J. L. A., Roenneberg, T., et al. (2015). Chronically alternating light

cycles increase breast cancer risk in mice. *Curr. Biol.* 25, 1932–1937. doi: 10. 1016/j.cub.2015.06.012

- Vertes, R. P. (1984). Brainstem control of the events of rem sleep. *Prog. Neurobiol.* 22, 241–288. doi: 10.1016/0301-0082(84)90020-0
- Vigneri, P., Frasca, F., Sciacca, L., Pandini, G., and Vigneri, R. (2009). Diabetes and cancer. *Endocr. Relat. Cancer* 16, 1103–1123.
- Voronov, E., Shouval, D. S., Krelin, Y., Cagnano, E., Benharroch, D., Iwakura, Y., et al. (2003). IL-1 is required for tumor invasiveness and angiogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 2645–2650. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0437939100
- Walker, M. P., and Stickgold, R. (2006). Sleep, memory, and plasticity. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 57, 139–166.
- Walker, W. H., and Borniger, J. C. (2019). Molecular mechanisms of cancerinduced sleep disruption. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 20:2780. doi: 10.3390/ijms2011 2780
- Wang, H., Yu, M., Ochani, M., Amella, C. A., Tanovic, M., Susarla, S., et al. (2003). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptor alpha7 subunit is an essential regulator of inflammation. *Nature* 421, 384–388. doi: 10.1038/nature01339
- Wardill, H. R., Mander, K. A., Van Sebille, Y. Z. A., Gibson, R. J., Logan, R. M., Bowen, J. M., et al. (2016). Cytokine-mediated blood brain barrier disruption as a conduit for cancer/chemotherapy-associated neurotoxicity and cognitive dysfunction. *Int. J. Cancer* 139, 2635–2645. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30252
- Webster, J. C., Oakley, R. H., Jewell, C. M., and Cidlowski, J. A. (2001). Proinflammatory cytokines regulate human glucocorticoid receptor gene expression and lead to the accumulation of the dominant negative β isoform: A mechanism for the generation of glucocorticoid resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 6865–6870. doi: 10.1073/pnas.121455098
- Weitzman, E. D., Fukushima, D., Nogeire, C., Roffwarg, H., Gallagher, T. F., and Hellman, L. (1971). Twenty-four hour pattern of the episodic secretion of cortisol in normal subjects. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 33, 14–22. doi: 10.1210/ jcem-33-1-14
- Wu, M.-F., John, J., Maidment, N., Lam, H. A., and Siegel, J. M. (2002). Hypocretin release in normal and narcoleptic dogs after food and sleep deprivation, eating, and movement. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 283, R1079–R1086. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00207.2002
- Xiang, S., Dauchy, R. T., Hauch, A., Mao, L., Yuan, L., Wren, M. A., et al. (2015). Doxorubicin resistance in breast cancer is driven by light at nightinduced disruption of the circadian melatonin signal. *J. Pineal Res.* 59, 60–69. doi: 10.1111/jpi.12239

- Xie, L., Kang, H., Xu, Q., Chen, M. J., Liao, Y., Thiyagarajan, M., et al. (2013). Sleep drives metabolite clearance from the adult brain. *Science* 342, 373–377. doi: 10.1126/science.1241224
- Xu, Y., Yu, P., Zheng, J., Wang, C., Hu, T., Yang, Q., et al. (2021). Classifying vulnerability to sleep deprivation using resting-state functional MRI graph theory metrics. *Front. Neurosci.* 15:660365. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2021.660365
- Yamanaka, A., Beuckmann, C. T., Willie, J. T., Hara, J., Tsujino, N., Mieda, M., et al. (2003). Hypothalamic orexin neurons regulate arousal according to energy balance in mice. *Neuron* 38, 701–713. doi: 10.1016/s0896-6273(03)00331-3
- Yang, W.-S., Deng, Q., Fan, W.-Y., Wang, W.-Y., and Wang, X. (2014). Light exposure at night, sleep duration, melatonin, and breast cancer: a doseresponse analysis of observational studies. *Eur. J. Cancer Prev.* 23, 269–276. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.000000000000030
- Yehuda, S., Sredni, B., Carasso, R. L., and Kenigsbuch-Sredni, D. (2009). REM sleep deprivation in rats results in inflammation and interleukin-17 elevation. *J. Interferon Cytokine Res.* 29, 393–398. doi: 10.1089/jir.2008.0080
- Yu, H., Pardoll, D., and Jove, R. (2009). STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 9, 798–809. doi: 10.1038/ nrc2734
- Zahalka, A. H., and Frenette, P. S. (2020). Nerves in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 20, 143–157. doi: 10.1038/s41568-019-0237-2

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Berisha, Shutkind and Borniger. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Sleep Disturbance and Its Association With Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and Attention in Pediatric Brain Tumor Survivors

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Joy Perrier, INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, France

Reviewed by:

Milenna Van Dijk, New York State Psychiatric Institute (NYSPI), United States Elizabeth Begyn, Indiana University Bloomington, United States

*Correspondence:

Peter L. Stavinoha PStavinoha@mdanderson.org

[†]Present address:

Muhammad Usman Baig, Department of Pediatrics, Loma Linda University School of Medicine, Loma Linda, CA, United States

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

> **Received:** 13 April 2022 **Accepted:** 07 June 2022 **Published:** 23 June 2022

Citation:

Olsthoorn IM, Holland AA, Hawkins RC II, Cornelius AE, Baig MU, Yang G, Holland DC, Zaky W and Stavinoha PL (2022) Sleep Disturbance and Its Association With Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and Attention in Pediatric Brain Tumor Survivors. Front. Neurosci. 16:918800. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.918800 Ineke M. Olsthoorn¹, Alice Ann Holland^{2,3}, Raymond C. Hawkins II⁴, Allen E. Cornelius⁴, Muhammad Usman Baig^{5†}, Grace Yang⁵, Daniel C. Holland⁴, Wafik Zaky⁵ and Peter L. Stavinoha^{5*}

¹ Department of Neurology, McGovern Medical School, University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston (UT Health), Houston, TX, United States, ² Department of Psychiatry, University of Texas Southwestern Medical School, Dallas, TX, United States, ³ Department of Psychiatry, Children's Medical Center of Dallas, Dallas, TX, United States, ⁴ School of Psychology, Fielding Graduate University, Santa Barbara, CA, United States, ⁵ Department of Pediatrics, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Houston, TX, United States

Background: Pediatric brain tumor (PBT) survivors are at risk for developing sleep disturbances. While in other pediatric populations sleep disturbance has been associated with worse cognitive functioning, it is unclear to what extent this relationship generalizes to PBT survivors. The aim of the current study was to assess the relationship between sleep disturbance and aspects of cognition, including sluggish cognitive tempo (SCT) as well as attention and working memory.

Materials and Methods: Eighty-three PBT survivors 6–18 years of age who were at least 3 months post-treatment were included in the present cross-sectional study. Level of sleep disturbance was measured as a composite score reflecting various sleep problems as rated by caregivers. Cognitive measures included caregiverratings of sluggish cognitive tempo and attention problems, as well as performance-based cognitive measures assessing attention and executive functioning. Hierarchical regression analysis was used to assess associations between sleep and cognition.

Results: Of all caregivers, 32.5% reported one or more sleep disturbances as "very/often true" and over 68% of caregivers rated at least one sleep-related item as "somewhat true." Of all cognitive variables, scores were most frequently impaired for SCT (30%). A higher level of sleep disturbance was associated with worse SCT and parent-rated attention problems. Associations between sleep and performance-based cognitive measures assessing attention and working memory were not statistically significant.

Conclusion: Findings of the current study highlight the importance of further investigation into the relationship between sleep and cognition in PBT survivors, which may assist efforts to maximize cognitive outcome and health-related quality of life in PBT

98

survivors. The current study additionally suggests further investigation of SCT in this population is warranted, as it may be more sensitive to detecting possible associations with sleep disturbance relative to discrete measures that assess cognitive performance under ideal circumstances.

Keywords: sleep, sluggish cognitive tempo, attention, executive functioning, pediatric, brain tumor survivor, cancer

INTRODUCTION

As survival rates for children and adolescents diagnosed with a brain tumor have improved, the importance of maximizing health-related quality of life (HRQOL) in pediatric brain tumor (PBT) survivors has been increasingly recognized (Burns et al., 2016; Netson et al., 2016). Cognitive dysfunction has been related to worse quality of life in PBT survivors, and understanding risk factors for cognitive dysfunction may inform prevention and treatment recommendations to maximize cognitive outcomes. Many factors have been found to be associated with cognitive impairments in PBT survivors, including—both collectively and individually—the tumor, secondary neurological complications, and treatment-related factors such as radiation therapy, chemotherapy, and surgery (Hardy et al., 2008; Tonning Olsson et al., 2014; Taiwo et al., 2017; Ikonomidou, 2018).

A less extensively researched factor that may impact cognitive functioning and HRQOL in PBT survivors is suboptimal sleep (Daniel et al., 2016; Merz and Tomfohr-Madsen, 2016), especially since sleep disruption has been associated with reduced HRQOL in broad samples of pediatric cancer patients and survivors (Kaleyias et al., 2012; Steur et al., 2016). In healthy pediatric populations, it has been shown that suboptimal sleep may negatively affect brain maturation and the associated development of cognitive functions (Peirano and Algarín, 2007; Astill et al., 2012). Sleep disturbances have been associated with changes in networks related to working memory and attention, including the frontal-parietal and default mode networks (de Havas et al., 2012; Nie et al., 2015; Yeo et al., 2015; Krause et al., 2017; Tashjian et al., 2018). Additionally, disrupted sleep may result in changes in motivation and effort perception which, in turn, may affect performance (Robert and Hockey, 1997; Hockey, 2011, 2013; Monk, 2012; Massar et al., 2019).

Relevant to PBT survivors, it is noteworthy that in healthy children and adolescents, shorter sleep duration has been particularly associated with worse performance on cognitive tests assessing working memory, processing speed, and sustained attention (Astill et al., 2012; Vriend et al., 2013; Louca and Short, 2014)—functions which are commonly compromised in PBT survivors (Ullrich and Embry, 2012; Wolfe et al., 2012; Hoang et al., 2014). Furthermore, it is known that PBT survivors have an elevated risk for sleep difficulties (Gapstur et al., 2009; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Nolan et al., 2013; Brimeyer et al., 2016; Desaulniers et al., 2018). Estimates of the prevalence of sleep problems in PBT survivors have ranged from 20 to 82% (Brimeyer et al., 2016; Pilotto et al., 2018; van Kooten et al., 2019), as compared to rates of 12–25% in healthy populations (Melendres et al., 2004; van Litsenburg et al., 2010). The wide range of estimates for PBT survivors reflects that sleep disturbances are often described as general symptoms rather than specific to criteria for a sleep disorder (Otte et al., 2015; Daniel et al., 2020). Sleep disturbances can persist into adulthood for pediatric cancer survivors (Zhou and Recklitis, 2014; Daniel et al., 2020). In fact, excessive daytime sleepiness has been found to be more common in survivors of pediatric brain tumors as compared to survivors of other pediatric cancers (Verberne et al., 2012).

A range of sleep disturbances have been observed in pediatric cancer patients and survivors, including insomnia, excessive daytime sleepiness, poor sleep quality, circadian rhythm disorders, parasomnias, and sleep-disordered breathing (van Someren et al., 2004; Rosen and Brand, 2011; Nolan et al., 2013; Zhou and Recklitis, 2014; Sheikh et al., 2021). Various mechanisms have been proposed to explain elevated rates of sleep disturbances in children diagnosed with cancer (Daniel et al., 2016; Merz and Tomfohr-Madsen, 2016). Potential contributing factors are those specific to the disease and its treatment (e.g., damage to brain areas involved in sleep; Mandrell et al., 2020; Klages et al., 2021; Sheikh et al., 2021), environmental factors (e.g., sleep disruption due to hospitalizations or spending excessive time in bed; Hinds et al., 2007; Linder and Christian, 2012; Lee et al., 2017), family factors (e.g., increased distress or conflict due to altered family dynamics; Pai et al., 2007; El-Sheikh et al., 2012; Marcus, 2012; Pollock et al., 2013; Wiener et al., 2017), psychological factors specific to the child (e.g., traumatic stress, anxiety or depression; Shah et al., 2015; McDonnell et al., 2017; Kim et al., 2020), and reduced physical activity (Orsey et al., 2013; Antwi et al., 2019).

One construct that has been associated with sleep disturbances in both healthy adolescents as well as children and adolescents with neurodevelopmental conditions (such as ADHD) is sluggish cognitive tempo (SCT; e.g., Mayes et al., 2021; Fredrick et al., 2022), which refers to a set of symptoms that includes mental fogginess and confusion, slowed behavior/thinking, daydreaming, feelings of confusion, and low motivation (Becker et al., 2016). However, SCT does not merely reflect a cluster of individually measurable cognitive functions (Becker, 2021), and its empirical differentiation from constructs such as internalizing emotional disorders (e.g., anxiety, depression) and ADHDrelated symptoms (e.g., inattention and hyperactivity) suggests it should be seen as a distinct entity (Smith et al., 2019). SCT has

Abbreviations: CBCL, Child Behavior Checklist; CPT-II, Conners Continuous Performance Test, Second Edition; DSF, Digit Span Forward; DSB, Digit Span Backward; PBT, pediatric brain tumor; GAI, general ability index; HRQOL, health-related quality of life; Hit RT, Hit Reaction Time; NPS, Neurological Predictor Scale; SES, socioeconomic status; SCT, sluggish cognitive tempo; WAIS-IV, Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale–Fourth Edition; WISC-IV/V, Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children–Fourth Edition/Fifth Edition.

also been found to be distinct from excessive daytime sleepiness (Langberg et al., 2014; Smith et al., 2019), and in fact has been shown to mediate the relationship between sleep disturbance and academic performance in a sample of healthy children (O'Hare et al., 2021). In recent years, SCT has been associated with deficits in various cognitive functions that are commonly observed in the PBT population—namely, working memory, cognitive speed, attention, and executive function (Becker et al., 2016; Stavinoha et al., 2018; Kofler et al., 2019; Rey-Casserly and Diver, 2019). Researchers have additionally noted that the concept of SCT offers a unique framework for understanding the neurocognitive challenges faced by PBT survivors (Kahalley et al., 2011; Willard et al., 2013; Peterson et al., 2021). However, to our knowledge, SCT has not explicitly been studied in relation to sleep disturbances in PBT survivors.

Regarding cognitive functions commonly associated with SCT in PBT survivors, studies of children with mixed neurological conditions have demonstrated that worse sleep quality relates to worse performance on measures of attention, working memory, and cognitive efficiency (McCann et al., 2018a,b). In adult oncology populations, researchers have also observed associations between sleep and self-rated cognitive impairment, memory, and attention (Chen et al., 2012; Jean-Pierre et al., 2015; Myers et al., 2015; von Ah and Tallman, 2015; Janelsins et al., 2016), as well as associations between sleep and performance on measures of verbal and executive functioning (Caplette-Gingras et al., 2013; Hartman et al., 2015). Furthermore, in adult survivors of pediatric cancer, insomnia has been related to worse performance on measures of executive functioning, attention, processing speed, and other cognitive functions (Tonning Olsson et al., 2020).

Nonetheless, scant research has investigated sleep and cognition in survivors of pediatric cancer who have not yet reached adulthood. Associations between sleep disturbance and performance on executive functioning and processing speed measures have been observed in female survivors of acute lymphoblastic leukemia (Cheung et al., 2017), and sleep disturbances have been associated with worse executive functioning in mixed PBT samples (van Kooten et al., 2019). Conversely, studies of small samples of children and adolescents with craniopharyngioma have not demonstrated a relationship between excessive daytime sleepiness and cognitive outcomes such as attention and executive functions (Jacola et al., 2016). A recent study identified a relationship between cognitive speed and fatigue among pediatric survivors of posterior fossa tumors (Levitch et al., 2022), but this investigation did not isolate sleep disturbances as separate from fatigue. Sleep and fatigue are distinct concepts in pediatric oncology, with fatigue defined more as a lack of energy and feeling of exhaustion not necessarily associated with sleepiness (Walter et al., 2015).

The need for more sleep research in pediatric cancer populations, including investigations of the role of sleep in neurocognitive outcomes, has been highlighted in a recent position paper by the International Psycho-Oncology Society Pediatrics Special Interest Group (Daniel et al., 2020). Sleep represents a potentially modifiable target for intervention to possibly improve aspects of HRQOL and related cognitive performance in domains that are particularly vulnerable after treatment for PBT. Given the relationships that have been identified between sleep and cognition in healthy children and adolescents, adult cancer survivors, and pediatric samples with various neurologic conditions, the purpose of the current study was to first examine the association between sleep disturbance and sluggish cognitive tempo (SCT) in a clinical sample of PBT survivors. Because SCT is associated with cognitive vulnerabilities that commonly occur in PBT survivors, a secondary aim was to examine the association between sleep disturbance and the specific cognitive functions of working memory, reaction speed, and attention. We hypothesized that sleep disturbance would be associated with greater SCT, and that performance on individual cognitive domains of attention, working memory, and reaction time would be poorer as sleep disturbance increased.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The data for the current cross-sectional, retrospective study were obtained from a referred sample of PBT survivors seen for neuropsychological evaluation between January 1, 2005, and July 24, 2019, at the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, Department of Pediatrics, in Houston, TX, United States. The study was approved by Institutional Review Board (IRB) of the University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. In addition to the administration of cognitive tests to PBT survivors as part of clinical evaluations, caregivers completed standardized questionnaires regarding their child. All included participants had a history of a brain tumor and had completed treatment. PBT survivors were defined as having completed all tumor-directed active treatment (i.e., surgery, chemotherapy, radiation) at least 3 months prior to evaluation, a cutoff that has been used previously (Barrera et al., 2018). Other inclusion criteria included an age range between 6:0 and 18:11 years (to align with the measures of interest) and completion of neuropsychological testing in either English or Spanish. Although participants were not systematically screened for other neurological or neurodevelopmental conditions during the clinical assessment, children who were determined to have a developmental delay not explained by their brain tumor (e.g., predating tumor diagnosis) based on a review of medical records by a neuropsychologist were excluded from analysis. Of 90 identified potential participants, a total of 83 met inclusion criteria. Demographic and medical characteristics of the sample are summarized in Table 1. The age of the participants at the time of neuropsychological evaluation ranged from 6 years, 4 months to 18 years, 9 months (M = 12.48 years, SD = 3.12 years).

Measures

Child Behavior Checklist Sleep Composite

The Child Behavior Checklist [CBCL/6-18; (Achenbach and Rescorla, 2001)] was used to measure parent-reported sleep disturbance. The CBCL is a rating scale of behavioral functioning with well-established psychometric properties in clinical,

TABLE 1 Demographic and medical characteristics of p	participants.
--	---------------

	Min.	Max.	М	SD
Age at evaluation	6.33	18.75	12.48	3.11
Age at diagnosis	0.16	16.75	7.56	4.44
Years of treatment	0.42	15.17	3.53	2.96
General cognitive ability	42	127	96.24	15.46
Disease burden (Neurological Predictor Scale)	1	11	4.76	2.22
			n	%
Gender				
Male			35	42.2
Female			48	57.8
Ethnicity				
Caucasian			48	57.8
Black			6	7.2
Hispanic/Latino			22	26.5
Asian/Asian American			5	6.0
Hawaiian			1	1.2
Unknown			1	1.2
Socioeconomic status				
I–High			15	18.1
Ш			19	22.9
III			25	30.1
IV			10	12.0
V–Low			9	10.8
Unknown			5	6.0
Tumor type				
Medulloblastoma			10	12.0
Juvenile pilocytic astrocytoma/other astrocytoma			24	28.9
Ependymoma			7	8.4
Glioma			7	8.4
Germ cell tumor			7	8.4
Craniopharyngioma			5	6.0
Retinoblastoma			4	4.8
Optic glioma			3	3.6
Primitive neuro-ectodermal tumor (PNET)			2	2.4
Mixed or other tumor			14	16.9
Treatment ^a				
Radiation therapy			59	71.1
Chemotherapy			47	56.6
Surgery			70	84.3
N = 83.				

N = 83.

^aReflects the number and percentage of participants who received specific cancer treatments per medical record.

non-clinical, cross-cultural, and Spanish speaking populations (e.g., Achenbach and Rescorla, 2001; Ivanova et al., 2007; Rescorla et al., 2007; Lubke et al., 2009). Although this measure was not originally designed with a specific scale measuring sleep functioning, a number of items describe aspects of sleep, reflecting the disturbances "nightmare" (item 47), "tired" (item 54), "sleeps less" (item 76), "sleeps more" (item 77), "sleep walk" (item 92), "sleep problem" (item 100), and "wets bed" (item 108). A summed CBCL sleep composite score has

been previously utilized to measure sleep in pediatric samples (Gregory et al., 2011; Beebe et al., 2014; Becker et al., 2015b), which will be referred to in the current study as the CBCL Sleep Composite. All items are rated on a 3-point scale ("not true," "somewhat/sometimes true," and "very true/often true") as occurring "now or in the past 6 months," with higher scores reflecting a higher level of sleep disturbance (Achenbach and Rescorla, 2001; Becker et al., 2015b).

Several validation studies of the CBCL Sleep Composite provide support for the convergent and discriminant validity of the CBCL Sleep Composite as a screening measure for sleep disturbance in archival studies (e.g., Gregory et al., 2011; Becker et al., 2015b; Murray et al., 2016; Rondon et al., 2020). The CBCL Sleep Composite has been used in a range of studies investigating the relationship between sleep disturbance and clinical variables, including cognition (e.g., Murray et al., 2016; Hambrick et al., 2018; Rondon et al., 2020).

The present study used the CBCL Sleep Composite with six items-in the current investigation referred to as the CBCL Sleep Composite-6-based on an assessment of the internal consistency of the full scale seven-item scale (i.e., CBCL Sleep Composite-7) as compared to the internal consistency of the CBCL Sleep Composite-6. First, a reliability analysis was performed to determine the internal consistency of the CBCL Sleep Composite-7, as used in prior research (e.g., Beebe et al., 2014). The overall scale's internal consistency, Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.58$, was below the recommended minimum cutoff value of $\alpha = 0.60$ (Nunnally and Bernstein, 1994). The correlation between the item "wets bed" and the total CBCL Sleep Composite-7 score was inverse (r = -0.03) and substantially lower than the recommended 0.30 (Field, 2009). The extent to which bed wetting stems from sleep disturbance is not well understood (Al-Omar et al., 2014), and in the present study, the greatest increase in alpha came from deleting this item.

A second reliability analysis was conducted to determine the internal consistency of the CBCL Sleep Composite-6, which revealed fair internal consistency for the CBCL Sleep Composite-6, with Cronbach's $\alpha = 0.62$, similar to the internal consistency observed in several prior studies using this 6-item scale (Becker et al., 2015b; Rondon et al., 2018). None of the remaining items were indicated to increase Cronbach's α further if deleted. While the items "sleeps less," "sleeps more," and "sleep walk" remained relatively weakly correlated with the overall CBCL Sleep Composite-6 score (i.e., r's = 0.250–0.291), this was unsurprising as the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 scale includes various sleep difficulties that are not necessarily expected to coexist (Gregory and O'Connor, 2002). Based on these results, the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 scale was selected as the primary measure of sleep disturbance in the current study.

Child Behavior Checklist Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and Attention Problems Subscales

The CBCL for ages 6–18 years was used to assess sluggish cognitive tempo and attention (Achenbach and Rescorla, 2001). The CBCL includes a specific Sluggish Cognitive Tempo subscale that has been previously used to assess SCT in PBT survivors (e.g., Willard et al., 2013) and was the primary measure of

interest. The CBCL SCT subscale yields an age/gender normed T-score (M = 50, SD = 10), with higher scores representative of poorer functioning.

The CBCL Attention Problems subscale also yields an age/gender normed T-score (M = 50, SD = 10), with higher scores representative of poorer functioning. As compared to clinic-based discrete measures of cognitive functions such as attention, the CBCL Attention Problems subscale provides information based on caregiver/parent observation over a long period of time in the child's everyday environment.

The combination of the CBCL SCT and Attention Problems subscales has been utilized previously investigating aspects of attention and SCT in mixed cancers, including PBT survivors (Willard et al., 2013).

Wechsler Digit Span Forward and Backward

Clinical assessment of attention and working memory included the Digit Span subtest of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Fourth Edition (WISC-IV; Wechsler, 2003), either the English or the Spanish version of the Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children, Fifth Edition (WISC-V; Wechsler, 2003, 2014), or the Wechsler Adult Intelligence Scale, Fourth Edition (WAIS-IV; Wechsler, 2008), based on each participant's age. The WISC-IV, WISC-V, and WAIS-IV have been combined in previous research investigating the relationship between sleep and cognition (e.g., McCurdy et al., 2016; Sali et al., 2018; Calhoun et al., 2019). The subtests Digit Span Forward (DSF) and Digit Span Backward (DSB) were included. While DSF involves listening to and repeating sequences of numbers in the same order, DSB requires listening to and repeating sequences of numbers in the reverse order, with comparable instructions between the WISC-IV, WISC-V, and WAIS-IV versions (Wechsler, 2003, 2014; Calhoun et al., 2019). Norm-referenced scaled scores (M = 10, SD = 3) for the total number of correctly repeated sequences were used as an outcome measure, with higher scores reflecting a better performance. The WISC-V DSF and DSB split-half reliabilities are good (i.e., r = 0.81 and r = 0.80, respectively). WISC-IV, WISC-V, and WAIS-IV DSF and DSB test-retest reliabilities are adequate to good (i.e., corrected r = 0.74-0.82; Wechsler, 2003, 2008, 2014). The DSF and DSB subtests have been used previously in studies investigating the relationship between sleep and cognition (McCann et al., 2018a,b).

Conners Continuous Performance Test, Second Edition

The Conners Continuous Performance Test, Second Edition (CPT-II; Conners, 2000) is a computer-administered task measuring aspects of attention and reaction time. The test takes approximately 14 min to complete and requires the test-taker to press a key as quickly as possible after a letter appears on the screen, while refraining from pressing the key when the letter is an "X." Split-half reliabilities are adequate, ranging between r = 0.66 and 0.95, and test-retest reliabilities are excellent for individuals in a neurological assessment setting. The test can differentiate between clinical and non-clinical groups (Homack and Riccio, 2006) and has been used before in studies investigating the relationship between cognition and sleep (Kuula

et al., 2015). Omissions (i.e., missed targets), Hit Reaction Time (Hit RT), and Commissions were used to measure visual sustained attention and response speed.

Demographic and Control Variables *Disease Burden*

In all analyses investigating the association between sleep disturbance and cognitive functioning, disease burden was included as a control variable, as a higher impact of disease and treatment factors has been related to lower cognitive functioning in PBT survivors (e.g., Taiwo et al., 2017), and is hypothesized to negatively affect sleep (Merz and Tomfohr-Madsen, 2016). Thus, when not controlled for disease burden, a relationship between sleep disturbance and cognition could merely reflect the impact of the disease and treatment. The Neurological Predictor Scale (Micklewright et al., 2008) was used to quantify neuro-oncological risk factors, as this measure provides a single, cumulative estimate of the exposure to tumorand treatment-related risk factors (Micklewright et al., 2008). The NPS consists of four items, which represent various sources of neuro-oncological risk including tumor-related complications (e.g., the presence of a hormone deficiency, hydrocephalus, or antiepileptic medication), surgical events, radiation therapy, and chemotherapy. Total raw scores have been analyzed as a continuous variable in prior studies (Micklewright et al., 2008; Taiwo et al., 2017) and range from 0 to 16, with higher values reflecting a higher level of disease burden. In the present study, the scores were calculated by a physician based on information obtained from the medical records. The reliability and concurrent validity of the NPS has been demonstrated in both children and adults surviving pediatric brain tumors (Micklewright et al., 2008; Papazoglou et al., 2008; Taiwo et al., 2017).

Demographic Variables

Demographic variables examined in the current study were age, gender, age at diagnosis, months off treatment, socioeconomic status (SES), and general cognitive ability. SES was measured with the Hollingshead Two Factor Index of Social Position (Hollingshead, 1957), which has been used in recent studies (Allen et al., 2016; Hirakawa et al., 2019) and yields a numeric rating based on the occupation and educational attainment of caregivers. The Wechsler General Ability Index (GAI) was used to measure general cognitive ability. The GAI generally subsumes the verbal and perceptual indexes from the WISC-IV, WISC-V, and WAIS-IV, while excluding measures of working memory and cognitive efficiency. Scores are expressed in standard scores (M = 100, SD = 15), with higher scores reflective of greater cognitive ability (Wechsler, 2003, 2014).

Statistical Analyses

Data were analyzed using SPSS Statistics Version 26. Descriptive statistical analyses were conducted to determine the characteristics of the sample, and zero-order correlations between all variables were computed in order to evaluate the relationship between all combinations of two variables. One-sample *z*-tests were performed to compare cognitive functioning scores with normative data. Data were analyzed to identify

potential influential cases and violations of assumptions prior to hypothesis testing. P-values of <0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. Six general linear model hierarchical multiple linear regression analyses were conducted to assess the relationships between sleep disturbance and cognitive functions of interest. Disease burden (NPS score) was entered in Model I as a control variable, with the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 entered as a continuous predictor variable in Model 2. Separate regressions were conducted for each dependent measure (i.e., CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo, CBCL Attention Problems, DSF, DSB, CPT-II Omissions, CPT-II Hit RT, and CPT-II Commissions). Prior to hypothesis testing, it was decided to report the results of the regression analyses without correcting for multiple testing. Given the paucity of research on the relationship between cognition and sleep in PBT survivors, missing an existing relationship between sleep and cognition (i.e., Type II error) was considered to be more harmful than reporting a false-positive (i.e., Type I error). All variables and measures used in the study are summarized in Table 2.

RESULTS

Participants

Details regarding the demographic and medical characteristics of the 83 participants are presented in Table 1. Age at evaluation ranged between 6.33 and 18.75 years (M = 12.48, SD = 3.11), and age at tumor diagnosis was 0.16–16.75 years (M = 7.56, SD = 4.44). Participants had completed treatment 0.42-15.17 years (M = 3.53, SD = 2.96) prior to evaluation. In total, 42.2% of the sample identified as male and 57.8% as female. Zero-order Pearson correlations were computed between demographic variables, disease burden, sleep disturbance, and the cognitive variables in the regression analyses. Only disease burden was significantly associated with both sleep disturbance (i.e., r = -0.23, p < 0.05) as well as cognition (i.e., DSB r = -0.23, p < 0.05; CPT-II Hit RT r = -0.25, p < 0.05; CBCL Attention Problems r = -0.31, p < 0.01). Therefore, only disease burden was included as potential confounding factor in the regression analyses in order to maximize power.

Characteristics of Sleep Disturbance and Cognition

Details regarding CBCL Sleep Composite-6 scores and endorsement of specific items are presented in **Table 2**. Of all sleep-related disturbances rated to be very true, "tired" and "sleeps more" were most frequently endorsed. A total of 27 (32.5%) parents rated at least one sleep symptom as "very true" or "often true" for their child, while 26 caregivers (31.3%) rated no sleep-related symptoms. Thus, nearly two-thirds of the sample endorsed at least one sleep-related symptom.

Neuropsychological characteristics of the participants are presented in **Table 3**. The percentage of participants with impaired scores was highest for CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo (30%), followed by CBCL Attention Problems (20.48%), DSF (17.5%), CPT-II Hit RT (16.05%), DSB (8.75%), CPT-II Omissions (7.32%), and CPT-II Commissions (4.88%). On average, participants' scores were significantly different than the normative mean on DSF, DSB, CPT-II Hit RT, CBCL Attention Problems, and CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and all in the expected (pathological) direction for a PBT sample. Only CPT-II Omissions and CPT Commissions were not statistically significantly different from the population mean. Thus, this sample of PBT survivors on the whole appears to exhibit difficulties relative to the general population on cognitive dimensions known to be vulnerable to PBT and treatment.

Association Between Sleep Disturbance and Cognition

Prior to conducting the regression analyses, it was determined that assumptions were satisfactorily met, and no concerns were identified regarding influential cases. Notably, the percentage of missing data for each variable included in the analyses was 3.6% (n = 3) at most. Results of separate hierarchical multiple regression analyses examining relationships between sleep disturbance and measures of cognitive functioning after controlling for NPS score are shown in **Table 4**. For the primary regression analysis with CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo as the dependent variable, Model 1 indicated that the variance accounted for (R^2) by the control variable (i.e., disease burden)

Item		Range ^a	Frequency of item endorsement					
	$M \pm SD$		Not true (0)	Somewhat/sometimes true (1)	Very/often true (2			
Nightmare		0–2	66 (79.5%)	14 (16.9%)	3 (3.6%)			
Tired		0–2	56 (67.5%)	14 (16.9%)	13 (15.7%)			
Sleeps less		0–2	69 (83.1%)	11 (13.3%)	3 (3.6%)			
Sleeps more		0–2	55 (66.3%)	15 (18.1%)	13 (15.7%)			
Sleep walk		0–1	75 (90.4%)	8 (9.6%)	0 (0.0%)			
Sleep problem		0–2	60 (72.3%)	15 (18.1%)	8 (9.6%)			
	$M \pm SD$	Range	Total score of 0	At least one item rated as very/ofted	en true			
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	1.89 ± 2.11	0–8	31.3%	32.5%				

N = 83.

^aRange reflects the range of observed scores. Range of possible values is 0-2 for specific items and 0-12 for CBCL Sleep Composite-6.

TABLE 3 | Neuropsychological characteristics.

Variable	n	М	SD	Min.	Max.	z	Cohen's d*	р	% impaired**
CBCL									
SCT	80	58.19	8.39	50	75	7.33	0.82	< 0.001	30.00
Attention problems	83	58.37	8.72	50	86	7.63	0.84	< 0.001	20.48
Wechsler									
DSF	80	8.35	2.84	3	15	-4.92	-0.55	< 0.001	17.50
DSB	80	8.97	2.78	1	16	-3.07	-0.34	< 0.01	8.75
CPT-II									
Omissions	82	51.52	13.01	40.06	122.38	1.38	0.15	0.17	7.32
Hit RT	81	53.09	14.15	27.10	93.30	2.78	0.31	< 0.01	16.05
Commissions	82	49.70	10.99	21.04	70.77	-0.91	-0.10	0.36	4.88

*As compared to the normative sample.

**Percentage of individuals with scores 1.5 standard deviation from the mean.

equaled 0.04, which was not significantly different from zero, F(1,78) = 3.49, p = 0.07. In Model 2, the change accounted for by the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 (ΔR^2) was equal to 0.28, which was significantly different from zero, F(1,77) = 32.47, p < 0.001. Thus, 28% of the variance in Sluggish Cognitive Tempo was accounted for by the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 score.

Subsequently, secondary regression analyses were performed on cognitive dimensions that are vulnerable to sleep difficulties. For the regression analysis with CBCL Attention Problems as the dependent variable, Model 1 indicated that the variance accounted for (R^2) by the control variable (disease burden) equaled 0.09, which was significantly different from zero, F(1,81) = 8.41, p < 0.01. In Model 2, the change accounted for by the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 (ΔR^2) was equal to 0.19, which was significantly different from zero, F(1,80) = 20.53, p < 0.001. Thus, 19% of the variance in CBCL Attention Problems was accounted for by the CBCL Sleep Composite-6 score. None of the performance-based measures of cognition was significantly associated with sleep disturbance after adjusting for overall disease burden [i.e., DSF: $\Delta R^2 = 0.00$, F(1.77) = 0.06, p = 0.81; DSB: $\Delta R^2 = 0.01$, F(1,77) = 0.52, p = 0.47; CPT-II Omissions: $\Delta R^2 = 0.04$, F(1,79) = 3.46, p = 0.07; CPT-II Hit RT: $\Delta R^2 = 0.00$, F(1,78) = 0.07, p = 0.80; CPT-II Commissions: $\Delta R^2 = 0.00, F(1,79) = 0.00, p = 0.99$]. Notably, results of all regression analyses were comparable when performed without inclusion of a control variable. Furthermore, exploratory interaction effects were not observed for gender, disease burden, and months off treatment, except for a significant interaction for months off treatment and CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo and CBCL Attention Problems. Specifically, for both variables, the association with the CBCL Sleep Composite was strongest for participants who completed treatment most recently (CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo: $R^2 = 0.45$; CBCL Attention Problems: $R^2 = 0.37$), and weakest for children with the longest time since completion of treatment (CBCL Sluggish Cognitive Tempo: R2 = 0.12; CBCL Attention Problems: $R^2 = 0.13$).

DISCUSSION

The primary aim of the current study was to investigate whether a higher level of sleep disturbance was associated with worse sluggish cognitive tempo (SCT) and/or cognitive functions associated with SCT—including attention and working memory—in a clinical sample of PBT survivors. To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the relationship between SCT and sleep in the PBT survivor population. The analysis investigating the primary aim provided support for the hypothesized relationship between a higher level of sleep disturbance and worse SCT. The secondary analyses focusing on aspects of attention and working memory were partially supported. Specifically, while no significant association was observed for Digit Span Forward, Digit Span Backward, CPT-II Omissions, CPT-II Hit RT, or CPT-II Commissions higher levels of sleep disturbance were related to worse CBCL Attention Problems.

In terms of overall frequency of sleep difficulties, nearly a third of caregivers reported at least one significant sleep disturbance in their child, and over two-thirds of caregivers reported at least occasional occurrence of sleep disturbances. These results align with what is known for PBT survivors, with estimates of sleep problems ranging between 20 and 82% (Brimeyer et al., 2016; Pilotto et al., 2018; van Kooten et al., 2019), as compared to rates of 12–25% in healthy populations (Melendres et al., 2004; van Litsenburg et al., 2010). Somnolence and increased sleep duration were the most frequently endorsed individual sleep-related symptoms, which parallels prior literature suggesting that excessive daytime sleepiness is the most common sleep-related disturbance in children diagnosed with cancer (Rosen and Brand, 2011; Walter et al., 2015).

Comparison of sample performance to normative means indicated that our sample performed significantly worse than the normative mean for all variables except CPT-II Omissions and CPT-II Commissions, which largely validates that our sample conformed to known neurocognitive vulnerabilities in PBT survivors. Among all included cognitive variables, caregiver ratings of SCT were most frequently impaired (30%; <1.5 *SD* relative to the mean); in contrast, attention problems were rated as impaired by 20.48% of caregivers. The relatively high endorsement of SCT in the current study adds to mounting evidence that SCT is common in the PBT population in a manner that is distinct from other neurocognitive deficits (Kahalley et al., 2011; Willard et al., 2013; Peterson et al., 2021).

TABLE 4 | Hierarchical regression results for cognitive variables.

Variable	В	95% C	95% CI for B		β	R ²	ΔR^2
		LL	UL				
Dependent variable: CBCL Sluggisl	n Cognitive Tempo						
Step 1						0.04	0.04
Constant	61.90	57.54	66.25	2.19			
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.77	-1.60	0.05	0.41	-0.21		
Step 2						0.33	0.28**
Constant	55.54	51.24	59.84	2.16			
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.30	-1.01	0.42	0.36	-0.08		
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	2.16	1.40	2.91	0.38	0.55		
Dependent variable: CBCL Attentio	n Problems						
Step 1						0.09	0.09*
Constant	64.12	59.78	68.46	2.18			
Neurological Predictor Scale	-1.21	-2.03	-0.38	0.42	-0.31		
Step 2		2.00	0.00	0112	0.01	0.28	0.19**
Constant	58.78	54.23	63.33	2.29			
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.81	-1.58	-0.05	0.38	-0.21		
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	1.83	1.03	2.63	0.40	0.44		
Dependent variable: Digit Span For		1.00	2.00	00	0.77		
Step 1						0.01	0.01
Constant	8.83	7.33	10.34	0.75		0.01	0.01
	-0.10	-0.39	0.19	0.15	-0.08		
Neurological Predictor Scale Step 2	-0.10	-0.39	0.19	0.15	-0.06	0.01	0.00
	0.05	7.17	10.72	0.90		0.01	0.00
Constant	8.95	-0.41	-0.19	0.89	-0.09		
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.11			0.15			
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	-0.04	-0.36	0.28	0.16	-0.03		
Dependent variable: Digit Span Bac	Kward					0.05*	0.05
Step 1	10.01	0.00	44.75	0.70		0.05*	0.05*
Constant	10.31	8.88	11.75	0.72			
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.29	-0.56	-0.01	0.14	-0.23	0.00*	0.01
Step 2						0.06*	0.01
Constant	9.99	8.30	11.68	0.85			
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.26	-0.55	0.03	0.14	-0.21		
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	0.11	-0.19	0.41	0.15	0.08		
Dependent variable: CPT-II Omissio	ons						
Step 1						0.02	0.02
Constant	47.71	40.76	54.66	3.50			
Neurological Predictor Scale	0.81	-0.54	2.17	0.68	0.13		
Step 2						0.06	0.04
Constant	43.93	35.98	51.89	4.00			
Neurological Predictor Scale	1.10	-0.27	2.47	0.69	0.18		
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	1.28	-0.09	2.65	0.69	0.21		
Dependent variable: CPT-II Hit RT							
Step 1						0.06	0.06
Constant	45.33	37.82	52.84	3.77			
Neurological Predictor Scale	1.65	0.19	3.10	0.73	0.25		
Step 2						0.04	0.00
Constant	45.93	37.07	54.78	4.44			
Neurological Predictor Scale	1.60	0.09	3.11	0.76	0.24		
CBCL Sleep Composite-6	-0.19	-1.70	1.31	0.76	-0.03		
Dependent variable: CPT-II Commis							
Step 1						0.00	0.00
Constant	51.25	45.34	57.16	2.97			2.00
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.33	-1.48	0.82	0.58	-0.06		
Step 2	0.00		0.02	0.00	0.00		
Constant	51.22	44.31	58.13	3.47		0.00	0.00
	01.22	10.77				0.00	0.00
Neurological Predictor Scale	-0.33	-1.52	0.86	0.60	-0.06		

Cl, confidence interval; LL, lower limit; UL, upper limit.

*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; *** $p \le 0.001$.

Our findings suggest that the relationship between SCT and sleep disturbance observed in pediatric populations with neurodevelopmental conditions such as ADHD and autism (e.g., Mayes et al., 2021; Fredrick et al., 2022) appears applicable to PBT survivors as well, and this has implications for screening and assessment. Recognition of this association underscores the importance of differential assessment of SCT and sleep to improve identification of core difficulties experienced by PBT survivors with the goal of maximizing HRQOL. For example, recent evidence suggests that SCT is associated with social difficulties such as low social engagement and initiation, along with withdrawal and isolation (Becker et al., 2019), and interestingly the nature of these social difficulties is similar to that of the social competence difficulties commonly experienced by PBT survivors (Hocking et al., 2015). Similarly, there is overlap between SCT and anxiety/depression symptoms, excessive daytime sleepiness, and low motivation (Smith et al., 2019), which also may be within the scope of HRQOL surveillance for PBT survivors. Findings of the current study suggest that when only focusing on clinic-based measures of cognition administered one-on-one with a patient, the relationship between sleep and cognitive functioning may be missed despite being potentially meaningful for daily functioning.

Thus, incorporating assessment of both sleep and SCT into existing psychological and neuropsychological monitoring of PBT survivors might contribute to clearer differentiation of symptoms and thereby improve linkage to targeted intervention. Indeed, interventions for varied difficulties ranging from sleep to apathy to attention problems to SCT would likely involve markedly different treatment approaches. For example, there may be medication options that could be researched in PBT survivors demonstrating SCT, such as modafinil (Kumar, 2008), which has demonstrated efficacy for symptoms including attention, speed, and drowsiness in adult cancer patients (Lundorff et al., 2009). Sleep interventions might look quite different, as parents tend to be more receptive to behavioral sleep interventions compared to medication options (Daniel et al., 2016). There is also the possibility that improvement of sleep and/or SCT symptoms could enhance response to other supports-ranging from social to academic interventions-by reducing the impact of an overarching problem that is not specific to any neurocognitive domain. For example, directing intervention efforts at sleep and/or SCT could possibly enhance cognitive training interventions, which have thus far provided limited generalizable relief to PBT survivors experiencing significant neurocognitive late effects (Hocking et al., 2021). To illustrate, in a sample of healthy adolescents, treatment of sleep disturbance has been shown to result in improved executive functioning (de Bruin et al., 2015), though the extent to which such findings generalize to PBT survivors is unknown, given the impact of the tumor, complications, and treatment on the cognitive developmental trajectory in this population (Mahajan et al., 2021). Results of our archival study do not address whether there is a causal relationship between sleep and SCT, so further research will be necessary to identify optimal treatment paradigms to target

core problems that may manifest as overlapping symptoms and difficulties.

The fact that parent-reported sleep was associated with SCT and parent-rated attention problems, but not with individually administered clinic-based measures of attention of working memory, is important to consider. One possible explanation for the discrepant findings between parent-rated and performancebased measures of cognition is that these modalities may tap into different aspects of cognitive performance. Specifically, Toplak et al. (2013) suggested that a performance-based measure assesses whether someone is able to successfully complete an executive functioning task in isolation, while not measuring the extent to which that individual is able to regulate their behavior in the absence of continuing direction by an examiner and/or in the presence of multiple competing stimuli and distractions. Thus, it may be that sleep disturbances-at least with respect to the relatively mild levels reported in the present study-impact cognitive functioning in everyday life more than performance on discrete tests. When combined with performance-based measures, collateral (e.g., parent, teacher) ratings may provide a more complete picture of a PBT survivor's capacity for cognitive functioning as well as their efficacy at implementing those cognitive functions in everyday life (Toplak et al., 2013). Therefore, including ratings of SCT and attention problems in neuropsychological evaluations may enhance detection of subtle cognitive difficulties associated with sleep disturbance.

The idea that relatively mild sleep disturbances are related more to the execution of cognitive tasks in less structured settings than to test performance in an evaluation setting is in keeping with the model proposed by Monk (2012), which suggests that chronic sleep disruption can lead to a progressive loss of alertness and motivation as time progresses. Supporting this idea, several studies have demonstrated associations between various types of sleep disruption and lower engagement in tasks that are perceived as more cognitively demanding (Engle-Friedman et al., 2010, 2018; Libedinsky et al., 2013). Further, the impact of motivation on performance in PBT survivors was illustrated by Holland et al. (2016), who demonstrated that external incentive improves effort on discrete timed academic tasks, indicating that motivation is a fluctuating variable that can substantively alter the situational performance of PBT survivors. Considering these findings, it may be that PBT survivors who experience sleep difficulties may choose less effortful activities when possible, and this choice may be available to a lesser extent during a neuropsychological evaluation as compared to daily life. This conceptualization would align with the known and persistent difficulty with the execution of cognitive tasks in daily life experienced by PBT survivors in everyday life, even when corresponding aspects of clinicbased assessment reflect average overall performance relative to the general population (Holland et al., 2015). Notably, our findings align with the notion that the construct of SCTamong other concepts-taps into a motivational component of cognitive functioning in daily life (Becker et al., 2016; Smith et al., 2019).

LIMITATIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

The findings of this study should be considered in light of a number of limitations, foremost of which being the method of assessing sleep disturbances, which did not include objective measures such activity tracking or polysomnography. While the CBCL Sleep Composite has been validated against accepted sleep measures and has been deemed appropriate for archival studies (Gregory et al., 2011; Becker et al., 2015a,b; Murray et al., 2016) objective characterization and differentiation of specific types of sleep disturbances may help to clarify the nature of the relationship between sleep and cognition in PBT survivors. In other words, the present study provides evidence for an association between sleep and cognition in this population, but the specific elements of sleep disturbance that may have relatively more or less impact on cognitive performance require further elucidation.

Another limitation of the CBCL Composite is a lack of clarity regarding the timeframe during which parents are rating sleep disturbances. Parents are instructed to rate their child's behavior over the past 6 months, and this leaves unclear the extent to which the presence or absence of sleep disruptions directly prior to the time of their ratings may have affected their reports as well as association with cognitive tests completed at the same time as the ratings. Thus, our study neglects the important consideration of whether there is a differential effect on cognition for longerterm chronic sleep disturbances as compared to more acute sleep problems. In addition to caregiver ratings, when feasible, selfreports of sleep may provide valuable information. For instance, Short et al. (2013) observed a tendency for parents to underreport sleep problems in their adolescent children. Thus, the level of sleep disturbance experienced by at least some of our study participants may have been higher than suggested by caregiver ratings. Finally, the possibility that the association between parent-rated sleep and parent-rated cognition partially reflects rater bias cannot be excluded. Specifically, while a suggested advantage of ratings relative to objective cognitive measures is that they may tap more directly into real-word circumstances, it has also been stressed that ratings may be impacted by a haloeffect, central tendency bias, social desirability bias, or a general propensity to under- or over-report (Toplak et al., 2013; Dekker et al., 2017; Emser et al., 2018; Brandt et al., 2021). For instance, parental anxiety may increase attention for the child's symptoms, which, in turn, may affect their ratings (Smith et al., 2020).

Characterization of risks for sleep disturbances in PBT survivors remains incomplete. Thus, it is important to further investigate biological [e.g., tumor-related factors such as tumor type and location (Helligsoe et al., 2022) or treatment modalities], environmental, family-related, psychological, and behavioral factors that are most strongly associated with the onset and perpetuation of sleep problems in PBT survivors. The construct and measurement of SCT is evolving (Becker et al., 2019), and as measurement methods advance future researchers can incorporate more refined metrics to assess SCT in PBT survivors. Additionally, future researchers may use prospective designs at each stage of the trajectory from diagnosis to active treatment to long term PBT survivorship to determine whether sleep is causally related to cognitive performance, as appears to be the case in other types of cancer. More comprehensive understanding of the nature of the association between sleep and cognitive performance in PBT survivors may yield insights into important targets for prevention and intervention that could have a significant positive impact on aspects of health-related quality of life.

CONCLUSION

In the present sample of PBT survivors, higher levels of parentrated sleep disturbances were associated with higher levels of sluggish cognitive tempo (SCT) and worse parent-reported attention functioning. There were no significant correlations with performance-based measures of attention and working memory. Findings of the current study highlight the importance of further investigation into the relationship between sleep and cognition in this vulnerable population, as greater knowledge in this regard may assist efforts to maximize cognitive outcome and HRQOL in PBT survivors. The current study additionally suggests further investigation of SCT in this population is warranted, as it may be more sensitive to detecting possible associations with sleep disturbance relative to discrete measures that assess cognitive performance under ideal circumstances.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional Review Board, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center. Written informed consent from the participants' legal guardian/next of kin was not required to participate in this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

IO: review and editing, original draft, conceptualization, formal analysis, and visualization. AH, RH, and DH: review and editing and supervision. AC: review and editing, formal analysis, and supervision. WZ, MB, and GY: review and editing and investigation. PS: review and editing, original draft, supervision, conceptualization, resources, data curation, and visualization. All authors approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The content of the current manuscript is partially based on the IO's Ph.D. dissertation in Clinical Psychology at Fielding Graduate University (Olsthoorn, 2021).
REFERENCES

- Achenbach, T. M., and Rescorla, L. A. (2001). *Manual for the ASEBA School-Age Forms & Profiles*. Burlington, VT: University of Vermont, Research Center for Children, Youth, & Families.
- Allen, T. M., Anderson, L. M., Rothman, J. A., and Bonner, M. J. (2016). Executive functioning and health-related quality of life in pediatric sickle cell disease. *Child Neuropsychol.* 23, 889–906. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2016.1205011
- Al-Omar, O., DiBianco, J., and Morley, C. (2014). Nocturnal enuresis: a topic review and institution experience. Avicenna J. Med. 4:77. doi: 10.4103/2231-0770.140641
- Antwi, G. O., Jayawardene, W., Lohrmann, D. K., and Mueller, E. L. (2019). Physical activity and fitness among pediatric cancer survivors: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Support. Care Cancer* 27, 3183–3194. doi: 10.1007/ S00520-019-04788-Z
- Astill, R. G., Van Der Heijden, K. B., Van Ijzendoorn, M. H., and Van Someren, E. J. W. (2012). Sleep, cognition, and behavioral problems in school-age children: a century of research meta-analysed. *Psychol. Bull.* 138, 1109–1138. doi: 10.1037/a0028204
- Barrera, M., Atenafu, E. G., Sung, L., Bartels, U., Schulte, F., Chung, J., et al. (2018). A randomized control intervention trial to improve social skills and quality of life in pediatric brain tumor survivors. *Psycho Oncol.* 27, 91–98. doi: 10.1002/pon.4385
- Becker, S. P. (2021). Systematic review: assessment of sluggish cognitive tempo over the past decade. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 60, 690–709. doi: 10.1016/J.JAAC.2020.10.016
- Becker, S. P., Garner, A. A., Tamm, L., Antonini, T. N., and Epstein, J. N. (2019). Honing in on the social difficulties associated with sluggish cognitive tempo in children: withdrawal, peer ignoring, and low engagement. *J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol.* 53, 228–237. doi: 10.1080/15374416.2017.1286595
- Becker, S. P., Ramsey, R. R., and Byars, K. C. (2015b). Convergent validity of the child behavior checklist sleep items with validated sleep measures and sleep disorder diagnoses in children and adolescents referred to a sleep disorders center. *Sleep Med.* 16, 79–86. doi: 10.1016/J.SLEEP.2014.09.008
- Becker, S. P., Langberg, J. M., and Evans, S. W. (2015a). Sleep problems predict comorbid externalizing behaviors and depression in young adolescents with attention deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Eur. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry* 24, 897– 907. doi: 10.1007/s00787-014-0636-6
- Becker, S. P., Leopold, D. R., Burns, G. L., Jarrett, M. A., Langberg, J. M., Marshall, S. A., et al. (2016). The internal, external, and diagnostic validity of sluggish cognitive tempo: a meta-analysis and critical review. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 55, 163–178. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2015.12.006
- Beebe, D. W., Krivitzky, L., Wells, C. T., Wade, S. L., Taylor, H. G., and Yeates, K. O. (2014). Brief report: parental report of sleep behaviors following moderate or severe pediatric traumatic brain injury. *J. Pediatr. Psychol.* 32, 845–850. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsm003.Brief
- Brandt, A. E., Finnanger, T. G., Hypher, R. E., Ra, T. B., Skovlund, E., Andersson, S., et al. (2021). Rehabilitation of executive function in chronic paediatric brain injury: a randomized controlled trial. *BMC Med.* 19:253. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02129-8
- Brimeyer, C., Adams, L., Zhu, L., Srivastava, D. K., Wise, M., Hudson, M. M., et al. (2016). Sleep complaints in survivors of pediatric brain tumors. *Support. Care Cancer* 24, 23–31. doi: 10.1007/s00520-015-2713-x
- Burns, T. C., Awad, A. J., Li, M. D., and Grant, G. A. (2016). Radiation-induced brain injury: low-hanging fruit for neuroregeneration. *Neurosurg. Focus* 40:E3. doi: 10.3171/2016.2.FOCUS161
- Calhoun, S. L., Pearl, A. M., Fernandez, J., Krina, M., Susan, C. D., and Murray, M. J. (2019). Sleep disturbances increase the impact of working memory deficits on learning problems in adolescents with high-functioning autism spectrum disorder. J. Autism Dev. Disord. 50, 1–13. doi: 10.1007/s10803-019-03928-y
- Caplette-Gingras, A., Savard, J., Savard, M. H., and Ivers, H. (2013). Is insomnia associated with cognitive impairments in breast cancer patients? *Behav. Sleep Med.* 11, 239–257. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2012.672940
- Chen, M. L., Miaskowski, C., Liu, L. N., and Chen, S. C. (2012). Changes in perceived attentional function in women following breast cancer surgery. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 131, 599–606. doi: 10.1007/S10549-011-1760-3
- Cheung, Y. T., Brinkman, T. M., Mulrooney, D. A., Mzayek, Y., Liu, W., Banerjee, P., et al. (2017). Impact of sleep, fatigue, and systemic inflammation on

neurocognitive and behavioral outcomes in long-term survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer* 123, 3410–3419. doi: 10.1002/CNCR. 30742

- Conners, C. K. (2000). *Conners' Continuous Performance Test User's Manual*. Toronto, ON: Multi-Health Systems.
- Daniel, L. C., Schwartz, L. A., Mindell, J. A., Tucker, C. A., and Barakat, L. P. (2016). Initial validation of the sleep disturbances in pediatric cancer model. J. Pediatr. Psychol. 41, 588–599. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsw008
- Daniel, L. C., van Litsenburg, R. R. L., Rogers, V. E., Zhou, E. S., Ellis, S. J., Wakefield, C. E., et al. (2020). A call to action for expanded sleep research in pediatric oncology: a position paper on behalf of the international psychooncology society pediatrics special interest group. *Psycho Oncol.* 29, 465–474. doi: 10.1002/pon.5242
- de Bruin, E. J., Dewald-Kaufmann, J. F., Oort, F. J., Bögels, S. M., and Meijer, A. M. (2015). Differential effects of online insomnia treatment on executive functions in adolescents. *Sleep Med.* 16, 510–520. doi: 10.1016/J.SLEEP.2014.12.009
- de Havas, J. A., Parimal, S., Soon, C. S., and Chee, M. W. L. (2012). Sleep deprivation reduces default mode network connectivity and anti-correlation during rest and task performance. *Neuroimage* 59, 1745–1751. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE. 2011.08.026
- Dekker, M. C., Ziermans, T. B., Spruijt, A. M., and Swaab, H. (2017). Cognitive, parent and teacher rating measures of executive functioning: shared and unique influences on school achievement. *Front. Psychol.* 8:48. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017. 00048
- Desaulniers, G. A., Riley, L., Vangile, K., Gilleland, J., Higgins, M., and Wasilewski-Masker, K. (2018). Self-reported sleep problems in adolescent survivors of childhood cancer. *Clin. J. Oncol. Nurs.* 19, 81–88. doi: 10.1188/15.CJON.81-88
- El-Sheikh, M., Kelly, R. J., Bagley, E. J., and Wetter, E. K. (2012). Parental depressive symptoms and children's sleep: the role of family conflict. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 53, 806–814. doi: 10.1111/J.1469-7610.2012.02530.X
- Emser, T. S., Johnston, B. A., Steele, J. D., Kooij, S., Thorell, L., and Christiansen, H. (2018). Assessing ADHD symptoms in children and adults: evaluating the role of objective measures. *Behav. Brain Funct.* 14:11. doi: 10.1186/s12993-018-0143-x
- Engle-Friedman, M., Mathew, G. M., Martinova, A., Armstrong, F., and Konstantinov, V. (2018). The role of sleep deprivation and fatigue in the perception of task difficulty and use of heuristics. *Sleep Sci.* 11, 74–84. doi: 10.5935/1984-0063.20180016
- Engle-Friedman, M., Palencar, V., and Riela, S. (2010). Sleep and effort in adolescent athletes. J. Child Health Care. 14, 131–141. doi: 10.1177/ 1367493510362129
- Field, A. (2009). *Discovering Statistics Using SPSS*, 3rd Edn. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Fredrick, J. W., Yeaman, K. M., Yu, X., Langberg, J. M., and Becker, S. P. (2022). A multi-method examination of sluggish cognitive tempo in relation to adolescent sleep, daytime sleepiness, and circadian preference. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry. doi: 10.1111/jcpp.13568 [Epub ahead of print].
- Gapstur, R., Gross, C. R., and Ness, K. (2009). Factors associated with sleep-wake disturbances in child and adult survivors of pediatric brain tumors: a review. *Oncol. Nurs. Forum* 36, 723–731. doi: 10.1188/09.ONF.723-731
- Gregory, A. M., Cousins, J. C., Forbes, E. E., Trubnick, L., Ryan, N. D., Axelson, D. A., et al. (2011). Sleep items in the child behavior checklist: a comparison with sleep diaries, actigraphy, and polysomnography. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 50, 499–507. doi: 10.1016/J.JAAC.2011.02.003
- Gregory, A. M., and O'Connor, T. G. (2002). Sleep problems in childhood: a longitudinal study of developmental change and association with behavioral problems. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 41, 964–971. doi: 10.1097/ 00004583-200208000-00015
- Hambrick, E. P., Rubens, S. L., Brawner, T. W., and Taussig, H. N. (2018). Do sleep problems mediate the link between adverse childhood experiences and delinquency in preadolescent children in foster care? *J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 59, 140–149. doi: 10.1111/JCPP.12802
- Hardy, K. K., Bonner, M. J., Willard, V. W., Watral, M. A., and Gururangan, S. (2008). Hydrocephalus as a possible additional contributor to cognitive outcome in survivors of pediatric medulloblastoma. *Psychooncology* 17, 1157– 1161. doi: 10.1002/PON.1349
- Hartman, S. J., Marinac, C. R., Natarajan, L., and Patterson, R. E. (2015). Lifestyle factors associated with cognitive functioning in breast

cancer survivors. *Psychooncology* 24, 669–675. doi: 10.1002/PON. 3626

- Helligsoe, A. S. L., Weile, K. S., Kenborg, L., Henriksen, L. T., Lassen-Ramshad, Y., Amidi, A., et al. (2022). Systematic review: sleep disorders based on objective data in children and adolescents treated for a brain tumor. *Front. Neurosci.* 16:808398. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.808398
- Hinds, P. S., Hockenberry, M., Rai, S. N., Zhang, L., Razzouk, B. I., McCarthy, K., et al. (2007). Nocturnal awakenings, sleep environment interruptions, and fatigue in hospitalized children with cancer. *Oncol. Nurs. Forum* 34, 397–402. doi: 10.1188/07.ONF.393-402
- Hirakawa, N., Kuga, H., Hirano, Y., Sato, J., Oribe, N., Nakamura, I., et al. (2019). Neuroanatomical substrate of chronic psychosis in epilepsy: an MRI study. *Brain Imaging Behav* 14, 1382–1387. doi: 10.1007/s11682-019-00044-4
- Hoang, D. H., Pagnier, A., Cousin, E., Guichardet, K., Schiff, I., Dubois-Teklali, F., et al. (2014). Modality specific activations in working memory in children with cerebellar medullobastoma: a functional MRI study. *J. Psychol. Abnorm.* 3, 1–7. doi: 10.4172/2329-9525.1000111
- Hockey, G. R. (2011). "A motivational control theory of cognitive fatigue," in *Cognitive Fatigue: Multidisciplinary Perspectives on Current Research and Future Applications*, ed. P. L. Ackerman (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 167–187.
- Hockey, G. R. (2013). The Psychology of Fatigue: Work, Effort and Control. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Hocking, M. C., Mccurdy, M., Turner, E., Kazak, A. E., Noll, R. B., Phillips, P., et al. (2015). Social competence in pediatric brain tumor survivors: application of a model from social neuroscience and developmental psychology. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 62, 375–384. doi: 10.1002/PBC.25300
- Hocking, M. C., Walsh, K. S., Hardy, K. K., and Conklin, H. M. (2021). Addressing neurocognitive late effects in pediatric cancer survivors: current approaches and future opportunities. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 39, 1824–1832. doi: 10.1200/JCO.20. 02327
- Holland, A. A., Hughes, C. W., Harder, L., Silver, C., Bowers, D. C., and Stavinoha, P. L. (2016). Effect of motivation on academic fluency performance in survivors of pediatric medulloblastoma. *Child Neuropsychol.* 22, 570–586. doi: 10.1080/ 09297049.2015.1023272
- Holland, A. A., Hughes, C. W., and Stavinoha, P. L. (2015). School competence and fluent academic performance: informing assessment of educational outcomes in survivors of pediatric medulloblastoma. *Appl. Neuropsychol.* 4, 249–256. doi: 10.1080/21622965.2014.892427
- Hollingshead, A. B. (1957). *Two Factor Index of Social Position*. New Haven, CT: Yale University, Department of Sociology.
- Homack, S., and Riccio, C. A. (2006). Conners' continuous performance test (2nd ed.; CCPT-II). J. Attent. Disord. 9, 556–558. doi: 10.1177/1087054705283578
- Ikonomidou, C. (2018). Chemotherapy and the pediatric brain. *Mol. Cell Pediatr.* 5:8. doi: 10.1186/s40348-018-0087-0
- Ivanova, M. Y., Achenbach, T. M., Dumenci, L., Rescorla, L. A., Almqvist, F., Weintraub, S., et al. (2007). Testing the 8-syndrome structure of the child behavior checklist in 30 societies. J. Clin. Child Adolesc. Psychol. 36, 405–417. doi: 10.1080/15374410701444363
- Jacola, L. M., Conklin, H. M., Scoggins, M. A., Ashford, J. M., Merchant, T. E., Mandrell, B. N., et al. (2016). Investigating the role of hypothalamic tumor involvement in sleep and cognitive outcomes among children treated for craniopharyngioma. J. Pediatr. Psychol. 41, 610–622. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsw026
- Janelsins, M. C., Peppone, L. J., Heckler, C. E., Kesler, S. R., Sprod, L. K., Atkins, J., et al. (2016). YOCAS[®] [®] yoga reduces self-reported memory difficulty in cancer survivors in a nationwide randomized clinical trial: investigating relationships between memory and sleep. *Integr. Cancer Ther.* 15, 263–271. doi: 10.1177/1534735415617021
- Jean-Pierre, P., Grandner, M. A., Garland, S. N., Henry, E., Jean-Louis, G., and Burish, T. G. (2015). Self-reported memory problems in adult-onset cancer survivors: effects of cardiovascular disease and insomnia. *Sleep Med.* 16, 845– 849. doi: 10.1016/J.SLEEP.2015.02.531
- Kahalley, L. S., Conklin, H. M., Tyc, V. L., Wilson, S. J., Hinds, P. S., Wu, S., et al. (2011). ADHD and secondary ADHD criteria fail to identify many at-risk survivors of pediatric all and brain tumor. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 57, 110–118. doi: 10.1002/PBC.22998
- Kaleyias, J., Manley, P., and Kothare, S. V. (2012). Sleep disorders in children with cancer. *Semin. Pediatr. Neurol.* 19, 25–34. doi: 10.1016/j.spen.2012.02.013

- Kim, H., Zhou, E. S., Chevalier, L., Lun, P., Davidson, R. D., Pariseau, E. M., et al. (2020). Parental behaviors, emotions at bedtime, and sleep disturbances in children with cancer. J. Pediatr. Psychol. 45, 550–560. doi: 10.1093/JPEPSY/ JSAA018
- Klages, K. L., Berlin, K. S., Cook, J. L., Merchant, T. E., Wise, M. S., Mandrell, B. N., et al. (2021). Health-related quality of life, obesity, fragmented sleep, fatigue, and psychosocial problems among youth with craniopharyngioma. *Psychooncology* 31, 779–787. doi: 10.1002/pon.5862
- Kofler, M. J., Irwin, L. N., Sarver, D. E., Fosco, W. D., Miller, C. E., Spiegel, J. A., et al. (2019). What cognitive processes are "sluggish" in sluggish cognitive tempo? *J. Consult. Clin. Psychol.* 87, 1030–1042. doi: 10.1037/ccp0000446
- Krause, A. J., Simon, E., Mander, B. A., Greer, S. M., Saletin, J. M., Goldstein-Piekarski, A. N., et al. (2017). The sleep-deprived human brain. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 18, 404–418. doi: 10.1038/NRN.2017.55
- Kumar, R. (2008). Approved and investigational uses of modafinil: an evidencebased review. *Drugs* 68, 1803–1839. doi: 10.2165/00003495-200868130-00003
- Kuula, L., Pesonen, A.-K., Martikainen, S., Kajantie, E., Lahti, J., Strandberg, T., et al. (2015). Poor sleep and neurocognitive function in early adolescence. *Sleep Med.* 16, 1207–1212. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2015.06.017
- Langberg, J. M., Becker, S. P., Dvorsky, M. R., and Luebbe, A. M. (2014). Are sluggish cognitive tempo and daytime sleepiness distinct constructs? *Psychol. Assess.* 26, 586–597. doi: 10.1037/A0036276
- Lee, S., Narendran, G., Tomfohr-Madsen, L., and Schulte, F. (2017). A systematic review of sleep in hospitalized pediatric cancer patients. *Psychooncology* 26, 1059–1069. doi: 10.1002/PON.4149
- Levitch, C. F., Holland, A. A., Bledsoe, J., Kim, S. Y., Barnett, M., Ramjan, S., et al. (2022). Comparison of neuropsychological functioning in pediatric posterior fossa tumor survivors: medulloblastoma, low-grade astrocytoma, and healthy controls. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 69:e29491. doi: 10.1002/PBC.29491
- Libedinsky, C., Massar, S. A. A., Ling, A., Chee, W., Huettel, S. A., and Chee, M. W. L. (2013). Sleep deprivation alters effort discounting but not delay discounting of monetary rewards. *Sleep* 36, 899–904. doi: 10.5665/SLEEP.2720
- Linder, L. A., and Christian, B. J. (2012). Nighttime sleep disruptions, the hospital care environment, and symptoms in elementary school-age children with cancer. Oncol. Nurs. Forum 39, 553–561. doi: 10.1188/12.ONF.553-561
- Louca, M., and Short, M. A. (2014). The effect of one night's sleep deprivation on adolescent neurobehavioral performance. *Sleep* 37, 1799–1807. doi: 10.5665/ sleep.4174
- Lubke, G. H., Hudziak, J. J., Derks, E. M., Van Bijsterveldt, T. C. E. M., and Boomsma, D. I. (2009). Maternal ratings of attention problems in ADHD: evidence for the existence of a continuum. J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry 48, 1085–1093. doi: 10.1097/CHI.0b013e3181ba3dbb
- Lundorff, L. E., Jønsson, B. H., and Sjøgren, P. (2009). Modafinil for attentional and psychomotor dysfunction in advanced cancer: a double-blind, randomised, cross-over trial. *Palliat. Med.* 23, 731–738. doi: 10.1177/0269216309106872
- Mahajan, A., Stavinoha, P. L., Rongthong, W., Brodin, N. P., McGovern, S. L., El Naqa, I., et al. (2021). Neurocognitive effects and necrosis in childhood cancer survivors treated with radiation therapy: a PENTEC comprehensive review. *Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys.* S0360-3016(21)00127-9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2020. 11.073 [Epub ahead of print].
- Mandrell, B. N., LaRosa, K., Hancock, D., Caples, M., Sykes, A., Lu, Z., et al. (2020). Predictors of narcolepsy and hypersomnia due to medical disorder in pediatric craniopharyngioma. *J. Neurooncol.* 148, 307–316. doi: 10.1007/S11060-020-03519-3
- Marcus, J. (2012). Psychosocial issues in pediatric oncology. Ochsner J. 12, 211-215.
- Massar, S. A. A., Lim, J., and Huettel, S. A. (2019). Sleep deprivation, effort allocation and performance. *Prog. Brain Res.* 246, 1–26. doi: 10.1016/BS.PBR. 2019.03.007
- Mayes, S. D., Calhoun, S. L., and Waschbusch, D. A. (2021). Relationship between sluggish cognitive tempo and sleep, psychological, somatic, and cognitive problems and impairment in children with autism and children with ADHD. *Clin. Child Psychol. Psychiatry* 26, 518–530. doi: 10.1177/1359104520978459
- McCann, M., Bayliss, D. M., Anderson, M., Campbell, C., French, N., McMichael, J., et al. (2018a). The relationship between sleep problems and working memory in children born very preterm. *Child Neuropsychol.* 24, 124–144. doi: 10.1080/ 09297049.2016.1235144
- McCann, M., Bayliss, D. M., Pestell, C., Hill, C. M., and Bucks, R. S. (2018b). The relationship between sleep and working memory in children with neurological

conditions. Child Neuropsychol. 24, 304–321. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2016. 1231298

- McCurdy, M. D., Rane, S., Daly, B. P., and Jacobson, L. A. (2016). Associations among treatment-related neurological risk factors and neuropsychological functioning in survivors of childhood brain tumor. J. Neuro Oncol. 127, 137– 144. doi: 10.1007/s11060-015-2021-9
- McDonnell, G. A., Salley, C. G., Barnett, M., DeRosa, A. P., Werk, R. S., Hourani, A., et al. (2017). Anxiety among adolescent survivors of pediatric cancer. J. Adoles. Health 61, 409–423. doi: 10.1016/J.JADOHEALTH.2017.04.004
- Melendres, M. C. S., Lutz, J. M., Rubin, E. D., and Marcus, C. L. (2004). Daytime sleepiness and hyperactivity in children with suspected sleep-disordered breathing. *Pediatrics* 114, 768–775. doi: 10.1542/PEDS.2004-0730
- Merz, E. L., and Tomfohr-Madsen, L. (2016). Sleep disruption in pediatric cancer survivors: conceptual framework and opportunities for clinical assessment and behavioral treatment. Am. J. Lifestyle Med. 12, 311–323. doi: 10.1177/ 1559827616681725
- Micklewright, J. L., King, T. Z., Morris, R. D., and Krawiecki, N. (2008). Quantifying pediatric neuro-oncology risk factors: development of the neurological predictor scale. *J. Child Neurol.* 23, 455–458. doi: 10.1177/ 0883073807309241
- Monk, T. H. (2012). "Sleep and Human Performance," in Oxford Handbook of Sleep and Sleep Disorders, eds, Charles M. M and Colin E (Oxford: Oxford university Press), 1–23.
- Murray, C. B., Kirsch, A. C., Palermo, T. M., Holmbeck, G. N., Kolbuck, V., Psihogios, A., et al. (2016). Developmental course and determinants of sleep disturbances in adolescents with spina bifida. *J. Pediatr. Psychol.* 41, 631–642. doi: 10.1093/JPEPSY/JSW021
- Myers, J. S., Wick, J. A., and Klemp, J. (2015). Potential factors associated with perceived cognitive impairment in breast cancer survivors. *Support Care Cancer* 23, 3219–3228. doi: 10.1007/S00520-015-2708-7
- Netson, K. L., Ashford, J. M., Skinner, T., Carty, L., Wu, S., Merchant, T. E., et al. (2016). Executive dysfunction is associated with poorer health-related quality of life in pediatric brain tumor survivors. *J. Neuro Oncol.* 128, 313–321. doi: 10.1007/s11060-016-2113-1
- Nie, X., Shao, Y., Liu, S. Y., Li, H. J., Wan, A. L., Nie, S., et al. (2015). Functional connectivity of paired default mode network subregions in primary insomnia. *Neuropsychiatr. Dis. Treat.* 11, 3085–3093. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S95224
- Nolan, V. G., Gapstur, R., Gross, C. R., DeSain, L. A., Neglia, J. P., Gajjar, A., et al. (2013). Sleep disturbances in adult survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Qual. Life Res.* 22, 781–789. doi: 10.1007/S11136-012-0208-5
- Nunnally, J. C., and Bernstein, I. H. (1994). The assessment of reliability. *Psychom. Theory* 3, 248–292.
- O'Hare, K., White, N., Harding, R., Galland, B., Sellbom, M., Shine, B., et al. (2021). Sluggish cognitive tempo and daytime sleepiness mediate relationships between sleep and academic performance. *J. Dev. Behav. Pediatr.* 42, 637–647. doi: 10.1097/DBP.00000000000948
- Olsthoorn, I. M. (2021). The Association Between Sleep Disturbance and Cognition in Pediatric Brain Tumor Survivors. Santa Barbara, CA: Fielding Graduate University.
- Orsey, A. D., Wakefield, D. B., and Cloutier, M. M. (2013). Physical activity (PA) and sleep among children and adolescents with cancer. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 60, 1908–1913. doi: 10.1002/pbc.24641
- Otte, J. L., Carpenter, J. S., Manchanda, S., Rand, K. L., Skaar, T. C., Weaver, M., et al. (2015). Systematic review of sleep disorders in cancer patients: can the prevalence of sleep disorders be ascertained? *Cancer Med.* 4, 183–200. doi: 10.1002/CAM4.356
- Pai, A. L. H., Greenley, R. N., Lewandowski, A., Drotar, D., Youngstrom, E., and Peterson, C. C. (2007). A meta-analytic review of the influence of pediatric cancer on parent and family functioning. *J. Fam. Psychol.* 21, 407–415. doi: 10.1037/0893-3200.21.3.407
- Papazoglou, A., King, T. Z., Morris, R. D., and Krawiecki, N. S. (2008). Cognitive predictors of adaptive functioning vary according to pediatric brain tumor location. *Dev. Neuropsychol.* 33, 505–520. doi: 10.1080/87565640802101490
- Peirano, P. D., and Algarín, C. R. (2007). Sleep in brain development. *Biol. Res.* 40, 471–478. doi: 10.4067/S0716-97602007000500008
- Peterson, R. K., Jones, K., and Jacobson, L. A. (2021). The contribution of sluggish cognitive tempo to processing speed in survivors of pediatric brain tumors. *Child Neuropsychol.* 27, 960–972. doi: 10.1080/09297049.2021.1917529

- Pilotto, C., Passone, E., Coassin, E., Birri, S., Bidoli, E., Crichiutti, G., et al. (2018). Sleep disorders in children with brain tumors: a pilot study based on a sleep disorder questionnaire. *Child Nerv.* 34, 1535–1540. doi: 10.1007/S00381-018-3809-7
- Pollock, E. A., Litzelman, K., Wisk, L. E., and Witt, W. P. (2013). Correlates of physiological and psychological stress among parents of childhood cancer and brain tumor survivors. *Acad. Pediatr.* 13, 105–112. doi: 10.1016/J.ACAP.2012. 11.005
- Rescorla, L., Achenbach, T., Ivanova, M. I., Dumenci, L., Almqvist, F., Bilenberg, N., et al. (2007). Behavioral and emotional problems reported by parents of children ages 6 to 16 in 31 societies. *J. Emot. Behav. Disord.* 15, 130–142.
- Rey-Casserly, C., and Diver, T. (2019). Late effects of pediatric brain tumors. Curr. Opin. Pediatr. 31, 789–796. doi: 10.1097/MOP.00000000000837
- Robert, G., and Hockey, J. (1997). Compensatory control in the regulation of human performance under stress and high workload: a cognitive-energetical framework. *Biol. Psychol.* 45, 73–93. doi: 10.1016/S0301-0511(96)05223-4
- Rondon, A. T., Hilton, D. C., Jarrett, M. A., and Ollendick, T. H. (2018). Sleep,internalizing problems, and social withdrawal: unique associations in clinic- referred youth with elevated sluggish cognitive tempo symptoms. J. Atten. Disord. 24, 1–11.
- Rondon, A. T., Hilton, D. C., Jarrett, M. A., and Ollendick, T. H. (2020). Sleep, internalizing problems, and social withdrawal: unique associations in clinicreferred youth with elevated sluggish cognitive tempo symptoms. *J. Atten. Disord.* 24, 524–534.
- Rosen, G., and Brand, S. R. (2011). Sleep in children with cancer: case review of 70 children evaluated in a comprehensive pediatric sleep center. *Support. Care Cancer* 19, 985–994. doi: 10.1007/S00520-010-0921-Y
- Sali, A. W., Anderson, B. A., Yantis, S., Mostofsky, S. H., and Rosch, K. S. (2018). Reduced value-driven attentional capture among children with ADHD compared to typically developing controls. *J. Abnorm. Child Psychol.* 46, 1187– 1200. doi: 10.1007/s10802-017-0345-y
- Shah, S. S., Dellarole, A., Peterson, E. C., Bregy, A., Komotar, R., Harvey, P. D., et al. (2015). Long-term psychiatric outcomes in pediatric brain tumor survivors. *Childs Nerv. Syst.* 31, 653–663. doi: 10.1007/S00381-015-2669-7
- Sheikh, I. N., Roth, M., and Stavinoha, P. L. (2021). Prevalence of sleep disturbances in pediatric cancer patients and their diagnosis and management. *Children* (*Basel*) 8:1100. doi: 10.3390/children8121100
- Short, M. A., Gradisar, M., Gill, J., and Camfferman, D. (2013). Identifying adolescent sleep problems. *PLoS One* 8:e75301. doi: 10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE. 0075301
- Smith, L. E., Weinman, J., Yiend, J., and Rubin, J. (2020). Psychosocial factors affecting parental report of symptoms in children: a systematic review. *Psychosom. Med.* 82, 187–196. doi: 10.1097/PSY.000000000000767
- Smith, Z. R., Eadeh, H. M., Breaux, R. P., and Langberg, J. M. (2019). Sleepy, sluggish, worried, or down? The distinction between self-reported sluggish cognitive tempo, daytime sleepiness, and internalizing symptoms in youth with attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder. *Psychol. Assess.* 31, 365–375. doi: 10. 1037/PAS0000671
- Stavinoha, P. L., Askins, M. A., Powell, S. K., Smiley, N. P., and Robert, R. S. (2018). Neurocognitive and Psychosocial Outcomes in Pediatric Brain Tumor Survivors. *Bioengineering (Basel)* 5:73. doi: 10.3390/bioengineering5030073
- Steur, L. M. H., Kolk, R. H. E., De Vries, R., Grootenhuis, M. A., Kaspers, G. J. L., Van Litsenburg, R. R. L., et al. (2016). The prevalence and risk factors of sleep problems in pediatric oncology: its effect on quality of life during and after cancer treatment. *Expert Rev. Qual. Life Cancer Care.* 1, 153–171. doi: 10.1080/23809000.2016.1168265
- Taiwo, Z., Na, S., and King, T. Z. (2017). The neurological predictor scale: a predictive tool for long-term core cognitive outcomes in survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 64, 172–179. doi: 10.1002/pbc.26203
- Tashjian, S. M., Goldenberg, D., Monti, M. M., and Galván, A. (2018). Sleep quality and adolescent default mode network connectivity. Soc. Cogn. Affect. Neurosci. 13, 290–299. doi: 10.1093/SCAN/NSY009
- Tonning Olsson, I., Lubas, M. M., Li, C., Mandrell, B. N., Banerjee, P., Howell, C. R., et al. (2020). Insomnia and neurocognitive functioning in adult survivors of childhood cancer. *JNCI Cancer Spectr.* 4:kaa008. doi: 10.1093/JNCICS/ PKAA008
- Tonning Olsson, I., Perrin, S., Lundgren, J., Hjorth, L., and Johanson, A. (2014). Long-term cognitive sequelae after pediatric brain tumor related to

medical risk factors, age, and sex. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 51, 515–521. doi: 10.1016/ J.PEDIATRNEUROL.2014.06.011

- Toplak, M. E., West, R. F., and Stanovich, K. E. (2013). Practitioner review: do performance-based measures and ratings of executive function assess the same construct? J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry Allied Dis. 54, 131–143. doi: 10.1111/jcpp. 12001
- Ullrich, N. J., and Embry, L. (2012). Neurocognitive dysfunction in survivors of childhood brain tumors. *Semin. Pediatr. Neurol.* 19, 35–42. doi: 10.1016/j.spen. 2012.02.014
- van Kooten, J. A. M. C., Maurice-Stam, H., Schouten, A. Y. N., van Vuurden, D. G., Granzen, B., Gidding, C., et al. (2019). High occurrence of sleep problems in survivors of a childhood brain tumor with neurocognitive complaints: the association with psychosocial and behavioral executive functioning. *Pediatr. Blood Cancer* 66, 1–11. doi: 10.1002/pbc.27947
- van Litsenburg, R. R. L., Waumans, R. C., van den Berg, G., and Gemke, R. J. B. J. (2010). Sleep habits and sleep disturbances in Dutch children: a populationbased study. *Eur. J. Pediatr.* 169, 1009–1015. doi: 10.1007/s00431-010-1169-8
- van Someren, E. J. W., Swart-Heikens, J., Endert, E., Bisschop, P. H., Swaab, D. F., Bakker, P. J. M., et al. (2004). Long-term effects of cranial irradiation for childhood malignancy on sleep in adulthood. *Eur. J. Endocrinol.* 150, 503–510. doi: 10.1530/EJE.0.1500503
- Verberne, L. M., Maurice-Stam, H., Grootenhuis, M. A., van Santen, H. M., and Meeteren, A. Y. N. S.-V. (2012). Sleep disorders in children after treatment for a CNS tumour. J. Sleep Res. 21, 461–469. doi: 10.1111/J.1365-2869.2011.00971.X
- von Ah, D., and Tallman, E. F. (2015). Perceived cognitive function in breast cancer survivors: evaluating relationships with objective cognitive performance and other symptoms using the functional assessment of cancer therapy-cognitive function instrument. J. Pain Symptom Manag. 49, 697–706. doi: 10.1016/J. JPAINSYMMAN.2014.08.012
- Vriend, J. L., Davidson, F. D., Corkum, P. V., Rusak, B., Chambers, C. T., and McLaughlin, E. N. (2013). Manipulating sleep duration alters emotional functioning and cognitive performance in children. J. Pediatr. Psychol. 38, 1058–1069. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jst033
- Walter, L. M., Nixon, G. M., Davey, M. J., Downie, P. A., and Horne, R. S. C. (2015). Sleep and fatigue in pediatric oncology: a review of the literature. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 24, 71–82. doi: 10.1016/J.SMRV.2015.01.001
- Wechsler, D. (2003). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Fourth Edition (WISC-IV). San Antonio, TX: The Psychological Corporation.

- Wechsler, D. (2008). Wechsler adult intelligence test-Fourth edition (WAIS-IV). Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Wechsler, D. (2014). Wechsler Intelligence Scale for Children Fifth Edition (WISC-V). Bloomington, MN: Pearson.
- Wiener, L., Battles, H., Zadeh, S., Pelletier, W., Arruda-Colli, M. N. F., and Muriel, A. C. (2017). The perceived influence of childhood cancer on the parents' relationship. *Psychooncology* 26, 2109–2117. doi: 10.1002/PON. 4313
- Willard, V. W., Hardy, K. K., Allen, T. M., Hwang, E. I., Gururangan, S., Hostetter, S. A., et al. (2013). Sluggish cognitive tempo in survivors of pediatric brain tumors. J. Neuro Oncol. 114, 71–78. doi: 10.1007/s11060-013-1149-8
- Wolfe, K. R., Madan-Swain, A., and Kana, R. K. (2012). Executive dysfunction in pediatric posterior fossa tumor survivors: a systematic literature review of neurocognitive deficits and interventions. *Dev. Neuropsychol.* 37, 153–175. doi: 10.1080/87565641.2011.632462
- Yeo, B. T. T., Tandi, J., and Chee, M. W. L. (2015). Functional connectivity during rested wakefulness predicts vulnerability to sleep deprivation. *Neuroimage* 111, 147–158. doi: 10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2015.02.018
- Zhou, E. S., and Recklitis, C. J. (2014). Insomnia in adult survivors of childhood cancer: a report from project reach. *Support. Care Cancer* 22, 3061–3069. doi: 10.1007/S00520-014-2316-Y

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Olsthoorn, Holland, Hawkins, Cornelius, Baig, Yang, Holland, Zaky and Stavinoha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Belinda Pletzer, University of Salzburg, Austria

REVIEWED BY

Robin Yuan, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Dan Denis, University of York, United Kingdom

*CORRESPONDENCE Bénédicte Giffard benedicte.giffard@unicaen.fr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

RECEIVED 30 March 2022 ACCEPTED 16 August 2022 PUBLISHED 07 September 2022

CITATION

Duivon M, Perrier J, Segura-Djezzar C, Joly F, Rehel S, Berthomier C, Grellard J-M, Clarisse B, Geffrelot J, Emile G, Lévy C, Viader F, Eustache F, Desgranges B, Rauchs G and Giffard B (2022) Sleep-dependent memory consolidation in breast cancer: Use of a virtual reality prospective memory task. *Eropt Neurosci* 16:908268

doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.908268

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Duivon, Perrier, Segura-Diezzar, Jolv, Rehel, Berthomier, Grellard, Clarisse, Geffrelot, Emile, Lévy, Viader, Eustache, Desgranges, Rauchs and Giffard. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Sleep-dependent memory consolidation in breast cancer: Use of a virtual reality prospective memory task

Mylène Duivon¹, Joy Perrier¹, Carine Segura-Djezzar^{2,3}, Florence Joly^{2,3,4,5}, Stéphane Rehel¹, Christian Berthomier⁶, Jean-Michel Grellard², Bénédicte Clarisse², Julien Geffrelot^{2,3}, George Emile^{2,3}, Christelle Lévy^{2,3}, Fausto Viader¹, Francis Eustache¹, Béatrice Desgranges^{1†}, Géraldine Rauchs^{1†} and Bénédicte Giffard^{1,5*}

¹Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, U1077, Normandie University, UNICAEN, PSL Université, EPHE, INSERM, CHU de Caen, GIP Cyceron, Caen, France, ²Department of Clinical Research Unit and Medical Oncology, Caen, France, ³Institut Normand du Sein, Centre François Baclesse, Caen, France, ⁴U1086 ANTICIPE, INSERM, Normandie University, UNICAEN, Caen, France, ⁵Cancer and Cognition Platform, Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer, Caen, France, ⁶Physip, Paris, France

Background: Previous studies have revealed both sleep alterations and prospective memory (PM) impairments in breast cancer (BC) patients. PM refers to memory of intended actions and is crucial for daily living tasks and treatment compliance. As sleep is known to favor memory consolidation, one may expect that changes in sleep quality related to BC would have an impact on PM performance. This study aimed at assessing sleep-dependent consolidation of intentions using an ecological, virtual reality-based PM task in BC patients not treated with chemotherapy.

Materials and methods: Thirty-seven early stages BC patients and 21 healthy controls (HC) participated in this study. PM was assessed using a virtual reality task, during which participants learnt a list of intentions and recalled them after a retention interval filled with a day awake or a night of sleep monitored by polysomnography. Sleep spindles and slow waves, brain oscillations involved in sleep-dependent memory consolidation, were quantified automatically using the Aseega software (Physip). Subjective sleep disturbances and markers of quality of life (psychological distress, fatigue, and well-being) were assessed by questionnaires.

Results: Greater PM performance was observed after sleep than after an equivalent period of daytime wakefulness for both groups (HC and BC). PM performance after sleep did not differ significantly between groups. Yet, BC patients reported greater sleep disturbances than HC which were related with poorer intentions retrieval, greater psychological distress, fatigue and poorer well-being. The frequency of spindles was higher and the amplitude of slow waves lower in BC patients compared to HC. However, no significant

association was observed between polysomnography parameters and PM scores in the whole sample of participants.

Conclusion: Although subtle changes in brain oscillations involved in sleepdependent memory consolidation were observed, these changes did not significantly impair overnight PM consolidation in BC patients. Nevertheless, poorer PM performance was associated with greater sleep complaints which in turn were related to poorer quality of life. Overall, these data suggest that sleep-dependent PM consolidation mechanisms are not altered in early stages BC patients not treated with chemotherapy. Further investigations are needed to understand the association between markers of quality of life and sleep-dependent memory consolidation.

KEYWORDS

breast cancer, cognition, sleep, polysomnography, prospective memory, memory consolidation, virtual reality

Introduction

Sleep disturbances and memory impairments are one of the most frequent complaints from breast cancer (BC) patients (Lange et al., 2019; Leysen et al., 2019; Perrier et al., 2021). Sleep complaints are related to greater fatigue and poorer quality of life in cancer survivors (Nishiura et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2018). Previous studies, although scarce and conducted on small samples, suggested that both cancer and chemotherapy treatment might lead to subtle changes in sleep architecture measured by polysomnography (PSG; Roscoe et al., 2011; Tag Eldin et al., 2019). The studies reporting significant changes revealed a decrease in total sleep time with shorter time spent in REM (Rapid-Eye Movement) sleep and longer time spent in lighter sleep stages, i.e., N1 and N2 (Parker et al., 2008; Tag Eldin et al., 2019). A recent study has shown changes in cortical activity during sleep in BC patients not treated with chemotherapy, with notably lower delta power during non-REM sleep in patients compared to healthy controls (HC; Perrier et al., 2022). Delta power is the EEG activity related to slow waves which are, together with sleep spindles, one of the electrophysiological signatures of sleep-dependent memory consolidation (Holz et al., 2012; Klinzing et al., 2019).

According to the "Hippocampo-Neocortical Dialog" hypothesis, both slow waves and spindles are involved in the reorganization of newly acquired information into long-term memory stores (Buzsaki, 1996). The modifications in cortical activity observed in BC patients raise the question of the impact of such sleep changes on memory consolidation. Previous studies revealed an association between sleep complaint and cognitive impairment in BC patients, including memory performance (Caplette-Gingras et al., 2013; Duivon et al., 2021). A recent study also revealed that worse cognitive functioning was predicted by poorer subjective sleep quality, less robust circadian rhythms, and longer naps but not by sleep parameters (e.g., total sleep time and wake after sleep onset) assessed by actigraphy (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2022). However, none of them evaluated specifically sleep-dependent memory consolidation in BC patients.

Among other types of memory, prospective memory (PM) is of particular interest in BC because it is essential for daily living tasks, medical adherence, and autonomy. Moreover, PM difficulties have been highlighted in this population (Cheng et al., 2017; Paquet et al., 2018; Li et al., 2020). The few studies conducted mostly focused on the impact of chemotherapy and hormone receptor (Cheng et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017, 2020) and revealed difficulties in remembering event-based (EB) intentions. Two kinds of intentions are classically distinguished in laboratory tasks: EB intentions when the action has to be performed in response to an external event, and timebased (TB) ones when the action has to be executed at a specific time (Einstein and McDaniel, 1990). In addition, two components (prospective and retrospective) are fundamental to correctly execute delayed intentions (Einstein and McDaniel, 1990). The prospective component involves remembering that something has to be done at the appropriate time. The retrospective component refers to the content of the intention (i.e., remembering what has to be done).

Previous studies revealed that sleep facilitates the spontaneous remembering of intentions at the appropriate time (Scullin and McDaniel, 2010; Diekelmann et al., 2013a). Especially, sleep reinforces the association between prospective and retrospective components, whatever the type of intentions

Abbreviations: AHI, Apnea-Hypopnea Index; BC, Breast cancer; EB, Event-based; ET, Endocrine therapy; HC, Healthy control; PM, Prospective memory; REM, Rapid eye movement; TB, Time-based; TST, Total sleep Time; WASO, Wake after sleep onset.

10.3389/fnins.2022.908268

(i.e., TB or EB; Diekelmann et al., 2013b; Esposito et al., 2015). The beneficial effect of sleep on PM depends on several factors and a recent meta-analysis revealed that age and study type (i.e., experimental or observational) moderated this effect (Leong et al., 2019a). The effect size of sleep benefits is small in observational studies or studies including older adults, whereas it is generally moderate in experimental studies or studies including younger adults. Thus, one study reported that frontal slow wave activity was associated with PM in healthy adults, but this association was no longer significant when adjusted for age (Scullin et al., 2019). In return, this study revealed that REM sleep stage mediated the effect of age on sleep-dependent consolidation of PM.

In this context, this study aimed at assessing sleepdependent consolidation of intentions in PM in BC patients. To do so, we recruited BC patients not treated with chemotherapy and HC who completed sleep questionnaires and underwent ambulatory PSG. PM was assessed using an original virtual reality based task adapted from Rehel et al. (2019). Virtual reality recreates naturalistic situations from daily life while maintaining experimental rigor and was therefore used to improve the ecological validity of the PM task. Fatigue, wellbeing, and psychological distress were also assessed using validated questionnaires. We hypothesized that sleep-dependent consolidation of intentions would be impaired in BC patients, and associated with changes in slow waves and sleep spindles. We also expected that poorer subjective sleep quality in patients would be associated with poorer PM performance, and that these two parameters would also be associated with greater fatigue, psychological distress and poorer well-being.

Materials and methods

Participants

All participants were recruited between January 2018 and March 2020 and provided written informed consent after detailed information about the study. The study was approved by the ethics committee (CPP Ile de France III; n°ID-RCB: 2017-A02778-45).

Patients' inclusion criteria were: (i) be less than 70 years old, (ii) no metastatic BC, (iii) already undergone surgical or radiotherapy treatment, (iv) radiotherapy finished since at least 6 months and no chemotherapy treatment, (v) menopausal status since at least 1 year at the time of inclusion, (vi) no personality disorder and progressive psychiatric disorder (vii) no neurological sequelae, (viii) no drug use or alcohol abuse, (ix) be a native French speaker, (x) have at least 7 years of education.

Inclusion criteria for HC were the same as for patients, including no history of cancer and a score superior to 25 at the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (Nasreddine et al., 2005); see Duivon et al. (2018) for further details on study protocol and neuropsychological tests used.

Fifty patients, i.e., 25 patients treated with endocrine therapy (ET) and 25 patients not treated with ET approached in the French regional cancer center François Baclesse (Caen, Normandy) agreed to participate. The rationale for the target sample size was calculated according to the literature on cognitive decline in BC patients under ET (detailed in Duivon et al., 2018). Thirteen patients did not complete the entire protocol: nine withdrew, three presented symptoms similar to motion sickness during the virtual reality task, and one did not perform a session due to a technical problem with the virtual reality task. Five PSG recordings of patients were not exploitable and thus excluded from analyses. Among the twenty-five HC recruited, three withdrew and one could not stand virtual reality. Finally, 21 HC and 32 patients completed the entire protocol and were included in the analyses.

Procedure

The experimental procedure has been fully described in Duivon et al. (2018). Only the main points are presented here. The study included three sessions with a 1-week delay inbetween to minimize the risk of interference. The first session consisted of a familiarization of participants with the virtual environment and the PM task. During this session, participants were asked to memorize nine intentions and recall them 10 min after their encoding. During the second and third sessions, intentions were encoded in the morning and retrieved in the evening for the wake session, and encoded in the evening and retrieved the next morning for the sleep session. The order of sleep and wake sessions was counterbalanced between participants. During the wake session, participants performed their usual activities, with the instruction not to nap. During the sleep session, participants went back home or spent the night in a hotel. Sleep was monitored using ambulatory PSG.

Polysomnography

Participants underwent a PSG using a portable device (Siesta, Compumedics, Victoria, Australia). The PSG consisted in recording the electroencephalogram (EEG), electrooculogram (EOG), electrocardiogram (ECG), chin electromyogram (EMG), respiratory movements using thoracic and abdominal belts, respiratory airflow using nasal and oral thermistors, and oxygen saturation using a finger pulse oximeter. For the EEG recording, twenty electrodes were placed over the scalp according to the international 10–20 system (Fp1, Fp2, F3, F4, F7, F8, Fz, C3, C4, Cz, T3, T4, P3, P4, Pz, O1, O2, vertex ground, and a bi-mastoid reference), with impedances kept below 5 k Ω . The EEG signal was digitalized at a sampling

rate of 256 Hz, high-pass (0.3 Hz) and low-pass (35 Hz) filters were applied for the visual scoring. Sleep stages (N1, N2, N3, and REM) were visually scored by an electrophysiology technician (S.R.) in epochs of 30 s according to the AASM rules (Berry et al., 2017). Standard sleep parameters, including the percentage of each sleep stage, as well as respiratory parameters, such as the apnea-hypopnea index (AHI), were computed. Artifacts (eye movements, ECG, EMG, or movement-related artifacts) were detected visually and rejected (J.P.), and analyses were conducted on artifact-free epochs. Automatic quantification of sleep spindles and slow waves from the Cz-Pz derivation was performed during N2-N3 and N3 stages respectively, using the ASEEGA software (PHYSIP, Paris, France). The validation of the original algorithm is fully described elsewhere (Berthomier et al., 2007). An adapted amplitude slow wave's criterion (Rosinvil et al., 2021) instead of the 75°microVolts standard criterion was used to detect slow waves. More specifically, the detection method for spindles and slow waves was based on data-driven criteria using multiple iterations in order to cope with inter-subject and inter-recording variability. The first iteration determined the recording-specific thresholds on the basis of EEG amplitude and EEG power ratios in frequency bands. The second iteration determined the precise temporal localization of each event. The final iteration validated the pre-detected events according to frequency and duration criteria (> 0.5 s) for spindles (Dang-Vu et al., 2017), amplitude and duration criteria (0.25 s < duration < 2 s) for slow waves. For spindles, iteration 1 and 3 dealt with raw EEG data, while iteration 2 was applied on the EEG filtered in the spindle (sigma) frequency range. For the slow waves, iteration 1 dealt with raw EEG data, while iterations 2 and 3 were applied on the EEG filtered in the slow waves (delta) frequency range. Finally, the density of spindles (i.e., number of spindles during stages N2-N3 divided by the time spent in N2-N3) and slow waves (i.e., number of slow waves during stage N3 divided by the time spent in N3) was computed.

Questionnaires

Subjective sleep disturbances were assessed using the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI; Buysse et al., 1989) a 19-item questionnaire measuring sleep habits and disturbances over the previous month (total score ranging from 0 to 21). In cancer population, a PSQI score above 8 is considered to reflect poor sleep (Carpenter and Andrykowski, 1998), instead of five in healthy population (Buysse et al., 1989). Insomnia symptoms were measured with the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI; Morin et al., 2011) a seven-item questionnaire (score ranging from 0 to 28). The cut-off score of eight indicating a subthreshold insomnia has been validated in cancer patients (Savard et al., 2005; Michaud et al., 2021). For both questionnaires, higher scores indicate higher sleep disturbances and insomnia related symptoms.

The level of alertness/sleepiness was measured with the Karolinska Sleepiness Score (KSS, Akerstedt and Gillberg, 1990) before every encoding and retrieval phases of the PM task. KSS is a nine-item questionnaire (total score ranging from 1 to 9) with higher scores indicating greater sleepiness.

Depressive symptoms were assessed with the Beck Depression Inventory (BDI), a validated 13-item questionnaire with a total score ranging from 0 to 39 (Beck et al., 1961). Anxiety was assessed with the State Trait Anxiety Inventory (Spielberger et al., 1970). The first 20 items assess state anxiety (STAI-A), i.e., how the participant feels at the moment of the assessment; the remaining 20 items assess trait anxiety (STAI-B), i.e., how the participant usually feels; each range from 20 to 80. The STAI questionnaire was fulfilled during the first session of familiarization, thus the STAI-A score was not representative of the anxiety state at the time of sleep session and only the STAI-B score was reported here. For both questionnaires, i.e., BDI and STAI-B, higher values indicate higher depression and trait-anxiety symptoms.

Fatigue and well-being were assessed in BC patients only, using the Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy– Fatigue (FACIT-F; Yellen et al., 1997), a 13-item questionnaire (score ranging from 0 to 52) and the Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy–General (FACT-G; Cella et al., 1993), a 27item questionnaire (score ranging from 0 to 108). For both questionnaires, higher scores indicate lower fatigue and greater well-being, respectively.

Prospective memory task

The PM task was adapted from Rehel et al. (2019).

During the encoding phase, participants were asked to learn nine intentions that they had to remember after a certain amount of time (recall time specified by the session). The nine intentions included three TB intentions (e.g., "at 12:11, go to the restaurant for lunch"), and six EB intentions (e.g., "at the cafeteria, buy a black coffee" or "at the child-care center, ask for a map of the Memorial"). A new set of nine intentions was learnt in every session. Each intention was presented on a computer screen, then a cued-recall test was performed and repeated until each intention was correctly learnt. Finally, to ensure that all intentions were correctly encoded, they were retrieved in a last global cued-recall test.

During the retrieval phase, participants were immersed in the virtual environment for a maximum of 20 min. The environment featured a reproduction of the Memorial museum dedicated to World War II and located in Caen (Normandy, France). Participants were placed in an immersive room composed of four wide screens for 3D stereoscopic projections, wore stereoscopic glasses with position sensors and freely navigated in the museum using a joystick. Participants were asked to visit the museum while memorizing pictures displayed in the environment (ongoing task) and recalling intentions at the appropriate place or time. EB intentions had to be recalled in response to a specific cue in the environment, and TB intentions at the appropriate time. For this purpose, a button on the joystick was available to check time.

Each intention was rated according to three components, i.e., the prospective component, the retrospective component, and the associative one (correct action recalled at the appropriate time or place). A maximum of two points was awarded to every component for a correct recall i.e., if every detail of the retrospective component was recalled at the appropriate time. If the intention was recalled during the second passage or within 1 min of the target time, only one point was attributed to the prospective score. If the intention was recalled at a later passage or within 2 min of the target time, only 0.5 points were awarded to the prospective component [see Duivon et al. (2018) for scoring details]. Each intention had therefore a maximum score of six points corresponding to the sum of the three components scores. Thus, each type of intention had a maximum score of 36 for EB intentions (6*6 EB intentions) and 18 for TB intentions (6*3 TB intentions). Every component had a maximum score of 18 corresponding to the sum of component scores for each intention $(2^*9 \text{ intentions})$.

Statistical analyses

Analyses were performed using the R software (version 4.0.3), with statistical significance set at p < 0.05. Normality hypothesis was assessed using the Shapiro test. When the normality hypothesis was rejected, data were analyzed using non-parametric tests.

Wilcoxon tests were performed to compare demographic characteristics, scores of depression (BDI), scores of sleep questionnaires (ISI, PSQI), score of alertness/sleepiness (KSS), and encoding performance (i.e., number of intentions retrieved during the last global cued recall test). The STAI-B scores were compared using student t test.

Analyses of covariance (ANCOVA) were conducted with sleep architecture parameters (i.e., general sleep parameters and sleep stages) as dependent variables, group as independent variable, and the Apnea-Hypopnea index (AHI) as covariate. As no significant effect of AHI was observed on quantification of slow waves and sleep spindles, comparisons between groups were realized with Wilcoxon tests.

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to evaluate the time-of-day effect on PM performance with PM scores at session 1 as the dependent variable, group and session-time (morning or evening) as independent variables. A paired ANOVA was performed to evaluate group and session effect on PM retrieval using PM scores as the dependent variable, group and session (wake and sleep) as independent variables. Furthermore, in order to evaluate PM consolidation during sleep (PM scores at the sleep session) accounting for performance obtained during the day (PM scores at the wake session), we performed an ANCOVA for each PM score. PM performance during the sleep session was the dependent variable, group the independent variable, and PM performance during the wake session the covariate. As the normality hypothesis was rejected for the retrospective PM score, this latter was log transformed.

In order to control for the effect of ET received by some patients, the analyses of sleep questionnaires, PSG parameters (architecture, slow waves, and spindles characteristics) and PM scores detailed above were conducted with ET status (i.e., with three groups: the patients treated with ET, the patients not treated with ET and HC) as covariate. When the normality hypothesis was rejected, the score was log transformed.

Then, Spearman correlation analyses were performed in the whole sample of participants (HC and BC patients), to assess the associations between subjective sleep assessments (PSQI and ISI scores), PM scores (each intention and component) during the sleep session, psychological distress (BDI and STAI-B scores) and well-being and fatigue (FACT-G and FACIT-F, in BC patients only). Finally, Spearman correlation analyses were performed to test the associations between PSG parameters (i.e., % of N3 and REM sleep, number of awakenings > 1 min, spindles and slow waves parameters) and PM scores (each intention and component) during the sleep session.

Results

Participants characteristics

Demographic characteristics of participants and clinical characteristics of patients are reported **Table 1**. No significant difference on demographic characteristics and levels of anxiety and depression was observed between groups (all ps > 0.40).

Sleep

The analyses of sleep questionnaires revealed a significant difference between groups on subjective sleep disturbances (PSQI, p = 0.020) and insomnia severity (ISI, p = 0.004), indicating that BC patients had greater sleep complaints and more severe insomnia symptoms than HC (**Table 2**). This difference between BC and HC remained significant when ET status (i.e., the three groups: patients receiving ET, patients not receiving ET and HC) was added as covariate for the ISI but not the PSQI (see **Supplementary Table 1**).

Subjective sleep disturbances and insomnia severity were positively associated with trait anxiety assessed using the STAI-B

(PSQI: r = 0.28, p = 0.043; ISI: r = 0.31, p = 0.027) in the whole sample of participants. The insomnia severity was positively associated with depression assessed using the BDI (ISI: r = 0.35, p = 0.01). Thus, higher sleep complaints were related with greater psychological distress in the whole group of participants. PSQI and ISI scores were also negatively associated with FACIT-F (PSQI: r = -0.59, p < 0.001; ISI: r = -0.51, p = 0.003) and FACT-G scores (PSQI: r = -0.65, p < 0.001; ISI: r = -0.57, p < 0.001) in BC patients. Thus, higher sleep complaints were related to greater fatigue and poorer well-being in BC patients (see **Supplementary Table 5**).

Standard PSG parameters of the two groups are reported in **Table 2**. A significant effect of group [F(1,50) = 7.10, p = 0.010] was observed only for the number of awakenings longer than 1 min, with patients having significantly more awakenings than HC.

Sleep spindles frequency differed between groups (p = 0.025) with patients having a faster frequency than HC (**Table 3**). The peak-to-peak amplitude of slow waves also differed between groups (p = 0.040), with lower amplitude in BC patients compared with HC.

For the sake of completeness, we conducted all the analyses on PSG parameters detailed above adding the ET status as covariate. These analyses revealed that the effect of group on the number of awakenings longer than 1 min, the spindle frequency and slow waves amplitude was no longer significant (see **Supplementary Table 1**). On the contrary, a difference on slow waves density became significant [F(1,50) = 4.91, p = 0.031].

Prospective memory performance

Effect of time-of-day on prospective memory performance

In each group, half of the participants performed the session 1 in the morning and the other half in the evening in order to control for an effect of time-of-day on PM performance. The ANOVA revealed no significant effect of time-of-day [F(1,49) = 0.11, p = 0.74] and group [F(1,49) = 0.20, p = 0.66], and no significant interaction between these factors [F(1,49) = 0.35, p = 0.56] on encoding performance. No significant effect of time-of-day [F(1,49) = 0.35, p = 0.56] on encoding performance. No significant effect of time-of-day [F(1,49) = 0.05, p = 0.82] and group [F(1,49) = 0.50, p = 0.48], and no significant interaction between these factors [F(1,49) = 0.12, p = 0.74] on global PM performance (i.e., sum of three components scores) was observed. Moreover, no significant effect of group, time-of-day and interaction were observed whatever the type of intention and component (all *p values* > 0.05, results not shown).

A comparison of the level of alertness/sleepiness (KSS) was performed between groups. Whether at the wake session or the sleep session, or before encoding or retrieval, no significant difference was observed between the groups (all p values > 0.2, results not shown).

These results indicate that there was no different effect of time-of-day on encoding and recall performance between groups.

Encoding

The number of intentions retrieved during the last cuedrecall test of the encoding phase did not differ significantly between groups (mean for the sleep session HC = 8.2; BC = 7.7; p = 0.25; mean for the wake session HC = 8.1; BC = 7.9; p = 0.75). This effect became significant when ET status was added as covariate for both sessions (all *p* values < 0.02).

Effect of group and session (sleep vs. wake) on prospective memory performance

An analysis of variance revealed better global PM performance during the sleep session compared to the wake session [F(1,51) = 21.5, p < 0.001]. Neither a significant effect of group [F(1,51) = 1.48, p = 0.23], nor a significant interaction between group and session [F(1,51) = 0.09, p = 0.76] was observed. Similar results were observed for each intention and component (all *p* values > 0.15, see Table 4 for further details). Thus, better PM retrieval performance was observed after a night of sleep rather than after an equivalent period of daytime wakefulness, in both groups of participants.

Sleep-dependent prospective memory retrieval

Table 4 summarizes PM performance in BC patients and HC during the wake and sleep sessions. Analyses of co-variance were conducted on PM scores obtained during the sleep session, accounting for PM scores obtained during the wake session. PM performance did not differ between groups whatever the type of intention (EB or TB; all *p* values > 0.55) or the component (Prospective, Retrospective, and Associative; all *p* values > 0.39). When ET status was added as covariate, a significant difference between BC and HC was observed for the prospective [F(1,49) = 5.3, p = 0.025] and the associative components [F(1,49) = 4.50, p = 0.039], with patients having lower scores than HC.

Prospective memory performance was not significantly related with psychological distress, i.e., STAI-B and BDI scores in the whole sample of participants (see **Supplementary Table 5**). A significant correlation was observed between the retrieval of the retrospective component and the FACIT-F score (r = 0.38, p = 0,030). Thus, higher fatigue is related with lower retrieval of the retrospective component in BC patients. No other significant correlation was observed.

Associations between sleep and prospective memory performance

No significant correlation was observed during both sessions between encoding performance (i.e.,

number of intentions retrieved during the last cuedrecall test of the encoding phase), scores on sleep questionnaires (PSQI, ISI, all *p* values > 0.1, results not shown) and fatigue (FACIT-F only in BC patients, all *p* values > 0.1).

The PSQI total score was significantly associated with the retrieval of EB intentions (r = -0.36, p = 0.010) and retrospective components of the whole intentions (r = -0.29, p = 0.038). The ISI score was significantly associated with the retrieval of EB intentions (r = -0.41, p = 0.003) and retrospective components of the whole intentions (r = -0.42, p = 0.002). Thus, higher sleep disturbances and insomnia complaints were associated with poorer recall of EB intentions and retrospective components after a night of sleep in the whole sample of participants. Furthermore, FACIT-F score was significantly related with the retrospective component score (r = 0.38, p = 0.03), indicating that greater fatigue was related with poorer recall of the retrospective component of intentions in BC patients.

No significant correlation was observed between PSG parameters (% of N3 and REM sleep, number of awakenings longer than 1 min and all spindles and slow

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of participants (mean \pm SD).

Demographic characteristics	HC $(n = 21)$	BC ($n = 32$)	P-values	
Age (years)	62.6 ± 4.4	61.8 ± 5.2	0.63	
Education (years)	11.8 ± 1.7	11.8 ± 3.5	0.44	
Anxiety (STAI-B)	42.3 ± 9.3	40.8 ± 10.5	0.60	
Depression (BDI)	4.1 ± 3.2	3.6 ± 3.2	0.44	
Clinical characteristics	HC $(n = 21)$	BC $(n = 32)$		
Stage of the cancer, n (%): 0 I IIA	NA	17 (53%) 12 (38%) 3 (9%)		
Tumorectomy, n (%) Mastectomy, n (%)	NA	29 (91%) 4 (13%)*		
Time since radiotherapy (months)	NA	8 ± 2.4		
Treated with endocrine therapy, Not treated with endocrine therapy	NA	16 (50%) 16 (50%)		
Fatigue (FACIT-F)	NA	36.6 ± 10		
Well-being (FACT-G)	NA	84.6 ± 17		

*One patient receiving tumorectomy and mastectomy.

HC, healthy controls; BC, breast cancer; STAI-B, State Trait Anxiety Inventory–Trait; BDI, Beck depression inventory; FACIT-F, Functional Assessment of Chronic Illness Therapy– Fatigue; FACT-G, Functional Assessment of Cancer Therapy–General.

Age, Education, and Depression were compared with Wilcoxon tests and Anxiety with the student's *t*.test.

TABLE 2 Sleep characteristics, i.e., subjective sleep quality and sleep architecture (mean ± SD).

Sleep questionnaires	HC $(n = 21)$	BC (<i>n</i> = 32)	P-values		
Sleep disturbances (PSQI total score)	5.48 ± 2.8	8.29 ± 4.5	0.020		
Insomnia severity index (ISI score)	7.19 ± 4.5	11.9 ± 6.6	0.004		
Sleep architecture (AHI as co-variate)	HC $(n = 21)$	BC $(n = 32)$	F (1,50)	P -values	η ²
Total sleep time (min)	356 ± 68	355 ± 68	0.001	0.97	< 0.01
Sleep efficiency (%)	76.9 ± 11	74.1 ± 11	0.75	0.39	0.01
Number of awakenings > 1 min	6.76 ± 2.8	9.59 ± 4.4	7.10	0.010	0.12
WASO%	16.5 ± 12	19.9 ± 11	1.22	0.28	0.02
N1 (% TST)	8.6 ± 3.7	8.86 ± 5.2	0.059	0.81	< 0.01
N2 (% TST)	50.3 ± 7.2	52.0 ± 6.0	0.91	0.35	0.02
N3 (% TST)	22.9 ± 6.1	22.6 ± 7.3	0.024	0.88	< 0.01
REM (% TST)	18.3 ± 4.8	16.6 ± 3.9	1.95	0.17	0.04
Apnea-hypopnea index (AHI)	19.6 ± 13	19.8 ± 12	NA	0.83	NA

HC, Healthy Controls; BC, breast cancer patients; PSQI, Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index; ISI, Insomnia Severity Index; WASO, Wake After Sleep Onset; TST, Total sleep time; REM, Rapid-Eye-Movement sleep. *P*-values < 0.05 are in bold. Effects size: Small ($\eta^2 \ge 0.01$), medium ($\eta^2 \ge 0.06$), and large ($\eta^2 \ge 0.14$). Comparison of the PSQI and the AHI scores were realized with Wilcoxon tests and ISI score with the student's *t*-test. Comparison of the sleep architecture was realized with analyses of co-variance with AHI as covariate.

TABLE 3 Sleep spindles features during N2 \pm N3, and slow waves features during N3 (mean \pm SD).

Parameters		HC $(n = 21)$	BC (<i>n</i> = 32)	P-values
Spindles (N2 + N3)	Frequency (Hz)	13.6 ± 0.6	13.9 ± 0.5	0.025
	Maximum amplitude (μV)	10.0 ± 2.5	9.57 ± 2.7	0.41
	Density (number per epoch)	2.81 ± 0.9	2.79 ± 1.4	0.55
Slow waves (N3)	Peak to peak amplitude (μV)	80.4 ± 17	72.6 ± 20	0.040
	Density (number per epoch)	9.01 ± 3.6	7.95 ± 3.9	0.13

HC, Healthy Controls; BC, breast cancer patients. P-values < 0.05 are in bold. Analyses were realized with Wilcoxon tests.

	HC $(n = 21)$		BC $(n = 32)$		Group effect		Session effect		Group effect (accounting for wake session performance)		
	Wake	Sleep	Wake	Sleep	F (1,51)	P-values	F (1,51)	P-values	F (1,49)	P-values	η^2
Total (/54)	30.0 ± 7.7	34.8 ± 8.0	26.6 ± 10	32.2 ± 11	1.48	0.23	21.5	< 0.001	0.05	0.83	< 0.01
Intentions											
EB (/36)	22.4 ± 6.2	25.5 ± 6.3	20.2 ± 7.8	24.3 ± 7.1	1.07	0.31	14.0	< 0.001	0.02	0.89	< 0.01
ГВ (/18)	7.52 ± 3.0	9.24 ± 4.6	6.45 ± 4.6	7.88 ± 5.0	1.27	0.27	6.21	0.016	0.36	0.55	< 0.01
Components (/18)											
Prospective	8.86 ± 3.2	10.7 ± 3.6	8.36 ± 3.5	9.56 ± 3.6	0.96	0.33	9.37	0.004	1.03	0.32	< 0.01
Retrospective	12.81 ± 2.7	13.8 ± 3.1	11.3 ± 4.1	13.5 ± 3.5	1.04	0.31	15.1	< 0.001	0.30	0.59	< 0.01
Associative	8.29 ± 3.4	10.3 ± 2.8	7.00 ± 3.9	9.06 ± 4.3	1.77	0.19	19.1	< 0.001	0.25	0.62	< 0.01

TABLE 4 Prospective memory (PM) performances during the wake and sleep sessions (mean ± SD) and analyses of the group and session effects.

HC, healthy controls; EB, event-based; P-values < 0.05 are in bold. TB, time-based. Analyses of variance were used for the group and session effect. Analyses of co-variance were used with performance during the wake session as co-variate for the group effect (accounting for wake session performance).

waves parameters) and PM performance (all *p* values > 0.05, see **Supplementary Table 4**).

Discussion

The aim of this study was to assess, sleep-dependent consolidation of intentions in PM in BC patients not receiving chemotherapy. First, BC patients reported greater sleep disturbances and insomnia symptoms than HC. Greater sleep complaints were related with poorer PM performance and markers of quality of life, i.e., fatigue, well-being and psychological distress. An objective assessment of sleep using PSG revealed more awakenings longer than 1 min, decreased amplitude of slow waves and increased frequency of sleep spindles in BC patients compared to HC. These subtle sleep modifications were not related to sleep-dependent consolidation of intentions whose remembering did not differ between groups.

Greater subjective sleep disturbances and insomnia severity were related to greater difficulty remembering EB intentions and retrospective components in the whole group of participants. These results are in line with previous studies in BC patients revealing a significant correlation between sleep complaint and cognitive performance (Duivon et al., 2021) including memory performance (Caplette-Gingras et al., 2013). In the present study, both groups had greater PM performance during the sleep session than during the wake session, highlighting the significant benefit of sleep on consolidation of intentions. BC patients had no encoding difficulties as evidenced by the equivalent number of intentions recalled at the end of the encoding phase, except when controlling for ET. Moreover, encoding performance was not related to subjective sleep assessment and fatigue, meaning that self-reported sleep disturbances and fatigue could have a specific impact on retrieval process but not on memory encoding. According to the Multiprocess framework (McDaniel and Einstein, 2000), PM retrieval relies on a continuum from strategic processes to relatively spontaneous processes depending on several characteristics such as the distinctiveness of the cue and the strength of

the association between the prospective and retrospective components. Previous studies conducted in healthy subjects, revealed that sleep benefits spontaneous retrieval processes, by strengthening the association between the two components, rather than strategic monitoring processes (Diekelmann et al., 2013b; Esposito et al., 2015). In our study, no significant correlation was found with the associative component to confirm this hypothesis. Nevertheless, the correlation with the recall of EB intentions and the retrospective component suggests a benefit of sleep on the episodic memory dimension, i.e., the spontaneous processes of remembering the corresponding action when the cue is detected, rather than on the strategic processes needed to check the environment and estimate time. However, contrary to our hypotheses, sleep-dependent consolidation of intentions in PM was not impaired in BC patients. In the present study, the mean score of PSQI of BC patients was equal to the cutoff score proposed in this pathology (Carpenter and Andrykowski, 1998). Moreover, the mean ISI score in BC patients was considered to reflect subthreshold insomnia (Morin et al., 2011). Thus, although BC patients had greater sleep complaints than HC related to poorer PM performance, the level of subjective sleep disturbances in this group of patients was relatively low. This may explain the lack of sleep-related impairment of PM consolidation in BC patients.

Subtle sleep changes were observed when analyzing PSG data. BC patients had more awakenings longer than 1 min than HC, but neither sleep efficiency nor the time awake after sleep onset differed between groups. Thus, these awakenings did not modify sleep architecture of BC patients. Concerning PM, SWS appears to be involved in the consolidation of intentions in young adults (Diekelmann et al., 2013a; Leong et al., 2019b, 2021). However, these results are not consistently reported since Cunningham et al. (2021) found a negative association between SWS and PM performance in young adults. In the study by Leong et al. (2021), while older adults had lower PM performance and spent less time in SWS than young adults, no significant relation was found between SWS and PM in the older group. The authors suggested that the role of SWS on

119

PM consolidation may be disrupted and thus ineffective in older adults. Meanwhile, Scullin et al. (2019), in a study conducted in adults aged 18–84 years, revealed that REM sleep duration explained the variance in PM consolidation when controlling for age. In the present study, in which we included older participants, neither time spent in SWS (N3 sleep) nor time spent in REM sleep were related to PM performance. Further analyses on REM sleep, which would rather be involved in intentions consolidation in older adults, should be conducted. Distinguishing for instance between phasic and tonic phases (Simor et al., 2020), which might play distinct roles in memory consolidation, would be interesting.

Aging is characterized by a decrease in the amplitude and density of slow waves and density and duration of sleep spindles (Mander et al., 2017). In a study assessing sleepdependent consolidation of intentions in young and older adults, Scullin et al. (2019) reported a correlation between slow wave activity and the recall of EB intentions, which was no longer significant when adjusted for age. As suggested for time spent in SWS, the role of slow waves on sleep-dependent memory consolidation must be less effective in older adults. This hypothesis could explain the lack of relationship between slow waves characteristics and PM performance, and the lack of PM difficulties despite lower slow wave's amplitude in BC patients. In the present study, only a change in slow wave's amplitude was observed. Thus, we could surmise that the density of slow waves, rather than their amplitude, is relevant for memory consolidation but this hypothesis requires further investigations. A significant increase in spindle frequency was also observed in BC patients but this change was not related to PM performance. The lack of significant association could be explained by the low variability of this spindle feature. However, this result is consistent with previous studies conducted in healthy adults and revealing no significant association between sleep spindles and retrieval of intentions (Scullin et al., 2019; Leong et al., 2021).

Prospective memory remembering was related to subjective sleep disturbances but not to objective sleep changes. These results are in line with a recent study in BC revealing a relationship between neuropsychological performance and subjective sleep quality but not with objective sleep parameters measured with actigraphy (Ancoli-Israel et al., 2022). The discrepancy between subjective and objective sleep measures frequently observed in healthy subjects (Rezaie et al., 2018) is also observed in BC patients. Reinsel et al. (2015) showed no difference in sleep architecture between patients with and without insomnia complaints. In the same way, a discrepancy is frequently observed between subjective and objective measures of cognitive functioning in BC patients (Ganz et al., 2013; Bray et al., 2018). Some studies suggest that this discrepancy could be due to the nature of the assessment. PSG and neuropsychological tests have a poor ecological validity which may underestimate difficulties measured with questionnaires (Savard and Ganz, 2016). In the present study, we used a

virtual reality-based task to reproduce as finely as possible situations of everyday life. This type of paradigm is supposed to be more sensitive to measure cognitive difficulties experienced in everyday life (Lecouvey et al., 2017; Rehel et al., 2019). Nevertheless, PM impairment in the group of BC patients might be too subtle to be detected even by an ecological task but still related with worse subjective sleep quality and fatigue. This result is reminiscent of the study by Mihuta et al. (2016) who reported no PM deficit in BC patients using a virtual reality task but reported associations between PM scores and cognitive complaints. The laboratory context encourages participants to muster all their abilities to succeed in the task and the ongoing task is not as demanding as in real-world situations. These limitations, compared to an assessment with a naturalistic task, seem difficult to overcome. However, our PM task could be made even more ecological. We could take the example of the Virtual Reality Everyday Assessment lab (VR-EAL) where realistic intentions were used such as "Take the chocolate pie out of the oven" and "Collect the carrot cake from the bakery at 12 pm" (Kourtesis et al., 2020).

Fatigue, psychological distress, sleep disturbances, and cognitive impairment are the most common side effects reported by BC patients (Bower, 2008). In the study by Xu et al. (2018), using a Bayesian network method to represent multivariate relationships between sets of variables, cognitive performance was directly related to sleep complaints, and also indirectly related to fatigue (through sleep) and depression (through sleep and fatigue). Higher fatigue has been previously related with PM impairment in BC patients (Paquet et al., 2013). In our study, worse PM performance was related to poorer sleep quality and greater fatigue and in turn sleep disturbances were associated with worse psychological distress, fatigue, and well-being. Thus, we can surmise that PM impairment usually reported in BC patients (not treated with chemotherapy) would rather be related to several factors affecting their quality of life such as greater sleep disturbances, fatigue, and psychological distress, rather than to a specific alteration of physiological mechanisms involved in sleep-dependent memory consolidation. As the patients included in this study had no major psychological distress in comparison to HC, and no major sleep disturbances, fatigue or poorer well-being (according to the normative data of the questionnaires), this could explain the lack of PM impairment in BC patients. Further studies with larger samples are needed to better understand the role of factors related to quality of life on sleep-dependent memory consolidation in BC patients not treated with chemotherapy.

The patients included in this study were in the early stages of BC (0, I, and II), not treated with chemotherapy and assessed at least 6 months after radiation therapy. These criteria were chosen to minimize as much as possible the negative effect of the treatments, particularly the well-known effects of chemotherapy on sleep and memory. However, half of BC patients were under ET at the time of assessment and ET has been associated with higher sleep complaints (Dhruva et al., 2012) and lower episodic memory performance (Underwood et al., 2018, 2019). Thus, in order to control for the impact of ET on sleepdependent PM consolidation, complementary analyses were performed, adding the ET status as covariate. These analyses revealed that there was no longer a significant difference for the numbers of awakenings longer than one minute, the frequency of spindles and the amplitude of slow waves between BC and HC. Nevertheless, a significant difference was revealed for the density of slow waves, the encoding of new intentions and the retrieval of prospective and associative components. Thus, it appears that ET had subtle effect on objective sleep parameters and PM functioning. Further investigations with larger sample size should be conducted to precisely address this issue.

Conclusion

This study reveals greater sleep complaints and subtle sleep changes in BC patients compared to HC. Despite the role of slow waves and spindles in sleep-dependent memory consolidation, the modifications observed in BC patients had no significant impact on sleep-dependent PM consolidation. Our results suggest that PM impairment reported in previous studies would be due more to an altered quality of life reflected by several factors such as poorer sleep quality and fatigue, rather than to a slight alteration of sleep-dependent memory consolidation mechanisms. Thus, in this study focusing on patients at early stages of BC, not treated with chemotherapy and without psychological distress and severe sleep disturbances, sleep-dependent consolidation of intentions was not impaired.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by CPP Ile de France III (n°ID-RCB: 2017-A02778-45). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

MD collected and analyzed the data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. SR, CB, and JP realized sleep analyses. CS-D, JG, GE, CL, and FV participated in the investigation. J-MG, BC, BG, and JP participated in the project administration. BG, JP, BD, FE, and FJ participated in the funding acquisition and design of the study. BG, BD, GR, and JP participated to the rewriting and editing of the study. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This work was supported by the ARC Foundation—for cancer research (2017–2020), the French sleep society (SFRMS), the Région Normandie (Réseaux d'Intérêts Normands, RIN), the Cancéropôle Nord-Ouest, and the Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer.

Acknowledgments

We thank the clinical research department and the medical oncology department of the Centre François Baclesse for their help in patient recruitment, the Interdisciplinary Center for Virtual Reality (CIREVE) in Caen (Normandy, France) for their technical support, and all the participants for their active contribution to these results. The Northwest Data Center (CTD-CNO) is acknowledged for managing the data.

Conflict of interest

CB has ownership/directorship and was employed by Physip, who owns Aseega.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnins.2022.908268/full#supplementary-material Akerstedt, T., and Gillberg, M. (1990). Subjective and objective sleepiness in the active individual. *Int. J. Neurosci.* 52, 29–37. doi: 10.3109/00207459008994241

Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Natarajan, L., Rissling, M., Neikrug, A. B., Youngstedt, S. D., et al. (2022). Reductions in sleep quality and circadian activity rhythmicity predict longitudinal changes in objective and subjective cognitive functioning in women treated for breast cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 30, 3187–3200. doi: 10.1007/s00520-021-06743-3

Beck, A. T., Ward, C. H., Mendelson, M., Mock, J., and Erbaugh, J. (1961). An Inventory for measuring depression. *Arch. Gen. Psychiatr.* 4, 561–571. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1961.01710120031004

Berry, R. B., Brooks, R., Gamaldo, C., Harding, S. M., Lloyd, R. M., Quan, S. F., et al. (2017). AASM scoring manual updates for 2017 (Version 2.4). *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 13, 665–666. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.6576

Berthomier, C., Drouot, X., Herman-Stoïca, M., Berthomier, P., Prado, J., Bokar-Thire, D., et al. (2007). Automatic analysis of single-channel sleep EEG: Validation in healthy individuals. *Sleep* 30, 1587–1595. doi: 10.1093/sleep/30.11. 1587

Bower, J. E. (2008). Behavioral symptoms in breast cancer patients and survivors: Fatigue, insomnia, depression, and cognitive disturbance Julienne. J. Clin. Oncol. 26, 768–777. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.14.3248.Behavioral

Bray, V. J., Dhillon, H. M., and Vardy, J. L. (2018). Systematic review of self-reported cognitive function in cancer patients following chemotherapy treatment. *J. Cancer Surviv.* 12, 537–559. doi: 10.1007/s11764-018-0692-x

Buysse, D. J., Reynolds, C. F., Monk, T. H., Berman, S. R., and Kupfer, D. J. (1989). The pittsburgh sleep quality index: A new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* 28, 193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89) 90047-4

Buzsaki, G. (1996). The hippocampo-neocortical dialogue. Cereb. Cortex 6, 81-92. doi: 10.1093/cercor/6.2.81

Caplette-Gingras, A., Savard, J., Savard, M. H., and Ivers, H. (2013). Is insomnia associated with cognitive impairments in breast cancer patients? *Behav. Sleep Med.* 11, 239–257. doi: 10.1080/15402002.2012.672940

Carpenter, J. S., and Andrykowski, M. A. (1998). Psychometric evaluation of the pittsburgh sleep quality index. J. Psychosom. Res. 45, 5–13. doi: 10.1016/S0022-3999(97)00298-5

Cella, D. F., Tulsky, D. S., Gray, G., Sarafian, B., Linn, E., Bonomi, A., et al. (1993). The functional assessment of cancer therapy scale: Development and validation of the general measure. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 11, 570–579. doi: 10.1200/JCO. 1993.11.3.570

Cheng, H., Li, W., Gong, L., Xuan, H., Huang, Z., Zhao, H., et al. (2017). Altered resting-state hippocampal functional networks associated with chemotherapy-induced prospective memory impairment in breast cancer survivors. *Sci. Rep.* 7:45135. doi: 10.1038/srep45135

Cunningham, T. J., Bottary, R., Denis, D., and Payne, J. D. (2021). Sleep spectral power correlates of prospective memory maintenance. *Learn. Mem.* 28, 291–299. doi: 10.1101/lm.053412.121

Dang-Vu, T. T., Hatch, B., Salimi, A., Mograss, M., Boucetta, S., O'Byrne, J., et al. (2017). Sleep spindles may predict response to cognitive-behavioral therapy for chronic insomnia. *Sleep Med.* 39, 54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2017.08.012

Dhruva, A., Paul, S. M., Cooper, B. A., Lee, K., West, C., Aouizerat, B. E., et al. (2012). A longitudinal study of measures of objective and subjective sleep disturbance in patients with breast cancer before, during, and after radiation therapy. *J. Pain Symptom Manage.* 44, 215–228. doi: 10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2011. 08.010

Diekelmann, S., Wilhelm, I., Wagner, U., and Born, J. (2013a). Sleep to implement an intention. *Sleep* 36, 149–153. doi: 10.5665/sleep.2322

Diekelmann, S., Wilhelm, I., Wagner, U., and Born, J. (2013b). Sleep improves prospective remembering by facilitating spontaneous-associative retrieval processes. *PLoS One* 8:e77621. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0077621

Duivon, M., Giffard, B., Desgranges, B., and Perrier, J. (2021). Are sleep complaints related to cognitive functioning in non-central nervous system cancer? A systematic review. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* 32, 483–505. doi: 10.1007/s11065-021-09521-4

Duivon, M., Perrier, J., Joly, F., Licaj, I., Grellard, J.-M., Clarisse, B., et al. (2018). Impact of breast cancer on prospective memory functioning assessed by virtual reality and influence of sleep quality and hormonal therapy: PROSOM-K study. *BMC Cancer* 18:866. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4762-2

Einstein, G. O., and McDaniel, M. A. (1990). Normal aging and prospective memory. J. Exp. Psychol. Learn. Mem. Cogn. 16, 717–726. doi: 10.1037//0278-7393. 16.4.717

Esposito, M. J., Occhionero, M., and Cicogna, P. (2015). Sleep deprivation and time-based prospective memory. *SLEEP* 38, 1823–1826. doi: 10.5665/sleep.5172

Ganz, P. A., Kwan, L., Castellon, S. A., Oppenheim, A., Bower, J. E., Silverman, D. H. S., et al. (2013). Cognitive complaints after breast cancer treatments: Examining the relationship with neuropsychological test performance. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* 105, 791–801. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt073

Holz, J., Piosczyk, H., Feige, B., Spiegelhalder, K., Baglioni, C., Riemann, D., et al. (2012). EEG sigma and slow-wave activity during NREM sleep correlate with overnight declarative and procedural memory consolidation: EEG sigma and SWA and memory consolidation. *J. Sleep Res.* 21, 612–619. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2869. 2012.01017.x

Klinzing, J. G., Niethard, N., and Born, J. (2019). Mechanisms of systems memory consolidation during sleep. *Nat. Neurosci.* 22, 1598–1610. doi: 10.1038/ s41593-019-0467-3

Kourtesis, P., Collina, S., Doumas, L. A. A., and MacPherson, S. E. (2020). Validation of the Virtual Reality Everyday Assessment Lab (VR-EAL): An immersive virtual reality neuropsychological battery with enhanced ecological validity. *J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc.* 27, 181–196. doi: 10.1017/S1355617720000764

Lange, M., Licaj, I., Clarisse, B., Humbert, X., Grellard, J. M., Tron, L., et al. (2019). Cognitive complaints in cancer survivors and expectations for support: Results from a web-based survey. *Cancer Med.* 8, 2654–2663. doi: 10.1002/cam4. 2069

Lecouvey, G., Gonneaud, J., Piolino, P., Madeleine, S., Orriols, E., Fleury, P., et al. (2017). Is binding decline the main source of the ageing effect on prospective memory? A ride in a virtual town. *Socioaffect. Neurosci. Psychol.* 7:1304610. doi: 10.1080/20009011.2017.1304610

Leong, R. L. F., Cheng, G. H. L., Chee, M. W. L., and Lo, J. C. (2019a). The effects of sleep on prospective memory: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 47, 18–27. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2019.05.006

Leong, R. L. F., Koh, S. Y. J., Chee, M. W. L., and Lo, J. C. (2019b). Slow wave sleep facilitates spontaneous retrieval in prospective memory. *Sleep* 42:zsz003. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsz003

Leong, R. L. F., Lo, J. C., and Chee, M. W. L. (2021). Sleep-dependent prospective memory consolidation is impaired with aging. *Sleep* 44, 1–10. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsab069

Leysen, L., Lahousse, A., Nijs, J., Adriaenssens, N., Mairesse, O., Ivakhnov, S., et al. (2019). Prevalence and risk factors of sleep disturbances in breast cancersurvivors: Systematic review and meta-analyses. *Support. Care Cancer* 27, 4401–4433. doi: 10.1007/s00520-019-04936-5

Li, W., Gan, C., Lv, Y., Wang, S., and Cheng, H. (2017). Chemotherapy-induced prospective memory impairment in breast cancer patients with different hormone receptor expression. *Medicine* 96:e6514. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000006514

Li, W., Zhao, J., Ding, K., Chao, H. H., Li, C. S. R., Cheng, H., et al. (2020). Catechol-O-Methyltransferase gene polymorphisms and the risk of chemotherapy-induced prospective memory impairment in breast cancer patients with varying tumor hormonal receptor expression. *Med. Sci. Monit.* 26, 1–10.

Mander, B. A., Winer, J. R., and Walker, M. P. (2017). Sleep and human aging. Neuron 94, 19-36. doi: 10.1016/j.neuron.2017.02.004

McDaniel, M. A., and Einstein, G. O. (2000). Strategic and automatic processes in prospective memory retrieval: A multiprocess framework. *Appl. Cogn. Psychol.* 14, S127–S144. doi: 10.1002/acp.775

Michaud, A. L., Zhou, E. S., Chang, G., and Recklitis, C. J. (2021). Validation of the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) for identifying insomnia in young adult cancer survivors: Comparison with a structured clinical diagnostic interview of the DSM-5 (SCID-5). *Sleep Med.* 81, 80–85. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2021.0 1.045

Mihuta, M. E., Green, H. J., Man, D. W. K., and Shum, D. H. K. (2016). Correspondence between subjective and objective cognitive functioning following chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Brain Impair.* 17, 222–232. doi: 10.1017/BrImp. 2016.16

Morin, C. M., Belleville, G., Bélanger, L., and Ivers, H. (2011). The insomnia severity index: Psychometric indicators to detect insomnia cases and evaluate treatment response. *Sleep* 34, 601–608. doi: 10.1093/sleep/34.5.601

Nasreddine, Z. S., Phillips, N. A., Bédirian, V., Charbonneau, S., Whitehead, V., Collin, I., et al. (2005). The Montreal Cognitive Assessment, MoCA: A brief

screening tool for mild cognitive impairment. J. Am. Geriatr. Soc. 53, 695-699. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2005.53221.x

Nishiura, M., Tamura, A., Nagai, H., and Matsushima, E. (2013). Assessment of sleep disturbance in lung cancer patients: Relationship between sleep disturbance and pain, fatigue, quality of life, and psychological distress. *Palliat. Support. Care* 13, 575–581. doi: 10.1017/S1478951513001119

Paquet, L., Collins, B., Song, X., Chinneck, A., Bedard, M., and Verma, S. (2013). A pilot study of prospective memory functioning in early breast cancer survivors. *Breast* 22, 455–461. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2013.04.002

Paquet, L., Verma, S., Collins, B., Chinneck, A., Bedard, M., and Song, X. (2018). Testing a novel account of the dissociation between self-reported memory problems and memory performance in chemotherapy-treated breast cancer survivors. *Psychooncology* 27, 171–177. doi: 10.1002/pon.4389

Parker, K. P., Bliwise, D. L., Ribeiro, M., Jain, S. R., Vena, C. I., Kohles-Baker, M. K., et al. (2008). Sleep/wake patterns of individuals with advanced cancer measured by ambulatory polysomnography. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 26, 2464–2472. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.12.2135

Perrier, J., Duivon, M., Clochon, P., Rehel, S., Doidy, F., Grellard, J. M., et al. (2022). Sleep macro- and microstructure in breast cancer survivors. *Sci. Rep.* 12, 1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-06664-z

Perrier, J., Duivon, M., Rauchs, G., and Giffard, B. (2021). Le sommeil dans les cancers non cérébraux: Revue de la littérature, mécanismes potentiels et perspectives pour mieux comprendre les troubles cognitifs associés. *Médecine du Sommeil* 18, 90–103. doi: 10.1016/j.msom.2020.12.002

Rehel, S., Legrand, N., Lecouvey, G., Laniepce, A., Bertran, F., Fleury, P., et al. (2019). Effects of sleep and age on prospective memory consolidation: A walk in a virtual museum. *Clocks Sleep* 1, 332–351. doi: 10.3390/clockssleep103 0028

Reinsel, R. A., Starr, T. D., O'Sullivan, B., Passik, S. D., and Kavey, N. B. (2015). Polysomnographic study of sleep in survivors of breast cancerxs. *J. Clin. Sleep Med.* 11, 1361–1370. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.5264

Rezaie, L., Fobian, A. D., McCall, W. V., and Khazaie, H. (2018). Paradoxical insomnia and subjective-objective sleep discrepancy: A review. *Sleep Med. Rev.* 40, 196–202. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2018.01.002

Roscoe, J. A., Perlis, M. L., Pigeon, W. R., O'Neill, K. H., Heckler, C. E., Matteson-Rusby, S. E., et al. (2011). Few changes observed in polysomnographic-assessed sleep before and after completion of chemotherapy. *J. Psychosom. Res.* 71, 423–428. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2011.08.003

Rosinvil, T., Bouvier, J., Dubé, J., Lafrenière, A., Bouchard, M., Cyr-Cronier, J., et al. (2021). Are age and sex effects on sleep slow waves only a matter of electroencephalogram amplitude? *Sleep* 44, zsaa186. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsaa186

Savard, J., and Ganz, P. A. (2016). Subjective or objective measures of cognitive functioning-what's more important? *JAMA Oncol.* 2, 1263–1264. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.2047

Savard, M.-H., Savard, J., Simard, S., and Ivers, H. (2005). Empirical validation of the Insomnia Severity Index in cancer patients. *Psychooncology* 14, 429–441.

Scullin, M. K., and McDaniel, M. A. (2010). Remembering to execute a goal: Sleep on it! *Psychol. Sci.* 21, 1028–1035. doi: 10.1177/0956797610373373

Scullin, M. K., Gao, C., Fillmore, P., Roberts, R. L., Pruett, N., and Bliwise, D. L. (2019). Rapid eye movement sleep mediates age-related decline in prospective memory consolidation. *Sleep* 42, 1–10. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsz055

Simor, P., van der Wijk, G., Nobili, L., and Peigneux, P. (2020). The microstructure of REM sleep: Why phasic and tonic? *Sleep Med. Rev.* 52:101305. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2020.101305

Spielberger, C. D., Gorsuch, R. L., and Lushene, R. E. (1970). *The state-trait anxiety inventory (Test Manual)*. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Tag Eldin, E., Younis, S. G., Aziz, L. M. A. E., Eldin, A. T., and Erfan, S. T. (2019). Evaluation of sleep pattern disorders in breast cancer patients receiving adjuvant treatment (chemotherapy and / or radiotherapy) using polysomnography. *J. BUON* 24, 529–534.

Underwood, E. A., Jerzak, K. J., Lebovic, G., Rochon, P. A., Elser, C., Pritchard, K. I., et al. (2019). Cognitive effects of adjuvant endocrine therapy in older women treated for early-stage breast cancer: A 1-year longitudinal study. *Support. Care Cancer* 27, 3035–3043. doi: 10.1007/s00520-018-4603-5

Underwood, E. A., Rochon, P. A., Moineddin, R., Lee, P. E., Wu, W., Pritchard, K. I., et al. (2018). Cognitive sequelae of endocrine therapy in women treated for breast cancer: A meta-analysis. *Breast Cancer Res. Treat.* 168, 299–310. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4627-4

Xu, S., Thompson, W., Ancoli-Israel, S., Liu, L., Palmer, B., and Natarajan, L. (2018). Cognition, quality-of-life, and symptom clusters in breast cancer: Using Bayesian networks to elucidate complex relationships. *Psychooncology* 27, 802–809. doi: 10.1002/pon.4571

Yellen, S., Cella, D., Webster, K., Blendowski, C., and Kaplan, E. (1997). Measuring fatigue and other anemia-related symptoms with the functional assessment of cancer therapy (FACT) measurement system. *J. Pain Symptom Manage.* 13, 63–74. doi: 10.1016/S0885-3924(96)00274-6 Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Bénédicte Giffard, INSERM U1077 Neuropsychologie et Imagerie de la Mémoire Humaine, France

REVIEWED BY

David Kiesl, Kepler University Hospital GmbH, Austria Charlotte Sleurs, Leuven Brain Institute, KU Leuven, Belaium

*CORRESPONDENCE

Delmy Oliva Delmy.Oliva@rjl.se Lasse D. Jensen lasse.jensen@liu.se

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Sleep and Circadian Rhythms, a section of the journal Frontiers in Neuroscience

RECEIVED 16 May 2022 ACCEPTED 25 August 2022 PUBLISHED 21 September 2022

CITATION

Oliva D, Andersson B-Å, Lewin F and Jensen LD (2022) Opposing inflammatory biomarker responses to sleep disruption in cancer patients before and during oncological therapy.

Front. Neurosci. 16:945784. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2022.945784

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Oliva, Andersson, Lewin and Jensen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Opposing inflammatory biomarker responses to sleep disruption in cancer patients before and during oncological therapy

Delmy Oliva^{1,2*†}, Bengt-Åke Andersson^{3†}, Freddi Lewin^{1,2} and Lasse D. Jensen^{4*}

¹Department of Oncology, Ryhov County Hospital, Jönköping, Sweden, ²Department of Biomedical and Clinical Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden, ³Department of Natural Science and Biomedicine, School of Welfare, Jönköping University, Jönköping, Sweden, ⁴Division of Diagnostics and Specialist Medicine, Department of Health, Medicine and Caring Sciences, Linköping University, Linköping, Sweden

Background: Sleep disruption is known to be highly prevalent in cancer patients, aggravated during oncological treatment and closely associated with reduced quality of life, therapeutic outcome and survival. Inflammatory factors are associated with sleep disruption in healthy individuals and cancer patients, but heterogeneity and robustness of inflammatory factors associated with sleep disruption and how these are affected by oncological therapy remain poorly understood. Furthermore, due to the complex crosstalk between sleep-, and therapy-associated factors, including inflammatory factors, there are currently no established biomarkers for predicting sleep disruption in patients undergoing oncological therapy.

Methods: We performed a broad screen of circulating biomarkers with immune-modulating or endocrine functions and coupled these to self-reported sleep quality using the Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) sleep scale. Ninety cancer patients with gastrointestinal, urothelial, breast, brain and tonsillar cancers, aged between 32 and 86 years, and scheduled for adjuvant or palliative oncological therapy were included. Of these, 71 patients were evaluable. Data was collected immediately before and again 3 months after onset of oncological therapy.

Results: Seventeen among a total of 45 investigated plasma proteins were found to be suppressed in cancer patients exhibiting sleep disruption prior to treatment onset, but this association was lost following the first treatment cycle. Patients whose sleep quality was reduced during the treatment period exhibited significantly increased plasma levels of six pro-inflammatory biomarkers (IL-2, IL-6, IL-12, TNF-a, IFN-g, and GM-CSF) 3 months after the start of treatment, whereas biomarkers with anti-inflammatory, growth factor, immune-modulatory, or chemokine functions were unchanged.

Conclusion: Our work suggests that biomarkers of sleep quality are not valid for cancer patients undergoing oncological therapy if analyzed only at a single timepoint. On the other hand, therapy-associated increases in circulating inflammatory biomarkers are closely coupled to reduced sleep quality in cancer patients. These findings indicate a need for testing of inflammatory and other biomarkers as well as sleep quality at multiple times during the patient treatment and care process.

KEYWORDS

cancer, sleep, inflammation, oncological therapy, biomarkers

Introduction

Cancer patients are at higher risk of developing sleep disruption pathologies such as insomnia and excessive daytime sleepiness (Fiorentino and Ancoli-Israel, 2007; Savard et al., 2015). It is estimated that sleep disruption is 3-5 times more prevalent among cancer patients compared to the general population, exceeding 50% of the entire patient group in some studies (Divani et al., 2022). As sleep disruption in cancer patients is closely linked to reduced quality of life and survival (Innominato et al., 2012), timely diagnosis and treatment is of critical importance to extend high quality life expectancy in this patient group. A clear example of the impact sleep disruption may have on cancer patients was reported by Innominato et al. (2012) who discovered that survival was extended by almost 8 months in colorectal cancer patients with robust daily (circadian) sleep patterns (49% of the population) compared to patients with disrupted sleep patterns (Innominato et al., 2012). As such, being able to rapidly and routinely identify patients at risk of suffering from poor sleep quality may have enormous prognostic value in oncological practice.

Clinical diagnosis of sleep disruption in cancer patients

There are currently no instruments implemented into routine clinical practise for diagnosing or quantifying the quality of sleep or extent of sleep disruption in cancer patients. Oncology guidelines such as the Pan-Canadian guidelines, however, raise the importance of assessing, preventing and treating sleep disruption in adult cancer patients (Howell et al., 2013). These guidelines propose an algorithm that starts with the diagnosis of a "sleep problem" based on the patient responding "yes" to a question if he/she suffers from "sleep problems," followed by asking whether this has persisted for more than three nights and is influencing the patients daytime function (Howell et al., 2013). While this is a somewhat crude assessment of sleep disruption, these guidelines represent the first attempt to include this important issue in routine cancer care. Within clinical research, however, numerous questionnaires and other instruments have been developed to investigate sleep disruption in cancer patients [recently reviewed by Jensen et al. (2021)]. The most commonly used is the extensive 19-item Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (Divani et al., 2022), which however is timeconsuming to both fill and analyze. A shorter and more intuitive form is the 12-item Medical Outcomes Study (MOS) Sleep Scale which, in spite of the condensed format, evaluates multiple aspects of sleep quality including sleep duration, somnolence, and sleep-related daily function (Bower et al., 2000). The methodology applied to analyze the responses to the MOS Sleep Scale has, however, differed within the research community, and has in the past only included fragments of the scale. Currently an intuitive and unified readout from the MOS scale that take all the answers into account in a clinically meaningful manner, is lacking. The development of such a readout would greatly facilitate the use of this instrument, and indeed the routine and standardized evaluation of sleep quality in cancer patients in general.

Sleep and inflammation

Cytokines and chemokines are small proteins that control local and systemic immune and inflammatory reactions in the organism and are thought to play a significant role in sleep (Irwin et al., 2008: Kapsimalis et al., 2008). Pro-inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF)-a, interferon (IFN)-gamma, interleukin (IL)-2, 6 and 12, and granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) are known to induce daytime sleepiness (Mantovani et al., 2008). On the other hand, sleep disruption is also linked to augmented inflammatory processes through their cytokine- and chemokine-mediated control mechanisms (Irwin et al., 2013; Wright et al., 2015). As such, pro-inflammatory cytokines are often found at elevated levels in both cancer patients and people suffering from poor sleep [reviewed in Jensen et al. (2021)], and are associated with nausea, depression and a generalized feeling of illness (Vgontzas et al., 2007; Kapsimalis et al., 2008; Vumma et al., 2017). In addition to inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, C-reactive protein (CRP) is a commonly used biomarker of inflammation (Sproston and Ashworth, 2018). CRP is commonly used to monitor potential infection during oncological treatment (Howren et al., 2009; Bribriesco, 2020), but has also been suggested as a biomarker of sleep disruption (Jensen et al., 2021). The associations between deregulated circulating levels of inflammatory biomarkers including CRP and sleep disruption are however still poorly understood, and to what extent these are influenced by oncological treatment is not known.

The complexity of sleep disturbance and inflammation in cancer patients

Diagnosing cancer-associated inflammation and sleep disruption is complicated by the high incidence of low-grade inflammation and sleep disruption in the elderly population to which cancer patients often belong, even in the absence of malignancy (da Silva et al., 2016; Abd El-Kader and Al-Jiffri, 2019). Other factors that are often co-existing with malignant disease such as menopausal symptoms and circadian rhythm disturbances related to for example steroid treatments could also lead to sleep disturbances and changes in systemic inflammatory profiles in cancer patients (Fox et al., 2020). Some malignancies such as CNS cancers may also disrupt the central circadian organizers (located in the suprachiasmatic nucleus) or sleep organizers in other areas of the brain, which further adds to the risk of developing sleep disruptions in this patient group (Gapstur et al., 2009), Furthermore, toxicities linked to oncological treatments including off-target tissue damage, bone marrow suppression, fatigue, anxiety, pain, and depression to mention a few, are associated with increased risk of de novo or deterioration of existing sleep disturbances (Oliva et al., 2019), and an upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Mills et al., 2008; Wang et al., 2010), which in both cases could persist long after the conclusion of the treatment cycle. As these cytokines might trigger loss of REM sleep (Irwin, 2015; Irwin and Opp, 2017), cancer patients that experience toxic side-effects from such oncological treatment may suffer (further) reduced sleep quality and therefore sleep disruptionassociated treatment resistance, progression, reduced quality of life (Oliva et al., 2014) and survival (Innominato et al., 2012; Balachandran et al., 2021). Cancer patients, however, exhibit highly diverse toxic phenotypes and to varying degrees (Oliva et al., 2017), and it is not currently possible to predict which patients will suffer from treatment-associated sleep disruption, or how this can be prevented. Combined, characterizing, and understanding the landscape of sleep disruption and its effect on systemic inflammation in cancer patients undergoing oncological treatment is highly challenging and complex, which complicates the understanding the underlying etiology and prevent the development of effective diagnostic tools.

Here we sought to develop a general view on how oncological therapies may affect sleep and circulating levels of inflammatory and various other plasma proteins across different malignancies and therapies. We further aimed to identify specific biomarkers, or biomarker families, coupled to treatment-associated sleep disruption.

Materials and methods

Participants

Ninety patients undergoing systemic oncological treatment for different types of cancer: gastrointestinal cancer, urothelial cancer, breast cancer, brain tumor and tonsillar cancer were included in this study at the Oncology clinic, Ryhov County Hospital, Jönköping, Sweden between 2017 and 2018. The inclusion criteria were patients planned to receive adjuvant or palliative treatment, having an ECOG performance status of 0 or 1, and having sufficient understanding of the Swedish language to understand the information given. The patients were informed about the study orally and on paper by an oncology nurse and were given 30 min or until the next appointment to consider their participation.

The included patients answered the 12-point MOS sleep scale and provided a blood sample (10 ml) both before starting treatment and 3 months after treatment started. Other demographic data were also obtained through a structured anamnesis.

Ethical permission was obtained from the Regional Ethical Review Board in Linköping, Sweden (Dnr 2016/379-31).

Medical Outcomes Study sleep scale

The MOS – Sleep Scale is a commonly used instrument for subjective evaluation of sleep disturbances in patients with chronic illness or malignant diseases (Naughton et al., 2002; Manas et al., 2011; Hsiao et al., 2013; Sharp et al., 2013). The MOS sleep scale is based on 12 items and takes no more than 5 min to complete. It measures important origins and parameters of sleep, which are significant for cancer patients as well as other patient groups. It includes questions related to sleep initiation, maintenance, adequacy, somnolence, and respiratory impairments (Allen et al., 2009). In this study, the answers to each of the 12 questions were aggregated to a single "aggregated MOS score" by adding the scores given to questions 1, 3b, and 3j (answered on a 1–5 Likert scale where 5 indicate the worst possible sleep quality) to the inverted scores (i.e., six minus the score value) given to questions 3a and 3c-i (also answered



on a 1–5 Likert scale where 5 indicate the best possible sleep quality). A value of eight was subtracted from the answer to question 2 (the average number of hours slept per night), and negative values were divided by -1 to result in the (positive) number of additional or fewer hours of sleep compared what is recommended, and this value was added to the other scores. The resulting aggregated MOS score had a minimum value of eleven and a maximum score of 71.

Laboratory assessments for serum biomarkers

Levels of plasma CRP were analyzed using a high-sensitivity CRP test based on the Advia 1800 instrument and reagents from Siemens (Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany) allowing detection of CRP levels in the range of 0.16–10 mg/L. When higher levels than 10 mg/L were detected, a standard CRP test with a range of 4–300 mg/L was done on the same instrument and with the same reagents.

Analyses of plasma biomarkers was first done on 17 patients with established good (n = 9) or poor (n = 8) sleep quality respectively, using Human Cytokine/Chemokine/Growth Factor 45-Plex ProcartaPlex Panel 1 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Austria). Out of this panel of 45 biomarkers, 17 (BDNF, Eotaxin, GM-CSF, GRO-a, HGF, IFN-g, IL-10, IL-12p40, IL-2, IL-5, IL-6, IL-7, LIF, MCP-1, PIGF-1, RANTES, and TNF-a) were selected based statistical significance of p < 0.10 when comparing groups of "good" versus "poor" sleeping cancer patients at baseline and when comparing patients before and after 3 months of oncological treatment. Analyses of the 17 biomarkes were done with a custom procartaplex 17-plex (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Austria) using multiplex fluorochrome technique, (Luminex xMAPTM Technology, Austin, TX, USA) according to the manufacture's recommendations. A Bio-Plex 200 system with Bio-Plex Manager Software 5.0 were used to collect the fluorescence intensities. A 9-standard concentration set (included in the kit) were used to generate a standard curve for the calculation of the analyte concentration.

The 17 biomarkers were grouped into one of 5 biomarker families based on consensus from the collected scientific literature of their known or best described function. As such, TNF-a, IFN-g, IL-6, IL-2, IL-12, and GM-CSF were classified as "pro-inflammatory cytokines," IL-10 and LIF were classified as "anti-inflammatory cytokines," BDNF, PLGF, and HGF were classified as "growth factors," Eotaxin, Rantes, MCP-1, and GRO were classified as "chemokines" and IL-5, IL-7, and CRP were classified as "modulatory and other" biomarkers. This classification should however not be seen as an exclusive function of a given factor within the family.

Aggregated plasma values for an entire biomarker family was generated by normalizing the concentrations for each biomarker and patient against the average of the patient population (e.g., dividing the concentration of for example BDNF for a given patient by the average for the entire population), followed by averaging such normalized levels of all biomarkers within the family (e.g., averaging normalized levels of BDNF, PLGF, and HGF from a given patient to derive the aggregated plasma value for the "growth factors" biomarker family for that patient).

Statistics

All data was considered to not significantly deviate from binomial distribution and is therefore presented as means \pm standard error (Figures 1, 3, 5, 6), alternatively as means with 95% confidence intervals shown as boxplots (Figure 2) or as swarm plots with linear inserted regression graphs (Figures 2, 4). Where means are presented in Figures 2, 3A-C these are means of the entire population of 71 patients. Means presented in Figures 4, 6 represent the means of the patients within the given sleep quality group, where the individual values are shown in the swam plots directly above the histograms. Means in Figure 7 represent values from 8, 55, and 8 patients in the < -9, intermediate and > 9 groups respectively. Changes in biomarker levels or MOS scores in a patient were derived by subtracting the values at baseline from those measured at follow-up. Differences between two groups were evaluated using students t-test as shown using red boxes in Figure 2, black lines connecting the two groups being compared and coupled to statistical indicators (NS: non-significant, $p^* < 0.05$, $p^* < 0.01$ and ***p < 0.001), alternatively *p*-values, placed directly above the lines in Figures 4, 6, 7. Correlation lines shown in swam plots of Figures 3-6 illustrate linear regressions, the significance of which could not be uniformly calculated due to many missing values for a few of the biomarkers, and are therefore omitted.



Poor and/or deteriorated sleep quality during oncological treatment is coupled to changes in plasma levels of 17 cytokines. Quantification of the average levels of 45 cytokines in the plasma of patients reporting good (aggregated MOS score < 24, n = 9) and poor (aggregated MOS score > 25, n = 8) sleep at baseline or follow-up, after 3 months of oncological treatment. Significant (p < 0.1) differences were observed between good and poor sleepers at baseline for Eotaxin, IFN-g, IL12, IL2, IL2, and MCP-1, between good and poor sleepers at follow-up for GRO-a and IL6 and for those exhibiting good sleep at baseline that deteriorated to poor sleep at follow-up for BDNF, GM-CSF, HGF, IL10, IL5, IL7, LIF, PIGF, RANTES, and TNF-a. These 17 biomarkers are indicated with red boxes in the graph.

Results

A total of 90 patients diagnosed with gastrointestinal (67%), urothelial (15%), breast (15%), brain (1%), tonsillar (1%), or unknown primary (1%) cancer were recruited to the study (**Figure 1**). Among these, nineteen patients failed to provide the requested follow-up samples or withdrew their consent without disclosing the reason, and could therefore not be fully analyzed. Medical treatment consisted mainly of highdose cytostatic and/or cytotoxic drugs but varied depending on various clinical factors in accordance with current treatment guidelines. Approximately 2/3 were male at a median age of 68 and 1/3 were female at a median age of 61 years. Additional demographic, diagnostic, and co-morbidity-data from the study population is presented in **Table 1**.

Plasma levels of 45 biomarkers were analyzed from nine patients who reported high sleep quality (i.e., low aggregated MOS scores) and eight who reported poor sleep quality (i.e., high aggregated MOS scores). We found that Eotaxin and MCP-1 were significantly upregulated, and IFN-g, IL-12, IL-2, and IL-5 were significantly downregulated (p < 0.1, using students *t*-test) in poor sleepers versus good sleepers at baseline. Compared to baseline levels we also found that HGF was significantly upregulated and BDNF, GM-CSF, IL-10, IL-5, IL-7, LIF, PIGF-1, RANTES, and TNF-a were significantly downregulated (p < 0.1, using students *t*-test) at follow-up in good sleepers and IL-6 and GRO-a were significantly downregulated (p < 0.1, using students *t*-test) in poor sleepers (Figure 2). We therefore selected these 17 proteins for further analysis in the entire patient cohort.

The 17 biomarkers exhibited great variation among the patients at baseline (Figure 3A). While the plasma levels measured in most patients were within (broad) 95% confidence intervals, a few patients exhibited levels significantly above or below these "reference" levels. Similarly, the scores given to

the 12 MOS scale questions also varied greatly at baseline (Figure 3B) and some of the MOS scale scores exhibited dramatically increased or reduced values for a few of the patients compared to the 95% confidence intervals. This was particularly clear for the answers to question 3c related to having shortness of breath or headache when waking up in the morning. All patients, however, fit within the 95% confidence interval for the aggregated MOS score (Figure 3C). Furthermore, the aggregated MOS score did not differ significantly among different patient subgroups including patients with different cancer diagnoses, age at diagnoses or treatment regimen (Supplemental Figure 1), suggesting that the this is a more robust measure for sleep disruption in cancer patients compared to any of the questions in isolation.

We next investigated the relationship between the levels of the 17 investigated biomarkers and sleep quality as measured by the aggregated MOS score (Figures 3D-U). Plasma concentrations of these 17 biomarkers or CRP did not exhibit any obvious correlation to the sleep quality measured by the aggregated MOS score within this cohort, suggesting that both the regulation of these biomarkers as well as sleep physiology is complex in cancer patients and that sleep disruption cannot be accurately predicted by any single biomarker. Grouping the biomarkers into five families, and analyzing changes in aggregated plasma levels for entire families between different sleep quality patient groups using student t-test (Figure 4), we found that the factors within the pro-inflammatory, growth factor and chemokine families were significantly reduced $(p<0.05, p<0.05, {\rm and}\ p<0.01, {\rm respectively})$ in the lowest sleep quality (aggregated MOS score > 30) compared to the highest sleep quality (aggregated MOS score < 21) groups. Chemokine biomarkers, furthermore, were significantly reduced (p < 0.05) in the entire population of poor sleepers (aggregated MOS score > 24) compared to good sleepers (aggregated MOS



Correlation between cytokine biomarker plasma levels and sleep quality at baseline for some but not all of the 17 selected cytokines. (A) Quantification of the plasma levels of the 17 biomarkers for the fully evaluated patients at baseline, shown as a box-plot with the median values represented as a black lines, and the 95% confidence intervals contained within the error bars (n = 71). (B) Quantification of the range of scores given to each of the 12 questions included in the MOS sleep scale for the fully evaluated patients at baseline, shown as a box-plot with the median values represented as black lines and the 95% confidence intervals contained within the error bars (n = 71). (C) The range of aggregated MOS scores calculated form the answers to the 12 individual questions of the MOS sleep scale for the fully evaluated patients at baseline, shown as a box-plot with the median value represented as a black line and the 95% confidence interval contained within the error bars (n = 71). Plasma levels of each of the 17 selected biomarkers plotted against the aggregated MOS score of the same patient, for all fully evaluated patients at baseline. The biomarkers were organized into functional groups including pro-inflammatory (D-I, blue box), anti-inflammatory (J,K, green box), growth factors (L–N, yellow box), chemokines (O–R, red box), and immune-modulatory and other (S–U, black box) biomarkers. N = 71, blue dashed lines indicate linear regression curves for the sample population.

score < 25, Figures 4A-E). Aggregating all 17 biomarkers and CRP levels into a single value for each patient demonstrated that this panel of biomarkers were robustly reduced both for all poor sleepers (aggregated MOS score > 25) compared to good sleepers (p < 0.01) but even more so among those having the worst (aggregated MOS score > 31) compared to the best (aggregated MOS score < 20, *p* < 0.001, Figure 4F) sleep quality.

We next investigated if the biomarker levels in plasma were affected by the 3 months oncological treatment regimen. Interestingly, patients who slept well (aggregated MOS score < 24) after the medical treatment period now exhibited lower aggregated levels of growth factor and chemokine family biomarkers, as well as the global aggregation of all 17 biomarkers and CRP compared to baseline (Figures 4I,J,L). On the other



FIGURE 4

Pro-inflammatory, growth factor and chemokine biomarkers in the plasma are lowered in patients exhibiting poor sleep at baseline, but not at follow-up. Average levels of normalized plasma concentrations for biomarkers in each of the five categories pro-inflammatory biomarkers (A,G), anti-inflammatory biomarkers (B,H), growth factor biomarkers (C,I), cytokine biomarkers (D,J) and immune-modulatory biomarkers (E,K), as well as for all 17 biomarkers (purple graphs, F,L) at baseline (red graphs, A-F) and follow-up (blue graphs, G-L). The top graphs show the normalized, averaged levels of these biomarkers plotted against the aggregated MOS score for each patient, and the lower histographs show the averaged levels of these biomarkers for patients within four sleep quality groups: very good sleep (aggregated MOS score < 20), good sleep (aggregated MOS score < 24), poor sleep (aggregated MOS score > 25), and very poor sleep (aggregated MOS score > 31). N = 71. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, NS: non-significant.



Correlation between changes in cytokine biomarker plasma levels and changes in sleep quality between baseline and follow-up for a few of the 17 selected cytokines. Changes in plasma levels plotted against changes in aggregated MOS score, calculated as the plasma level or MOS score at follow-up minus the plasma level/MOS score at baseline, for each of the 17 selected cytokines and organized into functional groups including pro-inflammatory (A-F, blue box), anti-inflammatory (G-H, green box), growth factors (I-K, yellow box), chemokines (L-O, red box) and immune-modulatory and other (P-R, black box) biomarkers. N = 71, blue dashed lines indicate linear regression curves for the sample population.

hand, pro-inflammatory biomarkers were elevated among poor sleepers at follow-up compared to baseline (Figure 4G) leading to none of the biomarker families being predictive of sleep quality in patients after 3 months of oncological treatment (p > 0.05 using students *t*-test, Figures 4G-L). These results highlight the complexity and dynamics of circulating biomarkers of sleep disruption during oncological treatment in cancer patients and suggest that commonly studied biomarkers such as sub-pathologically elevated CRP (detected by a high sensitivity test) or pro-inflammatory cytokines are not predictive for evaluating sleep disruption in cancer patients undergoing treatment.

To understand whether the oncological treatment caused the changes in biomarker levels, alternatively to what extent this may be coupled to a concurrent improvement or reduction in sleep quality, we investigated how the aggregated MOS scale values and biomarker plasma levels changed from baseline to follow-up for each individual patient. Whereas some biomarkers including TNF-a, IFN-g, PIGF, HGF, and CRP did not change for almost any of the patients (Figures 5A,B,J,K,R), many biomarkers were found to either increase or decrease dramatically in individual patients (Figures 5C-I,L-Q). The aggregated changes in plasma levels for the biomarker families demonstrated that all 17 biomarkers combined did not correlate to a improvement or deterioration in sleep quality (Figure 6A). However, the levels of pro-inflammatory biomarkers increased significantly (p > 0.05 analyzed using students *t*-test) in patients whose sleep quality deteriorated during treatment (change in aggregated MOS score > 0) compared to those whose sleep quality improved (change in aggregated MOS score < 0, Figure 6B). Taken together, these findings suggest that analyzing at the plasma levels of proinflammatory cytokines only after



pro-inflammatory cytokines (**B**) with values lower than 100% indicating a reduction in cytokine levels at follow-up compared to baseline and plotted against changes in aggregated MOS scores with negative values indicating improved sleep quality whereas positive values indicate deteriorated sleep quality at follow-up compared to baseline. The lower histographs show the average normalized values for these cytokines among patients with very good sleep (aggregated MOS score < 20), good sleep (aggregated MOS score < 25), and very poor sleep (aggregated MOS score > 31). N = 71. *p < 0.05, NS, non-significant.

an oncological treatment cycle will not allow identification of patients with good or poor sleep quality (Figure 4G) but measuring the change in the levels of these factors, however, might be highly indicative of experienced improvement in or deterioration of sleep quality.

Next, we hypothesized that the expression level of some of the investigated plasma proteins at baseline might be associated with increased risk of or protection from losing sleep quality during an oncological treatment cycle. However, only one cytokine, IL-5, exhibited significantly higher plasma concentrations (p < 0.05 using students *t*-test) at baseline in patients that dramatically gained sleep quality (change in aggregated MOS score < -9) during the 3 months treatment period (**Figure 7**). As none of the biomarkers were changed at baseline in the patients whose sleep quality deteriorated during treatment, it was not possible to establish a prognostic principle for predicting this adverse effect. We do, however, suggest that further studies investigate the potential role of IL-5 in protecting against oncological treatment-induced sleep deterioration.

Discussion

In this study we have evaluated the diagnostic value of 45 circulating biomarkers associated with immune function for identifying subjective sleep disruption in cancer patients. First, to improve and standardize the evaluation of sleep quality and -disruption in cancer patients, we developed a new framework for analysis of a popular sleep-instrument, the MOS sleep scale by a new aggregated MOS score, which is the first score based on this instrument that includes all of the 12 questions of the scale. This aggregated MOS score represents a single value related to the sleep quality of the patient which we propose allows a stronger, more robust and intuitive use of the MOS sleep scale compared to the various sub-scale scores that have been used in the past (Agrafiotis et al., 2022). We found that, at baseline, the mean of this aggregated MOS score was 24,4 and that patients with a score of 25 or higher (indicating poor sleep) exhibited significantly lower levels of 17 among the original 45 biomarkers analyzed, compared to those having an aggregated MOS score of 24 or lower (indicating good sleep). The differences were, however, higher for patients with more severe sleep disruption (aggregated MOS score of 31 or higher) compared to those with an aggregated MOS score of 20 or lower. Growth factor-, chemokine- and pro-inflammatory biomarkers were more strongly suppressed in patients with severe sleep disruption compared to antiinflammatory and immune-modulatory biomarkers. This was, however, only seen at baseline, prior to initiation of oncological therapy. At the first follow-up examination, after 3 months of treatment, the correlation between sleep quality and plasma levels of all biomarkers analyzed were completely abrogated. In the case of the pro-inflammatory biomarkers, this abrogation was mainly due to a dramatic increase in the serum levels of these markers in patients reporting poor sleep quality, suggesting that therapy-induced inflammation is unabated if sleep quality is impaired. Indeed, plasma concentrations of pro-inflammatory biomarkers were found to increase several fold during oncological therapy but only in patients whose sleep quality concurrently deteriorated during this period. These findings are in line with previous studies showing that proinflammatory biomarkers such as IL-1b, IL-2, IL-6, IL-12, and TNF-a increase in cancer patients following a period of sleep disruption (Mantovani et al., 2008; Jensen et al., 2021; Tucker et al., 2021). Surprisingly, patients reporting improved sleep quality during oncological therapy exhibited reduced plasma levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines clearly demonstrating that sleep disruption rather than cytostatic or cytotoxic therapy is driving the increased systemic inflammation observed in these patients.

Previous studies aiming to identify biomarkers of sleep disruption in cancer patients have been designed to investigate relatively homogeneous patient cohorts. In such studies, survivors of childhood ALL exhibiting poor sleep were found to have elevated plasma levels of IL-6, IL1b and CRP (Cheung et al., 2017), and elevated IL-6 levels were correlated to poor sleep in non-small cell lung cancer patients receiving chemoradiotherapy (Wang et al., 2010). Tucker et al found that IL-2, IL-1b, and IL-6 were upregulated in cancer



survivors exhibiting reduced sleep duration based on actigraph measurements, but not in patients with self-reported sleep disruption where instead IL-10 were found to be upregulated (Tucker et al., 2021). Here we took a different approach by keeping the inclusion criteria broad: All cancer patients with performance status 0 or 1, scheduled for oncological therapy were invited to participate regardless of age, gender, cancer type, tumor stage, type of planned oncological therapy, pretreatment status, prior surgery, etc. Looking specifically at adjuvant versus palliative therapy, type of drugs selected for treatment and tumor types, we saw that these parameters did not influence the plasma levels of the biomarkers examined in this study. The heterogeneity of this cohort may, nevertheless, contribute to why no single biomarker was found to significantly correlate with sleep disruption in this study. As such, while other studies have found that IL-6, IL-1b, and CRP is significantly up-regulated in specific groups of cancer patients exhibiting poor sleep (Wang et al., 2010; Cheung et al., 2017), this/these biomarker(s) did not correlate significantly with sleep quality in our broader cohort. Taking an OMICs-like approach, we instead identified functional panels of biomarkers that combined were robustly correlated to sleep disruption even in our broad patient cohort. In particular the pro-inflammatory markers TNF-a, IFN-g, IL-6, IL-12, IL-2, and GM-CSF constituted one such proinflammatory panel that could predict both sleep disruption at baseline (in patients expressing below-average levels of these biomarkers) as well as deteriorating sleep quality during treatment. Some of the factors analyzed in this study may have several, context-dependent functions. GM-CSF, for example, in addition to being a pro-inflammatory cytokine, also has both chemokine and growth factor properties as this factor is used to mobilize and expand hematopoietic stem cells from the bonemarrow in cancer patients during chemotherapy (Siena et al., 1989). The chosen classification for the factors analyzed in this study therefore reflects how these factors are described by the

bulk of the literature. Some of the factors found in the proinflammatory cytokines panel are well known biomarkers of circadian and sleep disruption (TNF-a and IL-6, see above), whereas the others have not previously been coupled to sleep disruption in cancer patients (e.g., GM-CSF).

A cancer diagnosis may, by itself, cause sleep disruptions as the incidence of sleep disruption is on average three times higher among cancer patients compared to the general population, with breast cancer patients being at particularly high risk (Palesh et al., 2010; Yennurajalingam et al., 2018). In our study we found that the subsequent oncological treatment did not further affect the extent of sleep disruption, within the study population in general, with the possible exception of patients treated with taxanes, which seemed to further deteriorate their sleep quality compared to other types of treatment. Furthermore, sleep disruption may persist long into survivorship, even months or years after completed treatment (Otte et al., 2009). While individual patients may improve or further disrupt their sleep quality following treatment, these findings strengthen the view that medical therapy does not impact the sleep quality of cancer patients in general.

A weakness of this study is the relatively small size of the study cohort, especially considering the broad inclusion criteria. As a likely consequence of this, we did not find single factors that correlated with poor sleep quality at baseline or a loss of sleep quality during oncological therapy. The broad inclusion criteria could, however, also be seen as a strength as our finding that (small) panels of inflammatory biomarkers exhibit robust correlation with sleep disruption across diagnoses and treatment regimens, are likely more generalizable within cancer care. While we included patients with a variety of malignancies, it should be noted that colorectal cancer patients were somewhat overrepresented (47%) in this patient cohort. Indeed, among the cancers with high incidence in Sweden, colorectal cancer is commonly treated aggressively using chemotherapeutic agents, which is not as common in for example prostate or breast cancer patients, which could explain why such patients were favored for inclusion in this study. Furthermore, both the oncology infrastructure at the study site and differences in

TABLE 1 Demographic data.

Parameter	n = (%)
Age (min-max)	31-82
Female	28 (37)
Male	47 (63)
ECOG Performance Status*	
0	46 (63)
1	29 (37)
Alcohol consumption	
No	23 (30)
Yes	52 (70)
Nausea experience before treatment	
Pregnancy nausea (only female)	8 (11)
Travel nausea	7 (9)
No nausea at all	60 (80)
Occupation	
Retired	49 (65)
Worker	25 (33)
Unemployed	1 (2)
Civil State	
Married/Partner	64 (85)
Single	10 (13)
Widower	1 (2)
Smoking	
No	65 (87)
Yes	10 (13)
BMI	
Min	19
Max	43
Average	26
Tumor classification	
Gastrointestinal cancer (colorectal, pancreas, liver, esophageal)	50
Urotelial cancer (Bladder, prostate)	11
Breast cancer	11
Brain tumor	1
Tonsillar cancer	1
Cancer of unknown primary	1
Comorbidity	
Hypertension	9
Diabetes	8
Hypothyreosis	1
Hypercholesterolemia	1
Rheumatoid arthritis	1
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease including Asthma	4
Depression	1

*ECOG, Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group.

the motivation and workload among patient-recruiting nurses within different specialities may also play a role in determining the distribution of patients across different diagnoses in this study. Other studies looking at sleep disruption in cancer patients and correlating this to effects of treatments have similar cohort sizes to that of the present study (Innominato et al., 2012; Jensen et al., 2021), but are focusing on more defined patient populations. Innominato et al. (2012), for example, studied circadian disruption using Actigraph accelerometers worn on the wrist for 3 days and found that sleep disruption in 77 patients with metastatic colorectal cancer undergoing medical treatment with 5-FU, Oxaliplatin and/or Leucovorin had significantly shortened survival compared to those with non-disrupted sleep (Innominato et al., 2012). Similarly, Cash et al reported significantly shorter overall survival among patients exhibiting disrupted activity/rest rhythms in a cohort of 55 head and neck cancer patients undergoing chemoradiation therapy (Cash et al., 2018). None of these studies, however, investigated circulating biomarkers or inflammatory profiles in the patients. In a metaanalysis on sleep disruption in patients with different types of CNS cancer, a particularly complex patient group in this context as their sleep physiology may also be directly affected by their disease or treatment, 24 of the 25 studies included between 1 and 115 patients (20 patients per study on average) (Gapstur et al., 2009). While our study should still be seen as a pilot study, it does in this context have a relatively high power. The potential of the suggested panel of six pro-inflammatory biomarkers as a tool for diagnosing sleep disruption in cancer patients both before and after oncological treatment initiation, however, needs to be validated in larger studies in the future.

Conclusion

In conclusion, in this study we found that while 17 of 45 small plasma proteins studied were individually deregulated in poor compared to good sleepers in a small subcohort of 17 cancer patients, this could not be reproduced in a larger cohort of 71 patients. However, combining factors with a similar mode of action into panels of biomarkers and deriving an aggregated measure of how such panels were deregulated allowed identification of a panel of six pro-inflammatory biomarkers exhibiting high accuracy and robustness for predicting sleep disruption following a 3-month oncological therapy cycle in the complete, broad cohort of cancer patients independent of diagnosis, age or therapy. This is the first-time plasma protein biomarkers have found to correlate with sleep disruption during treatment in such a broad cohort of cancer patients. Furthermore, changes in these pro-inflammatory biomarkers could in this study be uncoupled from therapy-induced inflammation and were found to be completely dependent on changes in sleep quality after

3 months of treatment. This interesting finding warrants further mechanistic studies in the future.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethical Review Board in Linköping, Sweden (2016/379-31). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

DO, B-ÅA, FL, and LJ designed the study, analyzed data, and wrote the manuscript. DO conducted clinical examinations, recruited patients, and performed follow-up analysis of patient journals. B-ÅA performed laboratory experiments and preliminary data analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was partly supported by Foundation for Clinical Cancer Research in Jönköping and Futurum Academy for Health and Care, Region Jönköping County and Linköping University.

References

Abd El-Kader, S. M., and Al-Jiffri, O. H. (2019). Aerobic exercise modulates cytokine profile and sleep quality in elderly. *Afr. Health Sci.* 19, 2198–2207.

Agrafiotis, M., Galanou, A., Fletsios, D., Chassiotou, A., Chloros, D., and Steiropoulos, P. (2022). Functional Comorbidity Index and health-related quality of life in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. *Adv. Respir. Med.* [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.5603/ARM.a2022.0001

Allen, R. P., Kosinski, M., Hill-Zabala, C. E., and Calloway, M. O. (2009). Psychometric evaluation and tests of validity of the Medical Outcomes Study 12-item Sleep Scale (MOS sleep). *Sleep Med.* 10, 531–539.

Balachandran, D. D., Miller, M. A., Faiz, S. A., Yennurajalingam, S., and Innominato, P. F. (2021). Evaluation and Management of Sleep and Circadian Rhythm Disturbance in Cancer. *Curr. Treat. Options Oncol.* 22:81.

Bower, J. E., Ganz, P. A., Desmond, K. A., Rowland, J. H., Meyerowitz, B. E., and Belin, T. R. (2000). Fatigue in breast cancer survivors: Occurrence, correlates, and impact on quality of life. *J. Clin. Oncol.* 18, 743–753.

Bribriesco, A. (2020). Commentary: C-Reactive Protein - At the Crossroads of Cancer and Inflammation. Semin. Thorac. Cardiovasc. Surg. 32, 1056–1057.

Acknowledgments

We thank the staff of the open ward of the Department of Oncology for the help with inclusion and collection of questionnaires and all the patients who answer and made this study possible.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnins.2022.945784/full#supplementary-material

Cash, E., Duck, C. R., Brinkman, C., Rebholz, W., Albert, C., Worthen, M., et al. (2018). Depressive symptoms and actigraphy-measured circadian disruption predict head and neck cancer survival. *Psychooncology* 27, 2500–2507. doi: 10. 1002/pon.4862

Cheung, Y. T., Brinkman, T. M., Mulrooney, D. A., Mzayek, Y., Liu, W., Banerjee, P., et al. (2017). Impact of sleep, fatigue, and systemic inflammation on neurocognitive and behavioral outcomes in long-term survivors of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Cancer* 123, 3410–3419. doi: 10.1002/cncr.30742

da Silva, A. A., de Mello, R. G., Schaan, C. W., Fuchs, F. D., Redline, S., and Fuchs, S. C. (2016). Sleep duration and mortality in the elderly: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *BMJ Open* 6:e008119.

Divani, A., Heidari, M. E., Ghavampour, N., Parouhan, A., Ahmadi, S., Narimani Charan, O., et al. (2022). Effect of cancer treatment on sleep quality in cancer patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis of Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. *Support. Care Cancer* 30, 4687–4697.

Fiorentino, L., and Ancoli-Israel, S. (2007). Sleep dysfunction in patients with cancer. *Curr. Treat. Options Neurol.* 9, 337–346. Fox, R. S., Ancoli-Israel, S., Roesch, S. C., Merz, E. L., Mills, S. D., Wells, K. J., et al. (2020). Sleep disturbance and cancer-related fatigue symptom cluster in breast cancer patients undergoing chemotherapy. *Support. Care Cancer* 28, 845–855.

Gapstur, R., Gross, C. R., and Ness, K. (2009). Factors associated with sleepwake disturbances in child and adult survivors of pediatric brain tumors: A review. *Oncol. Nurs. Forum* 36, 723–731. doi: 10.1188/09.ONF.723-731

Howell, D., Oliver, T. K., Keller-Olaman, S., Davidson, J., Garland, S., Samuels, C., et al. (2013). Sleep Disturbance Expert Panel on behalf of the Cancer Journey Advisory Group of the Canadian Partnership Against C: A Pan-Canadian practice guideline: Prevention, screening, assessment, and treatment of sleep disturbances in adults with cancer. *Support. Care Cancer* 21, 2695–2706. doi: 10.1007/s00520-013-1823-6

Howren, M. B., Lamkin, D. M., and Suls, J. (2009). Associations of depression with C-reactive protein, IL-1, and IL-6: A meta-analysis. *Psychosom. Med.* 71, 171–186. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181907c1b

Hsiao, F. H., Chang, K. J., Kuo, W. H., Huang, C. S., Liu, Y. F., Lai, Y. M., et al. (2013). A longitudinal study of cortisol responses, sleep problems, and psychological well-being as the predictors of changes in depressive symptoms among breast cancer survivors. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 38, 356–366. doi: 10. 1016/j.psyncuen.2012.06.010

Innominato, P. F., Giacchetti, S., Bjarnason, G. A., Focan, C., Garufi, C., Coudert, B., et al. (2012). Prediction of overall survival through circadian restactivity monitoring during chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer. *Int. J. Cancer* 131, 2684–2692.

Irwin, M. R. (2015). Why sleep is important for health: A psychoneuroimmunology perspective. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 66, 143–172. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115205

Irwin, M. R., Olmstead, R. E., Ganz, P. A., and Haque, R. (2013). Sleep disturbance, inflammation and depression risk in cancer survivors. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 30, S58–S67.

Irwin, M. R., and Opp, M. R. (2017). Sleep Health: Reciprocal Regulation of Sleep and Innate Immunity. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 42, 129–155. doi: 10.1038/ npp.2016.148

Irwin, M. R., Wang, M., Ribeiro, D., Cho, H. J., Olmstead, R., Breen, E. C., et al. (2008). Sleep loss activates cellular inflammatory signaling. *Biol. Psychiatry* 64, 538–540.

Jensen, L. D., Oliva, D., Andersson, B. A., and Lewin, F. (2021). A multidisciplinary perspective on the complex interactions between sleep, circadian, and metabolic disruption in cancer patients. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* 40, 1055–1071. doi: 10.1007/s10555-021-10010-6

Kapsimalis, F., Basta, M., Varouchakis, G., Gourgoulianis, K., Vgontzas, A., and Kryger, M. (2008). Cytokines and pathological sleep. *Sleep Med.* 9, 603–614.

Manas, A., Ciria, J. P., Fernandez, M. C., Gonzalvez, M. L., Morillo, V., Perez, M., et al. (2011). Post hoc analysis of pregabalin vs. non-pregabalin treatment in patients with cancer-related neuropathic pain: Better pain relief, sleep and physical health. *Clin. Transl. Oncol.* 13, 656–663. doi: 10.1007/s12094-011-0711-0

Mantovani, A., Allavena, P., Sica, A., and Balkwill, F. (2008). Cancer-related inflammation. *Nature* 454, 436-444.

Mills, P. J., Ancoli-Israel, S., Parker, B., Natarajan, L., Hong, S., Jain, S., et al. (2008). Predictors of inflammation in response to anthracycline-based chemotherapy for breast cancer. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 22, 98–104. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2007.07.001

Naughton, M. J., Herndon, J. E. II, Shumaker, S. A., Miller, A. A., Kornblith, A. B., Chao, D., et al. (2002). The health-related quality of life and survival of smallcell lung cancer patients: Results of a companion study to CALGB 9033. *Qual. Life Res.* 11, 235–248. doi: 10.1023/a:1015257121369

Oliva, D., Jensen, L., Sharp, L., Nilsson, M., and Lewin, F. (2019). Sleep Disturbance after Cancer Diagnosis and Treatment- A multifaceted Clinical Problem- A pilot study. *J. Neurol. Neurosci.* 10, 1–8. Oliva, D., Nilsson, M., Andersson, B. A., Sharp, L., Lewin, F., and Laytragoon-Lewin, N. (2017). Single nucleotide polymorphisms might influence chemotherapy induced nausea in women with breast cancer. *Clin. Transl. Radiat. Oncol.* 2, 1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ctro.2016. 12.001

Oliva, D., Sandgren, A., Nilsson, M., and Lewin, F. (2014). Variations in self-reported nausea, vomiting, and well-being during the first 10 days postchemotherapy in women with breast cancer. *Clin. J. Oncol. Nurs.* 18, E32–E36. doi: 10.1188/14.CJON.E32-E36

Otte, J. L., Flockhart, D., Hayes, D., Storniolo, A. M., Stearns, V., Schneider, B., et al. (2009). Comparison of subjective and objective hot flash measures over time among breast cancer survivors initiating aromatase inhibitor therapy. *Menopause* 16, 653–659. doi: 10.1097/gme.0b013e3181a 5d0d6

Palesh, O. G., Roscoe, J. A., Mustian, K. M., Roth, T., Savard, J., Ancoli-Israel, S., et al. (2010). Prevalence, demographics, and psychological associations of sleep disruption in patients with cancer: University of Rochester Cancer Center-Community Clinical Oncology Program. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, 292–298. doi: 10.1200/ JCO.2009.22.5011

Savard, J., Ivers, H., Savard, M. H., and Morin, C. M. (2015). Cancer treatments and their side effects are associated with aggravation of insomnia: Results of a longitudinal study. *Cancer* 121, 1703–1711. doi: 10.1002/cncr.2 9244

Sharp, L., Johansson, H., Hatschek, T., and Bergenmar, M. (2013). Smoking as an independent risk factor for severe skin reactions due to adjuvant radiotherapy for breast cancer. *Breast* 22, 634–638. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2013.0 7.047

Siena, S., Bregni, M., Brando, B., Ravagnani, F., Bonadonna, G., and Gianni, A. M. (1989). Circulation of CD34+ hematopoietic stem cells in the peripheral blood of high-dose cyclophosphamide-treated patients: Enhancement by intravenous recombinant human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor. *Blood* 74, 1905–1914.

Sproston, N. R., and Ashworth, J. J. (2018). Role of C-Reactive Protein at Sites of Inflammation and Infection. *Front. Immunol.* 9:754. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 00754

Tucker, J. A., Osann, K., Hsieh, S., Wahi, A., Monk, B. J., Wenzel, L., et al. (2021). Longitudinal Changes in Sleep: Associations with Shifts in Circulating Cytokines and Emotional Distress in a Cancer Survivor Population. *Int. J. Behav. Med.* 28, 140–150. doi: 10.1007/s12529-020-09950-0

Vgontzas, A. N., Pejovic, S., Zoumakis, E., Lin, H. M., Bixler, E. O., Basta, M., et al. (2007). Daytime napping after a night of sleep loss decreases sleepiness, improves performance, and causes beneficial changes in cortisol and interleukin-6 secretion. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 292, E253–E261. doi: 10.1152/ ajpendo.00651.2005

Vumma, R., Johansson, J., and Venizelos, N. (2017). Proinflammatory Cytokines and Oxidative Stress Decrease the Transport of Dopamine Precursor Tyrosine in Human Fibroblasts. *Neuropsychobiology* 75, 178–184. doi: 10.1159/ 000485130

Wang, X. S., Shi, Q., Williams, L. A., Mao, L., Cleeland, C. S., Komaki, R. R., et al. (2010). Inflammatory cytokines are associated with the development of symptom burden in patients with NSCLC undergoing concurrent chemoradiation therapy. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 24, 968–974. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2010.0 3.009

Wright, K. P. Jr., Drake, A. L., Frey, D. J., Fleshner, M., Desouza, C. A., Gronfier, C., et al. (2015). Influence of sleep deprivation and circadian misalignment on cortisol, inflammatory markers, and cytokine balance. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 47, 24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.01.004

Yennurajalingam, S., Kim, Y. J., Zhang, Y., Park, J., Arthur, J., Chisholm, G. B., et al. (2018). Factors associated with patient-reported subjective well-being among advanced lung or non-colonic gastrointestinal cancer patients. *Palliat. Support. Care* 16, 23–31.

Frontiers in Neuroscience

Provides a holistic understanding of brain function from genes to behavior

Part of the most cited neuroscience journal series which explores the brain - from the new eras of causation and anatomical neurosciences to neuroeconomics and neuroenergetics.

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



